

FORSAKEN

The Report of the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry Volume IV

FORSAKEN

The Report of the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry

VOLUME IV

The Commission's Process

The Honourable Wally T. Oppal, QC Commissioner

British Columbia November 19, 2012 Library and Archives Canada Cataloguing in Publication

British Columbia. Missing Women Commission of Inquiry
Forsaken [electronic resource]: the report of the Missing Women
Commission of Inquiry / Wally T. Oppal, Commissioner.

Complete contents: Vol. I. The women, their lives and the framework of inquiry, setting the context for understanding and change - v. II. Nobodies, how and why we failed the missing and murdered women - v. III. Gone, but not forgotten, building the women's legacy of safety together - v. IV. The Commission's process. - Executive summary. Issued also in printed form.

Includes bibliographical references. ISBN 978-0-9917299-7-5

Serial murder investigation--British Columbia.
 Missing persons--Investigation --British Columbia.
 Pickton, Robert William.
 British Columbia. Missing Women Commission of Inquiry.
 Downtown-Eastside (Vancouver, B.C.).
 Governmental investigations--British Columbia.
 Oppal, Wallace T. II. Title.

HV6762 B75 B75 2012

363.25′9523209711

C2012-980202-6

Access to Report

Please contact the following if you are interested in receiving a copy of the report or a CD-ROM of the report:

Distribution Centre-Victoria PO Box 9455 STN PROV GOVT Victoria, BC V8W 9V7

Phone: 250 952 4460 Toll free: 1 800 282 7955

Fax: 250 952 4431

Email: DCVCustomerSer@gov.bc.ca

URL: http://www.bcsolutions.gov.bc.ca/opc/

For general inquiries, please call Service BC Call Centre

Hours of operation are 7:30 a.m. to 5 p.m. PST – Monday through Friday

In Victoria call: 250 387 6121 In Vancouver call: 604 660 2421 Elsewhere in BC call: 1 800 663 7867

Outside British Columbia call: 1 604 660 2421

Email address: EnquiryBC@gov.bc.ca Telephone Device for the Deaf (TDD) In Vancouver call: 604 775 0303 Elsewhere in BC call: 1 800 661 8773

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART 1 – THE COMMISSION'S PROCESS	2
The Nature of a Public Inquiry	2
Principles that govern public inquiries	2
The unique processes of public inquiries	3
The Commission's Mandate	
The Phases in the Inquiry	
Setting Up	
a. Appointment of commission counsel	
b. Hiring staff	
c. Website	
Practice and Procedure	7
The Participants	8
Government Funding Decision	9
Document Collection	10
Protecting confidential and privileged information	11
Document management	12
Document analysts	
Document access	
Making the documents public – marking exhibits	12
Witnesses	
Lay witnesses	
Expert witnesses	
Police witnesses	17
Whether all material witnesses were called	17
Conduct of the Hearings	17
Examinations	
Panels	20
Time limits	22
Affidavits	
Notices of misconduct	
Summary	
Closing submissions	
The Study Commission	
Acknowledgements	26
A PREMINION	
APPENDICES	28
A. Terms of Reference	28
B. Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings	
C. Undertaking of Counsel and Confidentiality Agreement re: Documents	
D. Document Vetting Protocol	43
E. Instruction Letters to Experts	
E-1. Prof. John Lowman	
E-2. Dr. Kate Shannon	
E-3. Dr. Thomas Kerr	
F. Process Management Directives	
F-1. Process Management Directive 1 (January 11, 2012)	
F-2. Process Management Directive 2 (January 24, 2012)	
F-3. Process Management Directive 3 (February 11, 2012)	
F-4. Process Management Directive 4 (April 16, 2012)	
F-5. Process Management Directive 5 (April 25, 2012)	

F-6. Process Management Directive 6	70
G. Rulings	
G-1. Ruling on Participation and Funding Recommendations (May 2, 2011)	76
G-2. Ruling on Participation – Ms. Marion Bryce (August 18, 2011)	102
G-3. Ruling on Participation – Cst. Doug Fell (September 21, 2011)	104
G-4. Ruling on Vulnerable Witness Protection Application (November 16, 2011)	105
G-5. Ruling on Document Disclosure Application (March 2, 2012)	112
G-6. Ruling on Shenher Manuscript Application (May 18, 2012)	122
G-7. Ruling on Admissibility of the Murray Report (May 24, 2012)	125
G-8. Ruling on Participation – Richard Romano	129
H. Status Reports	
H-1. Status Report (March 3, 2011)	131
H-2. Status Report (June 20, 2011)	143
PART 2 – OTHER COMMISSION DOCUMENTS	156
A. Commission Personnel	156
B. Participants and Counsel	
C. Witnesses at Evidentiary Hearings	
D. Elders and Facilitators	
E. Submissions to Study Commission	
F. Study Commission Reports	
G. Index to Missing Women Portraits	
H. Translation of Halq'eméylem Words on Cover of Commission Report	192
I. Selected Bibliography	
ENDNOTES	240
GLOSSARY	241

PART ONE

THE COMMISSION'S PROCESS

PART 1 - THE COMMISSION'S PROCESS

This section provides a brief overview of the steps the Commission took in discharging its responsibilities. In part, recounting these steps will highlight how the Commission dealt with some of the procedural and other challenges it faced, but also an account of the Commission's process might be of some assistance to future commissions.

The Nature of a Public Inquiry

Public inquiries are exceptional public institutions. They are appointed by the executive branch of the federal or provincial government. Public inquiries are often appointed to address an issue that has given rise to a good deal of public consternation, suspicion and even shock, and that cannot be dealt with through the normal governmental channels. Thus, in many instances, commissions of inquiry themselves are cloaked in controversy.

The primary objective of most commissions of inquiry is, in relation to the matter being examined, to establish what happened, why it happened and how it can be prevented from happening again. But in addition, and complicating the discharge of their mandate, public inquiries may also assume responsibilities for providing opportunities for reconciliation, restoring confidence in public institutions, and holding individuals and organizations to account.

Principles that govern public inquiries

Commissions of inquiry are subject to the powers granted by either the federal or provincial inquiry acts, depending upon the executive body that appointed them. However, because of the unique nature of each public inquiry, commissions are empowered to create rules and procedures that will best serve their specific mandates and advance their particular goals. The rules and procedures that govern inquiries must conform to the basic principles that underlie all administrative decision-making bodies such as fairness, accessibility, openness to the public and efficiency.

In this Inquiry the principles of adaptability and proportionality were also of fundamental importance. The task of this Commission was enormous. This inquiry dealt with police investigations of more than 65 missing and murdered women that spanned over five years. As well, it dealt with Crown Counsel's decision to enter a stay of proceedings against Robert Pickton.

The magnitude of the mandate, coupled with the time constraints, meant that although we needed to be thorough, we could not be exhaustive. This important distinction was made by Commissioner Goudge in the *Inquiry into Pediatric Forensic Pathology in Ontario*.¹ Thus, our document collection, witness identification and hearing schedule were governed by proportionality. We focused on the core issues. This meant that not every possible lead was followed, not every possible witness was called, nor was

Volume IV 3

every potentially relevant document reviewed. We applied a principle of proportionality to the issues we faced and focused on what was significant.

The unique processes of public inquiries

Although public inquiries are established by government, they are independent of government. Their independence is essential if they are to discharge their institutional responsibilities in democratic governance. After the terms of reference are established, government cannot tell commissioners how to interpret their mandate or what procedure to follow in carrying it out. Although inquiries often adopt (or default to) court-like procedures, they are not a branch of the judiciary. They are neither a civil nor a criminal trial, nor should they be analogized to one. Mr. Justice Cory elaborated on this difference in the following terms:

A commission of inquiry is neither a criminal trial nor a civil action for the determination of liability. It cannot establish either criminal culpability or civil responsibility for damages. Rather, an inquiry is an investigation into an issue, event or series of events. The findings of a commissioner relating to that investigation are simply findings of fact and statements of opinion reached by the commissioner at the end of the inquiry. They are unconnected to normal legal criteria. They are based upon and flow from a procedure which is not bound by the evidentiary or procedural rules of a courtroom. There are no legal consequences attached to the determinations of a commissioner. They are not enforceable and do not bind courts considering the same subject matter.²

Inquiries are not required to follow the rules of procedure or evidence of criminal or civil trials. Indeed, given the different values at stake, they often follow different procedures. For instance, although their attention must be directed to the past, ultimately their responsibility lies in focusing on the future. They seek to ensure any learned failures will not occur again. Further, as stated earlier, although their findings might result in holding individuals and organizations to account, they often assume responsibilities for providing opportunities for reconciliation and restoring confidence in government processes. The complex but vitally important role that inquiries serve in our democratic society was underlined by Commissioner Le Dain:

[A commission] has certain things to say to government but it also has an effect of perceptions, attitudes and behaviour. Its general way of looking at things is probably more important in the long run than its specific recommendations. It is the general approach towards a social problem that determines the way in which a society responds to it. There is much more than law and government action involved in the social response to a problem. The attitudes and response of individuals at the various places at which they affect the problem are of profound importance.

What gives an inquiry of this kind its social function is that it becomes, whether it likes it or not, part of this ongoing social process. There is action and interaction... Thus this instrument, supposedly merely an extension of Parliament, may have a dimension which passes

beyond the political process into the social sphere. The phenomenon is changing even while the inquiry is in progress. The decision to institute an inquiry of this kind is a decision not only to release an investigative technique but a form of social influence as well.³

We used our best efforts to design a process that meets the guiding principles outlined earlier and to produce a report that serves the multiple functions of the Commission, and establishes what happened, why, and what can be done to prevent it from happening again.

The Commission's Mandate

The events leading up to the Missing Women Inquiry are set out in my Ruling on Participation and Funding Recommendations (attached as Appendix G-1). To summarize, the issue of missing and murdered women in British Columbia was in crisis. Since the early 1990s, the disappearances and murders of women in British Columbia had reached a crisis level; women were disappearing in record numbers. This escalation was seen prominently in the Downtown Eastside (DTES). Many of the missing women were members of marginalized groups in society. Many were Aboriginal. Many were involved in the survival sex trade and were particularly vulnerable to violence.

The government of British Columbia established this Inquiry by Order in Council on September 27, 2010. The Terms of Reference direct the Commission to conduct the inquiry as follows:

- **4** (a) to conduct hearings, in or near the City of Vancouver, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the conduct of the missing women investigations;
- (b) consistent with the British Columbia (Attorney General) v. Davies, 2009 BCCA 337, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch on January 27, 1998, to enter a stay of proceedings on charges against Robert William Pickton of attempted murder, assault with a weapon, forcible confinement and aggravated assault;
- (c) to recommend changes considered necessary respecting the initiation and conduct of investigations in British Columbia of missing women and suspected multiple homicides;
- (d) to recommend changes considered necessary respecting homicide investigations in British Columbia by more than one investigating organization, including the co-ordination of those investigations;
- (e) to submit a final report to the Attorney General on or before December 31, 2011.*
- *The Commission was granted an extension and the revised date for final report submission to the Attorney General is on or before November 30, 2012.4

The missing women investigations that the Commission was specifically directed to study are defined as "the investigations conducted between January 23, 1997 and February 5, 2002, by police forces in British Columbia respecting women reported missing from the Downtown Eastside of the city of Vancouver." However, it was necessary to examine events extending back as far as 1991 (when Project Eclipse was formed to examine the circumstances of 26 missing or murdered women).

My mandate meant that this Inquiry had both a fact-finding mandate as well as a separate policy-based mandate. I was directed to investigate and report on what happened in the missing women investigations and the Crown decision to stay the charges against Pickton in 1997. In addition, I was directed to make recommendations to improve investigations of missing women and multiple homicides in British Columbia.

A commission is "captive of its Terms of Reference" and must act within the confines of the legal authorities under which it is created. My powers were therefore subject to the limits set out in the Commission's Terms of Reference and the provisions of the Public Inquiry Act. I had no discretion to expand the Terms of Reference. However, terms of reference require interpretation. Therefore, to better understand my mandate, and in the public spirit of an inquiry, I determined early on to engage the community through pre-hearing conferences. The purpose of the conferences was to solicit feedback from community members on matters that would shape both the content of the inquiry and the way it would be carried out.

The pre-hearing conferences were held in the DTES and Prince George in January 2011. I heard general disappointment about the narrow Terms of Reference and participants in these conferences emphasized the need for me to take as broad an approach as possible to my mandate. In the future I would strongly urge the government to consult with key stakeholders when developing its terms of reference, particularly on matters that engage complex social issues.

Another initial restriction on my mandate was that, despite my policy mandate, I was granted only the powers of a "hearing commission." The *Public Inquiry Act* contemplates two types of commissions of inquiry: hearing commissions and study commissions. Hearing commissions can only consider information and recommendations that are presented to the commissioner through evidentiary hearings; whereas study commissions can gather material from independent research, interviews and public consultation.

As a result of the input I received from the pre-hearing conferences, and from the applications for participation in the Inquiry (which indicated that many groups were primarily interested in policy matters), I determined that it would be in the public interest if participation in the Inquiry could also be achieved through the more informal processes provided by a study

commission. Therefore, I requested that the provincial government extend my powers to a joint hearing and study commission. This request was granted.

As I stated in my Status Update dated March 3, 2011, the designation as a joint study and hearing commission allowed me to create forms of participation that were more far-reaching and appropriate to the interest individuals and organizations had in the Inquiry. The forms of public participation in the evidentiary hearings and study processes are described below.

The Phases in the Inquiry

The Inquiry proceeded in the following phases: setting up, establishing rules of procedure, granting Participant status, collecting documents, identifying witnesses, holding evidentiary hearings, receiving submissions and holding policy forums. These phases will be discussed in turn.

Setting Up

a. Appointment of commission counsel

The appointment of commission counsel is one of the most important decisions a commissioner can make. As the commissioner's lawyer, his or her role is to assist the commissioner in carrying out his or her mandate. It has been said that commission counsel is often the alter ego of the commissioner.⁷

I retained Art Vertlieb, QC to act as Senior Commission Counsel. In addition to being a senior and highly respected member of the British Columbia Bar with a broad range of legal experience, Mr. Vertlieb had recently acted as Senior Commission Counsel to the Braidwood Commission, a public inquiry established by the Province to investigate the use of conducted energy weapons, as well as the death of Robert Dziekanski at Vancouver International Airport. I retained Karey Brooks to act as Associate Commission Counsel. Ms. Brooks practices primarily in the areas of administrative, constitutional and Aboriginal law. I acknowledge the exceptional work and commitment of Mr. Vertlieb and Ms. Brooks later in this section.

Many administrative tasks had to be completed at the outset including hiring staff, securing office space, developing a budget, finding a hearing room and arranging for a document management system.

b. Hiring staff

Five core staff appointments were made: Aboriginal Advisor, Executive Director, Communications Officer, Document Manager and Analysts, and Administrative Support. I adopted a small core team approach, and assembled a team of committed, talented individuals. I was of the view

Volume IV

there are many advantages to having a small core team, including more time spent on work and less time on administration; efficient communication and meetings; and increased interaction between team members. In short, it promotes a high level of performance. Having a small core team also meant that team members were required to assume significant responsibilities. Many members of the team worked seven days a week and took no holidays during the term of the Inquiry. The entire team worked at its full capacity. Internal and external challenges no doubt had an impact on the team in terms of the strain and stress it placed on individuals. However, I am proud of the way our team faced these challenges and what we have achieved. Ultimately, the commitment of the team to producing an outstanding report kept everyone on track. I acknowledge the work and efforts of the entire Commission team at the end of this section.

c. Website

We launched a website on November 1, 2010 at www.missingwomeninquiry. ca. The website provided information about the Commission's activities. The evidentiary hearings and policy forums were live-streamed and accessible from our website.

From its launch until October 8, 2012, our website had 74,210 visits and 25,866 unique visitors. Returning visitors to the Commission website accounted for 65.7 per cent and new visitors accounted for 34.3 per cent. Website traffic peaked during the live streaming of the evidentiary hearings, which began on October 11, 2011, reaching almost 900 visits on one hearing day.

Practice and Procedure

Commissions have the luxury of creating their own rules and procedures subject, of course, to the guiding principles that apply to all public inquiries, described above. Our rules and procedures, which were set out in the Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings (included as Appendix B), drew heavily on the work of other commissions and dealt with the following topics:

- Access to the evidentiary hearings;
- Recording and reporting of the evidentiary hearings;
- Participation in the evidentiary hearings;
- Production, confidentiality and public access to records;
- Witnesses:
- Applications to the Commissioner for standing to participate, funding recommendations, and disclosure;
- Powers to accept information;
- Final submissions;
- Commission process and Commissioner's discretion; and
- Participants' failure to comply with the directive.

The Participants

The nature of an inquiry is inquisitorial. The designation of those taking part as "Participants" and not "parties" flows from this distinction between an inquiry and a trial. Under the *Public Inquiry Act*, a commissioner may accept an applicant as a participant after considering all of the following:

- a. whether, and to what extent, the person's interests may be affected by the findings of the commission;
- b. whether the person's participation would further the conduct of the inquiry; and
- c. whether the person's participation would contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.⁸

On January 31, 2011, a hearing was held in Vancouver to hear applications for standing and funding of participants. On May 2, 2011, the Commission released the Ruling on Participation and Funding Recommendations (included as Appendix G-1; my Ruling was delayed as a result of my request for study commission powers). In the Ruling, I granted participation status to 18 applicants, consisting of individuals, organizations or coalitions. (In response to later applications, I granted participant status to two further individuals). To recognize the differences among the applicants and their interests and to promote their efficient participation in the evidentiary hearings, applicants were granted either full or limited participation status.

As explained in my Ruling (and later Rulings for certain individuals), the full participants shared a common interest: they were primarily focused on the factual issues under Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b). Generally, they also shared a common characteristic: many were grassroots advocacy and service organizations that had direct and daily contact with the relevant community, including many of the women who were reported missing. In the end, those who were granted full participant status were:

- Families on behalf of the following women: Dianne Rock, Georgina Papin, Marnie Frey, Cynthia Dawn Feliks, Cara Ellis, Mona Wilson, Helen Mae Hallmark, Dawn Crey, Angela Hazel Williams, Jacqueline Murdock, Brenda Wolfe, Andrea Joesbury, Elsie Sebastian, Heather Bottomley, Andrea Borhaven, Tiffany Drew, Angela Jardine, Stephanie Lane, Tanya Holyk, Olivia William, Debra Jones, Janet Henry, Marie Lorna Laliberte, Sereena Abotsway, Dianne Melnick, Marcella Creison, and Patricia Johnson;
- Vancouver Police Department (VPD) and Vancouver Police Board (VPB):
- Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP);
- Criminal Justice Branch (CJB);
- Vancouver Police Union (VPU);
- Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations;

9

Volume IV

- Committee of the February 14 Women's Memorial March and the Downtown Eastside Women's Centre;
- Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users (VANDU), Walk4Justice and Frank Paul Society;
- Native Women's Association of Canada;
- Dr. Kim Rossmo;
- Cst. Doug Fell; and
- Ms. Marion Bryce.⁹

The limited participants were those organizations primarily focused on the policy issues within the Commission's mandate. They also shared a common characteristic: many were experienced political or policy organizations that had demonstrated a long-standing commitment to many of the policy issues the Commission would confront. Neither full participants nor limited participants were excluded from the two distinct processes of the Commission – the hearing and study commission portions – but the nature of their participation was different. Full participants were granted the right to participate in all phases of the evidentiary hearings and to exercise all rights of participation during those hearings, including cross-examining witnesses and making submissions. They were also granted access to the documents disclosed to the Commission. Limited participants were granted the same right of access to documents as full participants. They were not granted an automatic right to cross-examine witnesses, but were granted the right to apply for leave to cross-examine on an individual witness basis. They were also granted the right to make final submissions at the conclusion of the evidentiary hearings. (I note that no limited participant was denied the right to cross-examine or make final submissions during the hearings.)

In addition to granting participation status, the Ruling also addressed applications for funding. I was satisfied that the 13 applicants who sought funding recommendations would not be able to participate in the hearing portion of the Commission without funding; therefore, I recommended to the Attorney General of British Columbia that they receive financial assistance to pay for legal counsel to facilitate participation appropriate to the extent of their interest and that grants of funding be tailored to the level of participation that each applicant was granted.

Government Funding Decision

By press release, dated May 19, 2011, the Attorney General announced it would provide funding for only one participant group: the families of missing and murdered women as represented by Cameron Ward (the "Families"). The other 12 participant groups that I had recommended receive funding did not receive financial assistance to participate in the Inquiry.

On June 30, 2011, I asked that the provincial government re-consider its decision. On July 22, 2011, the government confirmed its decision to deny funding for legal representation. In my view, it was not in the public interest to deny funding to these groups. Understandably, the groups who were denied funding raised concerns regarding their ability to participate in

the Commission without financial assistance, and in statements to the press and letters to the government, challenged the Attorney General's decision. Ultimately, many of the groups that were denied funding withdrew from the Commission process. Some groups also withdrew because they viewed the Commission's Terms of Reference to be too limited. This was unfortunate. It would have been of assistance to have heard their views. I note, however, that many of these groups were granted participant status to assist the Commission with its policy mandate, rather than its fact-finding mandate relating to the missing women investigations or Crown Counsel's decision to stay the charges against Robert Pickton. We are grateful that we heard from many of the individuals, particularly the families of the victims, who were directly impacted by these tragedies.

Two community organizations did participate throughout the evidentiary hearings, without government funding or legal representation: VANDU and CRAB – Water for Life. On behalf of VANDU, Ann Livingston and Marlene Basil cross-examined several witnesses and made opening and closing submissions. On behalf of CRAB – Water for Life, Don Larson cross-examined one witness and he and Kelly White made opening and closing submissions. I was very appreciative of their involvement and applaud them for participating.

As I stated in Volume I, the provincial government's decision to deny public funding to the majority of participants to whom I had granted standing was a significant hurdle that the Commission had to overcome, and no doubt made the work of the Commission more difficult. It meant that not all groups, communities and individuals that had an interest in the Inquiry participated in the inquiry process. The Commission attempted to fill that gap by engaging Independent Counsel for Aboriginal Interests (Robyn Gervais until March 2012 and Ms. Suzette Narbonne and Ms. Elizabeth Hunt thereafter) and DTES Interests (Jason Gratl). Although unique to public inquiries, these appointments were, in some ways, akin to the role of amicus curiae. The mandate of independent counsel was to present the perspectives of the Aboriginal and DTES communities.

Document Collection

All Participants and witnesses who appeared before the Commission were required, either by summons or under our Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings, to produce all relevant documents.¹⁰ Almost immediately after being established, the Commission requested that the primary investigation agencies – the RCMP and VPD, as well as the Criminal Justice Branch – produce all relevant documents. Considerable time was spent preparing for the hearings, this involved examining documents and interviewing witnesses. Although they predated the terms of reference, it was necessary to examine documents from as far back as 1991 because women were being reported missing at that time.

Collecting and reviewing relevant documents took a significant amount of time and resources. Additional time was also required to comply with the legal requirements to redact confidential and privileged information. (With respect to the documents they submitted, the institutional participants undertook this task, pursuant to a redaction protocol developed with the Commission. This is discussed in more detail below.) However, generally the document disclosure proceeded in a timely fashion. On occasion, some Participants provided disclosure shortly before a witness appearance. In those instances, to overcome any prejudice caused by late disclosure, requests for brief adjournments (or for witnesses to be recalled) were allowed.¹¹

By the end of the evidentiary hearings, over 173,500 pages of documents were disclosed. Digitized, this is equivalent to 94.2 GB on the hard drive of a computer. Although document disclosure in inquiries is rarely perfect, I am satisfied that the Commission had the documents it needed to fulfill its mandate.

Protecting confidential and privileged information

The *Public Inquiry Act* requires documents be redacted for privileged information. ¹² Documents were also redacted for confidential information. The Commission and institutional participants (the primary sources of document disclosure) developed a vetting protocol to ensure that privileged information (for example, information subject to solicitor-client litigation privilege or a publication ban), information relating to ongoing investigations (for example, information relating to persons of interest or information that may have raised security concerns), and confidential information (for example, information that might have compromised the privacy of third parties such as the names of former and active sex trade workers or other personal identifying information) would be protected. The vetting protocol is in Appendix D.

Vetting occurred in two stages. First, the individual or organization producing the document redacted the document based on the vetting protocol when the document was first disclosed to the Commission. (Redactions could be challenged by Commission Counsel or Participants.) Second, once it was determined the document would become a public exhibit, the document was vetted again for confidential information.

In the circumstances of this Inquiry, these issues were particularly important because the investigative documents contained names of parties who were either not charged with any offence or were entitled to privilege for other reasons.

The vetting process was time-consuming and involved large teams of workers due to the volume of pages disclosed. This meant there were often substantial delays between the time a document was tendered as an exhibit and the time it was posted on the website. My suggestions for minimizing these delays in the work of future commissions are made below in the section: Making the Documents Public.

Document management

To manage the documents, we retained an independent document management company. As documents were received by the Commission, they were delivered to the document management company who imported them into Concordance, an electronic database. Concordance provided the means by which all Commission documents could be securely stored, searched and retrieved. Each document was assigned a unique identifying number that was referred to during the evidentiary hearings. Documents were made accessible to Participants through Concordance.

Document analysts

Although we outsourced importing the documents into the database, it was too costly to outsource the document indexing. Indexing involved coding the documents for their unique information and for their relevancy. Law students were hired to analyze and index the documents. These document analysts indexed the documents during the late spring and summer of 2011. As a result of this exercise, an Excel Document Index was created that allowed for searches by keyword, name, date, and so on. The Document Index supplemented the keyword searches on Concordance and allowed for easier retrieval of documents. The Document Index was provided to all counsel participating in the hearings to assist them in their document searches.

Document access

Both full and limited Participants (through their counsel) were entitled to access documents disclosed to the Commission via Concordance. Each Participant accessed the database through a user ID and password provided by the Commission.

Under the Commission's Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings, documents produced to the Commission are confidential until they are entered as an exhibit in the evidentiary proceedings.¹³ Thus, to view documents, counsel were required to sign an undertaking of counsel and participants and witnesses were required to sign a confidentiality agreement (see Appendix C). To ensure the highest protection of confidentiality, Participants could only access the documents through their counsel. Unrepresented Participants were able to access documents through independent counsel. To provide copies of documents to persons listed in the undertaking, Participants' counsel had to obtain approval from the Commission. The purpose of these limitations was to safeguard against document leaks and to ensure that no document became public until the document was marked as an exhibit in the evidentiary hearings.

Making the documents public – marking exhibits

Although documents were managed electronically, hard copies were

used during the evidentiary hearings. Generally, the following process was followed to make the document part of the public record. Before a witness (or panel) testified, each Participant wishing to cross-examine that witness circulated a list of the documents he or she intended to put to that witness. Commission Counsel, who led the evidence of most witnesses, endeavored to assemble a comprehensive brief for each witness, as well as a timeline of key events that related to that witness's involvement in the investigation. Many Participants relied on Commission Counsel's witness brief, while others assembled their own. When a document became an exhibit, it was first marked with an "NR" designation (not-redacted), so that it could be vetted pursuant to the second stage of the vetting protocol. Once the redactions were made, the NR was removed and the exhibit was posted on the Commission's website.

Inevitably, the process of having a brief prepared for each witness (often by different Participants) meant there was considerable duplication of documents. Looking back, it would have been preferable to have either a core set of documents (in chronological order) or briefs based on subject matter prepared in advance of the evidentiary hearings. This would have reduced the number of briefs and avoided duplication. Further, while paperless hearings can be considerably more costly given the number of hearing days, volume of documents and potential for duplicate exhibits, I would urge future commissions to give paperless hearings serious consideration.

Witnesses

A good deal of information was obtained in reviewing the thousands of pages of documents the Commission acquired. However, the most important aspect of the Commission's inquiry involved calling individuals with personal knowledge of the relevant events and assessing the evidence they gave at the hearings. These individuals included lay, expert and police witnesses.

Lay witnesses

Any victim's family member who wished to give evidence at the hearings could do so. The Commission took steps to contact unrepresented family members to invite them to give evidence. Commission staff, at the request of Mr. Ward, also referred unrepresented family members to Mr. Ward's office. The Commission heard from 21 family members. This Commission was the first opportunity for many of the victims' families to be heard.

Potential community witnesses were identified through information provided by Participants, document disclosure, media articles on the investigation, and by interested individuals contacting the Commission directly. Often individuals who were interviewed provided the names of other people with relevant information. Helpful information about the matters mentioned above would have come from women involved in the survival sex trade at the relevant time and other members of the DTES community. However, identification of these witnesses created challenges for Commission staff. Due to lack of funding, many of the Participants were unable to devote the time and resources to identifying potential witnesses for the Commission. As a result, the Commission had to identify and find potential witnesses without these Participants' valuable advice and experience. This was particularly challenging with regard to community witnesses since the Commission lacked the long-standing relationships of trust that some participant organizations had established with community members of the DTES. Some potential witnesses were unwilling to speak to Commission staff and testify during the Commission's hearings. Without the expertise and support of participant organizations, the Commission faced challenges in identifying, contacting, interviewing and ultimately examining witnesses from the DTES community during the evidentiary hearings.

Through its own investigation, the Commission learned about the extreme distrust and fear that many women in the survival sex trade had toward, not only the police, but also any institution associated with government. To be sure, this population is one of the hardest to reach by any means or for any purpose. Dr. Shannon, who is the lead researcher for a major longitude study on health outcomes for survival sex workers in the DTES, testified at length about the process her research team used to engage marginalized communities, including women involved in the survival sex trade in the DTES. Although some might even question the appropriateness of a commission, a specialized unit of government investigating an issue that raises complex social issues such as addictions, homelessness, poverty, and violence against women involved in the survival sex trades, there is no doubt the Commission could have benefited from having a community insider on staff or serving as a consultant; someone who had developed a close, collaborative relationship with members of the DTES.

To a certain extent, we tried to overcome these barriers with the appointment of Independent Counsel to present the perspectives of the Aboriginal and DTES communities. We had hoped that they would be able to develop relationships with those populations and suggest witnesses and otherwise provide advice and assistance. However, there is no question it can take many years to develop the trust needed to engage with persons who have a long history of distrust for government institutions (and lawyers). Therefore, I would suggest that future commissions tasked with looking into issues that affect marginalized populations appoint an advisor or group of advisors with experience working with the specific communities involved to assist with matters relating to community outreach and accommodation.

Although we were likely unable to hear from some witnesses who might have been helpful simply by virtue of our limited capacity to connect with the vulnerable DTES community, at least one such potential witness declined to participate in the evidentiary hearings due to her strong privacy concerns. Although we would have likely benefitted from her evidence, we respected her decision not to participate. The significant barriers to participation from this population are also underscored by the fact that while I granted Mr. Gratl's application to receive evidence from vulnerable witnesses by anonymous affidavit, no evidence was adduced in this manner.

In spite of the challenges, Commission Counsel interviewed over 45 community witnesses. Some of these interviews were conducted in advance of the evidentiary hearings, but many were conducted in the evenings and on weekends during the hearings. Ultimately 10 community witnesses testified. A number of witnesses, including for example Grand Chief Ed John (in his opening statement), Ernie Crey, Freda Ens, Lisa Bigjohn, Bonnie Fowler, Margaret Ann Green, Jamie Lee Hamilton, Chris Joseph, Elena Papin, Daphne Pierre, Lila Purcell, Donnalee Roberta Sebastian, Ashley Smith, Angel Wolfe, Morris Bates, and Cst. George Lawson, discussed the strained relationship between the Aboriginal community and police, in part due to the ongoing legacy of colonization and the residential schools. This information was in addition to the submissions that were made in the Northern Community Forums which I discuss in more detail in this report. I am grateful for the participation of these witnesses.

Expert witnesses

Commission staff identified experts through requests to all Participants, researching leading scholars in the field of health and the survival sex trade and obtaining referrals through discussions with experts. Ultimately, the Commission tendered reports from Professor John Lowman, Dr. Kate Shannon and Dr. Thomas Kerr. Their evidence was most helpful in laying the necessary foundation to make findings of fact with respect to the missing women investigations and the CJB's decision to stay charges against Robert Pickton; and, in addition, their evidence was helpful in making recommendations that will benefit future investigations. Although all of the experts we engaged volunteered to produce their reports and testify pro bono, the Commission paid each expert a small stipend. I am very appreciative of the many hours they spent preparing their reports and giving evidence at the hearings.

Some criticized the Commission for relying on experts who advocate for the decriminalization of prostitution as a way of addressing the extreme violence faced by women involved in the sex trade. Whether or not these experts hold those views, it is important to note that the Commission did not elicit any opinions on whether the prostitution laws should stand. That issue is beyond the jurisdiction of this provincial inquiry and I have expressed no opinion on the matter. The instruction letters to the experts are attached as Appendix E.

One of the experts retained to provide an opinion on the missing women investigations was Deputy Chief Jennifer Evans (now Chief Evans), from Peel Regional Police Service. As a result of Peel's belief that the Commission

is addressing a national policing issue, her services were provided at no cost to the Commission. DC Evans brought considerable experience to her assignment. She was a homicide investigator, Inspector in Charge of Peel Homicide Unit, and she had been seconded to the Bernardo Inquiry in Ontario. She is also a senior police officer with executive knowledge about the management and allocation of police resources. She provided a comprehensive review of the missing women investigations and was highly critical of both the RCMP and the VPD. She testified for five days.

There was a suggestion that it was inappropriate for the Commission to have retained a police officer to conduct an independent review of the missing women investigations. Debates around police investigating police typically arise in the context of police acting as oversight bodies in investigating complaints against themselves. The primary argument is that police cannot provide an impartial investigation into their own misconduct because the police are a protective organization. According to this argument, demands for solidarity against external criticism mean that the police investigations into themselves are ineffective.

A blanket criticism without regard to this particular case should be made with caution. There are several reasons such concerns do not apply here. First, DC Evans is not a member of the police agencies under scrutiny. Second, she had the skills, knowledge and experience required to effectively carry out this assignment. Not only did her background enable her to obtain candid accounts from the police during her review, but it also meant she was able to review and assimilate the vast amounts of documentation and information quickly. Her familiarity with the institution of policing meant she stayed focused on the core issues. Third, she merely provided her opinion on the conduct of the missing women investigations. She was not the investigator. I determined the findings of fact. My conclusions were based on my findings. It is not uncommon to retain an expert in the field under investigation in most proceedings. Fourth, her report shows she provided a fair and impartial opinion. Indeed, she criticized many police officers involved in the investigations.

Some Participant Counsel suggested that the Commission had delegated the responsibility for interviewing police witnesses and reviewing documents to DC Evans. There is no evidence to substantiate that allegation. In her independent investigation, DC Evans conducted interviews with all relevant police personnel. The interviews were transcribed. All counsel made use of the statements given by various police witnesses to DC Evans in their examinations. Although DC Evans' interview transcripts provided Commission Counsel and the Participants with an extremely helpful account of the involvement of each police witness, Commission Counsel were not present for any of her interviews and conducted separate interviews of every witness called to give evidence. Further, as stated above, the Commission employed a number of document analysts to review documents. Therefore, although her chronology of events based on the documents was extremely helpful to the Commission and all Participants, the Commission did not rely solely on DC Evans' document review.

Police witnesses

Naturally, since the Inquiry was looking into policing practices, a large number of police witnesses were interviewed and testified. Ultimately 43 police witnesses gave evidence. In addition to hearing from the individual police officers who were involved in the investigations relating to the missing women, two police officers who had conducted prior reviews of the missing women investigations also testified. They testified about the nature of their reviews and their findings. Those witnesses were:

- Deputy Chief Doug LePard he prepared a 410-page internal review of the Missing Women Investigation for the VPD; and
- Superintendent Robert Williams he prepared a 28-page review of the Pickton investigation and the Missing Women Investigation for the RCMP.

The prior investigations conducted by these police officers were particularly helpful to the Commission in initially identifying some of the key players and documents.

Whether all material witnesses were called

This was a lengthy and comprehensive Inquiry. The Commission called 86 witnesses over 93 days of hearings between October 11, 2011 and June 6, 2012. I want to reiterate that this is an Inquiry and *not* a trial. In any inquiry, it is for the Commissioner to determine whether he or she has heard all the relevant evidence to answer the questions set out in the terms of reference. I am satisfied, beyond any doubt, that all relevant evidence was called and met the mandate set out in the Terms of Reference.

Mr. Ward argued that the decision not to call certain witnesses impacted the fairness of the Inquiry. I provided comprehensive reasons for not calling certain witnesses in my Process Management Directive #6, found in Appendix F-6. In brief, I decided not to call those individuals on the grounds that they could only provide evidence of marginal relevance to the Commission's mandate or the focus of their evidence had already been addressed by persons who were more actively involved in the investigations. Thus, their testimony was not necessary for me to fulfill the mandate set out in the Terms of Reference. Moreover, the calling of those witnesses would not have been an effective or efficient use of hearing time, and would have unnecessarily extended the Inquiry.

Conduct of the Hearings

An opening prayer by Elder Eugene Harry of the Squamish Nation started the hearings on October 11, 2011. Each Participant was allowed to make an opening statement in which they reviewed the points and material they expected to cover over the course of the hearings. The opening statements revealed the agendas of some of the Participants. It bears repeating that it was not the intention or within the Terms of Reference of this Commission to re-investigate the crimes of which Pickton was convicted.

The hearing process was divided generally into four phases. The first phase laid the context for the Missing Women Inquiry. We heard extensive evidence about the conditions of the lives of the women involved in the survival sex trade. The second phase concentrated on the reviews of the missing women investigations conducted by the police themselves, including those of DC LePard (VPD), Superintendent Williams (RCMP) and the Commission's independent expert DC Evans. Their evidence was of great assistance to the Commission because they provided a detailed chronology of the events, as well as their views on what went wrong. The third phase involved extensive evidence from members of the victims' families. The fourth phase was comprised of evidence of individual police officers and community members who could speak directly to events of the missing women investigations. Other family members also testified during this phase.

Examinations

The general procedure in inquiries is for Commission Counsel to call witnesses.¹⁴ Commission Counsel prepared a witness list that included all of the significant and available witnesses who could contribute to the Inquiry. The list was circulated to all counsel. Counsel were asked if there were other witnesses who they wished to be called. They were asked to provide Commission Counsel with will-say statements so that Commission Counsel could determine whether the evidence being sought was necessary or whether it would be duplicative or peripheral. After all witnesses were called by Commission Counsel, Participants were able to apply to the Commissioner for permission to call additional witnesses.¹⁵ I dealt with applications that were made in that regard in my Process Management Directives #5 and #6. As stated above, I denied several requests from the Participants to call additional witnesses on the basis that the evidence would be outside my mandate, duplicative or only peripherally relevant. The purpose of the evidentiary hearings was to address the conduct of the police and their investigations and Crown Counsel's decision to enter a stay of proceedings. (The policy forums were designed to address different aspects of the women's lives and also to hear from members of the community on matters of future policy.) To the extent witnesses had something to say about these issues, I am satisfied I received a full account.

The general process for examining witnesses was as follows: Commission Counsel, Mr. Vertlieb, QC, or Ms. Brooks, would lead the evidence from the witness, except on the few occasions where counsel for a witness requested to do so. Under the Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings, they could ask leading or non-leading questions. ¹⁶ After Commission Counsel completed their examination, counsel for the Participants were able to conduct cross-examinations. The order was based on whose interests were generally seen to be most affected. The

interests of the Families were germane to the Commission, and it was just and proper that counsel for the Families (Mr. Ward or Mr. Chantler, then Mr. Roberts, QC) would have the opportunity to cross-examine the witness immediately following any examination by counsel for that witness. After each Participant examined the witness, Commission Counsel would conduct any re-examination.

In both trials and inquiries, it is necessary to strike a balance between giving parties/Participants an opportunity to be fully heard and, at the same time, being cognizant of time. As the proceedings progressed, it became increasingly apparent that some form of reasonable time limits had to be imposed. Aside from the large number of counsel who insisted on the right to cross-examine witnesses, it became evident that competing agendas were starting to derail the hearing process. Witnesses were testifying for days. DC LePard, for example, was on the stand for 14 days. As the hearings progressed, the issues came into sharper focus and I developed a strong sense of what was relevant or helpful to me in terms of fulfilling my mandate.

A public inquiry is more inquisitorial than adversarial. In his landmark paper on public inquiries, Mr. Justice O'Connor warned of the dangers that follow when inquiries begin to operate like trials:

Unlike criminal or civil trials, inquiries do not need to be conducted within the confines of the fixed rules of practice and procedures. Inquiries are not trials: they are investigations. They do not result in the determination of rights or liabilities; they result in findings of fact and/or recommendations. Subject to what I say below about the need for procedural fairness for those who may be affected by the report of an inquiry, a commissioner has a very broad discretion to craft the rules and procedures necessary to carry out his or her mandate.

. . .

Traditionally, fact-finding inquiries have used public, evidentiary, court-like hearings to gather and test information. Commission counsel collects and review relevant documents, interview witnesses and then introduce the relevant information through sworn testimony in a court-like setting. Lawyers for parties with an interest in the inquiry are granted standing and are entitled to cross-examine witnesses, and make closing arguments.

These types of hearings can be very complex, time consuming and expensive. When public inquiries are criticized, criticisms are frequently directed at the inefficiency of the process, the time involved, and the expense incurred. Indeed, criticisms of this nature are sometimes used as arguments against holding an inquiry in circumstances which otherwise warrant an independent examination and report.¹⁷

With the deadline for the report approaching, it was clear the hearings would not conclude in time. I tried to take advantage of the flexibility afforded to commissions to expedite the examinations and focus on the central issues within the Commission's mandate. After extensive deliberation, I made the following changes to the hearing process:

- 1. Starting on January 11, 2012, I issued a series of Process Management Directives that set out the procedural steps I considered necessary to take to fulfill my mandate. Those Process Management Directives are found in Appendices F-1 to F-6.
- 2. I determined that I would receive some evidence in panels and that I would limit time for the examination of witnesses (see Process Management Directives #3 and #4, included as Appendices F-3 and F-4). These determinations were made as a result of three considerations:
 - The need to focus on my mandate and to make recommendations relating to police investigations that would make a real difference in practical terms;
 - The need to focus on the systemic dimensions of the police failures instead of searching for individual scapegoats; and
 - The need to carry out the hearing aspect of my mandate in an effective manner but, at the same time, to ensure that important attention was given to the study commission aspect of my mandate.

Panels

Starting on February 27, 2012, the Commission began hearing witnesses in panels. This is not a unique approach to hearing evidence. In fact, panels have been used in numerous Canadian public inquiries including the Goudge Inquiry, the Walkerton Inquiry and, most recently, the Cohen Inquiry. Currently, panels are also being used in the Northern Gateway Pipeline hearings. Evidence from panels (also termed "concurrent evidence") was noted by Ms. Freya Kristjanson, Commission Counsel in the Walkterton Inquiry, as being "particularly effective in dealing with sequential causation issues, multi-disciplinary issues, the evolution of policies, practices and procedures, and interactions among different branches of government or institutions."18 The use of panels is an effective means of focusing on issues and reducing repetition, thereby enhancing the understanding of complicated evidence and increasing its reliability. Further, the panel method of obtaining evidence is consistent with Justice O'Connor's advice about the need for greater creativity and flexibility in the fact-finding processes of inquiries:

There are alternatives to full blown evidentiary hearings, at least for some parts of the information gathering process. Tied to the idea that a commissioner can adopt a more informal, less evidentiary type of process for some parts of an investigation and for some issues is the notion that not all parts of the investigative process need to take place in public.

...the use of witness panels and independent expert reports in a fact-finding inquiry will often advance and expedite the process significantly. We do not use witness panels in our criminal and civil

courts but as a commissioner, I found them to be extraordinarily valuable. For example, at Walkerton the evidence respecting how the well became contaminated was presented by an expert panel consisting of a hydro-geologist, an environmental microbiologist and an engineer specializing in water treatment. As a panel, they explained the spread of contamination from the flow of water on the surrounding land and geological points of entry to the well, to the point the well-water entered the municipal drinking water supply. They commented on each other's evidence in the course of both direct and cross-examination. In so doing, all participants gained a valuable inter-disciplinary understanding of the issues in a very efficient manner.¹⁹

We heard from the following panels, which were grouped according to the nature of their involvement in the investigations:

- Vancouver Police & Native Liaison Society (Morris Bates, Freda Ens, Cst. Jay Johns, Cst. George Lawson);
- Community members (Maggie de Vries, Jamie Lee Hamilton, Wayne Leng);
- Community members (Bonnie Fournier, Jane Smith);
- VPD District 2 officers (Insp. Chris Beach, Cst. Dave Dickson, Insp. Gary Greer, Staff Sgt. Doug MacKay-Dunn);
- VPD Reporting and E-Comm (Sandra Cameron, Rae Lynn Dicks);
- VPD Major Crime Section managers (Insp. Fred Biddlecombe, Insp. Dan Dureau, Sgt. Geramy Field);
- VPD Major Crime Section senior managers (DCC Brian McGuinness, DCC John Unger);
- VPD Project Amelia investigators (Det. Cst. Doug Fell, Det. Cst. Mark Wolthers);
- VPD Project Amelia investigators (Det. Cst. Mark Chernoff, Det. Ron Lepine);
- RCMP Pickton investigation (Insp. Earl Moulton, Cpl. Frank Henley, Sgt. Darryl Pollock, Cst. Ruth (Yurkiw) Chapman);
- Government representatives (Ujjal Dosanjh, Maureen Maloney);
- Vancouver Police Board members (Philip Owen, Kinder Mottus, Elizabeth Watson);
- VPD Response Evidence (Sgt. Ted Yeomans, Sgt. Ron Joyce, Donna Marshall-Cope, Bonnie Thiele); and
- VPD Response Evidence (DC Doug LePard, Cst. Tamara Hammell).

I found the use of panels to be extremely effective. I concur with Mr. Gratl, Counsel for the DTES Interests, who stated the community members panel of Maggie de Vries, Jamie Lee Hamilton and Wayne Leng was "extraordinarily successful in communicating synergies."²⁰

Hearing from witnesses as a group meant that the material witnesses were present to provide their respective views on various events, decisions and policies. Factual interdependencies could be explored in a logical sequential fashion. I agree with Ms. Kristjanson that the evidence of a panel of witnesses with different perspectives "aims to construct a coherent narrative ... The use of complementary witnesses on a panel can be a very powerful tool for putting together an explanation."²¹ Having the key players

testify in groups promoted dialogue, helped to resolve discrepancies, and decreased the gaps in the evidence. This enhanced the clarity in the evidence and resulted in a more efficient fact-gathering process. Further, the panel format afforded the opportunity for more witnesses to be called before the Commission, providing a richer and more comprehensive evidentiary record. Panels also helped to diminish the adversarial tone of the hearings because the focus turned to systemic problems, rather than on individual blaming.

Ms. Kristjanson noted that panel evidence "takes lawyers outside their comfort zone: it is a departure from the traditional approach of examining and cross-examining witnesses, creating a much more dynamic and interactive forum."²² To be sure, some counsel expressed concerns that the format did not provide adequate opportunity to examine individual witnesses. However, it is important to note that counsel were free to examine only one witness or ask questions of one witness at a time. The variation in how counsel conducted their examinations of the panels demonstrates this flexibility. Although panel members would often add to each other's evidence (at the request of counsel examining the panel), I did not allow them to confer privately during the examination. Ultimately, the use of panels assisted me to develop practical recommendations for change because witnesses were better able to focus on what went wrong and why. Looking back, it would have been desirable to have used panels earlier.

Time limits

In an inquiry, it is not necessary for every Participant to question every witness. Very successful inquiries have been conducted in private, without any cross-examination of witnesses, including the Bernardo Investigation Review and the SARS Inquiry, both conducted by Justice Archie Campbell. In this Inquiry, almost every counsel cross-examined every witness. At the end of their testimony, a witness may have been examined by up to 15 different counsel. It is not in the public interest for inquiries to permit unlimited time for questions, particularly where the questions are often of limited relevance. Indeed, one of the greatest challenges our courts face is in managing time constraints. To overcome these challenges, inquiries (and courts) frequently impose time limits on counsel examinations.

Starting on May 14, 2012, I imposed time limits on examinations. Time allocations were designed to ensure that all interests were protected but, at the same time, that all issues were addressed. I note, while some counsel complained about being allocated time to cross-examine witnesses, on many occasions they did not use all of their time allocated. To ensure that counsel had as much time as possible, we commenced hearings earlier in the morning and would sit as late as 6 p.m.

I am satisfied that we achieved a balance whereby evidence was adduced in a manner that was proportional to its relevance and significance to the Commission's mandate.

Volume IV 23

Affidavits

To further promote efficiency, some evidence was adduced by affidavits with Participants having the right to cross-examine the witness. Again, I found this to be a very effective way of introducing evidence and focusing the cross-examination.

Notices of misconduct

Whether or not a notice of misconduct is issued is confidential. Once a notice is issued to an individual or an organization, certain procedural rights are granted, including an opportunity to respond to the allegations.²³ Procedural rights may include retaining counsel, accessing information and documents, cross-examining witnesses, making submissions or having other witnesses called. By necessity, some of the details need to be worked out in confidence between Commission Counsel and counsel for those individuals who received notice.

Summary

The Commission heard 92 days of evidence and 86 witnesses. A total of 256 exhibits were entered into evidence, encompassing over 27,000 pages.

Closing submissions

Pursuant to Process Management Directive #4, I allowed each Participant one hour to make oral closing submissions (included as Appendix G-4). Participants were also invited to submit written closing submissions. No page length restriction was imposed. I received closing submissions (either orally or in writing) from the following:

- The families of Dianne Rock, Georgina Papin, Marnie Frey, Cynthia Dawn Feliks, Cara Ellis, Mona Wilson, Helen Mae Hallmark, Dawn Crey, Angela Hazel Williams, Jacqueline Murdock, Brenda Wolfe, Andrea Joesbury, Elsie Sebastian, Heather Bottomley, Andrea Borhaven, Tiffany Drew, Angela Jardine, Stephanie Lane, Tanya Holyk, Olivia William, Debra Jones, Janet Henry, Marie Lorna Laliberte, Sereena Abotsway, Dianne Melnick, and Marcella Creison;
- Ms. Marion Bryce, mother of Patricia Johnson;
- DTES Interests;
- Aboriginal Interests;
- CRAB Water for Life;
- Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users (VANDU);
- Vancouver Police Department (VPD) and Vancouver Police Board (VPB);
- Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP);
- Vancouver Police Union (VPU);
- Criminal Justice Branch (CJB);
- Retired Insp. Don Adam;
- Acting Sgt. Doug Fell and Retired Det. Cst. Mark Wolthers;

- Retired Deputy Commissioner Gary Bass;
- Retired Insp. Fred Biddlecombe;
- Retired CC Terry Blythe and Retired DCC John Unger;
- Retired DCC Gary Greer;
- Retired DCC Brian McGuinness;
- Ms. Sandra Cameron;
- Dr. D. Kim Rossmo; and
- Judge Richard Romano.

The hearings were closed on June 6, 2012, and ended with a closing prayer by Rick Harry from the Squamish Nation, the hereditary head of Xwalacktun.

The Study Commission

As set out above, the Commission was originally established as a hearing commission and the government approved my request that I also be granted study commission powers in March 2011. The Commission was not granted additional time or budget allocation for this purpose; therefore, the study commission was developed to run parallel to the hearing process using existing staff resources. The parallel nature of the two processes brought additional challenges to my work. Again, the majority of the study commission research and consultation work was carried out by the small team of Commission staff. An external consultant was engaged to write the background report on policing in British Columbia and another was hired to develop and carry out a consultation program in the DTES.

Our first step was to define the two main objectives of the study commission:

- To gather information concerning current police initiatives and ongoing challenges in the police protection of vulnerable women including missing women and suspected multiple homicides; and
- To gather input on potential recommendations on issues within the Commission mandate.

The study commission activities were outlined in Volume III. Here, I reflect on how these processes unfolded.

We undertook three main initiatives: consultations, publication of policy discussion reports to solicit and facilitate public submissions, and research and interviews.

Staff carried out a broad review of the literature on issues within the Commission mandate and initiated a number of research projects, including a survey of 20 police forces across Canada concerning missing person policies and practices. In the fall of 2011, we developed and implemented consultation programs in the DTES and in seven communities along the Northwestern region of the Highway of Tears, building on what we had learned at the pre-hearing conferences. The Northern Community Forums gave me the opportunity to hear directly from individuals affected by the

ongoing tragedy of women missing from along the Highway of Tears and, in particular, their recommendations for change.

Based on the initial research and consultations, the Commission identified four main themes and, in December 2011, we announced that we would be holding policy forums on these themes in May 2012. Invitations to make written submissions and participate in the forums were sent to Participants and to a wide range of individuals and organizations with an identified interest in these issues. Notice was also posted on our website. The four themes were:

- Police protection of vulnerable and marginalized women;
- Towards more effective missing women investigations: police relationships with victims' families, the community and the media;
- Policies and practices in the investigation of missing persons and suspected multiple homicides; and
- Issues related to the structure and organization of policing arising from the missing women investigations.

Later on, we added the two following themes:

- The treatment of vulnerable witnesses in the criminal justice process; and
- From report to substantive change: healing, reconciliation and implementation.

Sixteen reports were prepared and published on the Commission's website, as they were completed over the course of our mandate, to enable further dialogue about these critical issues. These reports are listed in Part 2F.

Prior to the policy forums, we held three tailored sets of consultations. Commission staff met with individual victim's family members over the course of several months, and I met with a group of family members for an intense and moving session focused on recommendations for reform in late April 2012. Also in April, we held an expert roundtable on the structure and organization of policing in British Columbia. This event was co-sponsored by the Ting Forum on Social Policy, and I thank Professor Robert Gordon for co-hosting this event with me. In addition, Linda Locke, QC, conducted a private consultation with affected community members in the Northwest to gather further submissions on ensuring Aboriginal and rural women's safety, building strong police-community relationships, promoting community involvement, and healing and reconciliation.

In addition to providing me with process advice on the hearings, Barry Stuart and Glenn Sigurdson facilitated several meetings between representatives of the VPD, RCMP and members of the DTES community at the Aboriginal Mother's Centre. These meetings were co-chaired by Ernie Crey and Jen Allan. I thank them for these important efforts. Unfortunately, time restrictions meant that the Commission was unable to pursue this fruitful process. Even so, the information canvassed at these brief meetings informed my thinking about implementation and has been incorporated into the Commission report.

At the same time as the hearings were entering the final days, six policy forums were held in early May, some at the Vancouver Public Library and some at the Wosk Centre. The policy forums were extraordinary events, from the inspiring keynote presentation by Doreen Binder, Executive Director of the Transitions Project in Portland, Oregon, to the closing circle prayer and song by Elder Xwalacktun, who had assisted us during each of the sessions. The sessions were facilitated by Deborah Hanuse and Catherine Rockandel. Several experts provided introductory comments to assist in focusing us on the main theme of the session. Space was tight and there were many moments of direct exchanges between Participants and face-to-face dialogue between community members and police representatives. It was a rewarding experience for me and for the Commission staff.

The study commission process made a substantial contribution to my ability to carry out paragraphs 4c and 4d of my Terms of Reference. At the same time, the Commission faced enormous challenges because these activities were carried out in tandem with the hearing process. Time was extremely limited. The process would have been more effective if we could have carried out our work in three phases: initial research and consultations to assist in refining the issues for the hearing process, the evidentiary hearings, and focused research and consultations on reform options. Because of the limitations, many of my recommendations are framed as requiring additional research and consultation; there was simply not enough time to undertake all the tasks necessary to develop detailed recommendations.

The greatest challenge we faced with respect to the study commission process was undoubtedly the boycott by individuals and organizations representing two of the most affected communities, the DTES and Aboriginal communities. The boycott was not absolute: the Commission was welcomed in Northwestern BC for two series of consultations in September 2011 and April/May 2012. More than 50 people participated in the DTES consultation in the fall and early winter of 2011, and some individuals from that community provided written and oral submissions during the policy forum process. I am incredibly grateful for those organizations and individuals who did participate. Nevertheless, many of the organizations that have worked tirelessly in this field for many years did not participate. As I state within this report, the implementation process must be inclusive because collaboration is crucial to achieving substantial change. We must all work together to build a legacy in honour of the missing and murdered women: a legacy of greater safety for vulnerable women throughout British Columbia.

Acknowledgements

On September 28, 2010, I was appointed Commissioner for the Inquiry, which generally has been referred to as the Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Women.

This Commission of Inquiry was appointed to inquire into police

investigations of missing and murdered women and, in particular, it dealt with the investigation relating to the worst mass murder in Canadian history. At the outset, Commission Counsel was required to interview well over 100 witnesses and seek the production of documents in excess of 150,000 pages. In the end, the Inquiry held 93 days of public hearings during which 86 witnesses testified. Thus the work of this Commission was challenging on many levels – professionally, emotionally and personally. There were incredibly tight deadlines in light of voluminous evidence, extreme pressure and exceptional expectations and responsibilities placed on Commission staff, contractors and advisors. The people who came to work with me at the Commission each day worked extremely hard. They sacrificed much in their personal lives by working long hours, on weekends and holidays during the life of this Commission.

The job we were tasked with was not easy. We faced numerous issues, many of which were played out in a public forum through the media. The evidence heard was often emotional and heart wrenching. During these challenging times, every person on the Commission team stayed dedicated and focused on the work that we were doing.

I greatly appreciate and want to acknowledge the talents, abilities and the professionalism of this team. Their dedication and commitment to the work of this Commission is inspiring. No matter what area they worked in – as legal counsel, policy and research counsel and support, records and document review, administration, running the courtroom, in communications, media relations, web and report editing, proofreading and production, as advisors and consultants – every person I had the honour to work with on this Commission brought one key element to their role – they were dedicated to creating positive change through this report. Along with excellent professional skills, they brought heart to this work.

I am grateful to each individual for their unparalleled effort, support and their exceptional work on this Commission.

I am particularly grateful for counsel work provided by Darrel Roberts, QC, and Irwin Nathanson, QC, both of whom represented Marion Bryce, mother of murder victim Patricia Johnson. Mr. Roberts brought with him over 50 years of courtroom expertise and attended the hearings almost on a daily basis. Both Mr. Roberts and Mr. Nathanson, in the finest traditions of the bar, appeared on a pro-bono basis. As well, I am indebted to Bryan Baynham, QC, who appeared for Aboriginal Interests on a pro-bono basis. He too brought with him over 45 years of experience. I am indebted to these counsel who provided invaluable assistance to the Commission.

The Commission also wishes to acknowledge with thanks Project EDAN for permission to reprint the portraits of the women and to Wayne Leng for facilitating our access to them, and Leo Perra and Cathy Stooshnov for providing assistance and advice on Commission administrative processes.

APPENDICES

A. Terms of Reference

Definitions

1 In this order:

"**commission**" means the commission of inquiry established under section 2 of this order;

"Criminal Justice Branch" means the Criminal Justice Branch of the Ministry of the Attorney General;

"missing women investigations" means the investigations conducted between January 23, 1997 and February 5, 2002, by police forces in British Columbia respecting women reported missing from the Downtown Eastside of the city of Vancouver.

Establishment of commission

- **2** (1) A hearing and study commission, called the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry, is established under section 2 of the Public Inquiry Act.
- (2) Wally Oppal, QC, is the sole commissioner of the commission established under subsection (1).

Purpose of the commission

3 The purpose of the commission is to inquire into and report on the conduct of the missing women investigations.

Terms of reference

- **4** The terms of reference of the inquiry to be conducted by the commission are as follows:
- (a) to conduct hearings, in or near the City of Vancouver, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the conduct of the missing women investigations;
- (b) consistent with the British Columbia (Attorney General) v. Davies, 2009 BCCA 337, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch on January 27, 1998, to enter a stay of proceedings on charges against Robert William Pickton of attempted murder, assault with a weapon, forcible confinement and aggravated assault;

- (c) to recommend changes considered necessary respecting the initiation and conduct of investigations in British Columbia of missing women and suspected multiple homicides;
- (d) to recommend changes considered necessary respecting homicide investigations in British Columbia by more than one investigating organization, including the co-ordination of those investigations;
- (e) to submit a final report to the Attorney General or before December 31, 2011.
- *The Commission was granted an extension and the revised date for final report submission to the Attorney General is on or before November 30, 2012.

B. Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings

[Authorized by *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 9(1)]

October 26, 2010

Definitions

- 1. In this directive,
- a. "Act" means the Public Inquiry Act, S.B.C. 2007, c. 9,
- b. **"Commission"** means the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry, a hearing commission established pursuant to Order in Council 605/2010 under section 2 of the *Public Inquiry Act*,
- c. "Participant" means persons with a grant of standing,
- d. "record" includes books, documents, maps, drawings, photographs, letters, vouchers, papers and any other thing on which information is recorded or stored by any means whether graphic, electronic, mechanical or otherwise, and
- e. "rule" means a section in this directive.

Purpose of the evidentiary hearings

2. The Commissioner will inquire into those matters set out in section 4 of the Terms of Reference. On the basis of oral and documentary evidence tendered during the evidentiary hearings, the Commissioner will make findings of fact and may make a finding of misconduct against a person or make a report that alleges misconduct by a person. The Commissioner's findings of fact or findings of misconduct cannot be taken as findings of criminal or civil liability.

General

3. Notice or service by email shall be considered adequate notice or service. All participants must identify to commission counsel the email address they wish to use for this purpose.

Public and media access to evidentiary hearings

- 4. Subject to Rule 5, the Commission must
- a. ensure that evidentiary hearings are open to the public, either in person or through broadcast proceedings (see *Public Inquiry Act* s. 25(a)), and
- b. give the public access to information submitted in an evidentiary hearing (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 25 (b)).

- 5. The Commissioner may, by order, prohibit or restrict a person or class of persons, or the public, from attending all or part of an evidentiary hearing, or from accessing all or part of any information provided to or held by the Commission,
- a. if the government asserts privilege or immunity over the information under section 29 of the Act (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 15(1)(a)),
- b. for any reason for which information could or must be withheld by a public body under sections 15 to 19 and 21 to 22.1 of the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act* (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s.15(1) (b)),
- c. if the Commissioner has reason to believe that the order is necessary for the effective and efficient fulfillment of the Commission's terms of reference (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 15(1)(c)), or
- d. if the Commissioner is satisfied that such an order would make available to the Commission evidence that would otherwise not be available due to a privilege under the law of evidence.
- 6. In making an order under Rule 5, the Commissioner must not unduly prejudice the rights and interests of a participant against whom a finding of misconduct, or a report alleging misconduct, may be made (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 15(2)).

Video and audio recording of the evidentiary hearing proceedings

7. The Commissioner may impose restrictions on the video and audio recording of the evidentiary hearing proceedings and may, on application, order that there be no video or audio recording of some or all of a witness's testimony.

Reporting the proceedings

8. The public and media may report the evidentiary hearing proceedings that are open to the public, except for testimony and/or submissions in respect of which the Commissioner has ordered that they shall not be published.

Application for standing to participate in the evidentiary hearings

- 9. A person may apply to be a participant by applying to the Commission in the manner and form it requires. The application must set out the basis upon which participation is sought, and the extent and nature of the participation sought (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s.11(3)).
- 10. To apply for standing, a person must submit a written application to the Commissioner by 4 p.m. on November 30, 2010 or by such other dates as the Commissioner may determine.

- 11. The Commissioner may accept an applicant as a participant after considering all of the following:
- a. whether, and to what extent, the person's interests may be affected by the findings of the commission (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 11(4)(a)).
- b. whether the person's participation would further the conduct of the inquiry (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 11(4)(b)).,
- c. whether the person's participation would contribute to the fairness of the inquiry (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 11(4)(c)).
- 12. Where persons are known to have shared interests in the subject matter of the Commission, they should make an application for standing, identifying those persons whose interests are reflected in their application.
- 13. The Commissioner may direct that a number of applicants share in a single grant of standing.

Application for funding recommendations

- 14. Where the Commissioner is satisfied on the evidence that a participant would not otherwise be able to participate in the Commission, the Commissioner may recommend to the Attorney General that a participant receive financial assistance to pay for legal counsel to facilitate participation appropriate to the extent of a participant's interest.
- 15. Applications for funding recommendations may be made concurrently with applications for standing. To apply for a funding recommendation, a person must submit a written application to the Commissioner by 4 p.m. on November 30, 2010 or by such other dates as the Commissioner may determine.
- 16. An application for a funding recommendation must be supported by an affidavit setting out the following:
- a. facts that demonstrate the person seeking funding does not have sufficient financial resources to participate in the work of the Commission without financial assistance for legal counsel, and
- b. facts in relation to any other sources of funds received, expected or sought by the person in relation to legal services rendered, or to be rendered, with respect to the Commission.

Affidavits must be in Form 1 to these rules, or in another form as the Commissioner may determine. Guidelines for application format and delivery will be posted on the Commission website: www. missingwomeninquiry.ca.

- 17. The Commissioner will determine the outcome of applications for funding recommendations on the basis of written applications, unless the Commissioner determines that an oral hearing is necessary.
- 18. Where the Commissioner's funding recommendation is approved, funding shall be in accordance with the terms and conditions approved by the Attorney General respecting rates of remuneration and reimbursement and the assessment of accounts.

Powers respecting participants

- 19. Subject to Rule 22, the Commissioner may make orders respecting
- a. the manner and extent of a participant's participation (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 12(1)(a)),
- b. the rights and responsibilities of a participant, if any (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 12(1)(b)), and
- c. any limits or conditions on a participant's participation (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 12(1)(c)).
- 20. In making an order under Rule 17, the Commissioner may
- a. make different orders for different participants or classes of participants (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 12(2)(a)), and
- b. waive or modify one or more of his orders as necessary (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 12(2)(b)).
- 21. In making an order under Rule 17, the Commissioner must ensure that a participant who responds to a notice under section 11(2) of the Act has a reasonable opportunity to be heard by the Commissioner before the Commissioner makes a finding of misconduct against the participant, or makes a report that alleges misconduct by that participant (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 12(3)).

Rights of participants

- 22. A participant may
- a. participate on her or his own behalf (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 13(1)(a)), or
- b. be represented by counsel or, with the approval of the Commissioner, by an agent (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 13(1)(b)).

23. A participant

- a. has the same immunities as a witness who appears before the court (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 13(2)(a)), and
- b. is considered to have objected to answering any question that may
- i. incriminate the participant in a criminal proceeding (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 13(2)(b)(i)), or
- ii. establish the participant's liability in a civil proceeding (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 13(2)(b)(ii)).

Production of records

24. All records provided to the Commission shall be indexed in a form acceptable to the Commission.

Confidentiality of records

- 25. Commission Counsel shall not provide a record to counsel, a participant or a witness until that person has delivered to Commission counsel a signed undertaking, in a form approved by the Commissioner, that all records disclosed by the Commission will be used solely for the purposes of the Commission.
- 26. Counsel for a participant or a witness shall not provide a record to the participant or witness until the participant or witness has delivered to counsel a signed undertaking, in a form approved by the Commissioner, and counsel has delivered that signed undertaking to Commission counsel.
- 27. The Commissioner may:
- a. impose restrictions on the use and dissemination of records,
- b. require that a record that has not been entered as an exhibit in the evidentiary proceedings, and all copies of the record, be returned to the Commission, and
- c. on application, release counsel, a participant or a witness, in whole or in part, from the undertaking in relation to any record, or may authorize the disclosure of a record to another person.

Records

28. A participant must, at the earliest opportunity and in any event at least ten days before using a record in an evidentiary hearing or tendering it as an exhibit, deliver a copy of the record to Commission counsel.

Public access to records

- 29. Unless the Commissioner orders otherwise:
- a. a record within the Commission's control that has not been entered as an exhibit is not available for public inspection or copying, and
- b. a record that has been entered as an exhibit may be inspected by the public and the media. The Commission will determine the circumstances in which a charge will be imposed for copying records.

Applications to the Commissioner

- 30. A participant may apply to the Commissioner for an order by:
- a. preparing the application in writing,
- b. attaching to the application any supporting materials, and
- c. delivering the application and supporting materials to the Commission by email, to applications@missingwomeninquiry.ca in Microsoft Word or *.pdf format.
- 31. An applicant must deliver the application for an order to the Commission at least four days before the application is to be heard.
- 32. A participant who wishes to receive notice of an application shall provide the Commission with an email address for delivery.
- 33. The Commission shall promptly deliver the application and supporting materials, by email, to each other participant who has provided the Commission with an email address for delivery.
- 34. Any other participant may file written materials in relation to an application made under Rule 30.
- 35. The Commissioner may make an order based on the written material filed or, at his discretion, after hearing oral argument.

Applications for further disclosure of a record

- 36. A participant may seek disclosure of a record from another person ("record holder") by asking Commission counsel, in writing, to use the powers of the Commission to obtain the record.
- 37. The request must state:
- a. the reasons the participant believes the record holder possesses the record, and

- b. the reasons the participant believes the record is relevant to a matter before the Commission.
- 38. If Commission counsel accepts the request, Commission counsel will attempt to obtain the record.
- 39. If Commission counsel rejects the request, Commission counsel shall notify the participant, and the participant may apply to the Commissioner, in accordance with Rules 20 to 23, for an order respecting the request.
- 40. When the participant applies to the Commissioner under Rule 39, the Commission shall deliver the application and any supporting materials to the record holder, and to each other participant who has provided the Commission with an email address for delivery.
- 41. The record holder and any other participant may file written materials in relation to an application made under Rule 39.
- 42. Unless the Commissioner orders otherwise, the procedures set out in Rules 36 to 41, in relation to a particular witness, should whenever possible be completed before that witness commences his or her testimony.

Witnesses

- 43. Each participant shall provide to Commission counsel at the earliest opportunity the name and address of any person who the participant believes should be called as a witness during the evidentiary hearings, with a statement of the subject matter of their proposed testimony, their experience and background, and the estimated length of their testimony.
- 44. The following rules apply to witnesses:
- a. Commission counsel shall decide who shall be called as a witness at the evidentiary hearings,
- b. Subject to Rule 45, Commission counsel shall call and examine witnesses on behalf of the Commission, and may adduce evidence by way of both leading and non-leading questions,
- c. each witness called shall, before testifying, be sworn or affirm,
- d. each witness who testifies may during his or her testimony be represented by counsel or, with the approval of the Commissioner, by an agent,
- e. the Commissioner may, on application by a participant, permit a participant to cross-examine a witness to the extent of that participant's interest. If the participants are unable to agree on an order of cross-examination, the Commissioner will determine the order,

- f. subject to Rule 45, counsel for a participant is entitled to examine that participant last, regardless of whether or not counsel is also representing another participant,
- g. after Commission counsel has called all witnesses on behalf of the Commission, a participant may apply to the Commissioner for permission to call a witness and, if permission is granted, subrules (c) to (e) apply to each witness called by a participant.
- h. Commission counsel has the right to re-examine any witness who has testified.
- 45. Counsel for a witness may apply to the Commissioner for permission to lead that witness's examination in chief. If permission is granted, counsel will examine the witness in accordance with the normal rules governing the examination of one's own witness in court proceedings, unless the Commissioner directs otherwise.

Power to accept information

- 46. The Commissioner may receive and accept:
- a. information that he considers relevant, necessary and appropriate, whether or not the information would be admissible in any court (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 14(1)), and
- b. a witness's evidence by way of affidavit or written statement, or by audio or video conference.
- 47. Without limiting Rule 17, the Commissioner may exclude anything unduly repetitious (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 14(2)).
- 48. Nothing in Rule 46 overrides the provisions of any Act expressly limiting the extent to which or purposes for which any oral testimony, records or things may be admitted or used in evidence (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 14(3)).
- 49. A person cannot be compelled to disclose in an evidentiary hearing anything that, in any court, would be privileged under the law of evidence (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 22(2)).

Final submissions

- 50. Commission counsel, and each participant authorized to do so, may make final oral and written submissions to the Commissioner on any issue within the Commission of Inquiry's Terms of Reference.
- 51. The Commissioner may set time limits on oral submissions, and page limits on written submissions.

The Commission's process

52. Subject to the Act and the Commission's Terms of Reference, the Commission has the power to control its own process (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 9(1)).

Participant's failure to comply with this directive

- 53. Without limiting any other powers of enforcement, if a participant fails to comply with this directive, including any time limits specified for taking any actions, the Commissioner, after giving notice to the participant, may do any of the following:
- a. schedule a meeting or hearing (see Public Inquiry Act, s. 17(a)),
- b. continue with the inquiry and make a finding or recommendation based on the evidence before him, with or without providing an opportunity for submissions from that participant (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 17(b)),
- c. make any order necessary for the purpose of enforcing this directive (see *Public Inquiry Act*, s. 17(c)).

Commissioner's discretion

54. The Commissioner retains a residual discretion to amend, add to, vary or depart from any of the Rules in this Directive for the effective conduct of the evidentiary hearings.

C. Undertaking of Counsel and Confidentiality Agreement re: Documents

The Missing Women Commission of Inquiry

Undertaking of Counsel

I,,	undertake	to	the	Missing
Women Commission of Inquiry (the "Commi	ssion") that	:		

- 1. I will use any and all documents and information which are produced to me in connection with the Commission's proceedings (the "Confidential Material") solely for these proceedings.
- 2. I will not discuss or disclose, including providing copies, of the Confidential Material to any person except:
 - a. a person for whom I act in the Commission's proceedings;
 - b. a person who represents or is a member of an organization for whom I act in the Commission's proceedings;
 - c. an expert witness retained or consulted by me in relation to these proceedings;
 - d. to the extent necessary to interview a potential witness in the Commission's proceedings;
 - e. my legal staff or assistants; or
 - f. as required by law.
- 3. I will only discuss or disclose, including providing copies, Confidential Material to a person set out in paragraphs 2(a)-(e) if the person has signed a copy of the attached Confidentiality Agreement which I shall retain.
- 4. If I choose to provide copies of Confidential Material in any form to any person allowed for in paragraphs 2(a)-(e), I will request approval in a Form provided by the Commission.
- 5. I will protect the Confidential Material provided to me by the Commission in accordance with the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*, 1996 R.S.B.C., c. 165, any court order and any publication ban such as that ordered in *R. v. Pickton*, 2010 BCSC 1198.
- 6. I will use and store the Confidential Material in a manner that will maintain its confidentiality.
- 7. I understand that I will no longer be bound by this Undertaking of Counsel:
 - a. in relation to any Confidential Material once it has become

part of the public record by becoming an exhibit during the Commission's proceedings unless the Commissioner orders otherwise; or

- b. to the extent that the Commissioner or Commission counsel release me in writing from this Undertaking of Counsel.
- 8. At the conclusion of the Commission's formal proceedings I undertake to do one of the following and will inform the Commission in writing of my choice:
 - a. destroy the Confidential Material and provide confirmation of destruction to the Commission; or
 - b. return the Confidential Material to the Commission for destruction.

Signature	Date	
Witness	 Date	

The Missing Women Commission of Inquiry <u>Confidentiality Agreement</u>

ree that:
j

- I will use any and all documents and information which are produced to me in connection with the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry's (the "Commission") proceedings (the "Confidential Material") solely for these proceedings.
- 2. I will not discuss or disclose, including providing copies, of the Confidential Material to any person unless that person has also signed a Confidentiality Agreement or Undertaking of Counsel.
- 3. If I choose to provide copies of Confidential Material in any form to any person, I will request approval in a Form provided by the Commission.
- 4. I will protect the Confidential Material provided to me by the Commission in accordance with the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*, 1996 R.S.B.C., c. 165, any court order and any publication ban such as that ordered in *R. v. Pickton*, 2010 BCSC 1198.
- 5. I will use and store the Confidential Material in a manner that will maintain its confidentiality.
- 6. I understand that I will no longer be bound by this Confidentiality Agreement:
 - a. in relation to any Confidential Material once it has become part of the public record by becoming an exhibit during the Commission's proceedings unless the Commissioner orders otherwise; or
 - b. to the extent that the Commissioner or Commission counsel release me in writing from this Confidentiality Agreement.
- 7. At the conclusion of the Commission's formal proceedings I undertake to do one of the following and will inform the Commission in writing of my choice to:
 - a. destroy the Confidential Material and provide confirmation of destruction to the Commission; or
 - b. return the Confidential Material to the Commission or my legal counsel for destruction.

Confidentiality Agreemer c.9, s.12(1)(c) and the Pra	ons may result if I breach any term of the notes are the Public Inquiry Act, 2007 S.B.C actice and Procedure Directive for Evidentian Women Commission of Inquiry, rule 19(c) an
Signature	Date
Witness	Date

D. Document Vetting Protocol

Missing Women Commission of Inquiry Vetting/Disclosure Protocol

February 17, 2011

- This document is intended to set out the basis upon which the Government of Canada will disclose those documents in its possession that are relevant to the mandate of the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry.
- 2. The Commission wishes to receive documents in a state that can be disclosed to all participants.
- 3. The Government of Canada is committed to assisting the Commissioner to fulfill his mandate in a timely manner but must disclose documents consistent with applicable privileges and immunities and in a manner which will not jeopardize any ongoing criminal investigations or compromise the safety, privacy or other legitimate interests of sex trade workers, persons of interest and witnesses.
- 4. This will require that all documents be thoroughly reviewed before they are disclosed to the Commission in order to protect privileged information and ongoing criminal investigations as well as information which may compromise the safety of current and former sex trade workers and the privacy of persons of interest and other witnesses.
- 5. The documents to be disclosed to the Commission will be reviewed and either withheld or redacted in order to protect the following types of information from disclosure. Each redaction will be identified with the corresponding code.

Type of Information	Description	Code
Publication Ban	Information that may identify Pickton 1997 attempted murder victim.	VIC97
Solicitor-Client Privilege	Where legal advice is sought and/ or provided from DOJ or Crown Counsel.	SCP

Type of Information	Description	Code
Litigation Privilege	Information created in contemplation of litigation commenced on April 23, 2002 in respect of the murder of Angela Joesbury and on September 19, 2002 in respect of the disappearance of Marcella Creison and in respect of any other litigation commenced during the course of the inquiry.	LP
Police Informer Privilege	Any information that might compromise the identity, safety or security of a confidential informant, police agent or protected witness.	PIP
Police Investigative Techniques	Such as location or type of audio or surveillance and the manner of surreptitious entry to install; aerial surveillance.	PIT
Ongoing Investigation	Information that may reveal or compromise other ongoing investigations and/or identify persons of interest in those investigations.	Ol
Section 37, Canada Evidence Act (CEA): Information not in Public Interest to Disclose – Sex Trade Worker Names	The safety and privacy of current and former sex trade workers may be compromised if their names are disclosed. The names of women associated with the sex trade should be removed in a manner that allows each particular sex trade worker to be identified by a unique id number.	STW
Section 37, Canada Evidence Act (CEA): Information not in Public Interest to Disclose – Sex Assault Victim Names	The security and privacy of former sex assault victims who are not associated with the sex trade may be compromised if their names are disclosed. Accordingly, these names will be redacted.	VICTIM

Type of Information	Description	Code
Section 37, CEA: Information not in Public Interest to Disclose ~ Persons of Interest	The names of persons of interest should be removed in a manner that allows each person of interest to be identified by a unique id number. There are significant concerns with publicly identifying those individuals who have been identified as potential persons of interest in a criminal investigation, especially when those individuals were proved not to be relevant to the investigation.	POI
Section 38, CEA	Information that would be injurious to international relations, national defence or security.	NS
Section 39, CEA	Information that would reveal a cabinet confidence.	СС
Other Statutory Exemptions	The following statutes prohibit the disclosure of: (a) information submitted to the court to obtain a wiretap authorization as well as any information that may identify the targets, the content of the intercepted communications or the existence of such communications; ss. 187 and 193 of the <i>Criminal Code</i> (b) in respect of sealed search warrants, any information relating to the warrant, production order or authorization; s.487.3 of the <i>Criminal Code</i> (c) any information that is contained in the national DNA Data Bank; ss. 4 and 6 of the <i>DNA Identification Act</i> (d) taxpayer information that directly or indirectly identifies the taxpayer to whom the information relates; s. 241 of the <i>Income Tax Act</i>	STAT

Type of Information	Description	Code
Irrelevant Database Query Results	Personal information obtained from queries to police databases (i.e. CPIC, PIRS, PRIME and NCDB) relating to individuals who are entirely unconnected with the investigation but may have a similar name to the person about whom information was requested will be redacted.	DTB
Irrelevant Personal Identifiers	The dates of birth, phone numbers, addresses, drivers license numbers, SINs etc. of any person in the database will be redacted. Only the digits themselves should be redacted so that the type of personal identifier is still apparent.	PID

6. The Commission recognizes that to avoid delay in the Inquiry process documents will be provided to the Commission in groupings as they become available rather than waiting for all document searches and reviews to be completed.

Volume IV 47

E. Instruction Letters to Experts

E-1. Prof. John Lowman

MISSING WOMEN COMMISSION OF INQUIRY

1402 – 808 Nelson Street Vancouver, British Columbia V6Z 2H2 Office: 604-681-4470 Facsimile: 604-681-4458

Email: info@missingwomeninquiry.ca www.missingwomeninquiry.ca

May 30, 2011

John Lowman School of Criminology Arts and Sciences Building 8888 University Drive Burnaby, BC V5A 1S6

VIA EMAIL

Dear Professor Lowman:

Re: Missing Women Commission of Inquiry - Expert Report

We write to request your independent expert opinion with respect to a number of issues relating to women involved in the sex trade in the downtown eastside of Vancouver and the missing women investigations conducted by police forces between 1997 and 2002 (the "Time Period"). We require your report by August 31st, 2011.

Background

The Commission was mandated to inquire into and report on the conduct of the missing women investigations. Specifically, the Terms of Reference direct the Commission to conduct an inquiry into the following matters:

4(a) to conduct hearings, in or near the City of Vancouver, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the conduct of the missing women investigations;

(b) consistent with the British Columbia (Attorney General) v. Davies, 2009 BCCA 337, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch on January 27, 1998, to enter a stay of proceedings on charges against Robert William Pickton of attempted murder, assault with a weapon, forcible confinement and aggravated assault;

- (c) to recommend changes considered necessary respecting the initiation and conduct of investigations in British Columbia of missing women and suspected multiple homicides;
- (d) to recommend changes considered necessary respecting homicide investigations in British Columbia by more than one investigating organization, including the co-ordination of those investigations.

The missing women investigations are defined as "the investigations conducted between January 23, 1997 and February 5, 2002, by police forces in British Columbia respecting women reported missing from the DTES."

Format of Opinion

We ask that your independent expert report be set out under the following headings:

- 1. BACKGROUND (your name, address and area of expertise);
- 2. QUALIFICATIONS (a detailed statement of your professional qualifications relating to your area of expertise and the subject matter of your opinion);
- 3. ASSUMED FACTS, IF ANY, AND DOCUMENTS REVIEWED (including the instructions and documents you have relied on);
- 4. OPINION (your independent objective opinion regarding the questions set out below including the reasons for your independent objective opinion containing: a description of the factual assumptions if any on which the opinion is based; a description of any research conducted by you that led you to form your opinion; a description of any documents relied on); and
- 5. APPENDICES (a list of every document relied on by you in formatting your opinion, including this letter).

Scope of Opinion

As an independent expert you are not permitted to:

- express opinions beyond the scope of your expertise;
- allocate fault or responsibility to a particular participant in the Inquiry; or
- advance arguments in the guise of opinions for or against a particular interest.

Questions:

What follows are the specific questions we would like you to answer. Unless otherwise indicated, please answer these questions as they relate to the Time Period (1997-2002).

Sex Trade Laws in Canada

- 1) Describe the *Criminal Code* (R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46) provisions affecting street sex trade prior to 1972.
- 2) Describe the Criminal Code provisions affecting street sex trade between 1972 and 1985.
- 3) Describe the Criminal Code provisions affecting street sex trade from December 1985 to date.
- 4) Please describe the enforcement policies that were in place during the above noted Time Period.

The Sex Trade in Vancouver (1997 - 2002)

- 5) What are the distinct ways women were involved in the sex trade industry in Vancouver during the Time Period?
- For any categories identified in question 5, describe the conditions for each during the Time Period
- 7) What were the locations of the street level strolls during the Time Period?

Street Level Sex Trade in the Downtown Eastside (1997 - 2002)

- 8) How many women were involved in street level sex trade in the DTES during the Time Period?
- 9) What percentage of the women identified in question 8 were Aboriginal?
- 10) What were the common characteristics of the women involved in the street level sex trade in the DTES during the Time Period?
- 11) Were women involved in street level sex trade in the DTES transient or entrenched in that community during the Time Period?

Violence against Women in the Street Level Sex Trade in the DTES

- 12) What types of violence do women involved in the street level sex trade experience?
- 13) And at what rate do they experience that violence?
- 14) Who are the perpetrators of violence against women involved in the street level sex trade? Do they share any common characteristics?
- 15) What personal characteristics make women involved in the street level sex trade vulnerable to violence?
- 16) What external conditions make women involved in the street level sex trade vulnerable to violence?

Missing Women Police Investigations (1997 - 2002)

- 17) Describe the relationship between police and the women involved in street level sex trade in the DTES during the Time Period?
- 18) Given the characteristics identified in question 10 and the relationship between the police and the residents of the DTES, what unique investigative techniques should the police have used when investigating missing and murdered women in the DTES during the Time Period?
- 19)In November 1999, you opined that 3-4 serial killers were responsible for the missing women in the DTES (source: Daniel Wood, "Vancouver's Missing Prostitutes" *Elm Street* 52:95 (November 1999) 2.) (copy attached). What was the basis for your opinion?
- 20) Did you have any information or contacts that would have helped the police in conducting the missing women's investigation during the Time Period?
- 21) If so, was this information in the public domain? If not, did you have any contact with the police with respect to this information during the Time Period?

Public Opinion of Women Involved in the Sex Trade (1997 – 2002)

22) What was the public perception of women involved in the sex trade during the Time Period? In answering this question, please describe how you assess public perception.

If you have any questions regarding the nature and scope of your engagement, please contact us.

Yours truly,

Missing Women Commission of Inquiry

Per:

"Karey Brooks"

Karey Brooks Associate Commission Counsel

Volume IV 51

E-2. Dr. Kate Shannon

MISSING WOMEN COMMISSION OF INQUIRY 1402 – 808 Nelson Street Vancouver, British Columbia V62 2H2 Office: 604-681-4470 Facsimile: 604-681-4458

Email: info@missingwomeninquiry.ca www.missingwomeninquiry.ca

Kate Shannon Director - Gender and Sexual Health Initiative BC Centre for Excellence in HIV & AIDS 608 – 1081 Burrard Street August 26, 2011

VIA EMAIL

Dear Dr. Shannon:

Vancouver, BC V6Z 1Y6

Re: Missing Women Commission of Inquiry - Expert Report

I write to you on behalf of the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry to request your independent expert opinion with respect to violence against women involved in street sex trade in the downtown eastside of Vancouver (DTES).

Your expert report relates to the Commission's mandate, in particular Term of Reference 4(a): "to conduct hearings, in or near the City of Vancouver, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the conduct of the missing women investigations."

The missing women investigations are defined as "the investigations conducted between January 23, 1997 and February 5, 2002, by police forces in British Columbia respecting women reported missing from the Downtown Eastside of the city of Vancouver."

We ask that your independent expert report be set out under the following headings:

- 1. Background (your name, address and area of expertise);
- Qualifications (a detailed statement of your professional qualifications relating to your area of expertise and the subject matter of your opinion);
- Opinion (your independent objective opinion including a description of the factual assumptions on which your opinion is based and a description of any research you conducted that led you to form your opinion); and
- 4. Appendices (a list of all documents, if any, you relied on including this letter).

Please be advised that as a qualified expert you are not permitted to:

- express opinions beyond the scope of your expertise;
- allocate fault or responsibility to a particular participant in the Inquiry; or
- advance arguments for or against a particular interest in the guise of opinions.

Please provide your written report by August 31st, 2011.

Questions

Unless otherwise indicated, please answer these questions as they relate to the time period 1997-2002.

Violence Experienced by Women in Street Sex Trade

- What are the common characteristics of the women involved in street sex trade in the DTES?
- 2. Describe the violence faced by women involved in street sex trade.
- 3. What personal and external indicators increase the risk of violence for women involved in street sex trade? If possible, rank the indicia.
- 4. List the locations where women involved in street sex trade engaged in sex trade in the DTES and explain the safety concerns for each location.
- 5. Describe the impacts of policing on the safety of women involved in street sex trade.

Bad Date Sheets

- 6. What is a bad date sheet? When were they first created and by whom? Are they still created? Who has access to bad date sheets?
- 7. Have you reviewed any bad date sheets produced between 1997 and 2002? If so, what was the source and what did they reveal about:
 - a. level and types of violence
 - b. locations where violence is most likely to occur
 - c. frequency of bad date sheet reporting
 - d. the extent to which women rely on bad date sheets to govern their behavior
 - e. the reasons STW report/do not report through bad date sheets
- 8. What self-protection strategies do women report using when engaged in street sex trade?

Relationship with Police

9. To what extent do women involved in street sex trade report the violence they experience to the police? Are there any statistics specific to the DTES? If they do not report, what reasons do they give?

If you have any questions regarding the nature and scope of your engagement, please contact us.

Yours truly,

Missing Women Commission of Inquiry

Per:

"Karey Brooks"

Karey Brooks Associate Commission Counsel

E-3. Dr. Thomas Kerr

MISSING WOMEN COMMISSION OF INQUIRY 1402 – 808 Nelson Street Vancouver, British Columbia V6Z 2H2 Office: 604-681-4470 Facsimile: 604-681-4458

Email: info@missingwomeninquiry.ca www.missingwomeninquiry.ca

Thomas Kerr August 29, 2011

Co-Director - Addiction and Urban Health Research Initiative, VIDUS BC Centre for Excellence in HIV & AIDS 608 – 1081 Burrard Street Vancouver, BC V6Z 1Y6

VIA EMAIL

Dear Dr. Kerr:

Re: Missing Women Commission of Inquiry - Expert Report

I write to you on behalf of the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry to request your independent expert opinion with respect to drug dependency and women involved in street sex trade in the downtown eastside of Vancouver.

Your expert report relates to the Commission's mandate, in particular Term of Reference 4(a): "to conduct hearings, in or near the City of Vancouver, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the conduct of the missing women investigations."

The missing women investigations are defined as "the investigations conducted between January 23, 1997 and February 5, 2002, by police forces in British Columbia respecting women reported missing from the Downtown Eastside of the city of Vancouver."

We ask that your independent expert report be set out under the following headings:

- 1. Background (your name, address and area of expertise);
- Qualifications (a detailed statement of your professional qualifications relating to your area of expertise and the subject matter of your opinion);
- Opinion (your independent objective opinion including a description of the factual assumptions on which your opinion is based and a description of any research you conducted that led you to form your opinion); and
- 4. Appendices (a list of all documents, if any, you relied on including this letter).

Volume IV 55

Please be advised that as a qualified expert you are not permitted to:

- · express opinions beyond the scope of your expertise;
- · allocate fault or responsibility to a particular participant in the Inquiry; or
- · advance arguments in the for or against a particular interest guise of opinions.

Unless otherwise indicated, please answer these questions as they relate to the time period 1997-2002.

- Describe the research you have conducted in the DTES with respect to drug dependent women involved in street sex trade.
- 2. What were the common characteristics of the women involved in street sex trade in the DTFS?
- 3. Which drugs were used by women involved in street sex trade in the DTES?
- 4. What is drug dependency?
- 5. What is the treatment and prognosis for drug dependency?
- 6. To what extent were women involved in street sex trade as a result of drug dependency?
- 7. What is drug withdrawal and what are the symptoms?
- 8. Does drug withdrawal increase the risk of violence for women involved in street sex trade? If so, how?
- 9. Is there any correlation between the type and level of drug use and the vulnerability to violence?

Please provide your written report by August 31st, 2011.

If you have any questions regarding the nature and scope of your engagement, please contact us.

Yours truly,

"Karey Brooks"

Missing Women Commission of Inquiry

Dor

Karey Brooks

Associate Commission Counsel

F. Process Management Directives

F-1. Process Management Directive 1 (January 11, 2012)

Process Management Directive #1

- 1. The Terms of Reference of the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry designate this Commission as a hearing and study commission whose work was to be concluded by December 31, 2011, a deadline which has been extended to June 30th, 2012.
- 2. As Commissioner, my responsibilities include determining the facts in relation to the missing women investigations and the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch to stay the 1997 charges against Robert Pickton as well as providing recommendations with a view to ensuring that what happened will not happen again.
- 3. I am to discharge these responsibilities based on what is set out in the *Public Inquiry Act*. This legislation provides that the Commission:
 - a) has the power to control its own processes and may make directives respecting practice and procedure to facilitate the just and timely fulfillment of its duties; and
 - b) as a hearing and study commission, may engage in any activity necessary to effectively and efficiently fulfill the duties of the commission
- 4. To fulfill my mandate efficiently, effectively and in a timely way, I will be issuing Process Directives which will set out procedural steps I consider necessary to fulfill my responsibilities. This is the first Directive.
- 5. In respect of cross examination of the witnesses under oath the procedure will be as follows:
 - a) After the witness is led in direct evidence, reasonable time limits will be imposed on cross examination, which will only be extended with leave.
 - b) Counsel will not duplicate ground covered in prior cross examination.
 - c) Counsel will not ask questions that are inappropriately intrusive and disrespectful to the witnesses having regard to the purpose and nature of their evidence.
 - d) I may direct Commission Counsel as to the order in which cross examination is to be conducted.

- 6. I am continuing to develop the manner in which I intend to fulfill my mandate. This will include consideration of the information that will enable me to develop recommendation and the most efficient, effective and inclusive processes through which to do so. Some such processes have already been undertaken. As set out in detail in my status reports, the Commission has held pre-hearing conferences and northern community forums. Further Policy Forums are scheduled this Spring.
- 7. This Commission has been established as a result of tragic events that have caused much pain to so many. To that extent we have already fulfilled part of our mandate by giving an opportunity to hear the voices of persons who have not previously been heard. In my view, it is an important part of our work to listen to the impact these crimes have had on the families, on the community, and on our province. We are grateful to the many families who have come forward and provided assistance to the Inquiry. No meaningful reform can take place without their information and advice. As well, deepening our understanding of these past events and the circumstances around their occurrence provides a foundation from which to make recommendations that will speak to the future. These recommendations will cover a range of topics including: the role of institutions and the responsibilities and conduct of those working within them as it relates to the victims, their families and the community at large.
- 8. This is a public inquiry and not a trial. It is my job to protect the integrity of the process and ensure this Commission does not become stymied through court like procedures. I have in the past been critical of the somewhat cumbersome nature of our court process which at times becomes rule bound and laborious. To be sure, one of the intentions of the new *Public Inquiry Act* was to create flexible processes that allow inquiries to search for the truth in an efficient, effective and timely manner.
- 9. I expect all those involved in this Commission will assist me in managing these proceedings efficiently and effectively consistent with the public purpose I am mandated to discharge and in service of the public interest. Commission Counsel is available to meet with any of the participants with respect to this Directive, and to answer any questions that any interested party or the media may have in relation to this or the overall work of the Commission.

F-2. Process Management Directive 2 (January 24, 2012)

Process Management Directive #2

- 1. In furtherance of Process Management Directive 1, issued on January 11, 2012, this is Process Directive 2.
- 2. Speaking to the future through recommendations is a fundamental aspect of my mandate which I am empowered to exercise through a process which will enable me to do so effectively and efficiently.
- 3. Understanding past events is important to properly discharge the Commission's responsibility to make findings and recommendations.
- 4. In informing and framing recommendations, I must have regard to a wide range of considerations including:
 - a. The tragic circumstances of the victims and the profound impact that has had on family, friends and their communities, as well as the abhorrence that these crimes have had in the minds and hearts of the public, in this region, in the country and to the world.
 - b. The protection of many women and children within marginalized communities, who, for many reasons and circumstances are, involved in the sex trade.
 - c. The structures and operation of policing authorities whose integrity and effectiveness have been questioned and the individual officers working within them whose reputations, careers and lives which have become implicated in these events.
 - d. The implications of these events in undermining the public's confidence in the policing institutions and its leaders and officers in the discharge of its responsibilities into the future, within the community at large and especially with respect to those most vulnerable within marginalized communities.
- 5. Sadly, grotesque serial crimes have happened before in BC, in Canada, and in many other countries including the US and the UK. Many reviews of these notorious serial crimes have produced important reports. I am particularly mindful of the guidance offered by the late and distinguished Mr. Justice Archie Campbell following a review of the Bernardo case:

It is often the case that systemic failures, as opposed to individual mistakes are the real cause of public disasters and the most appropriate focus of public inquiries. The public identification of individual mistakes or wrongdoing, while important, does not necessarily address the underlying problem. And unless the

underlying problem is addressed, the same mistakes or wrongdoing will likely occur again if the system that permitted them is not fixed.

It is a mistake for a Royal Commissioner or public inquiry to focus exclusively on the search for scapegoats when the failure is really an institutional failure in the sense of a lack of appropriate systems, a lack of reasonable resources, a flawed institutional culture, or a breakdown in the machinery of accountability.

...But these problems do not go away simply because individuals have been implicated. These problems only go away when people change their systems, their attitude and the way that they do business. ("The Bernardo Investigation Review" in Allan Manson & David Mullan, eds., Commissions of Inquiry, Praise or Reappraise? at page 399)

6. In <u>The Conduct of Public Inquiries: Law Policy and Practice</u> Professor Ratushny has this to say:

While [systemic] issues may seem intangible at first, they often emerge in issues such as leadership, relationships, morale, past practices, and institutional "culture". They are, essentially, any factors that transcend individual conduct but influence events, including individual conduct. They may impose rigidity in dealing with problems, or create "gaps" by discouraging cooperation and coordination. They may generate insensitivity and create barriers. They often do not appear to be offensive on their face but only upon understanding their influence on consequences. (page 386)

7. Thus far the evidence before me raises the same concerns that Mr. Justice Campbell and Professor Ratushny highlighted with respect to systemic failures. Where systemic failures have been identified in these reports the simple fact is that even if every individual officer did their job, the overall job did not get done. Justice Campbell puts the point in this way:

The Bernardo case shows that the motivation, investigative skill, and dedication are not enough. The work of the most dedicated, skilful, and highly motivated investigators, supervisors and forensic scientists can be defeated by the lack of effective case management systems and the lack of systems to ensure communication and cooperation among law enforcement systems. (page 333)

8. I am deeply struck by what Mr. Justice Campbell said at the very outset of his report:

Virtually every inter-jurisdictional serial killer case including Sutcliffe(the Yorkshire Ripper) and Black (the cross-border child killer) in England, Ted Bundy and the Green River Killer in the United States and Clifford Olson in Canada, demonstrate the same problems and raise the same questions. And always the answer turns out to be the same - systemic failure. Always the problems turn out to be the same, the mistakes the same, and the systemic failures the same." (page 1)

And later he says this:

The remarkable thing about serial predator investigations is that the same problems repeat themselves in every investigation with tragic frequency. We seem incapable of learning from previous experience. (page 254)

- 9. What happened here must never happen again. I consider my paramount duty to do everything that I can do to contribute to that end within my power as a Commissioner. If the reviews and reports that have followed each of these serial crimes, with such similar characteristics, and the recommendations that have followed have failed to effect change, I have concluded that I must ask myself what it is that this Commission can do differently to make a difference.
- 10. Our work must focus on doing whatever we can to make sure we make a difference in very practical terms in advancing the ability to prevent these horrific crimes. I can now say that I will address in my Final Report any elements of systemic failure that may have occurred here, and expect that it will speak to at least the following categories of recommendations:
 - a. the difficult interface between the policing authorities and the marginalized community of these victims,
 - b. inter jurisdictional difficulties between different police forces, and
 - c. shortcomings in organizational systems.
- 11. I wish to consider all options as to how the process can be shaped so that I can inform and frame my recommendations in the best possible way to fulfill the duties pursuant to my mandate within the powers vested in me under the *Public Inquiry Act*. I have instructed Commission Counsel to undertake such discussions as they consider may be helpful, including with participants, and to consult with other professionals he considers have the background and experience to assist him in providing advice and guidance to me.
- 12. I have directed Commission Counsel that I now wish to hear from three lead investigators in the missing women investigations including: Det/Cst. Shenher, Mr. Connor and Mr. Adam.
- 13. I reiterate the importance I attach to moving forward in a timely and focused way as set out in Process Directive 1, and will be issuing further process directives in the days ahead.

F-3. Process Management Directive 3 (February 11, 2012)

Process Management Directive #3

- 1. This is Process Management Directive #3. In my first two Process Management Directives issued on January 11 and January 24, 2012, I emphasized three overriding principles:
 - the need to focus on my mandate to make recommendations that will make a real difference in practical terms to the pressing and continuing concern of missing and murdered women;
 - the need to focus on the systemic dimensions of any police failures rather than finding individual scapegoats; and
 - the need to carry out the hearing aspects of my mandate in an effective manner and to ensure important attention is given to the study commission aspect of my mandate.
- 2. After the passage of more than four weeks of evidentiary hearings since Directives #1 and #2 were issued, I remain focused on these three principles and will be moving forward to strategically manage the Inquiry process in line with these previous directives.
- 3. Important information has been learned during the 53 days of hearing thus far, including from:
 - evidence from nine members of victims' families Lilliane Beaudoin, Marion Bryce, Ernie Crey, Lorraine Crey, Lori-Ann Ellis, Lynn Frey, Margaret Green, Donnalee Roberta Sebastian accompanied by Anne Marie Sebastian, and Angel Wolfe;
 - extensive expert evidence about the conditions of the lives of women who are involved in the sex trade in the Downtown Eastside of Vancouver from Professor John Lowman, Dr. Thomas Kerr and Dr. Kate Shannon;
 - evidence from Elaine Allan, former coordinator of WISH (Women's Information Safe House) and former street nurse in the DTES, Catherine Astin – both of whom provided services to many of the missing women;
 - evidence from a former survival sex trade worker, Susan Davis;
 - evidence from the lead investigator in the Vancouver Police Department missing women investigations – Detective Constable Shenher;
 - evidence from the lead investigator of the Pickton Investigation led by the Coquitlam RCMP – Corporal Connor;

- evidence from Dr. Kim Rossmo who is an expert in the investigation of serial killers and was involved in the missing women investigations;
- evidence from the Team Commander of Project Evenhanded –
 Sergeant Don Adam (retired) (his testimony is currently ongoing);
- evidence from Chief Constable Terry Blythe (retired) (his testimony is currently ongoing); and
- extensive evidence from three police review witnesses Deputy Chief Constable Doug LePard, Superintendent R.J. Williams, and the Commission's independent expert, Deputy Chief Jennifer Evans, all of whom are highly-experienced and carried out detailed reviews of the missing women investigations based on an extensive review of documents and numerous interviews with those directly involved in all levels of the investigations.
- 4. I would like to thank all of the witnesses for their participation and for the assistance that they have provided to me. Together this evidence is helping build a broad and detailed factual framework for my report.
- 5. I expect to hear from additional senior members of the RCMP and the VPD. I have not yet come to any conclusions on the facts and appreciate that these witnesses will continue to contribute to my ongoing fact finding.
- 6. I will also be hearing from witnesses regarding the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch to enter a stay of proceedings against Robert Pickton pursuant to paragraph 4(b) of my terms of reference during the week of March 26, 2012.
- 7. While being helped by our fact-finding progress I must remain vigilant and mindful that my mandate also involves making recommendations to help save the lives of marginalized women. I believe this can be best accomplished by working with the participants and the broader community, particularly women who are street-involved and engaged in the sex trade, who on a daily basis face the highest risk from all forms of violence, including serial predation. I cannot imagine anyone would seriously disagree that this is my most important task.
- 8. From the very beginning of this Commission, I have emphasized the need to work together in as many ways as possible to ensure that this tragedy is never allowed to happen again. I continue to believe that working together is vital to our success.
- 9. We have spent much time and learned a lot about what went wrong and it is now time to focus more actively on any investigative failures and how they can be prevented in the future. Therefore, in addition to the more traditional evidentiary hearings that are underway, we will be introducing a more cooperative approach to allow us to pursue this aspect of the mandate.

- 10. It is for these reasons that I set out additional steps that the Commission will be taking in this Process Management Directive. To achieve this I am implementing several strategic approaches to obtaining further information. All of these approaches have a common purpose: working collaboratively with communities, police agencies, governments and women at risk to develop new strategies to protect women at risk. I am asking for help from all those affected, including victims' families, community members and leaders, First Nations community members and leaders, policial leaders, policial institutions.
- 11. Accordingly, one approach will be to receive information from groups of witnesses which will be constituted as "panels", which I expect to include the following:
 - Victims' Family (the following family members have stated they would like to give evidence: Bonnie Fowler, Lisa Bigjohn, Marilyn Kraft, Daphne Pierre, Lila Purcell, and Sandra Gagnon) – This Inquiry has provided for the first time an opportunity for families of victims to be heard;
 - DTES Community;
 - Aboriginal Interests;
 - District 2 Police;
 - VPD and RCMP Supervisors; and
 - o Vancouver Police Board and Other Officials.
- 12. The purpose of these panels will be to inform the development of recommendations in the three core categories which I identified in Process Directive #2:
 - the difficult interface between the policing authorities and the marginalized community of these victims;
 - o inter-jurisdictional difficulties between different police forces; and
 - shortcomings in organizational systems.
- 13. The panels will enable us to develop this information in an effective and efficient manner across a broad range of perspectives. The panels will consist of people who are able to provide experience based insights and ideas to assist me develop practical and effective steps for change. Counsel will be given an opportunity to ask questions of the panel members within the spirit of the purpose for which these panels are being constituted.
- 14. I am hopeful that individuals who have important information to contribute will be more willing to come forward and participate in this less adversarial hearing process.

- 15. Second, I would like to understand the impact the failed missing women investigations have had on individuals and the community at large. It is critical that I have the information required to allow me to assess the harms experienced, including the magnitude of the harm caused to families and the community beyond the crime and sentencing of Robert Pickton. I need to gain a better understanding of what will be required to build trust and a positive police-community relationship in the DTES. This renewed relationship is essential for the implementation of workable protection and prevention measures of vulnerable and marginalized women as well as to support effective future investigations.
- 16. To this end, I am asking Aboriginal leaders and other community leaders to assist in developing a process whereby this can occur. I wish to meet with family members as a group to hear from them directly about the harms they have experienced and their recommendations to improve the safety and security of vulnerable women.
- 17. Third, I would like to focus on how the relationship between the community and the police can be improved. The Commission will be exploring with key organizations and institutions the potential for developing a dialogue to support the work of the Commission, to voice and address their own concerns and to advance their mutual interests that what happened here will never happen again. One specific step that I would like to see considered is the organization of an information sharing workshop that will also include learning more about programs and approaches that have worked elsewhere so as to increase our understanding of ideas and options that should be considered herein BC. I also envision that this dialogue initiative will provide support and bridge the Commissions ongoing research, consultations and the already scheduled Policy Forums.
- 18. Currently, the study commission has undertaken a number of research and consultation activities. Detailed reports of these activities have been published on the Commission website. I would like to highlight three of the reports which are now available on our website:
 - a report on the Northern Community Forums that I held last September in seven communities along Highway 16, the Highway of Tears;
 - a report on consultations in the DTES held by Commission staff last fall; and
 - o a policy discussion report on the police protection of vulnerable and marginalized women.

These reports contain a great deal of information about the scope and nature of the issues that I must address and upon which I am considering making recommendations for change. I will not be making any findings

- of fact based on these reports, but they will inform my analysis and provide important policy advice. I am hopeful that these reports and any additional Commission reports that will be published will stimulate further public discussion, additional input from interested parties, and the formulation of recommendations for reform.
- 19. As previously announced I will be holding policy forums in early May. These forums will be an opportunity to bring together the various aspects of the study commission's research and consultations, the workshop and the written submissions received from interested members of the public and organizations. I encourage all interested individuals and organizations to make written submissions to me.
- 20. My commitment to the safety and security of women, especially marginalized ones has never wavered. I am determined to ensure that these women did not die in vain and that positive change resulting in the saving of lives will be the lasting memorial for the missing and murdered women.

The Honourable Wallace T. Oppal, Q.C. Commissioner

F-4. Process Management Directive 4 (April 16, 2012)

Process Management Directive #4

- 1. This directive relates to the remaining witnesses and schedule for the Commission.
- 2. Counsel and participants have, throughout the process, proposed that certain witnesses provide information to the Commission. Many of the requested witnesses have been heard from, and to that end, I ask that participants submit any outstanding requests for witnesses by 5pm Friday April 20, 2012.
- 3. As is clear to everyone, I am responsible for determining the information I receive in order to fulfil my mandate. In order to assist me with preparing a schedule for the remaining weeks of the hearing, I ask that participants provide the following for each witness you request be heard from:
 - i. Name and contact details of the witness; and
 - ii. A will-say statement detailing the information they will provide and how it is relevant to my mandate. As you prepare this willsay statement, I ask that you consider whether the information they will provide is already before me.
- 4. If time estimates for questions for scheduled witnesses are not received as requested by Commission Counsel, no time will be set aside for that participant to examine witnesses.
- 5. With regards to closing argument, I propose giving each participant one hour, including any time needed to reply, as I will benefit from and expect fulsome written argument to assist me in my report writing.
- 6. My plan is to release the remaining schedule during the week of April 23 which will be strictly followed to the end of the Inquiry.

The Honourable Wallace T. Oppal, Q.C. Commissioner

67

F-5. Process Management Directive 5 (April 25, 2012)

Process Management Directive #5

- 1. Further to my previous Process Management Directives issued on January 11, January 24, February 21 and April 16, 2012, this is Process Management Directive #5.
- 2. The principles I set out in my previous four Directives have guided me through the last six weeks of hearings. I have heard from an additional 30 witnesses including:
 - (a) representatives of victims' family members:
 - Lila Purcell (aunt of Tanya Holyk)
 - Daphne Pierre (sister of Jacqueline Murdock)
 - Sandra Gagnon (sister of Janet Henry)
 - Marilyn Kraft (step-mother of Cindy Feliks)
 - Bonnie Fowler (sister of Georgina Papin)
 - Lisa Bigjohn (sister of Mona Wilson)
 - Christopher Joseph (brother of Olivia Williams)
 - Maggie de Vries (sister of Sarah de Vries)
 - (b) members of the Downtown Eastside Community:
 - Jamie Lee Hamilton
 - Wayne Leng
 - (c) representatives of the Vancouver Police and Native Liaison Society:
 - Morris Bates
 - Freda Ens
 - George Lawson
 - Jay Johns
 - (d) officers from VPD's District 2 (which includes the Downtown Eastside):
 - Cst. Dave Dickson
 - Insp. Gary Greer
 - Staff Sgt. Doug MacKay-Dunn
 - Insp. Chris Beach
 - (e) individuals involved in the missing person report processing process:
 - Sandy Cameron
 - Rae-Lynne Dicks
 - (f) officers and supervisors at the VPD and RCMP:

- Sgt. Dwight Dammann
- Staff Sgt. Murray Lunn
- Cpl. Mike Hall
- Superintendent Ric Hall
- Chief Constable Terry Blythe
- (g) individuals involved in the Criminal Justice's Branch decision of the stay of proceedings in 1998:
- Randi Connor
- Richard Romano
- Roxana Smith
- Andrew MacDonald
- (h) evidence from Dr. Horley about DNA processing.
- 3. As I stated in Process Management Directive #2 the purpose for calling these witnesses was primarily to inform the development of recommendations in three core categories:
 - the difficult interface between the policing authorities and the marginalized community of these victims;
 - inter-jurisdictional difficulties between different police forces; and
 - shortcomings in organizational systems.
- 4. Many of the witnesses I have heard from since issuing Process Management Directive #3 have been in panel format. I am pleased with this approach and believe that it is meeting my objectives as described in Process Management Directive #3.
- 5. The study commission has undertaken and is planning research and consultation activities to further the development of recommendations. A number of reports and discussion papers have been circulated and are available on the Commission's website. Information about upcoming forums is also available.
- 6. As we near the end of my fact finding mandate, I believe I have heard much of the information I stated I required in Process Management Directive #3. However, in Process Management Directive #4, I asked participant counsel to provide me with a list of witnesses and will-say statements outlining how their evidence would, at this stage, further the efforts of the Commission. These requests were to include any outstanding witness requests. I thank those participants who made submissions.
- 7. I have considered those submissions and I am directing Commission Counsel to provide me with evidence from the following witnesses that were proposed by participants, in addition to those set out in the attached hearing schedule:
 - Bonnie Fournier
 - "Jane Smith"
 - Maggie Fidler

69

- Donna Jardine
- Dorothy McKee
- Frank Henley
- Doug Fell
- Mark Wolthers
- Ujjal Dosanjh
- Philip Owen
- Gary Bass
- Kenney Holmberg
- Jim McKnight
- 8. I do not need to hear from the following individuals suggested by participants:
 - Ross Caldwell
 - Lynn Ellingsen
 - Keith Davidson
 - Bruce Chambers
 - Anne Drennan
 - Catherine Galliford
 - Bev Hyacinthe
 - Peter Ritchie
 - Peder Gulbransen
 - Gord Spencer
 - Unnamed expert to provide "opinion evidence dealing with the capacity of and circumstances under which persons who are users of various types of illicit drugs"
 - Brian Honeybourn

I will provide reasons related to these individuals at a later date.

- 9. I would like to hear from Ms. Galliford at the Study Commission forum on May 8, 2012, that is addressing issues relating to police accountability. If any other individual listed above wishes to attend the study sessions to provide information related to recommendations I invite them to contact Melina Buckley, Policy Counsel.
- 10. Attached is a schedule for the remaining hearing days. I trust that all participants will make the necessary arrangements to work according to this schedule.

F-6. Process Management Directive 6

Process Management Directive #6

- 1. Further to Process Management Directive #5, this Directive sets out my reasons for deciding not to call the following individuals as witnesses:
 - Brian Honeybourn
 - Bruce Chambers
 - Gord Spencer
 - Anne Drennan
 - Catherine Galliford
 - Bev Hyacinthe
 - Ross Caldwell
 - Lynn Ellingsen
 - Peter Ritchie
 - Peder Gulbransen
 - Unidentified Expert Witness
- 2. I also provide reasons for my decision not to re-open the hearings to call Cpl. Jim Brown as a witness.
- 3. I want to reiterate that this is an Inquiry and not a trial. In any Inquiry, the Commissioner has the discretion to determine whether he or she has heard all the material evidence in order to fulfill his or her mandate.
- 4. This was a lengthy and comprehensive Inquiry. The Inquiry called 86 witnesses over 93 days of hearings between October 11, 2011, and June 6, 2012. I am satisfied beyond any doubt that all material evidence was called to enable me to fulfill my mandate.
- 5. I decided not to call the following individuals on the grounds that they could only provide evidence of marginal relevance to the Commission's mandate or the focus of their evidence had already been addressed by persons who were more actively involved in the investigations. Moreover, the calling of these witnesses would not have been an effective or efficient use of hearing time, and would have unnecessarily extended the Inquiry.

Brian Honeybourn

6. Honeybourn was a VPD Sergeant who was seconded to the RCMP's provincial unsolved homicide unit (PUHU). He was requested as a witness so that he could give evidence relating to the lack of resources given to the Missing Women Review Team (MWRT). He was not necessary because he was not actively involved in the investigations and there was ample evidence before the Inquiry relating to the lack of resources for the MWRT, including the rationale relating to those decisions. His evidence would have been duplicative.

71

Bruce Chambers

7. Chambers was the Chief Constable of the VPD from August 1997 – June 1999. He left the VPD during the early stages of the missing women investigations and had no direct dealings in the investigations. Chambers was requested as a witness in order to give evidence about resource allocation decisions and media statements. Clearly the more appropriate person to give that evidence from the Chief Constable's office was Terry Blythe who was Chief Constable from June 1999 to August 2002 during the height of the missing women investigations. CC Blythe did testify and give evidence on the allocation of resources and how that impacted the missing women investigations. DC Doug LePard also provided extensive evidence on these issues.

Gord Spencer

8. Spencer was a VPD inspector in charge of major crime section from October 1999 to April 2000 and his responsibilities included overseeing the missing women investigations. He was requested as a witness so that he would give evidence about the refusal to provide more investigative resources. Sgt. Geramy Field gave that evidence. As stated, above, there was extensive testimony before the Inquiry on the allocation of resources.

Anne Drennan

9. Drennan was the VPD's media spokesperson when the question of a potential serial killer was first raised in relation to the women missing from Vancouver's Downtown Eastside. She was requested as a witness so that she could give evidence relating to the VPD messaging relating to the existence of a serial killer. The Commission heard ample evidence on the internal processes for releasing information to the public, the content of those releases, and the rationale for that content, from several VPD witnesses including Insp. Beach, S/Sgt. Doug MacKay-Dunn and Insp. Gary Greer. Drennan was merely stating the VPD position which had been given to her by others. Therefore, her evidence as to the VPD's messaging was marginally relevant in light of the evidence given by other witnesses relating to the contentious issue within the VPD relating to the prevalence of a serial killer.

Catherine Galliford

10. Galliford began working as an RCMP media relations officer for the missing women task force in December 2001. She was requested as a witness to give evidence about alleged 'misogyny and sexism' within the Evenhanded team. She has made serious allegations about sexist behaviour within the RCMP. It is important to note she was not an investigator at the relevant time and did not have a direct role in the investigation of Pickton. Given the importance of systemic issues relating

to workplace culture for my policy-based mandate, Commission staff interviewed Galliford twice. Her evidence concerned matters outside the Commission's terms of reference. However, I invited her to appear at the Study Commission so that she may give recommendations on policy. She was unable to attend due to medical reasons.

Bev Hyacinthe

11. Hyacinthe was a municipal employee who worked at the Coquitlam RCMP detachment. She knew the Pickton brothers although she saw Robert Pickton infrequently. She provided information relating to the Picktons to Corporal Connor. Hyacinthe was requested as a witness to give evidence about information she provided to the RCMP about the Picktons, any further information she knew about the Picktons, her opinion about the RCMP investigations and whether she was ever asked to become a police agent. There was also some suggestion that Hyacinthe may have been at a New Years party where one of the murdered women may have been present. Commission staff interviewed Hyacinthe and learned that she had, to date, only been interviewed by police regarding her evidence. (I note that Mr. Ward did not interview Ms. Hyacinthe nor did he provide a will say.) The Commission heard reliable hearsay evidence, including from Corporal Connor, about the information Hyacinthe provided to the investigators. The issue for the Inquiry is what investigators did with the information they received, and the Commission has heard that Hyacinthe was not approached for additional details. There is no indication that she provided Pickton with information about the investigations. Hyacinthe's evidence and opinions are not necessary for me to fulfill my mandate.

Ross Caldwell

12. In the summer of 1999, Caldwell approached the police and advised them that Lynn Ellingsen told him that Pickton had murdered a woman in his barn. The information Caldwell gave to the police was never in dispute. It is agreed that the information was crucial to the investigation. Caldwell was requested as a witness so that he would give that evidence and as well as evidence about his dealings with police investigators. Caldwell's evidence was entered in the hearings through a number of witnesses and several documents. It was not necessary for Caldwell to testify to events that were never in question.

Lynn Ellingsen

13. Ellingsen lived on the Pickton property. She told Ross Caldwell, Ron Menard and Leah Best about an incident wherein she saw a woman's body hanging in the barn. Ellingsen was interviewed by RCMP Cpl. Frank Henley, Cst. Yurkiw and VPD Det. Ron Lepine, all of whom testified before the Commission. Ellingsen was requested as a witness to give evidence about her dealings with police investigators in this

73

matter and her opinions about the investigation. The Commission heard evidence that Ellingsen was uncooperative with police in 1999 and at that time denied ever making that statement to Caldwell. Following Pickton's arrest in 2002 she became an important witness for the Crown case against him. The statements she made to these people and her subsequent denial were before the Inquiry. It was not necessary to hear Ellingsen's evidence and opinions to fulfill my mandate.

Peter Ritchie

14. Ritchie was Pickton's defense counsel in relation to the 1997 incident that led to charges being stayed. Mr. Ward argued that Ritchie ought to be called to give evidence relating to the decision to stay the charges against Pickton in 1998. It was also argued that Ritchie may have relevant documents from Crown counsel. There is no merit in having Ritchie called as a witness. The issue before the Inquiry relates to the decision of Crown counsel to enter a stay of proceedings against Pickton. It is the decision of the Crown that is relevant and the steps Crown counsel took in coming to that decision. Crown counsel Randi Connor testified that she entered a stay of proceedings on the charges based on her opinion relating to the victim's capacity to testify and not on anything Ritchie may have told her.

Peder Gulbransen

15. Gulbransen (now the Hon. Judge Gulbransen) was the regional Crown counsel who was assigned to the Pickton investigation in 1999. In August 1999 Corporal Connor went to Gulbransen in order to seek advice with respect to a search warrant for the Pickton property. Any advice Gulbransen gave to the police is not relevant to my terms of reference. The relevant fact is that the police did not prepare the completed documents to seek the issuance of a search warrant.

An Unidentified Expert Witness

16. The Commission also received a request that an expert be called to provide:

"opinion evidence dealing with the capacity of and circumstances under which persons who are users of various types of illicit drugs may be able to provide reliable evidence and information to police investigators, Crown prosecutors and the judiciary".

No name or report was provided with this request. Any questions regarding the effects of illicit drugs could be addressed through the witnesses who were called before the Commission on these topics, including Thomas Kerr, Kate Shannon, and health nurses, Catherine Astin and Bonnie Fournier.

Jim Brown

- 17. Brown is a Corporal with the RCMP. Brown's involvement in the missing women investigations was minimal. In July 1999, he notified Sgt. Field, of the VPD, that the Caldwell tip had been received by the RCMP. Brown had no direct communication with Caldwell during this period. Brown was also one of the members of the surveillance team that conducted intermittent surveillance of Pickton in July and August of 1999. This information was known to all participants as a result of the interview of Brown conducted by DCC Evans, in advance of the hearings. I did not receive a formal application for Brown to be called as a witness during the hearings, which closed on June 6, 2012.
- 18. In July 2012, the media reported on certain allegations against Brown that became the subject of an internal RCMP code of conduct investigation. The media also reported allegations that Brown had associations with the Pickton family. On July 16, 2012, citing the allegations against Brown, Mr. Ward requested that the hearings be re-opened so that Brown could be called as a witness. Commission staff requested and reviewed records relating to any RCMP investigations into Brown. Upon review of these materials, Commission staff determined the matters raised in those investigations were outside the scope of the Commission's mandate.
- 19. On November 2, 2012, the media reported that Brown disputes the allegations against him and, further, that he has filed a civil claim for breach of privacy and defamation against the source of the information that led to the investigation into Brown; Mr. Ward has also been named as a defendant. The RCMP is also conducting a criminal investigation into the conduct of the informant for defamatory libel.
- 20. While the allegations under investigation and the civil claim are serious, they will be subject to the appropriate processes. Given Brown's minimal involvement in the missing women investigations, it was not necessary to re-open the hearings to hear from Brown.

Other Requests

21. To the extent that some individuals were informally requested to be called as witnesses and have not been specifically addressed in Process Management Directives, for the same reasons set out above, their appearance was not required. I am satisfied that I have heard the evidence necessary to fulfill the mandate set out in the terms of reference.

Conclusion

22. During the hearings and in his closing submissions Mr. Ward was extremely critical of the direction the Inquiry was taking. It appears

that his view was that greater attention ought to have been paid to activities that took place on the Pickton farm. There was much cross examination of witnesses relating to the presence of Hells Angels on the farm, illegal activities taking place at Piggy's Palace (an illegal drinking establishment on the property) and other illegal activities, such as cock fighting. Although it is apparent that Mr. Ward had a different agenda than that which was set out in the terms of reference, I allowed him to ask these questions. His unique agenda was made clear in his opening wherein he stated as follows:

Given all they've heard, given the criminal trial and the outcome of that, given the jury's clear indication that the jury did not consider that Pickton acted alone, the families have two very important questions that they seek answers to. Number one, they want to know why Pickton wasn't stopped sooner; and, number 2, they want to know if Pickton had accomplices in his heinous deeds who may still be walking the streets and praying on others.¹

23. I agree with Mr. Ward as to the propriety of the first question he poses which is 'why Pickton wasn't stopped sooner?' That question is germane to the Inquiry's mandate. However, with respect to his second question, the purpose of this Inquiry was not to re-investigate the crimes or to retry the case against Pickton.

G. Rulings

G-1. Ruling on Participation and Funding Recommendations (May 2, 2011)

Ruling on Participation and Funding Recommendations

I. <u>Events Leading up to the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry</u>

The issue involving missing and murdered women has reached a crisis level in Canada. Since the early 1990s, women have been reported missing, particularly from the downtown eastside of the city of Vancouver (the "DTES"). A tragic aspect of the crisis is that many of the women belonged to the most marginalized groups of society. Many were Aboriginal. Many were sex trade workers who were particularly vulnerable to abuse and violence.

Many community groups and individuals raised complaints regarding women who were missing. Many people believe that the deaths could have been avoided had complaints related to missing women been taken more seriously.

There were many suggestions that a serial killer was operating in the community. The community's fears of a serial killer were well founded when in 2002 the police arrested and charged Robert William Pickton with 27 counts of first degree murder. He was eventually tried and convicted of 6 counts of second degree murder and sentenced to 6 terms of life imprisonment. There was evidence at the trial that Pickton may have murdered as many as 49 women.

II. The Missing Women Commission of Inquiry is Established

Throughout the 1990s and during the Pickton trial the police came under heavy scrutiny. There has been much criticism of the police investigations of the Pickton case in particular and of missing women in general.

Many groups and individuals were extremely critical of the lengthy investigation and called for an independent inquiry. Once Pickton's appeals were finally exhausted the government was in a position to establish an inquiry and did so by Order In Council on September 27, 2010. The Missing Women Commission of Inquiry was ordered under s. 2(1) of the *Public Inquiry Act*.² I was appointed sole Commissioner.

The Terms of Reference direct the Commission to conduct the inquiry as follows:

4(a) to conduct hearings, in or near the City of Vancouver, to inquire

² Public Inquiry Act, S.B.C. 2007, c. 9.

into and make findings of fact respecting the conduct of the missing women investigations;

- (b) consistent with the British Columbia (Attorney General) v. Davies, 2009 BCCA 337, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch on January 27, 1998, to enter a stay of proceedings on charges against Robert William Pickton of attempted murder, assault with a weapon, forcible confinement and aggravated assault;
- (c) to recommend changes considered necessary respecting the initiation and conduct of investigations in British Columbia of missing women and suspected multiple homicides;
- (d) to recommend changes considered necessary respecting homicide investigations in British Columbia by more than one investigating organization, including the co-ordination of those investigations;
- (e) to submit a final report to the Attorney General or before December 31, 2011.

The missing women investigations are defined as "the investigations conducted between January 23, 1997 and February 5, 2002, by police forces in British Columbia respecting women reported missing from the Downtown Eastside of the city of Vancouver."

Thus under the Terms of Reference, the Commission must examine a broad array of issues: missing women investigations, the Crown's decision to stay a proceeding, homicide investigations and coordination of investigations by more than one investigating organization. The array of issues invites different approaches for community involvement.

III. The Process Mandated by the Terms of Reference

When the Commission was first established, it was designated a hearing commission. The *Public Inquiry Act* contemplates two types of commissions of inquiry: hearing commissions and study commissions. Hearing commissions can only consider information and recommendations that are presented to the commissioner through court-like hearings; whereas study commissions can gather material from research, interviews and public consultations.

As a hearing commission, the Commission relies on the support of formally designated participants. Therefore, on November 2, 2010, I invited applications to participate in the evidentiary hearings. At this time, it was assumed that all subject matters would be examined through the powers of a hearing commission. The Commission received 23 such applications. However, it became apparent that many members of the community who

wished to participate did not wish to take part in the more formal hearing process which would necessarily involve obtaining counsel and being subjected to cross examination. Rather they wished to participate in a more informal way by simply telling their stories and making recommendations on policy. Therefore, a more informal process, in the form of a study commission, would be more appropriate. As well Terms 4(c) and (d) essentially call for policy recommendations that are more suited to a study commission.

Thus given the gravity of the events that have given rise to this Commission it would not be in the public interest to confine the public's contribution to formal participation in evidentiary hearings. As well by permitting a more informal process and a lesser hearing process I would expect the Commission's work would be expedited. It was with these considerations that I asked the Provincial Government to broaden the terms of the inquiry to include a study commission. Accordingly, the Provincial Government amended the Terms of Reference to include a joint hearing and study commission.

The Commission's designation as a joint study and hearing commission now allows me to craft forms of participation that are appropriate to the skills and expertise of different individuals and organizations.

IV. <u>"Participant Status" is Necessary for the Evidentiary Hearings</u> but Not the Study Process

This ruling addresses all applications received for participation in the Commission's evidentiary hearings. Given that the Commission has powers to engage the community in different ways, I have decided the evidentiary hearings will focus primarily on Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b). I will use the Commission's study powers to address Terms of Reference 4(c) and (d).

This ruling deals with participation status for Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b). I have decided that formal participation status for the study portion of the Commission's work (Terms of Reference 4(c) and (d)) is not required. In the context of this Commission, I believe formal status in the study process would defeat its purpose. The study process is intended to be informal and to allow individuals to speak directly to me, without cross examination and the other features of the more formalized evidentiary process. As well, an informal process will bring forward all the perspectives and information necessary to understand the policy issues and, accordingly, formal participation status (another way of ensuring that occurs) is not needed. Therefore, participation status as granted in this ruling does not preclude participation in the study process.

V. <u>Participant Status in the Evidentiary Hearings</u>

The applicants can generally be divided into two groups: those primarily focused on the factual issues arising under Terms of Reference 4(a) and

(b) and those primarily focused on the policy issues arising under Terms of Reference 4(c) and (d).

Organizations primarily focused on the factual issues arising under Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b) have common characteristics. Many are grass roots advocacy and service organizations that have direct and daily contact with the community, including with many of the women who were reported missing. These groups are closer to the facts at issue. Most of these groups were front line lobbyists for public attention to the missing and murdered women and, ultimately, for the establishment of a public inquiry. I am also mindful that many of these organizations have limited resources and their involvement in this Commission may provide a unique opportunity for their voices and perspectives to be heard.

The organizations primarily focused on the policy issues of the Commission's mandate also have common characteristics. Most are experienced political or policy organizations. These groups have demonstrated a long standing commitment to many of the policy issues the Commission will confront. They have worked for policy or legal reform, represented or advocated special interests in governmental or political arenas, conducted research and published studies or engaged in public education. These groups will be extremely valuable in assisting the Commission make recommendations for missing women and homicide investigations and the coordination of investigations by multiple police forces.

In other commissions, it might not be appropriate to grant these policy groups status to participate in the evidentiary hearings at all. However, the subject matter of this Commission (namely, the investigation of offences against the most vulnerable members of society) has caused me to find there is a different but important role for these applicants to play in the evidentiary hearings. While the factual nature of Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b) do not necessitate full involvement from the policy groups, because the factual findings will provide an important foundation for the policy recommendations, those groups should have some role in the process.

As a result, I will not exclude either type of applicant from the two distinct processes of this Commission, but the nature of their participation will be different. I anticipate the factual groups will play a leading role in the evidentiary hearings on Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b) and the policy groups will play a leading role in the study process on Terms of Reference 4(c) and (d). With that in mind, I have determined that two levels of participation in the evidentiary hearings will best serve the Commission. Both the *Public Inquiry Act*³ and the Commission's Directive⁴ allow a commission to determine the extent of a participant's participation. I will accept applicants as either Full Participants or Limited Participants.

<u>Full Participants</u> may participate in all phases of the evidentiary hearings

- 3 Section 12.
- 4 Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings, Rules 19-20.

and exercise all rights of participation at those hearings, including cross examining witnesses and making submissions. They will also be granted access to the documents disclosed to the Commission.

Limited Participants are granted the same right of access to documents as Full Participants.

While they will not have an automatic right to cross examine witnesses I will grant them leave to apply on an individual witness basis. They have the right to make final submissions at the conclusion of the evidentiary hearings. As mentioned, I fully expect the Limited Participants to play a leading role in the study portion of the inquiry. In particular, the First Nations and Aboriginal applicants accepted as Limited Participants are in a position to offer unique policy advice as to the future conduct of missing women investigations, particularly given the disproportionate number of Aboriginal women reported missing.

I believe the creation of two levels of participation best achieves the objective of this Commission: to fully explore all of the issues from multiple perspectives in a timely manner.

VI. <u>The Criteria for Participation in the Evidentiary Hearings</u>

Participants play an important role in the Commission's hearings. They influence the scope of the inquiry by representing different perspectives and interests. They are required to disclose documents in their possession relevant to the Commission's subject matter and will be given the right to review documents disclosed by other participants. They may be entitled to make written or oral submissions, examine and cross examine witnesses and propose witnesses to be called by Commission counsel. Participants have a right to counsel, but may be self-represented.

Formal participation in the Commission's evidentiary hearings will be limited to those persons who demonstrate they meet the criteria for participation with respect to the subject matter set out in Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b).

The Test for Participation

Rule 11 of the Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings sets out the participation requirements of s. 11(4) of the *Public Inquiry Act*. It outlines three factors to consider in accepting the applicant as a participant:

- a. whether, and to what extent, the person's interests may be affected by the findings of the commission,
- b. whether the person's participation would further the conduct of the inquiry,
- c. whether the person's participation would contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

Interests Affected by the Subject Matter of the Inquiry

Applicants are accepted as participants if their interests are affected by a commission's findings. "Interest" must be assessed against the terms of reference that establish a commission's subject matter.

Usually, to participate in Canadian public inquiries, applicants must show they have a "substantial and direct" interest in the subject matter. This standard is set out in the Ontario *Public Inquiries Act*⁵ and the terms of reference for many federal public inquiries, e.g. the *Gomery Inquiry*, the *Arar Inquiry* and the *Cohen Commission*.

The BC *Public Inquiry Act* requires applicants to show "whether, and to what extent, their interests may be affected by the findings of the commission": it does not specify that the interest must be "substantial and direct". However, I have reviewed interpretations of the "substantial and direct interest" test to the extent they may be instructive.

In *The Law of Public Inquiries in Canada*,⁶ the author proposes that the following classes of persons have a substantial and direct interest:

- those who receive notices of alleged misconduct;
- those whose legal interests are affected;
- those who may be seriously affected by the subject matter of the inquiry; and
- those who have a serious and objectively reasonable fear for their well-being or reputation.⁷

Accordingly the following factors will be considered in determining whether a person's interests may be affected:

- whether the applicant has personal involvement in the conduct the Commission is tasked to examine;
- whether the applicant's actions may be assessed or the applicant may be subject to a finding of misconduct;
- whether the applicant's well-being or reputation may be affected by the Commission's findings; and
- whether the applicant's interest is unique to that applicant, shared by other applicants or shared by the broader community.

Furthering the Conduct or Contributing to the Fairness of the Inquiry

Applicants who would further the conduct or contribute to the fairness of the inquiry but otherwise do not meet the interests affected criteria of the test for participation may still be accepted as participants⁸. Applicants may have a particular perspective or expertise that may assist the Commission in

- 5 Public Inquiries Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.41, s. 5(1).
- 6 Simon Ruel, *The Law of Public Inquiries in Canada* (Toronto: Carswell, 2010).
- 7 Ruel, *supra* at 57-58.
- 8 Public Inquiry Act, s. 11(4). Also see Ruel, supra at 61; Ed Ratushny, The Conduct of Public Inquiries: Law, Policy and Practice (Toronto: Irwin Law, 2009) at 187-191.

furthering its mandate. There are of course differences among the applicants as to the extent to which their interests may be affected by the Commission's findings.

VII. The Application Process

The following 23 individuals or groups applied to be participants before the Commission:

- 1. Vancouver Police Department and Vancouver Police Board
- 2. Government of Canada
- 3. Criminal Justice Branch
- 4. The Families of Dawn Crey, Cara Ellis, Cynthia Dawn Feliks, Marnie Frey, Helen Mae Hallmark, Georgina Papin, Dianne Rock and Mona Wilson as represented by A. Cameron Ward
- 5. BC Civil Liberties Association
- 6. Ending Violence Association of BC
- 7. West Coast LEAF
- 8. Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users, Walk4Justice and Frank Paul Society
- 9. Amnesty International
- 10. Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations, including:
 - Prostitution Alternatives Counselling and Education Society
 - WISH Drop-In Centre Society
 - Downtown Eastside Sex Workers United Against Violence Society
- 11. Assembly of First Nations
- 12. Union of BC Indian Chiefs
- 13. Women's Equality & Security Coalition, including:
 - The National Congress of Black Women Foundation
 - Aboriginal Women's Action Network
 - Coalition of Childcare Advocates
 - Justice for Girls
 - Canadian Association of Sexual Assault Centers
 - EVE (formerly Exploited Voices now Educating)
 - Vancouver Rape Relief Society
 - University Women's Club of Vancouver
 - o The Poverty & Human Rights Centre
 - The Asian Women Coalition Ending Prostitution
 - o Provincial Council of Women
- 14. Native Courtworker and Counselling Association of BC
- 15. The Committee of the February 14 Women's Memorial March
- 16. Downtown Eastside Women's Centre
- 17. First Nations Summit
- 18. PIVOT Legal Society
- 19. Native Women's Association of Canada
- 20. Dr. Kim Rossmo
- 21. CRAB Water for Life Society
- 22. Carrier Sekani Tribal Council
- 23. Vancouver Police Union

To avoid duplication and encourage cooperation⁹, multiple applicants may be accepted as a single participant, a grouping I will refer to as a coalition. I appreciate that some applicants applied in coalitions. However, the number of potential applicants was impractical for a formal hearing process, particularly as many of these applicants have overlapping interests. At the oral hearing, I asked applicants to further consider whether they could work cooperatively with other applicants in coalitions.

As a result of this process, the following coalitions formed:

- 1. Ending Violence Association of BC and West Coast LEAF
- 2. BC Civil Liberties Association, Amnesty International and PIVOT Legal Society
- 3. The Committee of the February 14 Women's Memorial March and the Downtown Eastside Women's Centre
- 4. Carrier Sekani Tribal Council and the Union of BC Indian Chiefs

Applicants who were interested and able to form coalitions were asked to communicate that intention to the Commission through signed coalition agreements ("Coalition Agreements"). The Commission received a number of these agreements and I refer to them below.

Additionally, in an email sent from counsel for the First Nations Summit, the following groups committed to work collaboratively for the purpose of advancing their shared principles:

- 1. Assembly of First Nations
- 2. First Nations Summit
- 3. Native Courtworkers and Counselling Association of BC
- 4. Union of BC Indian Chiefs
- 5. Carrier Sekani Tribal Council

The Commission is grateful for their commitment to collaboration and anticipates that these groups will pool resources and share knowledge for the purposes of the inquiry.

VIII. <u>Applications for Participation</u>

9

I will now deal with each of the applications for participation. As discussed above, I have accepted some applicants as Full Participants and some as Limited Participants.

While the Commission wishes to be as inclusive as possible in considering these many applications, we also must have a hearing process that will support the Commission in its need to be both thorough and timely. Therefore, I have considered whether applicants should work together in coalitions. In

The benefits of coalitions are discussed in Ratushny, *supra* at 190.

making my ruling on coalitions I have relied on the representations made by various groups at the oral hearing and the coalition agreements provided to me since the hearing. The coalitions, set out below, have satisfied me that their interests align to such an extent that it is appropriate for them to work together in a coalition.

A. Applicants Accepted as Full Participants

1. Vancouver Police Department and Vancouver Police Board

There has been much criticism of the police handling of the missing women investigations.

The Vancouver Police Department (the "VPD") is the police department of the City of Vancouver. The VPD is governed by the Vancouver Police Board.

Term of Reference 4(a) mandates the Commission to inquire into and make findings of fact with respect to the conduct of these investigations. To fulfill this mandate, the Commission will necessarily make findings of fact with respect to the VPD and Vancouver Police Board's involvement in the investigation. These findings may include findings of misconduct against members of the VPD and Vancouver Police Board. As a result, I am satisfied that the VPD and Vancouver Police Board's interests may be affected by the findings of the Commission.

The VPD and Vancouver Police Board would provide a valuable perspective, thereby furthering the conduct of the inquiry. Much of the evidence that will allow the Commission to make findings of fact under Term 4(a) will come directly from documents disclosed by the VPD and testimony of members of the VPD.

The participation of the VPD and Vancouver Police Board would also contribute to the fairness of the inquiry. It would be unfair for the Commission to make findings of fact respecting the conduct of the VPD and Vancouver Police Board without allowing them to examine witnesses and make submissions with respect to their conduct.

The VPD and Vancouver Police Board meet the test for participation.

2. Government of Canada

There have been similar criticisms regarding the RCMP's participation in the Pickton investigation in particular and in missing women investigations in general.

The Government of Canada is responsible for the RCMP. The RCMP "E" Division provides provincial and certain municipal police services to BC; therefore, employees of the RCMP participated in the missing women investigations.

85

The Commission will make findings of fact with respect to the conduct of employees of the RCMP during the missing women investigations, which may include findings of misconduct. As a result, I accept that the Government of Canada's interests may be affected by the Commission's findings.

The Government of Canada, as representative of the RCMP, satisfies the test for participation.

3. Criminal Justice Branch

On January 27, 1998, the Crown entered a stay of proceedings against Pickton upon numerous charges, including a charge of attempted murder. In light of the fact that Pickton was convicted of murders that took place after that date, there have been questions raised as to why that prosecution did not proceed.

The Criminal Justice Branch (the "CJB") is statutorily empowered to approve and conduct prosecutions of offences, advise the government on all criminal law matters and develop policies and procedures in respect of the administration of justice in BC.

The CJB's interests may be affected by the findings of the Commission: Term 4(b) of the Terms of Reference specifically empowers the Commission to make findings "respecting the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch on January 27, 1998". Thus, the CJB which is in charge of all prosecutions in the Province has an obvious interest in Term 4(b) which refers to the stay of proceedings entered against Pickton.

4. Families of Dawn Crey, Cara Ellis, Cynthia Dawn Feliks, Marnie Frey, Helen Mae Hallmark, Georgina Papin, Dianne Rock and Mona Wilson as represented by A. Cameron Ward

The Families of Dawn Crey, Cara Ellis, Cynthia Dawn Feliks, Marnie Frey, Helen Mae Hallmark, Georgina Papin, Dianne Rock and Mona Wilson as represented by A. Cameron Ward (the "Families") are the next of kin of eight women who were victims of Pickton.

The Families may have a direct and personal interest in the Commission's findings. I accept the following reasons that support their involvement as set out in their application:

- the Families continue to have questions about the police response to the reports of missing women and the conduct of the investigations;
- the Families allege their grief is partly caused by the police response to their reports of the missing women's disappearances and the consequences of the police response; and
- some of the Families have not learned the fates of their loved ones through a criminal trial process.

The Families will contribute to a meaningful examination of the conduct of the missing women investigation, particularly the initiation of these investigations; as a result, the Families would further the conduct of the inquiry. The Families may be in a position to provide evidence with respect to:

- the missing women's disappearances;
- the Families' searches for the missing women;
- the initial reports of the missing women to the police;
- the information the Families provided to the police about the missing women; and
- the conduct of the investigations.

The Families' participation would contribute to the fairness of the inquiry, both in fact and appearance. Indeed, it would be unfair to deny the Families meaningful participation in the inquiry for a number of reasons, including that the Families have been deeply affected by the conduct of the missing women investigations and may be affected by the outcome of the inquiry.

The Families meet the test for participation.

5. Vancouver Police Union

The Vancouver Police Union (the "VPU") was established with the general mandate to defend and represent the interests of its membership in a variety of circumstances.

I accept that the VPU's interests may be affected by the findings of the Commission. Many active and retired members of the VPU have a personal interest concerning the issues to be explored at the inquiry. Many members will give evidence and may have their conduct evaluated.

The VPU would further the conduct of the inquiry by providing its perspective with regard to its distinct interest in addressing issues associated with the conduct of individual investigators (as opposed to the conduct of the VPD generally). In the interests of fairness, the VPU ought to be granted full participation.

The VPU meets the test for participation.

6. Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations

The Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations is composed of the following three societies: Prostitution Alternatives Counselling and Education Society ("PACE"); WISH Drop-In Centre Society ("WISH"); and Downtown Eastside Sex Workers United Against Violence Society ("SWUAV").

PACE is a registered society that aims to promote safer working conditions

for sex workers by reducing harm and isolation through education and support. It does so by providing sex-worker led and driven programs and services to survival sex workers in the DTES. It has published a report called "Violence Against Women in Vancouver's Street Level Sex Trade and the Police Response."

WISH is a registered society with a mandate to increase the health, safety and well-being of women working in the sex trade in the DTES. It provides direct services to sex workers through an evening drop-in centre that provides food, medical services, counselling, advocacy, education and referrals to 80-120 women per day. WISH also works with the Vancouver police to gather information on missing women, distribute "persons of interest photos" and build sex workers' trust in the police.

SWUAV is a society with over 200 members that was formed by current and former sex workers who live and work in the DTES. It works to improve conditions and protections for women involved in the sex trade; advocates for systemic change to improve the lives of women in the sex trade; and advocates against violence and discrimination of women in the sex trade.

These three societies provide health, safety and advocacy services to street-based sex workers in the DTES and, importantly, provide support for sex workers who experience incidents of violence. The Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations states that most, if not all, of the missing women were clients of one or more of its member societies.

In its application, the Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations submits that many of its members have encountered challenges and barriers when attempting to report violence to the police and participating in the criminal justice process. It also submits its members will be profoundly affected by the outcome of this inquiry. As a result, I accept that the interests of the Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations may be affected by the Commission's findings.

The Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations submits that the perspective of sex workers and sex worker serving organizations is essential to the conduct of the inquiry and will promote public confidence. Specifically, the Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations submits it will contribute to the Commission's understanding of the challenges faced by many women in engaging the police for protection. I accept the participation of the Coalition of Sex Worker- Serving Organizations would further the conduct of the inquiry by providing the perspective of sex workers and sex worker serving organizations.

Finally, I accept that since most of the missing women in the DTES were involved in sex trade work, representation of sex worker organizations would contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

The Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations meets the test for participation.

7. The Committee of the February 14 Women's Memorial March and the Downtown Eastside Women's Centre

I am satisfied the February 14 Women's Memorial March and the Downtown Eastside Women's Centre should be accepted as Full Participants. I am also satisfied that these two groups have sufficiently common interests such that it is appropriate for them to work in a coalition. However, I will deal with their applications separately.

The Committee of the February 14 Women's Memorial March

The Committee of the February 14 Women's Memorial March (the "Committee") was formed in 1991 following the murder of a woman on Powell Street. It is a community group with 18-25 members, women who live or work in the DTES. According to the Committee, some of its members attended the Pickton farm during the time women were going missing from the DTES.

The Committee undertakes the following activities: an annual march held on February 14 to raise awareness of violence against women in the DTES; two anti-violence workshops annually; mentorship of women living in the DTES; public outreach including publishing anti-violence materials; and meetings with VPD Chief Constable Jim Chu to discuss women's violence issues. The Committee also participated in making a documentary that explores the murders and disappearances of Aboriginal women in Canada. The Committee, as representative of the interests of women living and working in the DTES, meets the test for participation.

Downtown Eastside Women's Centre

The Downtown Eastside Women's Centre (the "DEWC") was established in 1978 to support and empower women and children living in extreme poverty in the DTES. It comprises community members and staff who are trusted by women in the DTES. Every day, the DEWC provides a drop-in-centre, self-help programs, referrals, hot meals, laundry, phone access, programs, clothes and toiletries, counselling and advocacy to over 300 women and children. In addition, the DEWC plays a role in organizing the annual Women's Memorial March.

The workers and legal advocates of the DEWC are familiar with the realities of women in the DTES and the missing women investigation. According to the DEWC, its clients have included many of the women who have gone missing or have been murdered.

The DEWC states it will provide direct information about the disappearances of women between January 3, 1997 and February 5, 2002, and the interactions between police and women in the DTES. It also submits it will provide testimonials of friends and families of the missing and murdered women.

I am satisfied that the DEWC meets the test for participation because it will provide the perspective of women and children living the DTES and evidence about missing and murdered women.

8. Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users, Walk4Justice and Frank Paul Society

The Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users ("VANDU"), Walk4Justice and Frank Paul Society are non-profit organizations centred in the DTES that advocate for Aboriginal empowerment, each with its own emphasis.

VANDU is a non-profit organization with over 2,000 members who are current and former drug users. Its goals are to address issues of poverty, social exclusion, criminalization and illnesses ancillary to illicit drug use. VANDU states that several of the missing women were members of its organization.

Walk4Justice is an incorporated non-profit organization whose purpose is to raise awareness of missing and murdered women and advocate for social change to reduce violence against women. This group states that it has over 10,000 members and supporters nationwide and that it maintains a national database of missing and murdered women. To date, the main activity of Walk4Justice has been a campaign of three long-distance walks from Vancouver to Ottawa to raise awareness for the missing and murdered women.

The Frank Paul Society is a non-profit society focused on urban Aboriginal advocacy, which formed in response to the *Frank Paul Inquiry Interim Report* released in February 2009.

The applicants submit that, together, they will enrich the evidentiary base and level of analysis of the Commission, specifically by:

- marshalling witnesses who would not otherwise be prepared to testify;
- locating expert witnesses to provide historical, socio-political and demographic opinion evidence on the context of the women's disappearances and the relationship between the police and drug users, sex trade workers and Aboriginal women who are victims of violent crime;
- providing evidence dealing with unwritten police practices that apply to the DTES; and
- providing legal analysis of the interests of Aboriginal persons, especially Aboriginal women, sex trade workers and persons using illicit drugs.

Further, these groups submit that drug users and urban Aboriginal persons must be given an opportunity to "set out the extent to which they cooperated with police, to extent to which police sought their cooperation, and, if there was in fact a failure of cooperation" because the "VPD is likely to suggest that sex trade workers and drug users did not cooperate with the VPD".

I accept VANDU, Walk4Justice and the Frank Paul Society meet the test for participation because they will represent the interests of illicit drug users and urban Aboriginal people.

9. Native Women's Association of Canada

The Native Women's Association of Canada ("NWAC") has represented Aboriginal and First Nations women across Canada for over 35 years. Included in its long history of working on various issues of concern to Aboriginal women is its work on the issue of violence against women through its "Sisters in Spirit Initiative."

Through the "Sisters in Spirit Initiative", NWAC has collected evidence related to nearly 600 cases of missing and murdered Aboriginal women and girls in Canada, including 160 cases in BC. This information is stored in a database of cases that can be analyzed by demographic information, life experiences, incident information and trial and suspect information. According to NWAC, this is the most comprehensive source of data relating to missing and murdered Aboriginal women in Canada. As a result of this database and its other research, NWAC states that it has "an intimate knowledge of the experiences of families, the patchwork of policies, programs and services available to women, families and communities and the jurisdictional divisions that have presented barriers in the police and justice systems to respond to the needs of Aboriginal women and families." NWAC submits that its purpose in applying to participate is to share the "data and expertise" developed through the Sisters in Spirit Initiative.

NWAC also submits it will represent a national Aboriginal and First Nations specific perspective with regard to the issue of missing and murdered Aboriginal women in Canada.

I am satisfied NWAC meets the test for participation because it will provide valuable perspectives and knowledge. I note that, unlike the other organizations granted Full Standing, NWAC is not a grass roots service provider in the DTES. Nonetheless, I believe it is critical for NWAC to participate throughout the hearing process. While there are several applicants that represent Aboriginal and First Nations interests, NWAC is unique in its specific focus on and representation of Aboriginal and First Nations women. Because of its history researching the issue of missing and murdered women in BC and Canada from its unique perspective, I have determined NWAC should be accepted as a Full Participant in the inquiry.

I note that other groups have supported NWAC in its application to be accepted as an independent participant.

10. Dr. Kim Rossmo

Dr. Kim Rossmo was a Detective Inspector with the Vancouver Police

91

Department from 1995 to 2000. Dr. Rossmo states that, since 1999, it has been his position that women missing from the DTES were most likely victims of a serial murderer. His views were seriously challenged by some of his colleagues.

Dr. Rossmo's professional abilities and role in the VPD, particularly his analysis and report on the missing women, may be examined at the hearing.

Dr. Rossmo submits that he will likely be subject to personal and professional attacks during the course of the inquiry. As a result, he is concerned about damage to his "interests and reputation." I accept that Dr. Rossmo's interests may be affected by the findings of the Commission. I also accept that Dr. Rossmo's participation would contribute to the fairness of the inquiry. Given Dr. Rossmo's involvement in the investigation may be questioned or examined, it is fair that he be given the right to cross examine these witnesses.

Given his specific interest in the investigation by the VPD, I expect that Dr. Rossmo's participation will relate primarily to Term of Reference 4(a). He is granted the right to cross examine any VPD and Vancouver Police Board witness and is granted leave to apply to cross examine all other witnesses. He is also granted a right of access to all documents disclosed by the Commission, whether or not they are entered as exhibits.

On that basis, Dr. Rossmo meets the test for participation.

IX. Applicants Accepted as Limited Participants

While these applicants have demonstrated that they would further the conduct or contribute to the fairness of the inquiry by making submissions with respect to the finding of fact under Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b), their direct interests may not be significantly affected in the same way as those of the Full Participants for they did not play a direct role similar to that played by those who have been granted Full Participant status. Therefore, these applicants have been accepted as Limited Participants.

1. BC Civil Liberties Association, Amnesty International and PIVOT Legal Society

I am satisfied BC Civil Liberties Association, Amnesty International and PIVOT Legal Society should be accepted as Limited Participants. I am also satisfied that these groups have sufficiently common interests such that it is appropriate for them to work together in a coalition, which was agreed to by the applicants by way of Coalition Agreements dated February 7, 10 and 16, 2011.

BC Civil Liberties Association

The BC Civil Liberties Association (the "BCCLA") is a non-profit, non-partisan

registered charity for the promotion, defence, sustainment and extension of civil liberties and human rights. It submits that it has experience related to public education, submissions to government bodies, complainant assistance and legal advocacy on matters relevant to the Commission's work. These matters include police procedures and responses and effective systems of police reporting, oversight and accountability. The BCCLA has participated in several other inquiries, such as the *Braidwood Inquiry*, the *Frank Paul Inquiry*, the *Iacobucci Inquiry* and the *Arar Inquiry*.

The BCCLA called for an inquiry into missing women in conjunction with the Union of BC Indian Chiefs.

I accept that the BCCLA is experienced in promoting systems of police reporting, oversight and accountability and examining police procedures and responses to recommend changes that promote effective policing while ensuring respect of citizens' fundamental rights. Given this, I accept the BCCLA's participation would further the conduct and contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

Amnesty International

Amnesty International is an international non-governmental organization with extensive experience in research and advocacy in the promotion of human rights. Amnesty International has carried out extensive research and advocacy on the subject of violence against women, Aboriginal rights and administration of justice. Amnesty International released a report in 2004 entitled "Stolen Sisters: Discrimination and Violence Against Indigenous Women." In 2009, it released a follow-up report entitled "No More Stolen Sisters" which called for a public inquiry into the pattern of disappearance and murder of women from the DTES.

Amnesty International has experience contributing to various public inquiries in Canada, including: the *Maher Arar Inquiry*, the Ontario *Ipperwash Inquiry*, the *Iacobucci Inquiry* and the *Braidwood Inquiry*.

Given Amnesty International's experience and research in international human rights law, the intersection of policing and human rights and violence against Aboriginal women, I accept its participation would further the conduct and contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

PIVOT Legal Society

PIVOT Legal Society ("Pivot") is a non-profit, non-partisan society founded in 2000. Its mandate is to take a strategic approach to social change by using the law to address the root causes that undermine the quality of life for those most on the margins. Pivot operates five campaigns relevant to the DTES in the following areas: police accountability, adequate housing, sex work law reform, child welfare and health addiction. It has a membership of approximately 4,800 individuals, including residents of the DTES,

lawyers, community advocates, law students and other members of the general public.

Pivot submits it has "strived to increase police accountability through legal education and has created numerous publications regarding *Charter* rights and the need for reform of the police complaints process." In addition, Pivot has undertaken several *Charter* and human rights cases involving discrimination against DTES residents and has provided support to sex trade workers through its Law Reform Sex Work Committee.

I am satisfied Pivot's participation would further the conduct and contribute to the fairness of the inquiry based on its experience advocating for and providing legal representation to DTES residents and sex trade workers.

2. Ending Violence Association of BC and West Coast LEAF

I am satisfied Ending Violence Association of BC and West Coast LEAF should be accepted as Limited Participants. I am also satisfied that these two groups have sufficiently common interests such that it is appropriate for them to work together in a coalition, which was agreed to by the applicants by way of Coalition Agreements dated February 11, 2011.

Ending Violence Association of BC

Ending Violence Association of BC ("EVA BC") is a charity that was established to provide a broad range of support for community-based victim-serving agencies across BC. It provides support and training to the 240 anti-violence programs it represents and to other service providers. It also engages in advocacy, issues analysis and identification of strategies related to violence against women.

EVA BC participated in the *Lee Inquest*.

EVA BC submits it will bring a province-wide perspective informed by:

- an understanding of the dynamics of violence against women and how marginalization and social powerlessness may affect these dynamics;
- knowledge of the existing services for women who are victims of violence:
- experience working with Aboriginal women and women from other marginalized and vulnerable groups;
- experience providing leadership in developing strategies for working collaboratively to address violence against women; and
- a history of working with communities, the police and government ministries to develop strategies to address violence against women.

I am satisfied that EVA BC's participation would further the conduct and contribute to the fairness of the inquiry because of its experience addressing issues of violence against vulnerable and marginalized women.

West Coast LEAF

West Coast LEAF has been a provincially incorporated non-profit society and a federally registered charity since 1985. Its mission is to achieve equality by changing historic patterns of systemic discrimination against women through BC-based equality rights litigation, law reform and public legal education. West Coast LEAF states that it has a historical interest in violence against women and "in particular in the issue of missing and murdered Aboriginal women." West Coast LEAF is a member of the BC CEDAW Group, which called for a public inquiry in 2008 and 2010 into the problems associated with missing and murdered Aboriginal women.

West Coast LEAF submits the identification of victims, families and witnesses as women, Aboriginal persons, persons living in poverty, sex trade workers and members of the DTES community impacted their interactions with the justice system.

If accepted as a participant, West Coast LEAF seeks to "bring before the Commission a substantive equality analysis of the issues in the missing women investigation." It also seeks to draw the Commission's attention to ways in which the investigation may have been "impeded by systemic inequality." West Coast LEAF states it will provide an analysis of the use of stereotypes and the missing women's ss. 7 and 15 *Charter* rights and will contribute to the issue of the police's obligation to warn the public about violent serial criminals.

I accept that West Coast LEAF will bring a unique substantive equality analysis, including an intersectional equality analysis, to bear on the evidence before the Commission. Because of its valuable perspective and experience, I am satisfied that West Coast LEAF's participation would further the conduct and contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

3. Assembly of First Nations

The Assembly of First Nations (the "AFN") is the national representative organization of First Nations in Canada, presenting the views of the various First Nations through their leaders in areas such as health, social development and justice. The AFN has advocated for attention to the 520 unresolved cases of missing and murdered Aboriginal women in Canada. The AFN's interest is supported by internal resolutions, councils and campaigns.

The AFN states it has an interest in the inquiry because it "is the institution to protect and advocate for the collective rights of...different First Nation and Aboriginal communities, across Canada." The AFN submits that its participation would further the conduct of the inquiry in the following ways: by providing insight and assistance with the development of culturally appropriate policies; by holding the inquiry accountable to victims, families

and Aboriginal interest groups; and by allowing the families, friends, communities and First Nation and Aboriginal populations of Canada to feel adequately represented at the inquiry.

Because of the overrepresentation of Aboriginal women in the missing and murdered women, the AFN states that it is imperative that the Commission have a strong First Nation presence. Lagree. Lam also satisfied the participation of the AFN would further the conduct of the inquiry and contribute to its fairness by providing a national First Nations and Aboriginal perspective.

4. Carrier Sekani Tribal Council and the Union of BC Indian Chiefs

I am satisfied both the Carrier Sekani Tribal Council and the Union of BC Indian Chiefs should be accepted as Limited Participants. I am also satisfied that these two groups have sufficiently common interests such that it is appropriate for them to work together in a coalition, which was agreed to by the applicants in letters dated February 15, 2011.

Carrier Sekani Tribal Council

The Carrier Sekani Tribal Council (the "CSTC") is a registered BC non-profit that comprises the following member First Nations: Burns Lake Band (Ts'il Kaz Koh First Nation); Nak'azdli Band; Nadleh Whut'en; Saik'uz First Nation; Takla Lake First Nation; Tl'azt'en Nation; and Wet'suwet'en First Nation. The CSTC represents over 10,000 people with a mandate that includes to: preserve and provide the Carrier Sekani heritage and identity; improve social and economic independence of the Carrier Sekani people; achieve a just resolution of land claims and Aboriginal rights issues for the Carrier Sekani people; promote better understanding between First Nations' people and the general public; advance and improve the standard of living for the Carrier Sekani people; and promote self-government for the Carrier Sekani people.

Members of the CSTC are among the missing and murdered women from the DTES and the Highway of Tears. The vast majority of missing and murdered women from the Highway of Tears are Aboriginal women. The Highway of Tears runs through five CSTC member Nations and the remaining three member Nations must use the highway to access services and resources in larger urban centres.

Additionally, the CSTC submits it has concerns about the relationship of distrust between members of the CSTC and local RCMP detachments and allegations of abuse of Aboriginal persons by the RCMP.

The CSTC submits that the experience of CSTC members cannot be accurately represented by any other organization: CSTC members have firsthand knowledge of the death of Jacqueline Murdock, the deaths on the Highway of Tears and the alleged mistreatment of CSTC members by the RCMP.

I accept the participation of the CSTC would further the conduct of the inquiry and contribute to its fairness by providing a perspective of northern Aboriginal persons and northern First Nations communities.

Union of BC Indian Chiefs

The Union of BC Indian Chiefs (the "UBCIC") is a political organization of First Nations in BC dedicated to promoting and supporting the efforts of First Nations to affirm and defend Aboriginal title and rights and treaty rights. Its mission is to improve intertribal relationships through common strategies to protect Aboriginal title; to hold the federal Government to its fiduciary obligations and change its extinguishment policy; to support their peoples at regional, national and international forums; to continue to defend their Aboriginal title; and to build trust, honour and respect to achieve security and liberty and continue the healing and reconciliation (decolonization) of their Nations.

With the First Nations Summit and BC Assembly of First Nations, the UBCIC is on the First Nations Leadership Council which represents First Nations in discussions with the Government.

The UBCIC states it will further the conduct of the inquiry based on its experience and network of relationships among the families of missing and murdered women. The UBCIC submits it has the following experience:

- developing options for addressing the social and economic conditions of First Nations people in BC;
- advocating for families of the missing women from the DTES and the Highway of Tears; and
- considering the unique cultural considerations necessary when carrying out policies and procedures that affect First Nations peoples.

I accept the participation of the UBCIC would further the conduct and contribute to the fairness of the inquiry by providing a provincial Aboriginal and First Nations perspective.

5. Women's Equality & Security Coalition

The Women's Equality & Security Coalition (the "WESC") is an ad hoc group of women's organizations dedicated to the protection and advancement of women's liberty, dignity, security and equality. These organizations have come together to participate in the inquiry. The WESC is composed of: The National Congress of Black Women Foundation; Aboriginal Women's Action Network; Coalition of Childcare Advocates; Justice for Girls; Canadian Association of Sexual Assault Centers; EVE (formerly Exploited Voices now Educating); Vancouver Rape Relief Society; University Women's Club of Vancouver; The Poverty & Human Rights Centre; The Asian Women Coalition Ending Prostitution; and the Provincial Council of Women.

The WESC submits that it will provide "expert guidance and truth-seeking from the perspective of what is critical to advancing the equality rights of women and girls and what is beneficial for women and children." The WESC also states that the inquiry will benefit from the active participation of non-police, non-governmental and non-legal entities. Specifically, the WESC submits it can contribute by:

- offering women-centered and child-centered interpretations and examination of the evidence of other interested parties;
- highlighting the realities, dangers and challenges that women and girls face; and
- keeping the Commission aware of the global issues and impact of its work on the whole community of women and children.

I accept that the WESC's participation would further the conduct of the inquiry and contribute to its fairness based on its perspective of advancing equality interests of women and girls.

6. Native Courtworker and Counselling Association of BC

The Native Courtworker and Counselling Association of BC (the "NCCABC") is BC's oldest Aboriginal justice services organization, providing counseling, referral, advisory and representation services to Aboriginal people in conflict with the law. The NCCABC provides alcohol and drug abuse counseling services, family and youth advocate services and works closely with Aboriginal people on the East side of Vancouver. It called for an inquiry into the investigation of the Pickton murders and the stays of proceedings.

The NCCABC states that it offers a unique perspective for the following reasons: it is neither a political organization nor represents individuals having personally lost loved ones; it has knowledge and experience assisting Aboriginal peoples engaged in the justice system; and it represents all Aboriginal peoples whether Métis, Status Indian, Non-Status Indian, Inuit and Aboriginal from outside the province.

The NCCABC submits that it will further the conduct of the inquiry by offering its unique perspective, a perspective gained from working with Aboriginal women who are susceptible to victimization. With respect to the stay of proceedings at issue in Term of Reference 4(b), the NCCABC states that its experience working in criminal court and its substantial contact with Crown Counsel has afforded it insight into the factors affecting Crown decisions and weaknesses in the Crown's process.

I am satisfied the NCCABC's participation would further the conduct of the inquiry and contribute to its fairness by offering a unique perspective derived from its experience working in the criminal justice system advocating for

the interests of individual Aboriginal peoples.

7. First Nations Summit

The First Nations Summit (the "FNS") is composed of the majority of First Nations and Tribal Councils in BC and provides a forum for First Nations in BC to address issues related to treaty negotiations and other issues of common concern. This group represents more than 70% of the First Nations population in the province, representing or advocating on behalf of First Nations in BC who live on reserves and in urban centres. The FNS's mandate includes ensuring the safety, dignity and well-being of all First Nations, in particular vulnerable citizens.

The FNS is a part of the First Nations Leadership Council that represents First Nations in discussions with the BC Government.

The FNS submits it has an interest in participating in the inquiry for the following reasons:

- Aboriginal women are disproportionately represented among the missing and murdered women;
- Aboriginal women continue to suffer violence, indignity and discrimination in Canada and have serious concerns about their safety;
- First Nations' confidence in the administration of justice has been undermined by the investigations; and
- the families of the missing and murdered women need justice, closure, equality and accountability.

Because of its representation of First Nations interests, the FNS submits it has a strong interest in informing the fact finding process, including informing the approach used to ensure both healing and closure. The FNS states that it would further the conduct of the inquiry by representing First Nations in BC and their citizens and ensuring that the voice of Aboriginal people is heard.

I am mindful of the fact that the FNS initially brought the issue of missing women to the attention of the VPD before the missing women investigations began.

I am satisfied the FNS's participation would further the conduct and contribute to the fairness of the inquiry through its representation of First Nations in BC.

8. CRAB – Water for Life Society

As CRAB – Water for Life Society stated in the oral hearing, it has been involved in the DTES community for 20 years, advocating for the interests of missing and murdered women: it spearheaded the creation of Crab Park, a seven acre park at the foot of Main Street; it provided a memorial boulder

at Crab Park for missing and murdered women; it holds an annual vigil for missing and murdered women; its members participate in the annual Women's Memorial March; and one of its leaders is involved in advocating for funding for the repatriation of victims' remains to their families.

In its written application, CRAB – Water for Life Society identified its interests in a number of policy issues, including decriminalization of prostitution and the importance of on-street civilian youth workers, police youth liaison officers, Aboriginal/civilian liaison officers, detox centres and police sensitivity training.

CRAB – Water for Life Society is different from the other applicants. It does not have the breadth of formal experience as other policy groups; in fact, it is a grass roots organization. However, because of its focus on policy issues and its lack of direct involvement in the factual subject matter of Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b), it is distinct from the groups granted Full Participation.

I accept CRAB – Water for Life Society as a Limited Participant. Its strong presence in the DTES and the principle of inclusivity tips the balance in favour of accepting CRAB – Water for Life Society as a Limited Participant on the basis that its involvement would contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

X. <u>Funding Recommendations</u>

In response to the Commission's Notice of Standing and Funding, the following 13 applicants sought funding recommendations:

Full Participants

- 1. The Families as represented by A. Cameron Ward
- 2. Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations
- 3. The Committee of the February 14 Women's Memorial March and the Downtown Eastside Women's Centre
- 4. Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users, Walk4Justice and Frank Paul Society
- 5. Native Women's Association of Canada
- 6. Dr. Kim Rossmo

Limited Participants

- BC Civil Liberties Association, Amnesty International and PIVOT Legal Society¹⁰
- Ending Violence Association of BC and West Coast LEAF
- 3. Assembly of First Nations
- 4. Carrier Sekani Tribal Council and the Union of BC Indian Chiefs
- 5. Women's Equality & Security Coalition

- 6. Native Courtworker and Counselling Association of BC
- 7. First Nations Summit

I have reviewed the Affidavit evidence provided by these applicants in support of their funding applications and I am satisfied they would not be able to participate in the hearing portion of the inquiry without funding. I therefore recommend to the Attorney General that these applicants receive financial assistance to pay for legal counsel to facilitate participation appropriate to the extent of their interest.

In recommending the applicants receive funding appropriate to the extent of their legal interest, I recommend that grants of funding be tailored to the level of participation that each applicant has been granted. Specifically, I recommend that Full Participants receive funding that reflects their comprehensive involvement in the hearing process, and Limited Participants receive funding that reflects their limited involvement in the hearing process. In this way, grass roots service organizations, the majority of the Full Participants, will be given sufficient funding to play a leading role in the evidentiary hearings.

XI. Summary

In summary, the following applicants have been accepted as participants in the evidentiary hearings:

Table of Applicants Accepted as Participants

Full Participants

- 1. Vancouver Police Department and Vancouver Police Board
- 2. Government of Canada
- 3. Criminal Justice Branch
- 4. Families of Georgina Papin, Mona Wilson, Marnie Frey, Dianne Rock, Cara Ellis, Cynthia Dawn Feliks, Helen Mae Hallmark and Dawn Crey as represented by A. Cameron Ward
- 5. Vancouver Police Union
- 6. Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations
- 7. The Committee of the February 14 Women's Memorial March and the Downtown Eastside Women's Centre
- 8. Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users, Walk4Justice and Frank Paul Society
- 9. Native Women's Association of Canada
- 10. Dr. Kim Rossmo

Limited Participants

11. BC Civil Liberties Association, Amnesty International and PIVOT Legal Society

- 12. Ending Violence Association of BC and West Coast LEAF
- 13. Assembly of First Nations
- 14. Carrier Sekani Tribal Council and the Union of BC Indian Chiefs
- 15. Women's Equality & Security Coalition
- 16. Native Courtworker and Counselling Association of BC
- 17. First Nations Summit
- 18. CRAB Water for Life Society

I have also made funding recommendations for 13 applicants, commensurate with their extent of participation at the hearings.

Table of Applicants Given Funding Recommendations

Full Participants

- Families of Georgina Papin, Mona Wilson, Marnie Frey, Dianne Rock, Cara Ellis, Cynthia Dawn Feliks, Helen Mae Hallmark and Dawn Crey as represented by A. Cameron Ward
- 2. Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations
- 3. The Committee of the February 14 Women's Memorial March and the Downtown Eastside Women's Centre
- 4. Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users, Walk4Justice and Frank Paul Society
- 5. Native Women's Association of Canada
- 6. Dr. Kim Rossmo

Limited Participants

- BC Civil Liberties Association, Amnesty International and PIVOT Legal Society
- 8. Ending Violence Association of BC and West Coast LEAF
- 9. Assembly of First Nations
- 10. Carrier Sekani Tribal Council and the Union of BC Indian Chiefs
- 11. Women's Equality and Security Coalition
- 12. Native Courtworker and Counselling Association of BC
- 13. First Nations Summit

G-2. Ruling on Participation – Ms. Marion Bryce (August 18, 2011)

1. Background

In a letter dated August 16, 2011, Mr. Irwin Nathanson, QC requested standing on behalf of his client Ms. Marion Bryce. Ms. Bryce's daughter, Patricia Johnson, was last seen in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside in 2001. First degree murder charges were laid against Mr. Pickton with respect to Ms. Johnson and ultimately stayed.

2. The Criteria for Participation in Evidentiary Hearings

In my ruling of May 2, 2011 (the "Ruling"), I set out the test for participation. The test for participation is set out in s. 11(4) of the *Public Inquiry Act*. There are three factors to be considered:

- 1. Whether, and to what extent, the person's interests may be affected by the findings of the commission,
- 2. Whether the person's participation would further the inquiry,
- 3. Whether the person's participation would contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

Formal participation in the Commission's evidentiary hearings has been limited to those persons or groups who demonstrate that they meet the test for participation with respect to Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b).

3. Applicant Accepted as Full Participant

Ms. Marion Bryce is the mother of Patricia Johnson, a victim of Pickton. I previously granted standing to eight families, as represented by Mr. Ward¹, whose next of kin were victims of Pickton. Like those families, Ms. Bryce may have a direct and personal interest in the Commission's findings. I believe Ms. Bryce will contribute to a meaningful examination of the conduct of the missing women investigation, particularly the initiation of the investigations. It is my belief that Ms. Bryce may be in a position to provide evidence with respect to:

- Ms. Johnson's disappearance
- Ms. Bryce's search for her daughter
- the initial report of Ms. Johnson's disappearance to the police
- the information Ms. Bryce provided to the police about her missing daughter; and
- the conduct of the investigation.

In this way, Ms. Bryce's participation will contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

Since the Ruling, Mr. Ward has been retained by five additional families. In a letter dated May 27, 2011, Mr. Ward informed the Commission he had been retained by the families of Jacqueline Murdock and Angela Williams. In a subsequent letter dated July 6, 2011, the Commission was informed that families of Brenda Wolfe, Andrea Joesbury and Elsie Sebastian had also retained Mr. Ward as counsel for the hearings.

Ms. Bryce meets the test for participation and therefore is granted Full Participant rights as defined in my earlier Ruling.

In short, Full Participants may participate in all phases of the evidentiary hearings and exercise all rights of participation in those hearings, including cross examining witnesses and making submissions. They will also be granted access to the documents disclosed to the Commission.

G-3. Ruling on Participation – Cst. Doug Fell (September 21, 2011)

1. Background

In a letter dated September 16, 2011, Mr. Kevin Woodall requested standing on behalf of his client Cst. Doug Fell. As Mr. Woodall states in his application letter "Cst. Fell was one of the officers who was the subject of adverse comments in the LePard report," and is therefore requesting standing for the "fairness of the hearing."

2. The Criteria for Participation in Evidentiary Hearings

In my ruling of May 2, 2011 (the "Ruling"), I set out the test for participation. The test for participation is set out s. 11(4) of the Public Inquiry Act. There are three factors to be considered:

- a. Whether, and to what extent, the person's interests may be affected by the findings of the commission,
- b. Whether the person's participation would further the inquiry,
- c. Whether the person's participation would contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

Formal participation in the Commission's evidentiary hearings has been limited to those persons or groups who demonstrate that they meet the test for participation with respect to Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b).

3. Applicant Accepted as Full Participant

Cst. Doug Fell was a member of the Vancouver Police Department who was assigned to work with on the Missing Women Investigation for a period of time in 1999. It is my belief that Cst. Fell may be in a position to provide evidence with respect to the Vancouver Police Department's investigation into the women missing from the DTES and specifically his involvement in the investigation. Additionally Cst. Fell was subject to adverse comments in the LePard report.

In this way, Cst. Fell's participation will contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

Cst. Fell meets the test for participation and therefore granted Full Participant rights as defined in my earlier Ruling.

In short, Full Participants may participate in all phases of the evidentiary hearings and exercise all right of participation in those hearings, including cross examine witnesses and making submissions. They will also be granted access to the documents disclose to the Commission.

G-4. Ruling on Vulnerable Witness Protection Application (November 16, 2011)

1. Introduction

Counsel for the Downtown Eastside, Mr. Gratl, seeks an order for protective measures to enable and encourage vulnerable witnesses, understood as current or former sex-trade workers in the DTES and victims of sexual assault, to provide evidence at the Commission's evidentiary hearings. He seeks the following remedies:

- a. An automatic publication ban preventing the publication of any information tending to reveal the identity of a vulnerable witness, requiring the anonymity of the name of witnesses (by analogy with s. 486.4(1) of the *Criminal Code*¹ which provides a mandatory ban on publication of information tending to identify complainants of sexual assault);
- b. Provisions allowing a witness to provide evidence by way of affidavit, without the potential for cross-examination, with objections going to the weight of the evidence on balance of the whole;
- c. Provisions allowing for a witness to provide evidence anonymously, with objections going to the weight of the evidence on the balance of the whole.

At the hearing of this application, Mr. Gratl withdrew his request regarding anonymous testimony.

I accepted Mr. Gratl's amended application at the hearing on November 3, 2011. These are my reasons for the ruling and directives as to how it is to be implemented.

2. Background

The Inquiry has heard much evidence relating to the vulnerability of witnesses, particularly those who are involved in the sex trade. The Inquiry has heard testimony from the families of missing and murdered women who were for the most part poor and marginalized. As well the Inquiry heard from Dr. Lowman and Dr. Shannon on the vulnerability of women, particularly those who were involved in the sex trade. Both expert witnesses

R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46.

testified as to the high level of distrust of the criminal justice system in general and the police in particular.

It is said that the witnesses in question would be most reluctant to testify in an open hearing without the safeguards sought by Counsel.

Mr. Gratl has argued that it is in the public interest to adopt this protocol because it will encourage vulnerable witnesses to come forward and testify and therefore would make the Inquiry more inclusive.

Mr. Roberts and Ms. Gervais, both of whom represent the interests of Aboriginal women, support Mr. Gratl's position. Ms. Gervais requested that the category of vulnerable witnesses include Aboriginal women. Mr. Ward, counsel for many of the victims' families, and Ms. Basil a representative of VANDU also spoke in favour of the application.

Counsel have argued that it is this vulnerability and the general distrust of the system that will prevent much needed evidence from being called. It is said that if the witnesses are accommodated in the manner suggested in the protocol witnesses would attend.

Counsel for the VPD, VPB, Sgt. Fell and the RCMP do not oppose the order for a publication ban or the possibility of evidence being tendered through affidavits not subject to cross- examination. However, it is their position that a blanket order is inappropriate and that the issues need to be decided on a case-by-case, issue by issue basis having regard to the particular circumstances of each witness.

The Criminal Justice Branch took no position save that the vulnerable witness protection protocols should not be applied to Ms. Anderson, given the potential centrality of Ms. Anderson's evidence to the Commission's finding of fact regarding Term of Reference 4(b).

While the Participants took different positions on the best method for ensuring protections for vulnerable witnesses, all recognize the genuine concern of affording vulnerable witnesses procedural protection to enable them to provide evidence to the Inquiry without jeopardizing their personal safety. The divergence in the positions taken centers on two points: (1) whether these protections should be made available in advance on a presumptive basis or on a case-by case basis; and (2) who should bear the onus of establishing whether the protective safeguards should be available to a given witness. As Mr. Roberts stated at the hearing: the differences in approach may be slight but this slight difference is significant.

3. Discussion of the Procedural Options and Legal Framework

a) General Principles

The Commission has the authority to determine its own procedure. However, that authority is limited by the procedural rights of participants,

particularly those who may be subject to a finding of misconduct. It is also subject to the general presumption of the preference for open proceedings that can engage freedom of the press, which is protected by the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms*.²

Commissions of inquiry generally model their evidentiary hearings on trials. However, commissions can depart from the traditional trial process based on their authority to determine their own processes. There is a need for inquiries to be more flexible in order to accommodate the needs and interests of the public and to encourage greater public participation. Therefore, the rules of evidence and procedure are considerably less strict for an inquiry than for a court³. The essential open-ended nature of procedural possibilities available to an inquiry has been described in the following way:

It is left to the discretion of the commissioner to decide whether he wishes to be bound by legal rules of evidence or to vary them. He is not bound as a matter of law. The practice is to hear opinion evidence from a broad range of witnesses, some of whom would be considered experts and others not. The reasons are not hard to find. From the public's point of view, it indicates a willingness to listen to a range of experiences. From the inquiry's perspective, these opinions may still be the best, or the only, sources of information available. [emphasis added]⁴

The flexibility of the inquiry process, balanced by the need to protect procedural fairness, was commented on by the Hon. Associate Chief Justice Dennis R. O'Connor in "Some Observations on Public Inquiries" wherein he made the following comments:

... [t]hat inquiries have, in my view, tended to overuse the evidentiary, adversarial type of hearing process suited for legal trials to gather information. I think that we have yet to take full advantage of all of the possibilities for different processes that can be tailored to meet the need of investigating and reporting on the various types of matters set out in inquiry mandates. I believe that greater creativity and flexibility in fact-determining processes will ultimately improve the inquiry process from the perspective of all participants, increasing responsiveness, decreasing cost, and ultimately improving the process and results of public inquiries. In my view, there is a real advantage to directly involving groups and individuals in the inquiry process, rather than having them participate only through lawyers. This is particularly the case where the participants have experience, expertise and an understanding of issues under consideration. From a cost perspective, minimizing the involvement of legal counsel, when not necessary, can result in a significant cost reduction.

² Part I of the Constitution Act, 1982, being Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (U.K.), 1982, c. 11.

³ Canada (Attorney General) v. Canada (Commission of Inquiry on the Blood System), [1997] 3 S.C.R. 440 at para. 34. [Krever]

⁴ R. J. Anthony and A.R. Lucas, *A Handbook on the Conduct of Public Inquiries in Canada* (Toronto: Butterworths, 1985) at p.90.

Unlike criminal or civil trials, inquiries do not need to be conducted within the confines of the fixed rules of practice and procedures. *Inquiries are not trials: they are investigations. They do not result in the determination of rights or liabilities; they result in findings of fact and/or recommendations.* Subject to what I say below about the need for procedural fairness for those who may be affected by the report of an inquiry, a commissioner has a very broad discretion to craft the rules and procedures necessary to carry out his or her mandate. [emphasis added]⁵

In the context of this Inquiry, the following words of the Associate Chief Justice are relevant as well:

My second observation about the inquiry process relates to the need to ensure procedural fairness to those who may be adversely affected by the information that emerges during the course of the inquiry or in the report. This is critically important. There is enormous potential for an inquiry, particularly a public inquiry, to seriously damage personal and professional reputations.⁶

Procedures available to protect vulnerable witnesses in giving testimony can be found in the *Criminal Code* and procedural measures in civil trials. Examples of the options available to the Commission can also be found in the work of prior commissions of inquiry. I have reviewed the various approaches taken in the criminal and civil trial context as well as approaches taken by the Cornwall Public Inquiry, the Nunn Commission and the Goudge Inquiry which all addressed issues of confidentiality.

b) Affidavit Evidence Not Subject to Cross-Examination

The *Public Inquiry Act*⁷ allows the Commission to accept evidence by way of affidavit in three ways: by enabling commissions to accept evidence not admissible before a court;⁸ by enabling a study commission to receive written and oral submissions;⁹ and by enabling a hearing commission to receive submissions under oath and conduct written hearings.¹⁰

Reliance on evidence without cross-examination is commonplace in judicial processes in family, criminal and civil matters. In criminal law matters, oral statements of counsel are regularly relied upon in important matters including show cause hearings and sentencing hearings.¹¹ In civil matters, reliance on affidavits without cross-examination is commonplace in interlocutory matters, summary trials and applications to dismiss claims entirely. In summary trials under the Rules of Court, decisions are made

Hon. Associate Chief Justice Dennis R. O'Connor, "Some Observations on Public Inquiries", delivered at the Canadian Institute for the Administration of Justice Annual Conference, Halifax (10 October 2007), online: Court of Appeal for Ontario http://www.ontariocourts.ca.

⁶ Ibid.

⁷ S.B.C. 2007, c. 9.

⁸ Section 14 (1).

⁹ Section 20 (2).

¹⁰ Section 21 (1).

¹¹ R. v. Gardiner, [1982] 2 S.C.R. 368 at 414; R. v. Woo, (1994), 90 C.C.C. (3d) 404.

entirely on affidavit evidence even when there is a conflict in the evidence, providing of course the conflict is not material.¹²

There is no question that the Commission may accept affidavit evidence at its evidentiary hearings. It is also clear that some restriction of the right to cross-examination will not amount to a denial of procedural fairness so long as the Participants have the ability to make their case fully to the Commission. Absent a statutory right to cross-examination, restriction of cross-examination falls within the commissioner's discretion. The Commission is thus entitled to accept affidavit evidence not subject to cross-examination with any concerns about the evidence only going to its probative value, that is the weight given to it in the Commission's ultimate findings. Participants retain the right to respond to prejudicial information by presenting their views in opposition either at the time the evidence is entered or later in the proceedings.

I emphasize that evidence that has not been subject to cross-examination cannot be used to substantiate findings of misconduct or contested or uncorroborated findings of fact. Evidence tendered for these purposes could be given with other testimonial aids or protection measures in place.

4. Conclusion

In allowing the application in general I am particularly persuaded by the submissions of Mr. Roberts wherein he cited the often quoted passage from Lord Hewart C.J.'s judgment in *R. v. Sussex Justices*: "[it] is of fundamental importance that justice should not only be done, but should manifestly and undoubtedly be seen to be done."¹⁵

As well, I accept Ms. Gervais' argument that the Aboriginal women she represents are particularly vulnerable and they are not likely to testify at the Inquiry unless special considerations are given to them. It is necessary in the public interest for the Inquiry to hear from those persons who otherwise would be intimidated and distrustful of the system. The Inquiry needs to be inclusive.

In my view, nothing short of strong, clear proactive protection measures sought in this application will facilitate vulnerable witnesses to provide their evidence to the Commission. To paraphrase the Supreme Court, "a discretionary ban is not an option as it is not effective." ¹⁶ While the Commission must carefully tailor confidentiality measures, including publicity bans, it must not so in such a restricted manner that it nullifies the

¹² Cadboro Invt. Ltd. v. Can. West Ins. Co., 1987 Can LII 2502 (B.C.C.A.); Gratsos v. Martin and Canada Trust, 2005 BCSC 21.

Boyle v. Canada (Commission of Inquiry into the Deployment of Canadian Forces in Somalia –Létourneau Commission), [1997] F.C.J. No. 942; Beno v. Canada (Attorney General), 2002 FCT 142 (T.D.); Gagliano v. Canada (Attorney General), 2005 FC 576.

¹⁴ Anthony and Lucas, *supra* at p. 94.

^{15 [1924] 1} K.B. 256 at 259, [1923] All E.R. 233.

¹⁶ Canadian Newspaper Co. v. Canada (A.G.), [1988] 2 S.C.R. 122, at para. 19.

protection of the risk justifying their issuance. In the unique circumstances of this Commission, it would be futile to deal with these protection and confidentiality measures on an individual basis as is the common practice. Thus as a general proposition, protective measures will be available to all vulnerable witnesses subject to a Participant's application to limit access to these measures in a specific case.

I also accept the Criminal Justice Branch's position that the vulnerable witness protection protocol should not be applied to Ms. Anderson, given the potential centrality of Ms. Anderson's evidence to the Commission's finding of fact regarding Term of Reference 4(b).

The Commission's vulnerable witness protection protocol is:

- a. The Commission defines "vulnerable witness" for the purpose of the Inquiry as current or former sex trade workers, victims of sexual assault and Aboriginal women;
- b. Vulnerable witness status will be established through an affidavit or written submissions by counsel;
- c. Participants will have the opportunity to make submissions in writing on whether the criteria have been met by each proposed vulnerable witness;
- d. Once an individual is accepted to have met the criteria and designated a vulnerable witness, the following optional protections will be presumptively available to her or him:
 - (i) Testimonial aids such as having a support person close by, testifying behind a screen or in a separate room with the witness subject to cross-examination; AND/OR
 - (ii) Publication ban on her or his identity; AND/OR
 - (iii) Evidence submitted by way of affidavit and not subject to cross-examination, such evidence not to be used for findings of misconduct or uncontested and uncorroborated findings of fact;
- e. Objections to affidavit evidence not subject to crossexamination will go to the weight of the evidence on the balance of the whole;
- f. Participants can apply by way of written submissions or *in camera* for a ruling one or more of the protections set out in paragraph (d) should not apply in a particular case;
- g. If a Participant establishes, by applications, a right to cross-

- examine, the affiant has the right to withdraw and forego cross-examination; and
- h. Testimonial aids such as having a support person close by, testifying behind a screen or in a separate room are available to any frightened or reluctant witness even if they do not meet the vulnerable witness criteria. Witnesses should make their request for testimonial aids known to Commission Counsel at the earliest opportunity.

It is also requested that the Commission state on the record that witnesses will have both use and derivative use immunity in respect of their evidence. This statement simply reflects the protections set out in the *Public Inquiry Act*, the *Evidence Act*¹⁷ and s. 7 of the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms*. The Commission cannot provide any immunity beyond these statutory and constitutional protections. However, in the event that it may reassure some witnesses, I confirm the protections provided at law are in place and apply to evidence given at this Inquiry.

G-5. Ruling on Document Disclosure Application (March 2, 2012)

A. <u>Introduction</u>

Counsel for 25 of the victims' families has brought an application for further and better document disclosure from a number of participants and third parties. The application seeks both general orders compelling all relevant records in the possession or control of specific parties and the disclosure of specific documents and other materials. The Application is made under s. 22 of the *Public Inquiry Act., S.B.C. 2007, c. 9*.

At the conclusion of arguments, I advised counsel and the parties that I would give written reasons. These are the reasons.

B. <u>Background</u>

Robert William Pickton was convicted on six counts of the second degree murder of six women in December 2007. On July 30, 2010, the Supreme Court of Canada rendered its decision dismissing Pickton's appeal and affirming his convictions. On August 4, 2010, Crown prosecutors stayed the balance of the pending murder charges against Pickton, ending the prospect of any further trials. For many years families of missing women, Aboriginal leaders and other members of the community were calling for an Inquiry into women who were missing. Before, during and after the police investigation and trial these groups were critical of police response to missing women. It was only after all legal proceedings were exhausted was it possible to have an Inquiry.

Accordingly this Inquiry was established on September 27, 2010 with the following terms of reference:

- (a) inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the conduct of the investigations conducted between January 23, 1997 and February 5, 2002, by police forces in British Columbia respecting women reported missing from the Downtown Eastside of the city of Vancouver;
- (b) inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch on January 27, 1998, to enter a stay of proceedings on charges against Robert William Pickton of attempted murder, assault with a weapon, forcible confinement and aggravated assault;
- (c) recommend changes considered necessary respecting the initiation and conduct of investigations in British Columbia of missing women and suspected multiple homicides; and
- (d) recommend changes considered necessary respecting homicide investigations in British Columbia by more than one investigating

organization, including the co-ordination of those investigations.

(e) to submit a final report to the Attorney General on or before December 31, 2011. That date was extended to June 30, 2012.

In the hearings to date a number of very serious allegations have been made concerning police failures in the missing women and Pickton investigations. These allegations include: disrespectful and biased treatment of family members when they reported women missing and in other stages of the investigations; a refusal to accept that these women were likely murdered, not missing; failure to accept the serial killer theory; faulty risk assessment in ascertaining whether women were going to go missing from the Downtown Eastside (DTES); restrictions on the involvement of family and community members in the investigations; inadequacies in proactive strategies to prevent further harm to women in the DTES; ineffective coordination between police forces; failure to follow major case management policies and practices; poor information management practices; discontinuity and inadequacy of supervision of the investigations; inexcusable gaps and delays in the investigations; indifference to the victims and potential victims; and systemic bias in policing.

C. <u>Overview of Ruling on Document Disclosure</u>

The main issue to be determined on this application is whether the additional documents requested are relevant to the Inquiry having regard to the evidence already heard and the documents already produced. To date more than 170,000 pages of documents have been disclosed and further documents continue to be produced almost on a daily basis. A subsidiary issue is whether the documents sought in this application are producible. For instance copies of emails at the Vancouver Police Department (VPD) prior to 2003 are not available as they have not been archived.

There is no question that document disclosure has been a lengthy and at times trying process for all participants and Commission counsel. The disclosure has not been perfect: there have been some delays in receiving disclosure and in the launch of the disclosure database and some technical difficulties giving rise to understandable frustration. Perfection is an unattainable standard particularly given that my mandate has an extensive scope: one covering numerous investigations and investigators, involving several police forces, over an extended period of time. The events in question took place ten years ago or more.

In considering this application for further and better document disclosure, I am mindful of the approach taken by The Honourable Stephen Goudge in his Inquiry into pediatric forensic pathology in Ontario. He emphasized the principles of thoroughness, transparency and proportionality as guiding principles for the inquiry process.¹ These principles assist me in ruling on this application.

¹ The Honourable Stephen T. Goudge, Commissioner, *Inquiry Into Pediatric Forensic Pathology in Ontario* Report, Volume 4 "The Inquiry Process" at p. 636

I have placed great emphasis on being thorough and on leaving no doubt that all issues relevant to my mandate have been fully explored. Commission counsel and participants have been thorough in the steps taken to identify and ensure disclosure of relevant documents. Participants have been candid and transparent in describing the steps taken and methods employed in this process and in explaining how and why certain documents cannot be produced. The question now is mainly one of proportionality: the Commission needs to focus on core issues keeping in mind the Commission's purpose. It is not feasible to collect every single document of possible relevance: we must remain focused on what is significant having regard to the terms of reference. Proportionality is particularly important at this late stage of the inquiry process. We now begin to confront the law of diminishing returns: a disproportionate amount of time and resources is required to unearth documents which are likely to have little, if any, probative value.

Relevance is addressed by the principle of proportionality and is a situational concept. Relevance will vary, therefore, from one context to another. In my Opening Remarks, I made it clear that the core issues of my mandate center on finding ways to better ensure the safety and security of vulnerable and marginalized women, particularly Aboriginal women, and to find ways to improve future police investigations of missing and murdered women so that we can address this ongoing tragedy. As a result, I review this application from this perspective.

It is clear to me from submissions made by Counsel for the families that they have a different perspective on the core issues in this Inquiry. In his Opening Statement, Counsel for the 25 families, Mr. Ward stated that the families have two main interests in this Inquiry, as expressed in these terms: "Number one, they want to know why Pickton wasn't stopped sooner; and, number 2, they want to know if Pickton had accomplices in his heinous deed who may still be walking the streets and preying on others." While the first issue is clearly important to my mandate, the second is not.

It is not the purpose of this Inquiry to retry Robert Pickton, nor is it to carry out additional criminal investigations. The terms of reference clearly are to conduct a careful and thorough examination of the missing women investigations and the Pickton investigation to uncover the impediments to these investigations and the reasons for the stay of proceedings against Pickton in 1998. The purpose of this examination is to develop recommendations for changes that will save the lives of the vulnerable and marginalized women who continue to be at high risk of serial predation. While I am sympathetic to the families' desires for a fuller accounting of all aspects of the criminal case, I cannot allow it to shift the focus away from the core issues.

During the course of his submissions, co-counsel for the 25 families, Mr. Chantler provided additional detail concerning specific documents or categories of documents that his clients seek to have disclosed. I am

particularly mindful of the concerns expressed that the missing person files of Cynthia Feliks, Elsie Sebastian and Cara Ellis do not appear to be complete. This information was helpful and counsel for the concerned parties affirmed that they would take additional steps to find and disclose these documents.

D. **Specific Orders Sought**

(1) Vancouver Police Department ("VPD")

In paragraph 1 of Part 1 of this application, counsel for the victims' families have sought an order compelling the VPD to deliver to the Commission "copies of all relevant records in its possession or control". The Commission has served a summons for documents on the VPD. Other specific relief is also sought in sub-paragraphs (a) to (e) which I will address in turn.

(a) Members' notebooks, handwritten notes, memoranda, correspondence, emails, logs, continuation reports, database search results, surveillance reports, meeting minutes and agendas, statement and interview transcripts, audio-video recordings, photographs and all other physical and electronic records in the possession or control of the VPD;

This request clearly engages the issues of proportionality and relevance. VPD has already complied with this general request by disclosing the most relevant documents in its possession or control. Much of the material sought has already been disclosed, for instance the notebooks of 10 officers, Fell, Wolthers, Field, Clarke, Chernoff, Little, McKnight, Dickson, Hetherington and Giles have been disclosed. As well, the report of Brian Oger, a VPD intern in which he made a compelling argument that a serial killer was operating in the lower mainland, was disclosed.

To date the sheer scope and volume of documents dictates that the most relevant documents would be disclosed first but that participants could make additional, specific requests for disclosure. Commission counsel has facilitated this process. For example, a policy for the disclosure of notebooks, applicable to both VPD and RCMP, was provided to participants in June 2011. The policy states that as the volume of notebooks of all officers is so large, only selected notebooks would be made available, however, if participants wished to review other notebooks (additional officers or different dates), they could apply to have those disclosed. As already mentioned in the hearings, requests for notes of specific officers need to specify defined time frames. There is no need for an additional general order at this time.

(b) notes, agendas, memoranda, minutes, correspondence and all other records relating to the "brainstorming

session" of May 19, 1999 (sic);

I note that this meeting took place on May 13, 1999 not May 19, 1999. Counsel for the VPD has advised that there appears to be no written records pertaining to this meeting but that a search for any such documents continues. As such, no order is necessary. RCMP has provided notes/logs of three members related to the above meeting.

(c) all "monthly updates" drafted and sent by Det. Cst. Lori Shenher to all sworn VPD members during her tenure as investigator on the Missing Person Unit;

I have been advised that these communications were in the form of e-mail messages. The VPD advised participants during the hearings that e-mails prior to February 2003 do not exist as they were not archived. Any disclosure of available e-mails were from print copies kept in files or binders.

(d) all relevant handwritten notes and "log book" entries of Cst. Dave Dickson created during the time period defined by the terms of reference;

I am advised that several of Cst. Dickson's notes and memos have been disclosed. Cst. Dickson has indicated that if he made any notes that were specific to a missing women's case he would add it to her missing person file. Cst. Dickson's counsel is conducting a search for additional documents.

(e) records of offline CPIC searches of David Francis Pickton.

The aforementioned is the brother of Robert William Pickton. While I question the relevance of any disclosure related to David Pickton, the material from other databases is available on Concordance.

(2) Royal Canadian Mounted Police ("RCMP")

In paragraph 2 of Part 1 of this application, counsel for the victims' families have sought an order compelling the RCMP to deliver to the Commission "copies of all relevant records in its possession or control". Provincial commissions of inquiry are limited in their powers to compel federal institutions, including the RCMP, to disclose documents and as well, are limited in their jurisdictions to examine issues related to policies and management. The leading case on this issue is *Attorney General of Quebec and Keable v Attorney General of Canada et al* [1979] 1 S.C.R. 218, at p. 242 wherein the Court held that a provincial commission of inquiry cannot order the Federal Crown to produce documents because of interjurisdictional immunity.²

The applicants also seek the following in sub paragraph (a) to (h)

² Attorney General of Quebec and Keable v Attorney General of Canada et al [1979] 1 S.C.R. 218, at p. 242.

(a) members' notebooks, handwritten notes, memoranda, correspondence, emails, logs, continuation reports, database search results, surveillance reports, meeting minutes and agendas, statement and interview transcripts, audio/video recordings, and all other physical and electronic records in the possession or control of the RCMP;

Again, this request clearly engages the issues of proportionality and relevance. In any case, I am satisfied that the RCMP has been and continues to make best efforts to disclose all relevant documents. The RCMP has already complied with this general request by disclosing the most relevant documents in its possession or control in particular through the disclosure of witness packages prepared for approximately 25 officers. Additional notes continue to be disclosed and uploaded in Concordance. There is no need for an additional general order at this time.

(b) correspondence between Sgt. Mike Connor and then Crown Counsel Mr. Peder Gulbransen relating to the investigation of Robert William Pickton as a suspect in the missing women investigations;

I am advised that communications between Sgt. Connor and Mr. Gulbransen have been disclosed. Further, copies of any correspondence, if available, would have been disclosed.

(c) correspondence between Sgt. Mike Connor and Sgt. Wade Blizard relating to the investigation of Robert William Pickton as a suspect in the missing women investigations;

I am advised that in accordance with the RCMP email retention policy these emails were deleted after 90 days. Inquiries have been made and neither officer has a copy of these emails.

(d) notes and records of Det. Cst. Lori Shenher created during her tenure as investigator on the Missing Person Unit and later provided to Project Evenhanded;

I am advised that notes made on lead sheets have been disclosed.

(e) notes and records of Cst. Sylvestri related to his attendance at the Pickton residential property on May 1, 1999;

I am advised that no notes exist for this officer relating to the above attendance.

(f) records in the possession of the RCMP relating to the well-publicized allegations of systemic gender

discrimination and workplace harassment raised by Cpl. Catherine Galliford;

I am advised that the RCMP is currently conducting an internal investigation into these allegations. I am bound to respect this process and therefore am not in a position to order disclosure at this time.

(g) videotapes of interviews of Robert William Pickton conducted on February 19, 20, and 23, 2002, by members of the RCMP; and

I am advised that transcripts of these interviews are available in Concordance as part of the appendices to the Report to Crown Counsel and there is no need to disclose the videotapes themselves.

(h) videotapes of the "cell plant" of Robert William Pickton conducted on February 22, 2002 at the Surrey RCMP Detachment.

I am advised that no audio recording or transcript exists for this interaction as stated in the Report to Crown Counsel at page 160. However, the undercover officer's notes are available in Concordance. As well, I do not see the relevance of any statement made post arrest unless it makes reference to the police investigation. It is difficult to see where this request fits within the terms of reference.

(3) Individual Police Officers

Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of the application seeks an order for the delivery of documents and other material in the possession or control of 10 current and former VPD and RCMP officers. Individual summons have been prepared by the Commission and sent to all of the individuals listed in the application.

(4) Criminal Justice Branch

The Commission has already served a summons on the Criminal Justice Branch to produce all relevant documents and material under its possession or control. I am advised that the documents related to the investigation were destroyed in June 2000 pursuant to the Branch's document retention policy. I am advised that Counsel for the Criminal Justice Branch will be providing additional disclosure which will be made available to participants through Concordance.

(5) Province of British Columbia

(a) notes, agendas, memoranda, minutes, correspondence and all other records relating to the meeting of April 9, 1999, attended by several high-ranking members of the VPD and

RCMP, Attorney General Ujjal Dosanjh, cabinet ministers and their aides;

On that date, a meeting attended by several police officers and Attorney General Dosanjh took place. It appears that the purpose of the meeting was to apply to government for more resources and to ask the Government to post a reward. While a reward was eventually posted, no commitment was made for more resources. Mr. Jones appeared for the Province of British Columbia to speak to the issue of disclosure of all relevant documents and in particular to disclose records of the meeting. He spoke to the efforts currently being made with respect to document disclosure. Mr. Chantler agreed to adjourn the application in this respect while efforts were ongoing. I am advised that documents resulting from the search of Ministry records have now been disclosed to the Commission and participants through Concordance.

(6) Counsel copies of R. v. Pickton (1997) Court File

Paragraph 6 of Part 1 of the application seeks an order that Commission counsel be directed to obtain and disclose to all participants' counsel copies of the Port Coquitlam Provincial Court file #52808, *R. v. Pickton* (1997). The file was produced by the Criminal Justice Branch and is in Concordance. The request was also made of the Port Coquitlam Provincial Court and the documents disclosed were identical to those disclosed by the Criminal Justice Branch.

(7) Commission Correspondence with Deputy Chief Evans

This application was withdrawn in recognition that I had already addressed it in an earlier oral ruling.

(8) Commission Correspondence with Don Celle

Paragraph 8 of Part 1 of the application seeks an order that Commission counsel be directed to disclose to all participants' counsel copies of all correspondence to and from Don Celle related to his engagement, instructions, and the preparation of the report he has allegedly produced for the purpose of this Inquiry. I am advised that the services portion of Mr. Celle's contract are available in Concordance.

(9) Organized Crime Agency of British Columbia ("OCABC") and the Combined Forces Special Enforcement Unit ("CFSEU")

Paragraph 9 of Part 1 of the application seeks an order that the Organized Crime Agency of British Columbia and the Combined Forces Special Enforcement Unit of British Columbia ("CFSEU") deliver to the Commission copies of all relevant records in their possession or control including but not limited to:

(a) records of all investigations of Robert William Pickton,
David Francis Pickton and members of the Hells Angels

Motorcycle Club associated with the Picktons; and

The Organized Crime Agency of British Columbia no longer exists. It was an agency of the provincial government. Now CFSEU, or the Combined Forces Special Enforcement Unit, would have subsumed that. That is an RCMP-led joint task force, and it has a joint management board subject to RCMP policy and procedures.

(b) records of all investigations of the establishment known as "Piggy's Palace" located at 2252 Burns Road, Port Coquitlam, BC.

There is no evidence of a nexus between David Pickton, the Hells Angels and Piggy's Palace on the one hand and the terms of reference on the other.

(10) E-Comm Emergency Communications for Southwest British Columbia Incorporated ("E-Comm")

Part 10 of Part 1 of the application seeks an order that E-Comm Emergency Communications for Southwest British Columbia Incorporated ("E-Comm") deliver to the Commission copies of all relevant records in its possession or control, including but not limited to:

(a) transcripts of 9-1-1 calls relating to or originating from the residential property of Robert William Pickton, located at 953 Dominion Avenue, Port Coquitlam, BC, during the period January 23, 1997 to February 5, 2002;

And

(b) missing person reports made by members of the public to E-Comm during the time period defined by the Terms of Reference.

I am advised by Counsel for the RCMP that steps have been taken to locate relevant E-Comm records and reports. Commission staff continue to work on facilitating this disclosure.

(11) Document Disclosure from Other Parties

Paragraph 11 of Part 1 of the application seeks an order for the delivery of all relevant records in the possession or control of four additional parties two of which are third parties to this proceeding: (a) the City of Vancouver; (b) the Vancouver Police Board; (c) the Vancouver Police Union; and (d) West Coast Reduction Ltd.

I am advised by Counsel for the Vancouver Police Board that all relevant documents have been produced. Summonses have been served on the City of Vancouver and the Vancouver Police Union. I am further advised that West Coast Reduction has informed the Commission that they have no relevant records. It is useful to note that Mr. Roberts who is counsel to Marion Bryce, a participant, is opposed to Mr. Ward's position. In his written argument he has stated:

There has been extensive document disclosure provided by both police forces and by related boards and government offices, all of which has been submitted to this Inquiry. We have also received extensive oral evidence from a number of witnesses with oral evidence from a number of additional witnesses still to come. In addition the Inquiry has received the independent report of Deputy Chief Jennifer Evans commissioned by the Inquiry and written after extensive document review and interviews of nearly all of the involved police officers from both police forces. It is our position that this body of evidence both received and to be received will amply provide the necessary basis for the fact finding task of this Inquiry and for the Commissioner's recommendations.

I am satisfied that all concerned parties have acted in good faith and have made best efforts to produce all relevant documents and other materials. The disclosure process is ongoing and I fully anticipate that all participants will continue to disclose documents as they are identified through the hearing process or come to their attention by other means.

E. Conclusion

I have concluded that the orders sought in this application are for the most part unnecessary as the process for disclosure is ongoing. In the sections above, I set out the status of document disclosure with respect to each of the specific orders sought in this application. In summary, I have concluded that some of the documents and materials requested in this application have already been produced and others are only tangentially relevant or are irrelevant for the Commission's purposes. I have been advised by counsel for VPD and the RCMP that they continue to search for other identified documents and that others simply do not exist to the best of their knowledge. Based on what I heard during the proceedings, I am confident that Commission counsel will continue to work collaboratively with counsel for all participants to facilitate additional disclosure.

I am particularly thankful to Commission staff who have been very diligent in managing the document disclosure process. Six staff members were involved in handling document disclosure by identifying and requesting documents, as well as in monitoring and following up on document requests. Eight staff members were involved in reading/indexing the documents. One person managed the document disclosure process with participants. This has been and continues to be a huge task.

G-6. Ruling on Shenher Manuscript Application (May 18, 2012)

PART 1: INTRODUCTION

- 1. Independent counsel for Affected Individuals and Organizations in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside, and Independent counsel for the Aboriginal Interest, seek an order for the admission of a manuscript as an exhibit before the Commission. They seek the following specific remedies:
 - An order that the unpublished manuscript authored by Detective Constable Shenher (the "Document") be admitted to evidence and form part of the public record of this Inquiry;
 - Alternatively, an order that the Document be marked as an exhibit and form part of the public record of this Inquiry for reference purposes alone.

PART 2: BACKGROUND

- 1. Since the early 1990's women from the downtown eastside had been reported missing to the Vancouver Police Department. In July 1998 Detective Constable Shenher became the lead investigator in the investigations relating to the missing women. She testified that she had a most difficult and frustrating time in that she was given virtually no help or guidance. She had never investigated a homicide. She said she became extremely disillusioned with senior management which according to her was indifferent to the concerns she had for the women. Her frustration reached a peak in November 2000 when she left her position as the file coordinator in the missing women investigations. She saw the move as a protest.
- 2. Shortly after leaving her position she wrote the document which is the subject matter of this application. The document is an account of her recollection of the investigations, her view of the Vancouver Police Department and her somewhat provocative view of upper management. The document also contains letters written to the deceased women. As expected they are emotional in nature. One such letter is written to Janet Henry a woman who has been missing from the downtown eastside. Her sister Ms. Sandra Gagnon has testified in the Inquiry. She wishes to have that part of the document that contains a letter to her sister Janet, be disclosed to her. Without going further I am exceeding to Ms. Gagnon's request. It is an entirely reasonable and understandable request.
- 3. The document is generally consistent with her testimony in the Inquiry. However she does go further in her manuscript in her criticism of the police. These criticisms include comments about Sandy Cameron's conduct, her supervisor's involvement in the investigation and competence, police culture, and the way the investigation was handled.

However during the course of her testimony under cross examination, Detective Constable Shenher qualified, retracted or resiled from several statements contained in the document. She was clear that the document was a draft and contained her thoughts, experiences and impressions and it was going to require careful vetting before it was published.

PART 3: THE LAW

- 1. The law relating to admissibility is not in dispute and is fairly set out in Mr. Roberts's argument. That is to say from a principled approach according to the rules of evidence the document is not admissible. It is hearsay in that it is an out of court document being admitted for the truth of the contents contained therein. It is neither a business record nor is it a case of past recollection recorded. At its best the document is a prior consistent statement. Prior consistent statements are not admissible except in rare circumstances. Parts of the document contain prior inconsistent statements. Similarly prior inconsistent statements are not admissible for the truth of contents except insofar as they are adopted as being true or accurate.
- 2. It is agreed that the laws of evidence are relaxed in Commissions of Inquiry; In fact much hearsay has been admitted in this inquiry. However this does not mean that all documents that contain hearsay are admissible.

PART 4: CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Counsel for the applicants have argued that the document ought to be admitted as it is the best evidence of her recollection of the investigation because it was made shortly after the investigation and in any event the Commission has relaxed the traditional rules relating to the admission hearsay evidence. They further submit that the Document will be of great assistance once an exhibit in ascertaining the facts of the investigation.
- 2. Counsel opposing the admission of the Document submit that the manuscript is inadmissible hearsay as it is an out-of-court made document that cannot be offered for the truth of the contents asserted in it. Further they submit that there is no exception to the hearsay rule or a principled approach that would render the Document admissible.
- 3. The document does not meet the admissibility test as it does not fall into any of the hearsay exceptions or fall under the principled approach as it serves no probative value. Det. Cst. Shenher has already provided sworn evidence before me over the course of five and half days during which she testified to the shortcomings and the mistakes made in the investigation.
- 4. The manuscript is not admissible. Whatever relevant information is contained in the manuscript has been given by her in her testimony.

Moreover she has retracted some of the more controversial passages contained in the manuscript. It is titillating but not particularly helpful with regards to the terms of reference.

5. As noted above, the part of the document relating to Detective Constable Shenher's document be disclosed to Ms. Sandra Gagnon.

G-7. Ruling on Admissibility of the Murray Report (May 24, 2012)

PART 1: INTRODUCTION

1. Counsel for the families of 25 missing and murdered women seeks to admit as an expert report a document prepared by Mr. Dennis Murray, Q.C. (the "Murray Report). The Murray Report relates to term 4(b) of this Commission's Terms of Reference. That term reads as follows:

consistent with the *British Columbia (Attorney General) v. Davies, 2009* BCCA 337, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch on January 27, 1998, to enter a stay of proceedings on charges against Robert William Pickton of attempted murder, assault with a weapon, forcible confinement and aggravated assault;

2. The admission of the Murray Report is objected to, generally, on the grounds that the contents go beyond the Commission's Terms of Reference and affect the constitutional principle of prosecutorial independence. It is also argued that the Murray Report does not comply with evidentiary rules relating to expert evidence. In reply, it is argued that the Murray Report ought to be admitted in any event, and that the offending parts be deleted or disregarded.

PART 2: BACKGROUND

- 3. Dennis Murray, Q.C., is a well known and highly qualified criminal lawyer who has represented the Crown and the Defence on many complex and difficult cases. His report deals with the stay of proceedings entered by the Crown against Robert William Pickton upon charges of attempted murder, assault with a weapon, forcible confinement and aggravated assault [the "Stay Decision"].
- 4. Mr. Murray describes his mandate as follows:

... to examine various materials associated with the Inquiry proceedings, with a view to commenting upon the circumstances giving rise to the March 1997 charges against Mr. Pickton (Pickton), through to the Stay of Proceedings entered on those charges in late January 1998.

(Murray Report, para. 1)

5. He further states:

I have also examined materials associated with developments in the investigation into the missing women, from January 1998 through to January 1999, with a view to providing relevant comment as to the issue of the potential justification to, during that one year period, recommence those proceedings (CCC S.279(2)) which were Stayed as noted above.

(Murray Report, para. 2)

6. In his report, Mr. Murray provides his summary of the facts relating to the Stay Decision based on a review of hearing transcripts and an interview of Ms. Anderson conducted by Don Celli dated February 9, 2012, that is not in evidence. He then discusses the elements considered in the charge approval process, generally, and offers an opinion on how these principles may have been applied to this case. Mr. Murray discusses the supports available to vulnerable witnesses with drug addictions and comments on the steps taken by the Crown prosecutor in this respect. Mr. Murray offers an opinion on the stay and whether the rationale was reasonable. Mr. Murray considers whether the recommencement of the stay should have been considered in the course of the missing women investigations and whether he would have recommenced the proceeding with the new information after the stay was entered. Mr. Murray concludes by providing some general comments on the importance of protecting vulnerable witnesses in the criminal process.

PART 3: THE LAW

- 7. The law is not in dispute. A commission's terms of reference determine the mandate of the commission; they serve to empower the commissioner while at the same time restricts the scope of the commissioner's inquiry. Evidence that is irrelevant, unnecessary and outside the jurisdiction of a commission ought not to be admitted. As well, when the principle of prosecutorial independence is in issue the Terms of Reference must be construed narrowly (*Davies*, para. 59, referencing the approach in *Hoem v. Law Society of B.C.*, 63 BCLR 36, and *Krieger v. Law Society of Alberta*, 2002 SCC 65). In these circumstances, a Commissioner "must exercise caution" and "must be ever sensitive to the fine line he walks at this point in the inquiry" (*Davies*, paras. 58 and 90).
- 8. It is trite law that an expert is not allowed to review evidence and make his or her own inferences and findings of fact. Only the Commissioner or judges can make findings of fact and weigh the evidence (*Quinette Coal Ltd v. Bow Valley Resource Services Ltd., 29* BCLR (2d) 127, para. 4; *Neudorf v. Nettwerk Productions Ltd.,* 1998 CanLII 6643 (BCSC), paras. 5-7). Further, an expert must offer an expert opinion that assists the Commissioner. Where a report cannot provide assistance to the Commissioner it ought not to be admitted into evidence.
- 9. It is clear that my mandate on this issue is narrow. I cannot substitute my view for that of the Crown counsel who entered the stay of proceedings. The Court of Appeal approved the following comments of Melnick J. in *Davies*.

[68] ... [I]t may be, at the discretion of the Commissioner, that he deems it unnecessary to have every single individual involved provide testimony — before him in order to be in a position to provide a full and complete report on the response of the CJB. But that is for him to decide.

[69] I also consider it beyond the scope of the Inquiry to require any individual who made a decision not to charge anyone with respect to the death of Mr. Paul to second guess his or her decision or to justify it. The Commissioner is entitled to look at the facts that were before the individuals who made those decisions, get the facts related to the decisions, but not challenge or debate with those individuals the propriety of their decisions. In that way, the Commissioner may open the doors he wishes to open but, at the same time, minimize any transgression into the lawful independence of the CJB.

PART 4: APPLICATION TO THE FACTS

- 10. I accept the argument advanced by counsel for Judge Romano that this issue needs to be resolved at the evidentiary stage as opposed to the report stage for reasons of fairness and, more specifically, the right to reply.
- 11. The following parts of the report are of particular concern:
 - a. "It is necessary, if my work is to be of any value, to point out what I perceive to be shortcomings when viewed in hindsight" (para. 5).
 - b. "[A]s to the public interest element, the reasons to charge were compelling" (para. 50).
 - c. "What follows is a list of what I assume would have been some of [the] deeply disturbing and aggravating factors at play in the approving prosecutor's mind while they were considering the charge approval principles ... " (para. 52).
 - d. "[l]t was not unreasonable for [the prosecutor] to conclude ... " (para. 66).
 - e. "These circumstances ... would reasonably lead an approving prosecutor to conclude ... " (para. 52).
 - f. "They must have, properly in my view, concluded ... the totality of the circumstances must have led (and I agree) the approving prosecutor to conclude ... (I agree) ... " (para. 53).
 - g. "I question why the prosecutor did not ... " (para. 67).
 - h. "[H]ad this been done ... it would have provided ammunition to put before the Court in requesting an adjournment of the trial, showing that all efforts were being made to stabilize the witness" (para. 68).
 - i. "[N]o reasonable effort was made by the prosecutor ... " (para. 69(b)).

- j. "[T]his was a failure to recognize the needs ... or a failure to attend to them ... " (para. 69(c)).
- k. "[The bloody medical material was] not necessary for the proof of the case ... " (para. 70(a); or "[if it was necessary, it was] not central by any means ... " (para. 70(b)).
- I. "I am of the view that the failure to act ... was the catalyst for the dilemma at the last minute" (para. 73).
- m. "Even at the last minute there were options not ... explored ... " (para. 73).
- n. "One should plan to argue [delay] when the day comes rather than concede it in a serious case such as this" (para. 73).
- 12. There is no doubt that Mr. Murray with the greatest of conceivable respect placed himself in the shoes of the Crown. Based on the law that cannot be done.

PART 5: CONCLUSION

- 13. After having reviewed the report as a whole, I must conclude that, while the Murray Report is helpful as a discussion of policy recommendations, it is not admissible and it cannot be saved by simply deleting or setting aside those parts that offend the rule in *Davies*.
- 14. While I will not admit the Murray Report into evidence for the purpose of fact finding, the Murray Report may be helpful to me in my development of recommendations around the treatment of vulnerable and marginalized women. As a result, I will accept the Murray Report as commentary only to the extent it assists me with my study commission mandate.

G-8. Ruling on Participation – Richard Romano

1. <u>Background</u>

In a letter dated May 18, 2012, Mr. Mark D. Andrews, QC, requested standing on behalf of his client Mr. Richard Romano so that he would be able to participate in any further proceedings relating to Term of Reference 4(b), including making final submissions.

2. <u>The Criteria for Participation in Evidentiary Hearings</u>

As set out in my previous rulings on participation, the test for participation is provided in s. 11(4) of the *Public Inquiry Act*. The three factors that are to be considered are:

- a. Whether, and to what extent, the person's interests may be affected by the findings of the commission,
- b. Whether the person's participation would further in the inquiry,
- c. Whether the person's participation would contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

Mr. Romano has only requested standing in relation to Term of Reference 4(b).

3. Decision

Term of Reference 4(b) relates to the Criminal Justice Branch's decision in January 1998 to stay charges against Mr. Pickton in relation an incident involving a sex trade worker from Vancouver's Downtown Eastside. Specifically, it provides that:

(b) consistent with British Columbia (Attorney General) v. Davies, 2009 337, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch on January 27, 1998 to enter a stay of proceedings on charges against Robert William Pickton of attempted murder, assault with a weapon, forcible confinement and aggravated assault;

At the material time of the 1997 prosecution and 1998 stay of proceedings, Mr. Romano was the Administrative Crown Counsel in the Port Coquitlam Crown Counsel office.

While I needed to hear from Mr. Romano as a witness, I have determined it unnecessary to grant him participant status.

On April 19, 2012 Mr. Romano was called as a witness at the hearings and gave evidence regarding his involvement in the charge approval, bail and administrative decisions which took place in April 1997. Mr.

Romano also gave evidence in relation to his discussions with Ms. Connor in early 1998 in advance of her decision to stay the charges against Pickton.

Prior to Mr. Romano's appearance at the hearings Commission staff provided his counsel with access to relevant documents. In addition, I granted Mr. Romano's counsel the opportunity to attend the hearings when related witnesses, Ms. Connor, Ms. Smith and Mr. MacDonald gave their evidence.

In addition, I also permitted his counsel to make submissions on the admissibility of the Murray Report. I determined that the Murray Report was inadmissible (see Ruling on the Admissibility of the Murray Report, dated May 24, 2012).

Finally, Mr. Romano's counsel requested the right to make final submissions on behalf of their client. I granted this request and final submissions were received on behalf of Mr. Romano on May 31, 2012.

H. Status Reports

H-1. Status Report (March 3, 2011)

Introduction – Missing Women

For many years British Columbia has experienced the horrific and tragic consequences of missing and murdered women. The total number of missing and murdered women is uncertain and estimates vary widely.

The Joint Missing Women Task Force has stated that between 1978 and 2001 approximately 65 women had gone missing from Vancouver. According to the 2005 Take Back the Highway awareness demonstration, 32 women and girls were missing or murdered along Highway 16, an 800-kilometre section of highway between Prince George and Prince Rupert (also called the Highway of Tears). Aboriginal women formed a disproportionately high percentage of these totals.

Robert Pickton was charged with killing 26 of the women missing from Vancouver. The DNA of an additional six women was found on his farm. The Crown proceeded with six charges and on December 9, 2007 he was found guilty and sentenced to six terms of life imprisonment.

While the issue of missing and murdered women raises many pressing and important social, political and economic issues, one important aspect is the conduct of police forces in investigating cases of missing women.

Commission Established

On September 27, 2010, the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry was established by an Order in Council pursuant to the *Public Inquiry Act*, S.B.C. 2007, c. 9. I was appointed sole Commissioner. The Commission was designated a hearing commission.

Its Terms of Reference are as follows:

- 4(a) to conduct hearings, in or near the City of Vancouver, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the conduct of the missing women investigations;
- (b) consistent with the British Columbia (Attorney General) v. Davies, 2009 BCCA 337, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch on January 27, 1998, to enter a stay of proceedings on charges against Robert William Pickton of attempted murder, assault with a weapon, forcible confinement and aggravated assault;
- (c) to recommend changes considered necessary respecting the initiation and conduct of investigations in British Columbia of missing women and suspected multiple homicides;

(d) to recommend changes considered necessary respecting homicide investigations in British Columbia by more than one investigating organization, including the co-ordination of those investigations.

The missing women investigations are defined as "the investigations conducted between January 23, 1997 and February 5, 2002, by police forces in British Columbia respecting women reported missing from the Downtown Eastside of the city of Vancouver."

Purpose of the Status Report

While the Commission is not required to provide status reports under the *Public Inquiry Act* or the Terms of Reference, we wish to keep the public and applicants apprised of the Commission's progress, given the substantial interest expressed in our work.

The purpose of this Status Report is to provide general information about the Commission's activities. It will cover the following topics:

- 1. Commission counsel
- 2. Website
- 3. Hearing venue
- 4. Practice and Procedure Directive
- 5. Document disclosure
- 6. Participant access to documents
- 7. Pre-hearing conferences
- 8. Standing applications
- 9. Recommendation to designate the Commission a joint study and hearing commission
- 10. Future activities
- 11. Staying informed

Commission Counsel

Immediately after I was appointed Commissioner, I retained Art Vertlieb, QC to act as senior Commission Counsel. Mr. Vertlieb was senior Commission Counsel of the Braidwood Commissions, the public inquiries established by the Provincial Government to investigate the use of conducted energy weapons in the province, as well as the death of Robert Dziekanski at

Vancouver International Airport.

Website

On November 1, 2010, the Commission launched its website: www. missingwomeninquiry.ca. The website provides information about the Commission's activities. The directives on the procedure the Commission has adopted, the Commission's Terms of Reference, the legislation applicable to the Commission and the biographies of Commission staff are made available to the public through the website. The website will also include transcripts and exhibits from the evidentiary hearings, media releases and any rulings I make. The website will be an important communication tool for our work.

Hearing Venue

While the majority of the Commission's hearings will take place in the hearing room at the Federal Court in Vancouver at 701 West Georgia Street, we may also hold the community portion of the hearings at a community venue. The dates are yet to be confirmed.

Practice and Procedure Directive

On October 26, 2010, the Commission adopted a Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings, authorized pursuant to s. 9(1) of the *Public Inquiry Act*. The Directive establishes the rules that will govern the Commission's hearing process.

The matters addressed in the Directive include:

- access by the public and media;
- the procedure for applications for standing and funding recommendations;
- the rights of participants;
- the powers of the Commission regarding participants;
- the procedures regarding orders, applications and witnesses; and
- the rules for document disclosure, namely the use and confidentiality of documents disclosed to the Commission.

Document Disclosure

Shortly after the Commission was established, Commission staff began to work collaboratively with the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP), the Vancouver Police Department (VPD) and the Criminal Justice Branch (CJB) on the disclosure of relevant documents. Commission staff requested early disclosure from these participants to ensure that documents would be provided to the Commission and other participants well in advance of the hearings.

The RCMP, VPD and CJB have each provided Commission staff with a list of document categories and a schedule for delivery of those documents. They are voluminous. We have been informed that we can expect to receive millions of pages of documents. We are hopeful that all participants will make their best efforts to ensure the Commission receives prompt document disclosure throughout its mandate as our goal is to conduct this inquiry in a timely way.

Participant Access to Documents

For those granted access to documents in advance of the evidentiary hearings access will be provided electronically. Documents will be held in an electronic database which will be accessed remotely through the Commission's website. Of course, documents will be confidential and access will be password protected.

Pre-Hearing Conferences

The subject matter of this Commission involves a tragedy that has been felt deeply, not only by members of the Vancouver Downtown Eastside community, but across the Province and indeed the Country. Many of the people directly affected by the subject matter of the Commission belong to vulnerable and marginalized groups. These people often do not have the resources to influence policy change. Many members of the community strongly advocated for a public inquiry. Once the Commission was established they demonstrated great interest in the Commission's work.

Given these unique circumstances, we decided to hold two pre-hearing conferences: one in Vancouver on January 19, 2011 and one in Prince George on January 21, 2011. The purpose of these pre-hearing conferences was to introduce the Commission to the community, and in so doing, describe the role of the Commission and its mandate. Commission staff also requested the community's feedback on the meaning the Commission should give the Terms of Reference and the process the Commission should follow. The pre-hearing conferences were not a replacement for the evidentiary hearings. They were held solely to discuss the general mandate of the Commission and to give a voice to those people who may not be able to qualify for the more formal hearings.

Matters Discussed at the Pre-Hearing Conferences

The Vancouver and Prince George pre-hearing conferences were well attended. Both pre-hearing conferences opened with welcome ceremonies conducted by aboriginal leaders Chief Ian Campbell of the Squamish Nation and Chief Dominic Frederick of the Lheidli T'enneh First Nation, respectively.

After the opening ceremonies, I introduced the Commission to the community by describing its role, Terms of Reference and planned

procedure. I then asked interested parties to share any comments they had about the meaning of the Terms of Reference, which could assist Commission staff in further developing the issues.

The feedback we received from those who attended the pre-hearing conference was greatly appreciated and beneficial. As explained below, it has informed the direction we wish to take in fulfilling the Commission's mandate.

Standing Applications

On November 2, 2010, we invited applications for standing from any individual, group, government agency, institution or other entity to participate formally in the Commission's hearings by notice through a media release and the Commission's website. Under the *Public Inquiry Act*, the test for standing requires that the applicant show:

- a. whether, and to what extent, the person's interests may be affected by the findings of the commission,
- b. whether the person's participation would further the conduct of the inquiry, or
- c. whether the person's participation would contribute to the fairness of the inquiry.

We received applications from the following applicants:

- 1. Vancouver Police Department and Vancouver Police Board
- Government of Canada
- 3. Criminal Justice Branch
- 4. Families of Georgina Papin, Mona Wilson, Marnie Frey, Dianne Rock, Cara Ellis, Cynthia Dawn Feliks, Helen Mae Hallmark and Dawn Crey, as represented by A. Cameron Ward
- BC Civil Liberties Association
- 6. Ending Violence Association of BC
- 7. West Coast LEAF
- 8. Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users, Walk4Justice and Frank Paul Society
- 9. Amnesty International

- 10. Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations, including:
 - Prostitution Alternatives Counselling and Education Society
 - WISH Drop-In Centre Society
 - o Downtown Eastside Sex Workers United Against Violence Society
- 11. Assembly of First Nations
- 12. Union of BC Indian Chiefs
- 13. Women's Equality & Security Coalition, including:
 - o The National Congress of Black Women Foundation
 - o Aboriginal Women's Action Network
 - Coalition of Childcare Advocates
 - Justice for Girls
 - Canadian Association of Sexual Assault Centers
 - EVE (formerly Exploited Voices now Educating)
 - Vancouver Rape Relief Society
 - University Women's Club of Vancouver
 - The Poverty & Human Rights Coalition
 - The Asian Women Coalition Ending Prostitution
 - Provincial Council of Women
- 14. Native Courtworker and Counselling Association of BC
- 15. The Committee of the February 14 Women's Memorial March
- 16. Downtown Eastside Women's Centre
- 17. First Nations Summit
- 18. PIVOT Legal Society
- 19. Native Women's Association of Canada
- 20. Dr. Kim Rossmo

- 21. CRAB Water for Life Society
- 22. Carrier Sekani Tribal Council

I granted standing to the following applicants, with reasons to follow:

- 1. Vancouver Police Department and Vancouver Police Board
- 2. Government of Canada
- 3. Criminal Justice Branch
- 4. The families as represented by A. Cameron Ward

These applicants were granted standing in advance of the other applicants due to their clear legal interest in the subject matter of the Commission.

After receiving the applications, we held a hearing for standing. Notice of the hearing was given on the Commission's website and in a media release on December 7, 2010. The hearing took place on January 31, 2011.

The purpose of the hearing was two-fold. First, the remaining 18 applicants were given an opportunity to make submissions to augment their written applications at an oral hearing by highlighting their specific areas of interest in the Commission's mandate and their anticipated level of involvement at the hearings.

Second, as result of the overlapping and common interests of many applicants, applicants were asked to make submissions on forming coalitions. While we appreciate that many applicants originally applied in coalitions, we are still concerned the total number of potential participants is unwieldy for an evidentiary hearing. We would like to be as inclusive as possible in considering the many applications for standing; however, the hearing process must be efficient.

To date, the following applicants applied in or have entered formal coalitions:

- 1. Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations
- Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users, Walk4Justice and Frank Paul Society
- 3. Women's Equality and Security Coalition
- 4. Ending Violence Association of BC and West Coast LEAF BC Civil Liberties Association, Amnesty International and PIVOT Legal Society
- 5. The Committee of the February 14 Women's Memorial March and the Downtown Eastside Women's Centre

6. Carrier Sekani Tribal Council and the Union of BC Indian Chiefs

At the hearing for standing, I told applicants that I intended to have my ruling on standing issued by the end of February, 2011. However, based on the community feedback that we have received, and for the reasons described below, I have decided to defer my ruling on standing until early Spring.

Recommendation to Designate the Commission a Joint Study and Hearing Commission

Community Feedback

Over the past few months, concerns about the hearing process used by the Commission to fulfill its mandate have been raised by various members of the community. These concerns have been communicated to the Commission by members of the public, in media reports, in community organized forums and at the pre-hearing conferences organized by the Commission.

In particular, the community has expressed concerns about their ability to participate in the Commission's process. The following are examples of the types of participation concerns that have arisen:

- the Commission's process should be accessible and communitydriven as opposed to adversarial;
- vulnerable and marginalized individuals should not be discouraged or made to feel excluded by an overly formalized process;
- the emotional needs of the victims' families should be respected and supported;
- aboriginal groups should be involved in a manner that is culturally sensitive; and
- the northern communities affected by the ongoing missing and murdered women investigations from the Highway of Tears should be given an opportunity to participate meaningfully without compromising those ongoing investigations.

Community members have also stated that a flexible and inclusive process will improve the Commission's ultimate recommendations by ensuring they are:

- appropriately contextualized;
- culturally sensitive; and
- suitable for northern communities affected by the missing and murdered women along the Highway of Tears.

<u>Issues Arising from Standing Applications</u>

As stated, the large number of potential participants would inevitably lead to a cumbersome evidentiary hearing. Further, some of the applicants only

wish to participate in certain aspects of the Commission's work. For example, some applicants are concerned only with the policy aspects under Terms 4(c) and (d). Other applicants have direct interests in the factual inquiries under Terms 4(a) or (b).

Applicants also have different expectations about how they will participate. Some applicants seek full participation, including the right to cross-examine all witnesses. Other applicants seek limited rights to make submissions or cross-examine only a few witnesses.

Ability to Address the Community Feedback and the Issues Arising from Standing Applications

In the following section, I describe my reasons for recommending a joint study and hearing commission. However, this Status Report is not a ruling on my interpretation of the *Public Inquiry Act* or the Terms of Reference.

Based on the community feedback and submissions of the participants, in our view, the Terms of Reference give the Commission two distinct but related mandates: "to inquire into and make findings of fact" and "to recommend changes". These distinct mandates, one factual and one policy, must currently be achieved through a hearing commission. The *Public Inquiry Act* distinguishes between hearing and study commissions.

Subsections 21(1) and (2) of the *Public Inquiry Act* set out the powers of a hearing commission:

- (1) Subject to this Act and the commission's terms of reference, a hearing commission may engage in any activity necessary to effectively and efficiently fulfill the duties of the commission, including doing any of the following:
- (a) issuing directives respecting any of the matters set out in subsection (2);
- (b) holding written, oral and electronic hearings;
- (c) receiving submissions and evidence under oath or affirmation;
- (d) making a finding of misconduct against a person, or making a report that alleges misconduct by a person.
- (2) Without limiting the powers of a commission set out in Division 1, a hearing commission may make directives respecting any of the following:
- (a) the holding of pre-hearing conferences, including confidential pre-hearing conferences, and the requiring of one or more participants to attend a pre-hearing conference;

- (b) procedures for preliminary or interim matters;
- (c) the receipt and disclosure of information, including but not limited to pre-hearing receipt and disclosure and pre-hearing examination of a participant or witness on oath, on affirmation or by affidavit;
- (d) the exchange of records by participants;
- (e) the filing of admissions and written submissions by participants;
- (f) the service and filing of notices, records and orders, including substituted service and the requiring of participants to provide an address for service;
- (g) without limiting any other power of the commission, the effect of a participant's non-compliance with the commission's directives.

By virtue of this designation, the Commission may only undertake the activities of a hearing commission, set out above in s. 21(1) and (2) of the Public Inquiry Act, in addition to the general powers of a commission outlined in Part 3, Division 1. Furthermore, under s. 21(3), a hearing commission is prohibited from exercising the powers of a study commission set out in s. 20(1) unless the hearing commission is also designated as a study commission. Subsections 20(1) and (2) state:

- (1) Subject to this Act and the commission's terms of reference, a study commission may engage in any activity necessary to effectively and efficiently fulfill the duties of the commission, including doing any of the following:
- (a) conducting research, including interviews and surveys;
- (b) consulting with participants, privately or in a manner that is open to the public, either in person or through broadcast proceedings;
- (c) consulting with the public generally and, for that purpose, issuing directives respecting any of the matters set out in subsection (2).
- (2) Without limiting the powers of a commission set out in Division 1, a study commission may make directives respecting any of the following:
- (a) the notification of participants and the public regarding a consultation under this section;
- (b) the holding of public meetings, including the places and times

141

at which public meetings will be held and the frequency of public meetings;

- (c) the conduct of, and the maintenance of order at, public meetings;
- (d) the receipt of oral and written submissions.

As stated by the British Columbia Supreme Court, the purpose of the distinction between a study commission and a hearing commission is to afford, where necessary, higher levels of procedural fairness to subject matters that require it: Taser International, Inc. v. British Columbia, 2010 BCSC 1120 at paras. 39 – 40.

Recommendation

As a result of the concerns expressed by the community, set out above, and the Commission's important public function, I am recommending that the Lieutenant Governor in Council grant the Commission the powers of a joint study and hearing commission.

The additional powers of a study commission would allow us to address the concerns of the community by giving the Commission increased flexibility over its process, including the ability to engage directly with the public outside of the formal hearing process.

A joint study and hearing commission would also permit the Commission to fashion different forms of participation to participants' interests, abilities and expertise. Applicants who may not strictly meet the test for standing in a hearing commission could still be involved in the study portion of our work. Ultimately, the Commission's process would be more inclusive and participants could speak directly to me without the formalities of the adversarial process.

A joint study and hearing commission would enable us to craft a more focused but still thorough hearing process while ensuring that both processes are procedurally fair. In the result, I believe the Commission may be able to more efficiently fulfill its various mandates.

Given my recommendation, I have decided to defer my decision on standing until I receive direction from the Government in response to this request.

Future Activities

Commission staff will continue to prepare for the evidentiary hearings by:

- working with participants with respect to document disclosure;
- reviewing disclosed documents;
- importing disclosed documents into the Commission's database, to ensure participants can access documents once they are granted

- participant status; and
- contacting and conducting interviews of potential witnesses, including family members of the missing and murdered women.

Staying Informed

The public can stay informed about the work of the Commission by:

- visiting the Commission's website which will provide access to publications, reports and rulings of the Commission; and
- attending the evidentiary hearings or reading the transcripts of those proceedings.

H-2. Status Report (June 20, 2011)

The Creation of the Commission

On September 27, 2010, in recognition of the tragedy of missing and murdered women in BC, the Lieutenant Governor in Council issued an Order in Council establishing the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry (the "Commission"). The next day, the Attorney General of British Columbia announced the appointment of the Hon. Wally Oppal, Q.C. as the Commissioner. The Terms of Reference (the "TOR") directed that the Commission would be a hearing commission and that it would address four distinct issues:

- 4 (a) to conduct hearings, in or near the City of Vancouver, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the conduct of the missing women investigations;
 - (b) consistent with the British Columbia (Attorney General) v. Davies, 2009 BCCA 337, to inquire into and make findings of fact respecting the decision of the Criminal Justice Branch on January 27, 1998, to enter a stay of proceedings on charges against Robert William Pickton of attempted murder, assault with a weapon, forcible confinement and aggravated assault;
 - to recommend changes considered necessary respecting the initiation and conduct of investigations in British Columbia of missing women and suspected multiple homicides;
 - (d) to recommend changes considered necessary respecting homicide investigations in British Columbia by more than one investigating organization, including the co-ordination of those investigations.

The TOR stated that "missing women investigations" means the investigations conducted between January 23, 1997 and February 5, 2002, by police forces in British Columbia respecting women reported missing from the Downtown Eastside of the city of Vancouver (the "DTES").

The Commission - Phase 1

The Staff

Mr. Art Vertlieb, Q.C. was appointed as Senior Commission Counsel. The Commissioner and Senior Commission Counsel were both veterans of the commission process in related areas. Commissioner Oppal was the Commissioner of the 1994 Commission of Inquiry into Policing in British Columbia, which made sweeping recommendations for improvements in policing throughout BC.

Mr. Vertlieb was Senior Commission Counsel for the Braidwood Commission on Conducted Energy Use and the Braidwood Commission on the Death of Robert Dziekanski that looked into the use of tasers and the death of Mr. Dziekanski at the Vancouver International Airport on October 14, 2007.

During October 2010 the Commission's core staff of six was recruited. The Commission staff comprises two lawyers, two support staff, one data manager and one administrator. Additional advisors and ad hoc help were later engaged to be used on an "as needed" basis. For the most part, their involvement has remained helpful, but peripheral.

This was the initial creation phase of the Commission. It consisted of planning and organizational functions required in creating a commission that would be able to fulfill its TOR.

Terms of Reference

In many ways, the TOR were significantly different from those of recent inquiries of a similar nature and these differences needed to be recognized and accommodated.

For example, the Braidwood Commission, with which Mr. Vertlieb had experience, focused on a review of an incident that lasted a few minutes and involved one victim. The Inquiry into the Death of Frank Paul involved one incident with one victim. By contrast, the Missing Women Commission was directed to examine a five year period and more than 50 victims. This mandate is made complex by the ongoing issue of missing and murdered women.

Commission Operations and Procedures

The Practices and Procedures Directive for the Evidentiary Hearings was established at the outset. A work plan was developed including simple logistical needs such as equipment and office space. Commission timelines were identified and project management implemented. A website was developed and launched.

In its planning and operation, the Commission needed to meet its compliance with legislated record-keeping and the archiving requirements of a commission.

Volunteer Assistance

During this time, the Commission gratefully accepted the fulltime services of a qualified senior police officer, Deputy Chief Jennifer Evans, from the Peel Regional Police Service ("Peel"). Her services are provided at no cost to the Commission. Peel believes that the Commission is addressing a serious problem that will have implications for policing across Canada and it wanted to be part of the process.

DC Evans is appropriate for this assignment because of her experience: homicide investigator, Inspector in Charge of Peel Homicide Unit and secondment to the Bernardo Inquiry in Ontario (which has similarities to parts of the Commission's TOR). DC Evans is a senior police officer with executive knowledge about the management and allocation of scarce police resources.

After joining the Commission, DC Evans quickly learned that the magnitude of the TOR would require additional resources so Peel voluteered two additional experienced Homicide Detective Sergeants to assist DC Evans. They were also provided at no charge to the Commission other than their travel expenses. In addition, the three seconded officers were provided separate working spaces in Peel independent of the regular Peel Police Service.

The offer of volunteer services has extended beyond Peel. The Commission has received offers of *pro bono* services from a number of experts. To date, the Commission has accepted the services of four experts, university professors and/or doctors, who will appear on a *pro bono* basis as witnesses in the evidentiary hearing.

Disclosure

Unlike the previously mentioned Commissions that were limited in scope and time and therefore in documentary disclosure, the Commission faces a potentially massive number of documents to be disclosed. The length of time and the number of organizations involved all added to the volume of documentation. The estimates of the number of documents exceeded one million pages and the Commission needed the capability to receive, review and disclose the documents efficiently and cost effectively.

Knowing that the amount of disclosure would be significant, the Commission granted the Royal Canadian Mounted Police ("RCMP"), the Vancouver Police Department ("VPD") and the Criminal Justice Branch ("CJB"), who would be the primary providers of disclosure, early grants of standing to expedite the disclosure process.

Significant information technology and document management capabilities had to be identified, sourced and implemented.

Internal procedures were needed for document review by Commission staff. As law students and part-time contractors were being utilized for this purpose, a training program needed to be developed, implemented and completed before document analysis could begin. Systems are in place to monitor our progress in receiving and analyzing documents.

Pre-Hearing Conferences

The Commission held a pre-hearing conference in Vancouver on January

19, 2011 and in Prince George on January 21, 2011. These pre-hearing conferences gave me an opportunity to explain the purpose of the Commission and provided an opportunity for members of the community to articulate issues that the Commission should be considering, within its terms of reference. The attendance at both of these forums exceeded expectations and significant input was received.

Participants

On January 31, 2011 a hearing was held in Vancouver to hear applications by participants for standing and funding. Upon receiving the submissions it became clear that the evidentiary hearing process was not a practical option to address subsections (c) and (d) of the TOR. Alternatives were considered and in a March 3, 2011 Status Report, I requested that the Government grant the Commission powers of a Study Commission which was done on March 28, 2011.

On May 2, 2011, I released my Ruling on Participation and Funding Recommendations. In the Ruling addressing participation in the Commission's hearing process, I granted participation status to 18 applicants, including individuals, organizations and coalitions. Applicants were granted either Full or Limited Participation status.

Participation was divided into Full and Limited Participation to recognize the differences between the applicants and to promote their efficient participation in the evidentiary hearings. I believe the creation of two levels of participation best achieves the Commission's objective to fully explore all issues from multiple perspectives in a timely manner.

The 10 Full Participants share common interests: they are primarily focused on the factual issues under Terms of Reference 4(a) and (b). Several also share other characteristics as grass roots advocacy and service organizations that have direct and daily contact with the community, including with many of the women who were reported missing.

The eight Limited Participants are those organizations primarily focused on the policy issues of the Commission's mandate. They also share common characteristics: several are experienced political or policy organizations that have demonstrated a long standing commitment to many of the policy issues the Commission will confront. I expected that these groups will be extremely valuable in assisting the Commission make recommendations for missing women and homicide investigation and the coordination of investigations by multiple police forces.

Neither Full Participations nor Limited Participants were excluded from either of the two distinct processes of the Commission - the hearing and study commission portions - but the nature of their participation will be different.

Full Participants were granted the right to participate in all phases of the evidentiary hearings and exercise all rights to participate at those hearings including cross-examining witnesses and making submissions. They were also granted access to the documents disclosed to the Commission.

Limited Participants were granted the same right of access to documents as Full Participants. While they were not granted an automatic right to cross-examine witnesses, hey were granted leave to apply on an individual witness basis. They were also granted the right to make final submissions at the conclusion of the evidentiary hearings.

In addition to granting participation status, the Ruling also addressed the applications for funding recommendation. I was satisfied the 13 applicants who sought funding recommendations would not be able to participate in the hearing portion of the Commission without funding. Therefore, I recommended to the Attorney General that these participants receive financial assistance to pay for legal counsel to facilitate participation appropriate to the extent of their interest: that grants of funding be tailored to the level of participation that each applicant was granted.

Government Funding Decision

In a media release on May 19, 2011, the Attorney General announced only one group, the families of missing and murdered women as represented by A. Cameron Ward (the "Families"), would receive funding. The other 12 groups that I recommended receive funding did not receive financial assistance to participate in the hearing portion of the Commission.

Understandably, the participants who were denied funding have raised concerns regarding their ability to participate in the Commission without financial assistance. In statements to the media and letters to the government they have challenged the Attorney General's decision.

To better understand the participants' concerns, I asked Senior Commission Counsel, Art Vertlieb, Q.C., on May 24, 2011 to meet with counsel for the participants that were denied funding to determine what could be done to meet the participants' needs. After Senior Commission Counsel met with participants, he instructed me to hold a pre-hearing conference to provide participants with an opportunity to make submissions to me about how the Attorney General's funding decision affects their interests.

On June 7, 2011, I made an announcement regarding the pre-hearing conference. In it, I requested that participants address:

- Their need to be represented by legal counsel at the hearing portion of the Inquiry;
- How their interests may be impacted if funding for legal counsel is not provided; and
- A description of the communication they had with the Attorney General's office with respect to: any input that was sought from

them to help the Attorney General's office make a decision about funding and whether any basis was provided to them for the denial of funding.

The pre-hearing conference will be held on June 27th, 2011.

I am concerned about the effect of the Attorney General's funding decision on the Commission. The Commission is dedicated to ensuring that it is thorough and fair and that all perspectives, identified as unique, necessary and valuable in the Ruling on Participation and Funding Recommendations, are adequately represented. The Commission believes this is necessary to ensure it fulfills its mandate under the Terms of Reference. Therefore, the Commission is considering options to address the concerns that arise due to the Attorney General's decision.

Despite the set-back that the refusal to fund participants has had on the Commission, Commission staff are continuing to carry out the work of the Commission on a number of fronts.

The Commission – Phase 2

On May 31, 2011, Phase 1 of the Commission's work ended and Phase 2 has now begun. This phase involves preparation for the hearing and study processes. The hearings are scheduled to begin on October 11, 2011 in Vancouver. The Commission had hoped to start the hearings in June 2011 in the Federal Courtroom in Vancouver. However, the courtroom became unavailable due to use by the Cohen Commission of Inquiry. Other facilities are currently being considered but as yet no other suitable court facilities have been found.

Hearing Commission Preparation

It has been decided that the hearing process will be divided into four topical parts:

- 1. Downtown Eastside community, victims' families and government issues;
- 2. The decision to stay charges against Robert Pickton in 1998. An expert witness has been engaged to assist the Commission to review the Crown decision;
- 3. The actions of the VPD with respect to the missing women investigations;
- 4. The actions of the RCMP with respect to the missing women investigations.

As noted in the Commission's first Status Report dated March 3, 2011, Commission staff worked with the RCMP, VPD, and CJB on document disclosure soon after the Commission was established. Each provided Commission staff with a list of document categories and a schedule for document delivery.

The Commission has received document disclosure from the following participants:

- RCMP, represented by the Government of Canada
- VPD
- CJB
- the Families
- CRAB Water for Life
- First Nations Summit

The Commission has also received document disclosure from the following third parties:

- Justice Institute of BC
- Canadian Police College

As of May 31, 2011, Commission staff and DC Evans and her staff have begun interviewing potential witnesses for the four segments of the hearing.

	Witnesses
Persons interviewed	44
Potential Witnesses identified:	
Community/Family/Govt. Hearing session	7
VPD	1
RCMP	
Crown	Expert report is on schedule for August

As of May 31, 2011 the Commission has begun receiving and reviewing documents electronically.

	Disclosure
Pages of Disclosure Received	121,948
Pages Reviewed	80,126
Work in Progress	41,822
Participants online	7

In addition to the electronic disclosure noted above, the Commission will conduct an on-site review of 87 boxes of hard copy disclosure from participants.

The Commission requests that all participants provide documents relevant to the Commission's Terms of Reference as soon as they are able to do so in order to ensure that all participants have access to document disclosure in advance of the evidentiary hearings.

As detailed in the Ruling on Participation and Funding Recommendations, both Full and Limited Participants are entitled to access documents disclosed to the Commission. On May 5, 2011, the Commission sent out an information package to participants about document access.

To access the documents, counsel for participants must sign an Undertaking of Counsel. For that reason, documents must be accessed through counsel. As outlined in the Undertaking of Counsel, certain persons are also permitted to view the documents once they have signed a Confidentiality Agreement. In order to provide copies of documents to persons enumerated in the Undertaking of Counsel, participants' counsel must receive approval from the Commission in the approved form.

Once a participant provides the Commission with a signed Undertaking of Counsel, the Commission will set up the participant's access to the disclosure database. Each participant will be able to access the disclosure database through a user ID and password provided by the Commission; each participant will only be able to access the database from one IP address as provided to the Commission.

Documents are accessible to participants through Concordance FYI Reviewer ("Concordance"). Concordance allows participants to search and tag documents. Documents will be imported and numbered in Concordance in the order they are disclosed to the Commission.

To date, the following participants have provided the Commission with Undertakings of Counsel and have been granted access to the disclosure database:

- Vancouver Police Department
- RCMP, represented by the Government of Canada
- the Families
- BC Civil Liberties Association
- Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users, Walk4Justice and Frank Paul Society
- Coalition of Sex Worker-Serving Organizations
- The Committee of the February 14th Women's Memorial March
- First Nations Summit
- PIVOT Legal Society
- Carrier Sekani Tribal Council
- Vancouver Police Union

Lay Witness Identification

For the past several months, Commission staff have worked to identify individuals with relevant information regarding the Commission's Terms of Reference. Specifically, the Commission has sought to discover members of the community who may have information about the missing women's investigations or about the missing and murdered women themselves. Through this process, Commission staff hopes to identify witnesses for the Commission's evidentiary hearings.

In an email sent on May 23, 2011, Commission staff requested that participants provide a list of potential witnesses to the Commission. Unfortunately, because many of the participants lack funding, they have been unable to do the work necessary to identify potential witnesses for the Commission.

As a result, Commission staff must identify and find potential witnesses without the participants' valuable advice and expertise. This is particularly challenging with regard to community witnesses. The Commission lacks the long standing relationships of trust that some participant organizations have established with community members of the Downtown Eastside of Vancouver ("DTES"). This means that some witnesses may be unwilling to speak to Commission staff and testify during the Commission's hearings.

Nevertheless, the Commission is trying to identify potential witnesses in other ways including information provided by participants, document disclosure, media articles on the investigation and interested individuals contacting the Commission directly. Some potential witnesses are identified through other witness interviews when names of people with relevant information are provided.

In spite of the challenges outlined above, Commission staff have conducted 23 interviews with potential community witnesses. The areas addressed in the interviews include:

- The lives of the missing and murdered women, including their vulnerability, experiences of violence and relationships with service organizations in the DTES;
- The relationship between the DTES community, particularly sex trade workers, and the police;
- The interaction between missing and murdered women's families or friends and the police, particularly in initiating and investigating missing persons reports or homicides;
- The efforts of community members or families to bring attention to the missing women case; and
- The perception of the missing women case in local government.

Expert Witness Identification

In addition to seeking lay witnesses, Commission staff have also endeavored

to identify expert witnesses who can provide a context to understand the missing women investigations. Expert witnesses, through years of dedicated study and research, will be able to explain the circumstances of sex trade workers in the DTES – the subjects of the missing women investigations and, ultimately, the victims of Robert Pickton – which will enable the Commission to make findings of fact with respect to the missing women investigation and the CJB's decision to stay charges against Robert Pickton, and above all, make recommendations that will benefit future missing women's investigations.

Commission staff have taken the same approach to identify expert witnesses as lay witnesses: through information provided by participants, document disclosure, media articles on the missing women investigations, referrals by witnesses and, as above, through direct contact from interested individuals.

To date, Commission staff have conducted interviews with six potential expert witnesses. The areas addressed in the interviews include:

- A portrait of the lives of sex trade workers in the DTES;
- The relationship between police and sex trade workers in the DTES;
- The experiences of violence against sex trade workers in the DTES;
- A portrait of drug use in the DTES and the impact of drug use on vulnerability to violence;
- Personal history of several of the missing and murdered women;
- Stereotyping of Aboriginal people and the effects of stereotyping on the quality of police protection for Aboriginal people in the DTES;
 and
- The issues faced by the Commission in interviewing vulnerable witnesses.

Police Witnesses

As of May 31, 2011 Commission staff and DC Evans and her staff have begun interviewing potential witnesses for the four segments of the hearing.

Study Commission Preparation

The following study commission activities are underway:

- Relevant Literature Review and Analysis.
- Policy Issues/Discussion Papers. This will be an information gathering process that will request input and pose open-ended questions. The primary issues will be:
 - (a) Police protection of marginalized and vulnerable women;
 - (b) The structure and operation of policing in BC;
 - (c) The coordination and/or regionalization of policing in BC;
 - (d) The initialization and coordination of missing women investigations and suspected homicides;
 - (e) Police partnerships with the media and the community.

- Major Research Papers.
 - o Papers will be prepared for items (a) through (e) above.
 - Analysis of Missing Persons reporting practices from 1997-2002 and current day.
- Focused Research.
- Community Forums/Roundtables.
 - Northern BC
 - West portion of the Highway of Tears (Prince Rupert and Terrace area)
 - East portion of the Highway of Tears (Vanderhoof and Burns Lake area)
 - South of Prince George (Williams Lake area)
 - Downtown Eastside of Vancouver.

Further progress reports will be issued in due course.

PART TWO

OTHER COMMISSION DOCUMENTS

PART 2 – OTHER COMMISSION DOCUMENTS

A. Commission Personnel

Commissioner

The Honourable Wallace T. Oppal, QC

Commission Counsel

Art Vertlieb, QC, Senior Commission Counsel Karey Brooks, Associate Commission Counsel Salima Samnani, Associate Commission Counsel (December 2010 -January 2012) Sarah Sharp, Junior Commission Counsel (starting April 2012)

Policy

Melina Buckley, *Policy Counsel*Elizabeth Welch, *Policy Researcher* (October 2010 - October 2012)
Brenda Belak, *Policy Researcher* (February 2012 - October 2012)
Jennifer Chan, *Junior Policy Counsel* (October 2010 - September 2011)

Research

Judy Thompson, Manager of Records and Research Jessica McKeachie, Research Counsel (October 2010 - July 2012) Sarah Parker, Legal Researcher (April 2011 - October 2012) Ajit Dhillon, Assistant (Summer 2011)

Document Analysts

Katelyn Crabtree (May 2011 - October 2012) Rahul Aggarwal (April 2011 - July 2012) Jessica Taylor (May 2011 - May 2012) Seth Cooper (March 2011 - August 2011) Christopher Hunter (Summer 2011)

Consultant Counsel and Advisors

Patrick Kelly, Aboriginal Advisor and Director
Linda Locke, QC, Ad Hoc Counsel and Aboriginal Advisor
Shelley Sugarman, Ad Hoc Counsel
Mavis Erickson, Ad Hoc Counsel and Advisor (November 2010 - August 2011)

Barry Stuart, *Process Consultant* (December 2011 - May 2012) Glenn Sigurdson, QC, *Process Consultant* (December 2011 - May 2012) Steve Sweeney, *Research Consultant* (Summer 2011) Brenda Belak, DTES Consultation Program (Fall 2011)

Administration

John Boddie, Executive Director of Operations and Planning Christina Burton, Executive Assistant and Finance Administrator (starting September 2011)

Robyn Kendall, Executive Assistant and Finance Administrator (October 2010 - October 2011)

Roxanne Jones, *Administrative Assistant* (starting July 2011) Judy Rendek, *Office Manager* (October 2010 - March 2012) Tanya Joostema, *Receptionist* (November 2010 - June 2011) Jonna Milledge, *Administrative Assistant* (April 2012 - June 2012)

Hearing Registrar

Leonard N. Giles

Transcription Service

United Reporting Service

Media and Communications, Report Editing, Proofreading and Production Management

AHA Creative Strategies Inc.

- Ruth Atherley, Media and Communications Director, Editor of Report
- Paul Holman
- Lexa Pomfret
- Laurie Hanley

Sue Chiu, Webmaster and Report Design and Layout Christopher Freimond, Media and Communications Consultant (September 2010 - March 2012)

B. Participants and Counsel

Participants and Counsel

Participant	Counsel/Representative
Aboriginal Interests	Suzette Narbonne, Elizabeth Hunt and Robyn Gervais
Inspector Don Adam	Janet Winteringham, QC
Deputy Commissioner Gary Bass	Richard Peck, QC
Inspector Fred Biddlecombe	David Neave
Chief Constable Terry Blythe	Edward Greenspan, QC and Vanessa Christie
Marion Bryce	Darrell Roberts, QC and Irwin Nathanson, QC
Sandra Cameron	Karlene Bateman

CRAB – Water for Life Society	Don Larson* and Kelly White*
Criminal Justice Branch	Leonard Doust, QC and Michael Feder
Inspector Dan Dureau	Kevin Woodall
Families of Sereena Abotsway, Andrea Borhaven, Heather Bottomley, Marcella Creison, Dawn Crey, Tiffany Drew, Cara Ellis, Cynthia Feliks, Marnie Frey, Helen Hallmark, Janet Henry, Tanya Holyk, Angela Jardine, Andrea Joesbury, Debra Jones, Stephanie Lane, Maria Laura Laliberte, Diana Melnick, Jacqueline Murdock, Georgina Papin, Dianne Rock, Elsie Sebastian, Olivia William, Angela Williams, Mona Wilson, Brenda Wolfe	Cameron Ward and Neil Chantler
Acting Sergeant Doug Fell	Kevin Woodall and Claire Hatcher
Staff Sergeant Brock Giles	David Butcher, QC and Anila Srivastava
Government of Canada, Department of Justice	Cheryl Tobias, QC, Jan Brongers, Judith Hoffman, Andrew Majawa and Rory Makosz
Deputy Chief Constable Gary Greer	Roderick Henderson
Interests and Perspectives of Individuals and Organizations in the Downtown Eastside	Jason Gratl
Deputy Chief Constable Brian McGuinness	Greg DelBigio, QC
Assistant Commissioner Earl Moulton	Ravi Hira, QC

Dr. Kim Rossmo	Mark Skwarok
Deputy Chief Constable John Unger	Edward Greenspan, QC and Vanessa Christie
Vancouver Police Department and Vancouver Police Board	Sean Hern and Tim Dickson
Vancouver Police Union	E. David Crossin, QC and Elizabeth France
VANDU	Ann Livingston* and Marlene Basil*
Detective Constable Mark Wolthers	Kevin Woodall and Claire Hatcher

This page intentionally left blank

C. Witnesses at Evidentiary Hearings

Inspector Don Adam, RCMP (retired)

Mr. Adam was sworn in to the RCMP in 1971. In 2000, he worked for the RCMP's Serious Crime Unit as a Special Projects Investigator. From 2001 until 2004, Mr. Adam was the Team Commander for the JFO for the missing women investigations (Project Evenhanded). He retired as an inspector in 2007 and currently works as a civilian employee for the RCMP.

February 15, 2012 February 16, 2012 February 29, 2012 March 7, 2012

Elaine Allan, Former employee of WISH Drop-in Centre

Ms. Allan has a Bachelor of Arts and Communications from Carleton University. She worked at WISH Drop in Centre from 1998 to 2001. From 2001 to 2006, Ms. Allan worked for Corrections Canada. She is currently the Executive Director for Shelter Net BC.

November 1, 2011

Catherine Astin, Former street nurse

Ms. Astin is a registered nurse. She has a Master's Degree in Nursing from the University of British Columbia. From 1999 until 2005, she worked as a street nurse in the Downtown Eastside. She currently works as a Community Health Nurse at Sheway in the Downtown Eastside.

October 19, 2011

Deputy Commissioner Gary Bass, RCMP (retired)

Mr. Bass was sworn in to the RCMP in 1972. His career with the RCMP was focused in homicide investigations. From January 1997 through July 2000, he was the Inspector and Chief Superintendent in charge of the E Division Major Crimes Section. In July 2000, he was promoted to Assistant Commissioner as the Officer in charge of the Criminal Operations, E Division. Mr. Bass retired as Deputy Commissioner in 2011.

May 16, 2012 May 23, 2012

Morris Bates, Former Victim Assistance Worker, Vancouver Police and Native Liaison Society

Mr. Bates is from the Sugar Cane Reservation in Williams Lake, BC. He

began as a volunteer at the Vancouver Police and Native Liaison Society in June 1993 and moved into a full-time position as a youth counsellor and victim assistance worker. Mr. Bates worked with the VPNLS until it was shut down in 2003.

April 2, 2012 April 3, 2012

Inspector Chris Beach, VPD (retired)

Mr. Beach joined the VPD in 1975. Mr. Beach was an inspector and commanding officer for District 2, from January 1999 to November 2001. He was promoted to Inspector in charge of Major Crimes in November 2001. Mr. Beach retired from the VPD in 2005.

March 5, 2012 March 6, 2012 March 8, 2012 March 12, 2012

Lilliane Beaudoin, Family member of Dianne Rock

Ms. Beaudoin is the sister of Dianne Rock. She has three other siblings and two children. She worked as a health care aide and is currently retired in Welland, Ontario.

October 27, 2011

Inspector Fred Biddlecombe, VPD (retired)

Mr. Biddlecombe was sworn in to the VPD in 1970. He was Inspector in Charge of the Major Crime Section from January 1998 to October 1999. He retired in September 2000.

April 24, 2012 April 25, 2012 April 26, 2012

Lisa Bigjohn, Family member of Mona Wilson

Ms. Bigjohn is the older sister of Mona Wilson. She has five other siblings. Ms. Bigjohn has four daughters and three grandchildren. She is a member of O'Chiese First Nation and lives in Edmonton, Alberta. Ms. Bigjohn is a survivor of residential school.

April 17, 2012

Chief Constable Terry Blythe, VPD (retired)

Mr. Blythe joined the VPD in 1969. He was Deputy Chief Constable in charge of the Operations Division in Vancouver from August 1996 to June 1999. He was promoted to Acting Chief Constable of the VPD in June 1999, and appointed Chief Constable in December 1999. Mr. Blythe retired in 2002.

February 20, 2012 February 21, 2012 February 22, 2012

Marion Bryce, Family member of Patricia Johnson

Ms. Bryce is the mother of Patricia Johnson and grandmother to Patricia's two children. She currently resides in Vancouver.

December 16, 2011

Sandra Cameron, VPD Civilian Clerk (retired)

Ms. Cameron worked as a clerk in the Missing Persons Unit of the Vancouver Police Department from September 1979 until 2001. Ms. Cameron retired in 2005.

April 23, 2012 April 24, 2012

Cynthia Cardinal, Family member of Georgina Papin

Ms. Cardinal is a sister of Georgina Papin and one of nine siblings. Ms. Cardinal belongs to the Ermineskin Nation. She has seven children. Her mother and two of her sisters were sent to residential school. Ms. Fowler's mother belonged to the Ermineskin First Nation as well.

April 17, 2012

Constable Ruth Chapman (Yurkiw), RCMP (retired)

Ms. Chapman was sworn in to the RCMP in 1978. She was a constable and Lead Investigator for the Pickton file with the Coquitlam RCMP from the end of August 1999 to August 2001, when she retired.

May 14, 2012 May 15, 2012

Detective Constable Mark Chernoff, VPD (retired)

Mr. Chernoff was sworn in to the VPD in 1984. He worked as an investigator for the Missing Women Review Team from May 1999 to November 1999. He worked with Project Evenhanded in 2002 after Pickton's arrest. Mr. Chernoff retired in 2010.

May 11, 2012

Staff Sergeant Mike Connor, RCMP (retired)

Mr. Connor was sworn in to the RCMP in 1975. From November 1994 to August 1999, Mr. Connor worked as a corporal in Coquitlam RCMP's Serious Crime Unit (SCU). He was the Lead Investigator in the investigation into the attempted murder charges against Robert Pickton arising from the Anderson assault in March 1997. From August 1998 until August 1999, he worked as the Lead Investigator and File Coordinator in the investigation of Pickton in relation to the missing women. In August 1999, Mr. Connor was promoted to Sergeant and transferred from the SCU. He transferred back to the SCU in March 2001, and was the Sergeant in charge of the SCU until May 2003. He retired with the rank of Staff Sergeant in 2011.

February 6, 2012 February 7, 2012 February 8, 2012 February 9, 2012

Randi Connor, Crown Counsel

Ms. Connor was called to the British Columbia Bar in January 1980. She has worked as Crown Counsel since 1982. In late 1997, Ms. Connor was assigned as the Crown Counsel for the attempted murder charges against Pickton from March 1997. She was on the file until the charges were stayed in January 1998.

April 10, 2012 April 11, 2012 April 12, 2012

Ernie Crey, Family member of Dawn Crey

Mr. Crey is the older brother of Dawn Crey, one of nine siblings. His father was a residential school survivor. Mr. Crey is a member of the Stó:lo Nation of Coast Salish Peoples. Mr. Crey graduated from Thompson Rivers University with a diploma in social work. He currently works as a fisheries advisor and consultant. Mr. Crey is presently a student at Antioch University doing a Master's Degree in Conflict Analysis and Engagement. He has five children.

October 26, 2011 October 27, 2011

Lorraine Crey, Family member of Dawn Crey

Ms. Crey is the younger sister of Dawn Crey, one of nine siblings. Ms. Crey worked as a property manager for many years with the Lu'Ma Aboriginal Housing Society in the Downtown Eastside.

October 27, 2011

Staff Sergeant Dwight Dammann, RCMP (retired)

Mr. Dammann was sworn in to the RCMP in 1970, and worked at the Campbell River RCMP detachment from 1990. From August 1997 to August 1998, he was a sergeant and the Officer in Charge of the General Investigative Sections. He was involved in the investigation into the disappearance of Marnie Frey.

April 4, 2012

Inspector Keith Davidson, RCMP (retired)

Mr. Davidson was sworn in to the RCMP in 1975. He was a criminal profiler with the RCMP's E Division, Criminal Investigative Analysis Unit, from 1995 to 2001. Mr. Davidson was involved in the missing women investigations on an ad hoc basis between September 1998 and October 2001. He retired in 2010.

May 24, 2012

Susan Davis, Community advocate

Ms. Davis is an independent escort and advocate for sex workers' rights. She is the Development Co-ordinator for the West Coast Cooperative of Sex Industry Professionals and a member of the BC Coalition of Experiential Communities. She also volunteers for several committees and groups. She has given lectures and training at many colleges, universities, government organizations, as well as community organizations.

October 31, 2011

Maggie de Vries, Family member of Sarah de Vries

Ms. de Vries is the older sister of Sarah de Vries. She has a Master's Degree in English from the University of British Columbia. Ms. de Vries is an author and a professor of creative writing at UBC. She is the author of the book *Missing Sarah: A Memoir of Loss* (Toronto: Penguin Group, 2008).

February 27, 2012 February 28, 2012

Rae-Lynne Dicks, Former 911 Call taker

Ms. Dicks was a 911 call taker for the Vancouver Police Department. She began working in the VPD Communications Centre in October 1995. In June 1999, she transferred to E-Comm at the Regional Communications Centre and worked there until 2004. Ms. Dicks has a Bachelor's Degree in Criminology from Kwantlen Polytechnic University. She is currently working on her Master's degree at the University of the Fraser Valley.

April 23, 2012 April 24, 2012

Constable Dave Dickson, VPD (retired)

Mr. Dickson was sworn in to the VPD in 1980. In 1995, Mr. Dickson was assigned as the Community Liaison Officer in the Downtown Eastside. In March 1997, he helped the Provincial Unsolved Homicide Unit with their investigation into a list of 71 missing or murdered Aboriginal women. From April 1999 to June 2000, he assisted the Missing Women Review Team, part-time. He retired in 2005 and was rehired in 2006 as a civilian by the VPD to be the Sex Trade Liaison Officer until 2008.

March 5, 2012 March 6, 2012 March 8, 2012 March 12, 2012

Ujjal Dosanjh, Former Attorney General

Mr. Dosanjh graduated from law school in 1976. From August 1995 to February 2000, Mr. Dosanjh was the Attorney General of British Columbia. He was the Premier of British Columbia from February 2000 until May 2001. In June 2004, he was elected as a Member of Parliament and continued in that position until May 2011.

May 17, 2012

Inspector Dan Dureau, VPD (retired)

Mr. Dureau joined the VPD in 1975. From October 1999 to April 2000, Mr. Dureau was the Acting Inspector for the Major Crime Section for the VPD. He was promoted to Inspector in April 2000 and moved to another section. Mr. Dureau retired in 2005.

April 24, 2012 April 25, 2012 April 26, 2012

Lori-Ann Ellis, Family member of Cara Ellis

Ms. Ellis is the sister-in-law of Cara Ellis. She works for a real estate company in Calgary and Kelowna. Ms. Ellis has two children. She currently lives in Calgary.

October 24, 2011 October 25, 2011

Freda Ens, Former Director, Vancouver Police and Native Liaison Society

Ms. Ens is a member of the Haida Nation. Her parents were residential school survivors. She started working at the Vancouver Police and Native Liaison Society (VPNLS) as a victim support worker in November 1991. She became the Director of the VPNLS in March 1994 and remained with the society until 2003. Ms. Ens currently works with provincial Victim Services as a case worker.

April 2, 2012 April 3, 2012

Chief Constable Jennifer Evans, Peel Regional Police

Ms. Evans joined the Peel Regional Police in Ontario, Canada in 1983. She has extensive experience in police investigations and administration. Her policing experience includes being a part of Justice Campbell's review team regarding the Paul Bernardo investigation from January to June 1996. She provided an expert report on the Pickton investigation to assist the Commission. Ms. Evans is currently the Chief Constable for the Peel Regional Police.

January 16, 2012 January 17, 2012 January 18, 2012 January 19, 2012 January 20, 2012

Acting Sergeant Doug Fell, VPD

Mr. Fell joined the VPD in 1984. He worked as a detective constable for the VPD's Missing Women Review Team from May 1999 to May 2000.

May 9, 2012

Bonnie Fournier, Psychiatric Nurse (retired)

From 1978 to 1998, Ms. Fournier worked as a nurse in the Provincial Court holding cells. In 1998, she began as a street nurse for DEYAS with their Health Outreach Van and remained there until 2003.

May 17, 2012

Bonnie Fowler, Family member of Georgina Papin

Ms. Fowler is a sister of Georgina Papin. She is the youngest of nine children. Ms. Fowler belongs to the Enoch Cree Nation. Her mother and two of her sisters were sent to residential school. Ms. Fowler's mother belonged to the Ermineskin First Nation.

April 17, 2012

Lynn Frey, Family member of Marnie Frey

Ms. Frey is the stepmother of Marnie Frey. She and her husband adopted Marnie's daughter. Ms. Frey works as a care aide and lives in Campbell River.

October 24, 2011

Sandra Gagnon, Family member of Janet Henry

Ms. Gagnon is the sister of Janet Henry and reported that she has eleven or twelve siblings. She is from the 'Namgis First Nation. The Native Women's Association of Canada facilitated her attendance at Parliament Hill to speak at a vigil for missing and murdered Indigenous women.

April 16, 2012 April 17, 2012

Margaret Green, Family member of Angela Williams

Ms. Green is the legal guardian for two of Angela Williams' children. She worked as a community worker in the Downtown Eastside and is now retired and living in Fanny Bay, BC.

October 26, 2011

Deputy Chief Constable Gary Greer, VPD (retired)

Mr. Greer joined the VPD in 1972. From 1996 to January 1999, Mr. Greer was in charge of District 2 with the rank of Inspector. He was promoted to Deputy Chief Constable of the Administrative Division and transferred to the position of Deputy Chief Constable in charge of Operations in April 2000. He retired in 2003.

March 5, 2012 March 6, 2012 March 8, 2012 March 12, 2012

Corporal Mike Hall, RCMP

Mr. Hall became a member of the RCMP in October 2000. He is currently a corporal with the Surrey RCMP Major Crime Section, Unsolved Homicide Unit. Since July 2007, he has had conduct of the Angela Williams investigation. Mr. Hall has a Bachelor's Degree in Human Kinetics from the University of British Columbia.

April 4, 2012

Superintendent Ric Hall, RCMP (retired)

Mr. Hall joined the RCMP in 1965. He was the officer in charge of the Coquitlam RCMP Detachment from May 1998 until October 2004. Mr. Hall retired in 2005.

February 23, 2012

Jamie Lee Hamilton, Community activist

Ms. Hamilton is a community activist in the Downtown Eastside. Her mother was one of the founders of Vancouver's Aboriginal Friendship Centre. Ms. Hamilton advocated for a reward for the missing women, as well as more resources to help investigate the disappearances. In 1993, Ms. Hamilton opened the Rainbow Room, which became Grandma's House in 1996. Grandma's House was a safe house for sex trade workers, which she operated until it was shut down in August 2000.

February 27, 2012 February 28, 2012

Constable Tamara Hammell, VPD

Ms. Hammell was sworn in to the VPD in 1990. She is a constable working in VPD's District 1. She has been an instructor for the Police Academy and the VPD.

May 18, 2012

Corporal Frank Henley, RCMP (retired)

Mr. Henley joined the RCMP in April 1974. He worked as a corporal with the Provincial Unsolved Homicide Unit from September 1996 until October 2002. In the summer of 1999, Mr. Henley assisted with the Coquitlam RCMP's investigation into Pickton, and conducted interviews with Lynn Ellingsen. He retired in 2002.

May 14, 2012 May 15, 2012

Kenney Holmberg, RCMP Civilian File reviewer

Mr. Holmberg is a retired RCMP officer who currently works for the RCMP as a civilian file reviewer. He was assigned to review files for the RCMP's Missing Women Commission of Inquiry Liaison team, Project e-Veritas.

May 17, 2012

Dr. Kathleen Horley, Reporting scientist

Dr. Horley received her Ph.D. from the University of British Columbia in microbiology and immunology. She was hired as a biology analyst in March 1998 with the RCMP National Forensic Services. She became a reporting scientist for the RCMP in October 2000. Dr. Horley worked with the Missing Women Task Force and Project Evenhanded doing reviews.

April 4, 2012

Detective Constable Jay Johns, VPD

Mr. Johns was sworn in to the VPD in 1989. From 1994 to 1998, Mr. Johns was assigned to work with the Vancouver Police and Native Liaison Society.

April 2, 2012 April 3, 2012

Chris Joseph, Family member of Olivia William

Mr. Joseph is the older brother of Olivia William. He was the oldest of three children. He grew up on the Lake Babine Nation Reserve in Burns Lake. Mr. Joseph lives in Surrey.

April 18, 2012

Sergeant Ron Joyce, VPD (retired)

Mr. Joyce became a sworn member of the VPD in February 1972. In 1995, he worked in the communications centre as a sergeant for the VPD. Mr. Joyce retired in 2001.

May 11, 2012

Dr. Thomas Kerr, Research scientist, BC Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS

Dr. Kerr is an expert in educational psychology, with particular knowledge in health and counselling psychology, illicit drug use and public health and related research methods. In April 2003, Dr. Kerr received his doctorate in health psychology from the University of Victoria. He currently works as a research scientist at the British Columbia Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS and is an associate professor in the Department of Medicine at the University of British Columbia. He authored an expert report for the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry with respect to drug dependency and women involved in street sex trade in the Downtown Eastside of Vancouver.

October 19, 2011

Detective Constable George Lawson, VPD

Mr. Lawson was sworn in to the VPD in 1990. He was assigned to work with the Vancouver Police and Native Liaison Society from 1993 to 1999. His parents are residential school survivors.

April 2, 2012 April 3, 2012

Wayne Leng, Advocate for the missing women

Mr. Leng was a close friend of Sarah de Vries. He was an advocate for the reward for the missing women and set up a tip line for information regarding the missing women. Mr. Leng also has a website dedicated to the missing women.

February 27, 2012 February 28, 2012

Deputy Chief Constable Doug LePard, VPD

Mr. LePard has a Bachelor of Arts with a Major in Criminology from Simon Fraser University. He has been with the VPD since 1981 and is currently the Deputy Chief Constable in charge of the Operations Division. He authored a report in 2010 on the Missing Women Investigation, which was a review to look into general failures by the VPD and to provide recommendations.

November 7, 2011

November 8, 2011

November 9, 2011

November 21, 2011

November 22, 2011

November 23, 2011

November 24, 2011

November 28, 2011

November 29, 2011

November 30, 2011

December 1, 2011

December 15, 2011

May 18, 2012

May 23, 2012

Detective Ron Lepine, VPD (retired)

Mr. Lepine was sworn in to the VPD in 1971. He worked as a detective for the Missing Women Review Team from May 1999 to November 1999. Mr. Lepine retired in 2000.

May 11, 2012

Dr. John Lowman, Criminologist and Professor

Dr. Lowman has a Bachelor of Arts degree from Sheffield University. He received his Master's Degree in Geography from York University in 1976 and his doctorate in geography from the University of British Columbia in 1983. He is considered an expert in the field of criminology. From 1994 to 2004, he was a member on the board for PACE. He has been teaching at Simon Fraser University since 1985. He authored an expert report for the Commission with respect to the conditions of the women's lives and, in particular, their vulnerabilities to violence.

October 13, 2011

October 17, 2011

October 20, 2011

Staff Sergeant Murray Lunn, RCMP

Mr. Lunn became a member of the RCMP in 1970. He was the officer in charge of site security for the Pickton property during its search from 2002 until 2005. In 2003, he was the Victim Assistance Coordinator for the Missing Women Task Force. In March 2004, Mr. Lunn became Project Evenhanded's Family Liaison Officer. He retired in 2005.

April 5, 2012

Andrew MacDonald, Acting Regional Crown Counsel

Mr. MacDonald is the Acting Regional Crown Counsel for the Fraser Region. He provided evidence to the Commission on Crown policy and procedures in regards to storage, retention and destruction of files such as the file on Pickton relating to his attempted murder of Ms. Anderson.

April 12, 2012

Staff Sergeant Doug MacKay-Dunn, VPD (retired)

Mr. MacKay-Dunn joined the VPD in 1972. From April 1998 to April 2000, Mr. MacKay-Dunn was working as a staff sergeant in District 2, which includes the Downtown Eastside. He retired in October 2001.

March 5, 2012 March 6, 2012 March 8, 2012 March 12, 2012

Maureen Maloney, Former Deputy Attorney General

Ms. Maloney has a degree in law from England. After moving to BC, she became a professor and later the Dean of University of Victoria Law School. She was the first female dean in BC. Ms. Maloney became the Deputy Attorney General of British Columbia until January 2000. She is currently a professor of the Graduate School of Public Policy at Simon Fraser University.

May 17, 2012

Donna Marshall-Cope, VPD civilian employee

Ms. Marshall-Cope started working at the VPD in September 1982. She worked at the Vancouver Communications Centre from 1986 to 1999. In February 1999, Ms. Marshall-Cope worked as a manager with E-Comm, the communications centre for southwest British Columbia. She returned to the VPD in July 2004 as a civilian employee in the Information Management Section where she currently works.

Deputy Chief Constable Brian McGuinness, VPD (retired)

Mr. McGuinness joined the VPD in December 1970. From 1999 to March 2000, he was the officer in charge of the VPD's Operations Support Division (which included the Major Crime Section). Mr. McGuinness retired in December 2000.

April 26, 2012 April 27, 2012

Detective Jim McKnight, VPD (retired)

Mr. McKnight joined the VPD in September 1975. He became the Lead Investigator for Project Evenhanded in February 2001. He retired from the VPD in November 2003, and worked for the RCMP as a temporary civilian employee until 2010.

May 24, 2012

Kinder Mottus, Former Vancouver Police Board Member

Ms. Mottus has worked for the British Columbia Government and Services Employee's Union since 1986. Her most recent position was the Representative for the Lower Mainland Area office. She was a member of the Vancouver Police Board from 1995 to June 2000.

May 16, 2012

Assistant Commissioner Earl Moulton, RCMP

Mr. Moulton joined the RCMP in 1977. In 1991, he graduated from the University of Saskatchewan with a degree in law. From June 1996 to June 2000, Mr. Moulton was Operations Officer at the Coquitlam RCMP, with the rank of Inspector. He was promoted to Chief Superintendent in June 2000, and transferred to the RCMP E Division in the role of Deputy Criminal Operations for Contract. He retired in November 2005.

May 14, 2012 May 15, 2012

Philip Owen, Former Mayor of Vancouver

In 1986, Mr. Owen became a member of the Vancouver City Council. He served as the Mayor of Vancouver from November 1993 to 2002. During his time as Mayor, he was also a member of the Vancouver Police Board. He helped implement the Four Pillars Drug Strategy. Mr. Owen was awarded the Order of Canada in 2008.

May 16, 2012

Elana Papin, Family member of Georgina Papin

Ms. Papin is a sister of Georgina Papin, one of nine siblings. Her mother and two of her sisters were sent to residential school. Ms. Papin belongs to the Enoch Cree Nation. Ms. Fowler's mother belonged to the Ermineskin First Nation.

April 17, 2012

Daphne Pierre, Family member of Jacqueline Murdock

Ms. Pierre is the sister of Jacqueline Murdock. She is the oldest of 15 siblings. She is a member of the Tl'azt'en Nation. She has eight children and 11 grandchildren.

April 16, 2012

Staff Sergeant Darryl Pollock, RCMP (retired)

Mr. Pollock joined the RCMP in August 1976. He was the Sergeant in charge of the Coquitlam RCMP's Serious Crime Unit from February 1998 until March 2001. He retired in 2007.

May 14, 2012 May 15, 2012

Sergeant Geramy Powell (Field), VPD (retired)

Ms. Powell joined the VPD in 1975. Ms. Powell was the Sergeant in charge of a VPD Homicide Squad from mid-1998, which included supervision of the Missing Persons Unit and Coroner's Liaison. From May 1999 until November 2000, she was the Sergeant in charge of the Missing Women Review Team and still kept her positions in the Homicide Squad and Missing Persons Unit. She retired from the VPD in 2003. She worked for the RCMP as a civilian employee from January 2004 until March 2012.

April 24, 2012 April 25, 2012 April 26, 2012

Lila Purcell, Family member of Tanya Holyk

Ms. Purcell is the aunt of Tanya Holyk. She was born in Port Douglas, BC, one of 14 children, and is a member of the Douglas Band of the Skatin First Nation. Ms. Purcell has a diploma in Microcomputer Business Applications and currently lives in Surrey.

April 16, 2012

Marilyn Renter, Family member of Cindy Feliks

Ms. Renter is the stepmother of Cindy Feliks. She was born in Winnipeg and raised Cindy and her three siblings in British Columbia. Ms. Renter worked for the Department of Fisheries and Oceans for 25 years. She retired in 2000 and currently lives in Rosedale, BC.

April 17, 2012

Susan Robinson, Family member of Mona Wilson

Ms. Robinson is the niece of Mona Wilson. Her mother is a member of the O'Chiese First Nation.

April 17, 2012

Judge Richard Romano, Former Administrative Crown

Mr. Romano was called to the bar in May 1983. From August 1994 until 2003, Mr. Romano worked as an administrative Crown in Port Coquitlam. In December of 2005, he was appointed to the Provincial Court Bench in Abbotsford and he remains there today.

April 19, 2012

Dr. D. Kim Rossmo, Professor and former VPD officer

Dr. Rossmo was sworn in to the VPD in January 1980. In 1996 he earned a Ph.D. in Criminology from Simon Fraser University. He developed geographic profiling as an investigative tool and started a unit based on it within the VPD. From 1996 until 2001, Dr. Rossmo was Detective Inspector in charge of the Geographic Profiling Section. In 1999, he did a case assessment on the missing women from the Downtown Eastside between 1995 and 1999. He is currently the university endowed Chair in Criminology, the Director of the Geospatial Intelligence and Investigation Center, and a Research Professor for Texas State University.

January 24, 2012

January 25, 2012

January 26, 2012

Donnalee Roberta Sebastian, Family member of Elsie Sebastian

Ms. Sebastian is the daughter of Elsie Sebastian. She is a member of the Gitxsan after her father and the Pacheedaht First Nation after her mother. She identifies as a member of Hawilget Village. Ms. Sebastian is currently studying nursing and lives in Victoria.

October 25, 2011

Dr. Kate Shannon, BC Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS

Dr. Shannon received her Bachelor's Degree in Life Sciences and History from Queens University in 2000. She obtained her Master's Degree in Global Health in 2003 and her Ph.D. in Epidemiology and Public Health in 2008. She is currently a research consultant for many health foundations, initiatives and studies. She is the Director of the Gender and Sexual Health Initiative, as well as Assistant Professor for the British Columbia Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS at the University of British Columbia. She provided the Commission with an expert report addressing violence experienced by women in the street sex trade and relationships between police and sex trade workers.

October 17, 2011 October 18, 2011

Detective Constable Lori Shenher, VPD

Ms. Shenher became a sworn member of the VPD in November 1991. In July 1998, she was assigned as an investigator to the Missing Persons Unit. From May 1999 until November 2000, Ms. Shenher was a Key Investigator and File Coordinator for the Missing Women Review Team. She currently works in the Emergency and Operational Planning Section for the Threat Assessment Unit.

January 30, 2012 January 31, 2012 February 1, 2012 February 2, 2012 April 4, 2012 April 5, 2012

Ashley Smith, Family member of Angela Williams

Ms. Smith is the daughter of Angela Williams. She is a member of the Tlowitsis Nation.

October 26, 2011

Jane Smith, Former sex trade worker

In 2000, Ms. Smith was a survival sex trade worker in Vancouver. She is now employed and attending school.

May 17, 2012

Roxana Smith, Victim Services

Ms. Smith has a nursing diploma from the British Columbia Institute of Technology. In January 1998, Ms. Smith was a victim service worker at the Port Coquitlam Courthouse, and worked on the Pickton/Anderson file. Ms. Smith received a certificate from Douglas College in 2006 for Victim Service work. She currently works with the Crime Victim Witness Assistance Program.

April 18, 2012

Bonnie Thiele, Communications operator (retired)

In 1962, Ms. Thiele began working at the VPD as a civilian employee in the Report Centre. From 1976 until her retirement in 1986, Ms. Thiele worked as a communications operator. She returned to the VPD Communications Centre as an auxiliary employee from 1986 to 1996.

May 11, 2012

Deputy Chief Constable John Unger, VPD (retired)

Mr. Unger joined the VPD in July 1971. He was Deputy Chief Constable in charge of the VPD Operations Division from September 1998 to April 1999 and from June 1999 to April 2000. In April 2000, he became the Deputy Chief Constable in charge of the Operational Support Division, where he remained until December 2002. He retired in early 2003.

April 26, 2012 April 27, 2012

Sergeant Ted Van Overbeek, RCMP (retired)

Mr. Van Overbeek was sworn in to the RCMP in 1977. In 1999, he was working at the Burnaby RCMP in the Criminal Intelligence Section. In August 1999, he received information about Pickton from an informant, which he passed to Coquitlam RCMP. In May 2001, he began working as an investigator for Project Evenhanded. He worked for Project Evenhanded until September 2004, and retired in 2010.

April 5, 2012

Elizabeth Watson, Former Vancouver Police Board member

Ms. Watson graduated from the University of British Columbia Law School in 1981. She was called to the British Columbia Bar in July 1982. Ms. Watson was a member of the Vancouver Police Board from 1992 until 1998. From 2001 until 2005, she was the Managing Director of Board Resourcing and Development for B.C.

Superintendent Robert Williams, RCMP (retired)

Mr. Williams did an external review in 2002 for the RCMP's Department of Justice to prepare for current and possible civil litigation. The review's purpose was to look into the RCMP's investigation into Pickton from 1963 until 2002, and any failure to provide sufficient resources or failure to communicate with other police forces. Mr. Williams retired as the Superintendent of the Serious Crime Branch for Alberta.

January 11, 2012 January 12, 2012 January 13, 2012

Angel Wolfe, Family member of Brenda Wolfe

Ms. Wolfe is the daughter of Brenda Wolfe. Her Aboriginal name is Woman of Sacred Dreams. She was an Aboriginal Youth Representative at the Truth and Reconciliation Commission, and is involved in the Canadian Roots Foundation, Up with Women Foundation, and Sex Trade 101. She is currently a student and lives in Toronto.

October 27, 2011

Detective Constable Mark Wolthers, VPD (retired)

Mr. Wolthers joined the VPD in 1984. He worked as a detective constable for the Missing Women Review Team from May 1999 to May 2000. He has a Bachelor's Degree in Commerce from the University of British Columbia. He retired from the VPD in 2009.

May 9, 2012

Sergeant Ted Yeomans, VPD (retired)

Mr. Yeomans was sworn in to the VPD in September 1975. He worked in the VPD Communications Centre from 1995 to 1997. He began there as a corporal, and was promoted to sergeant and chief dispatcher during his time at the Communications Centre.

May 11, 2012

D. Elders and Facilitators

Elders

Elder	Involvement with Commission
Chief Martin Adams	Prayer at the Terrace – Nisga'a Northern Community Forum – September 13, 2011
Reena Benson	Prayer at the Gitanyow Northern Community Forum – September 13, 2011
Chief Ian Campbell	Prayer at the Pre-Hearing Conference in Vancouver – January 19, 2011
Mabel Forsythe	Prayer at the Smithers Northern Community Forum – September 14, 2011
Frank Frederick	Prayer at the Pre-Hearing Conference in Prince George – January 21, 2011
Eugene Harry (XiQuelem)	Traditional Opening Ceremony at the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry hearings – October 11, 2011
Rick Harry (Xwalacktun)	Opening and closing prayers for Policy Forums –May 2012; Closing prayer at the Missing Women Commission of Inquiry hearings – June 6, 2012
Shirley Huson	Prayer at the Hazelton Northern Community Forum – September 15, 2011
Lillian Morris	Prayer at the Moricetown Northern Community Forum – September 14, 2011
Mildred Roberts	Prayer at the Terrace – Kitsumkalum Northern Community Forum – September 13, 2011
Murray Smith	Prayer at the Prince Rupert Northern Community Forum – September 12, 2011

Facilitators

Linda Locke, QC – Northern Community Forums Patrick Kelly – Expert Roundtable on the Structure and Organization of Policing in British Columbia

Volume IV 181

Deborah Hanuse – Policy Forums Catherine Rockandel – Policy Forums Ruth Atherley, Brenda Belak – Commissioner's Meeting with the Families

E. Submissions to Study Commission

Written Submissions

Cathy Adams

Bruce Allen

Amanda Alexander, Women and Justice Serving Organizations

Gillian Angrove

S. Anthony

David Bazett

Lilliane Beaudoin

Elaine Belanger

Juliet Belmas

Darcie Bennet, PIVOT

Lorne Benson, Town of Smithers

Melinda Bige

Doreen Binder

Michael Blackstock

Kalene Bourque

Christine Boyle, Q.C.

George Bryce

Perry Bulwer

Clayton Burns

Jackie Byrn

Chief Earnest Campbell, Musqueam Indian Band

Brian Coleman

Beverly Coles

Robert Compston

M. Cooper

Marco Costa

Althea Crawford

Ernie Crey

Val Cummings

Ken Curry

Krissy Darch

Gail Davidson, Lawyers Rights Watch Canada

Robin Davidson

Keith Davies

Dave Dickson

Sandy DiPasquale

Lori-Ann Ellis

Mike Everitt

Michelle F.

Families and Front Line Workers

Rick and Bev Faulkner

Sandra Gagnon

Stacy Gallant and Roy Rawluk, Toronto Police

Michele Giordano, Women's Resource Society of the Fraser Valley

Elizabeth Glassford

Sean Golar

Jill Goldberg

Dr. Robert Gordon

Government of Canada

Margaret Green

Ali Hackett

Diedre Hall

Lee Hanlon

John Harvey

Kash Heed

Dave Jaffe

Sarah Jamieson

Nicholas Jones and Rick Ruddell, Regina Police Service

Susanna Kaljur

Nathen Kencayd

Alice Kendall, Downtown Eastside Women's Centre

Alexis Kennedy

Lynne Kennedy

Ray Kielan

Sean Kirkham, Canadian Society for Creative Development and Innovation

Jenny Kwan

Sheila Lamb

Lonnie Landrud

Don Larson, CRAB - Water for Life Society

Paul Latham

Carolyn Law

Marc Legacy

Chris Leischner

Amy Lewis

Ann Livingston, VANDU

Ann-Marie Livingston

Randy Lu

Alice Maitland, Office of the Mayor, Village of Hazelton

Burns Matkins

Dorothy McKee

Susan Meitner

Ty Mistry

Kalika Moody and Irene Willsie, Women's Contact Society

Susan Murphy, Canadian Federation of University Women

Dennis Murray

Jack Mussallem, City of Prince Rupert

Helen Nikal

Joyce O'Brien

Tamara O'Doherty

Collette Oseen

183

Ken Paisley

Annie Elizabeth Parker

Millie Percival

Michele Pineault

Kerry Porth

Quesnel Women's Resource Centre

Robin Reid

Marilyn Renter

Gregor Robertson, Vancouver Police Board

Debbie Rockefeller, Fireweed Collective

Professor Kim Rossmo

Marika Sandrelli, Fraser Health Authority

Carol Seychuk, Northern Society for Domestic Peace

Janet Sinclair Prowse

Ravinder Singh Rai

Tom Stamatakis, Canadian Police Association

James Sterritt

Elizabeth Stonard

Christopher Treloar

Marianna Ussner

Vancouver Police Department

Melody Wall

Sarah Warren, The Vivian Transitional Housing Program for Women

Murray Watson

Dr. Mike Webster, Centurion Consulting Services Ltd.

Kelly White, CRAB - Water for Life Society

Marjorie White, Aboriginal Mother Centre Society

Maureen Wilkie, RCMP and the Saskatchewan Provincial Partnership

Committee for Missing Persons

Brenda Wilson

Emily Wilson

Steve Wilson

Evan Wood, BC Centre for Excellence in HIV Aids

Ruth Zambrano

Danny Zucchet

Verbal Submissions

Consultations with Family Members (Individual meetings and group meeting – Vancouver, April 20 and 21, 2012)

Kristina Bateman

Lilliane Beaudoin

Elaine Belanger

Lenora Belanger

Patricia Belanger

Lisa Bigjohn

Sue Ellen Bigjohn

Marion Bryce

Cynthia Cardinal

Lorraine Crey

Maggie de Vries

Peter de Vries

Lori-Ann Ellis

Bonnie Fowler

Sandra Gagnon

Margaret Green

Melanie Hardy-Williams

Violet Hardy-Williams

Ann Livingston

Ann-Marie Livingston

Melissa Marin

Elana Papin

Bridget Perrier

Michelle Pineault

Lila Purcell

Gladys Radek

Marilyn Renter

Laura Tompkins

Lorelei Williams

Angel Wolfe

Support persons:

Faye Blaney

Laura Holland

Candace Huti

Dina Wilson

Speakers from Pre Hearing Conference – Vancouver (January 19, 2011)

Prayer: Chief Ian Campbell, Elder

Juliet Belmas

Dalannah Gail Bowen

Kathleen Bennett, Northwest Inner-Nation Family & Community Services, Prince Rupert

John Cameron, Downtown Eastside HIV/IDU Consumers Board, Carnegie AIDS Support Group

Libby Davies, Government of Canada, Vancouver East

Susan Davis, West Coast Cooperative of Sex Industry Professionals

Dr. Larry Falls

Marlene George, February 14 Women's Memorial March

Alice Kendall, Downtown Eastside Women's Centre

Don Larson, CRAB - Water for Life Society

Angela MacDougall, Battered Women's Support Services

Gladys Radek and Bernie Williams, Walk for Justice

Cameron Ward

Kelly White, CRAB - Water for Life Society

Ellen Woodsworth, City of Vancouver

<u>Speakers from Pre-Hearing Conference – Prince George (January 21, 2011)</u>

Prayer: Frank Frederick, Elder

Chief Wilf Adam, Lake Babine First Nation

Amanda Alexander, Elizabeth Fry Society, Burns Lake Bally Bassi, Elizabeth Fry Society, Prince George

Wilma Boyce, Canim Lake Band Council

Preston Guno, Carrier-Sekani Family Services

Lynell Halikowski, Surpassing our Survival Society

Jack Hoar (Statement)

Beverly Jacobs, Union of British Columbia Indian Chiefs

Dean Joseph (on behalf of Chief Partner Joseph), Yekooche First Nation

Doug Leslie

Kalika Moody, Women's Contact Society of Williams Lake

Sam Moody

Chief Karen Ogen, Wet'Suwet'en First Nation

Emma Palmatier, Lake Babine First Nation

Tony Romeyn, Highway of Tears Website

Don Sabo

Fran Smith, Battered Women's Support Services

Terry Teegee, Carrier-Sekani Tribal Council

Chief Jackie Thomas, Saik'uz First Nation

Annabel Webb, Justice For Girls

Irene Willsie, Women's Contact Society of Williams Lake

Brenda Wilson

Matilda Wilson

Speakers from Northern Community Forums

Prince Rupert (September 12, 2011)

Prayer: Murray Smith, Elder

Graimme Barthe Janice Brown

anice brown

Gary Coons, MLA

Molly Dickson

Scott Fraser, MLA

Lillian Gurney

Vicki Hill

Jacob McKay

Karl Reschke

Inez Shanose

Louisa Smith

Marlene Swift

Monica Tvrdon

Bonita Wilson

Darlene Wolfe

Terrace – Kitsumkalum (September 13, 2011)

Welcome: Chief Don Roberts and Arlene Roberts Prayer: Mildred Roberts, Elder Arlene Roberts

Shanelle Alexander Michelle Angus Robin Austin Chief Nelson Clayton

David Eby Jude Haydock Melanie Johnson Chief Don Roberts Karen Whonnock Steve Wilson

Gitanyow (September 13, 2011)

Prayer: Reena Benson, Elder

Lynlee Burleigh Anne Derrick Vera Derrick Doug Donaldson Deborah Good Paulina Larochelle Loretta Morgan Marge Quock Joe Rush Chief Mark Starlund

Terrace – Nisga'a (September 13, 2011)

Welcome: Phyllis Adams

Prayer: Chief Martin Adams, Elder Barb Zvatora

Chief Martin Adams

Phyllis Adams Claude Barton Floyd Percival Millie Percival

Mayor David Pernarowski

Frances Stanley

Moricetown (September 14, 2011)

Welcome: Chief Dwayne Mitchell

Prayer: Lillian Morris, Elder

Doug Donaldson Millie Gunnanout

Victor Jim

187

Betty Joseph

Sherry McKinnon

Faye Michelle

Ron Mitchell

Louis Moolman

Lorena Morris

Florence Naziel

Priscilla Naziel

Roderick Nikal

June Peruniak

Debbie Pierre

Louise Wilson

Sam Wilson

Smithers (September 14, 2011)

Prayer: Mabel Forsythe, Elder

Mary David

Doug Donaldson

Theresa Forsythe

Marilyn George

Marie Martin

Joanne Peter

Genevieve Poirier

Brenda Wilson

Matilda Wilson

Hazelton (September 15, 2011)

Prayer: Shirley Huson, Elder

Fawn Adolph

Ida Austin

Robert Austin

Francis Brown

David Eby

Shirley Muldon and Wendy Blackstock (on behalf of Mayor Alice Maitland)

Ronda Peel

Linda Pierre

Ann Plasway

Beverly Tashoots

Peggy Underhill

Judy Wesley

Greg White

Lyn Wilson

Expert Roundtable on the Structure and Organization of Policing – Vancouver April 14, 2002

Professor Robert Gordon (Co-Chair)

Mayor Malcolm Brodie, Richmond

Phyllis Carlyle, General Manager of Law and Community Safety, participating on behalf of Mayor Richard Stewart, Coquitlam

Jim Cessford, Chief Constable, Delta Police Department

Vanessa Christie, Counsel to Terry Blythe and John Unger at the Inquiry

Dr. Stephen Easton, Simon Fraser University

Mayor Peter Fassbender, Langley

Peter German, Regional Deputy Commissioner Pacific Region Correctional Services Canada, former RCMP

Kash Heed, MLA

Sean Hern, Counsel to VPD at the Inquiry

Mayor Lois Jackson, Delta

Lindsay Kines, Journalist

Norm Lipinski, Assistant Commissioner, RCMP

Ann Livingston, Representative of VANDU, participant in the Inquiry

Mayor Greg Moore, Port Coquitlam and Chair Metro Vancouver Regional District

Stephen Owen, Vice-President of External, Legal and Community Relations, University of British Columbia

Adam Palmer, Deputy Chief Constable, Vancouver Police Department

Clayton Pecknold, Assistant Deputy Minister, Police Services and Community Safety

Wayne Rideout, Acting Commissioner, RCMP

Bob Stewart, Former Chief Constable, Vancouver Police Department

Dr. Mike Webster, R. Psych, Centurion Consulting Services Ltd.

Various RCMP representatives, including Inspector Andrew Koczerzuk, Amber Elliott, Counsel for the RCMP, and Kyle Johnson, Missing Women Commission Liaison Team at the RCMP

Speakers from Policy Forums - Vancouver (May 1 & 3 & 7 & 8 & 10, 2012)

Opening and Closing Prayers: Rick Harry (Xwalacktun), Elder

Chief Superintendent Janice Armstrong

Ien Allan

Inspector Cita Airth

Professor Jane Miller Ashton

Juliet Belmas

Professor Christine Boyle

Inspector Joanne Boyle

Chief Constable Jim Chu

Beverly Coles

Krissy Darch

Susan Davis

Inspector Brad Desmarais

189

Rae-Lynne Dicks

Dave Dickson

Sandy DiPasquale

Joy Ward Dockrey

Lori-Ann Ellis

Sergeant Anne Fawcett

Inspector Marcie Flamand

Fiona Flanagan

Bonnie Fournier

Constable Ali Gailus

Michele Giordano

Inspector Mario Giardini

Dr. Robert Gordon

Kim Gramlich

Superintendent Jim Gresham

Jamie Lee Hamilton

Sergeant John Hebert

Elizabeth Hunt

Inspector Andrew Koczerzuk

Don Larson

Heather Lehmann

Ann Livingston

Ann-Marie Livingston

Linda Locke, Q.C.

Police Complaint Commissioner Stan Lowe

Staff Sergeant Gerard MacNeil

Maryam Majedi

Inspector Jana McGuinness

Dr. Lisa Monchalin

Chief Superintendent Robert Morrison

Acting Sergeant Lynn Noftle

Gunargie O'Sullivan

Detective Constable Raymond Payette

Doris Peters

Associate Chief Justice Nancy Phillips

Superintendent Mike Porteous

Kerry Porth

Superintendent Paul Richards

Assistant Commissioner Wayne Rideout

Dawn Roberts

Detective Constable Judy Robertson

Professor Kim Rossmo

Inspector Mike Serr

Sergeant Kirk Starr

Erica Thomson

Marianna Ussner

Dr. Mike Webster

Kelly White

Staff Sergeant Maureen Wilkie

Terri Williams Mary Clare Zak

The Commission also received submissions on an anonymous basis through consultations in the Downtown Eastside of Vancouver in the fall of 2011 and in Northwestern British Columbia in spring of 2012.

F. Study Commission Reports

Please note the full text of the study commission reports are reproduced on the CD version of this report only.

Study Commission Reports

1. Consultation Reports

Dr. Melina Buckley, "Standing Together and Moving Forward: Report on the Pre-Hearing Conference in Prince George and the Northern Community Forums"

Brenda Belak, "Downtown Eastside Consultation Report"

Dr. Melina Buckley, "Revisiting the Regionalization Debate: A Dialogue on the Structure and Organization of Policing in British Columbia"

Brenda Belak, "Voices of the Families – Recommendations of the Families of the Missing and Murdered Women"

Elizabeth Welch, "Bridging the Gap to Shape the Future: The Report on the Policy Forums"

Linda Locke, QC, "Standing Together and Moving Forward: The Northwest Consultation Report"

2. Policy Discussion Reports

Dr. Melina Buckley, "Police Protection of Vulnerable and Marginalized Women"

Dr. Melina Buckley, "Towards More Effective Missing Women Investigations: Police Relationships with Victims' Families, the Community and the Media"

Dr. Melina Buckley, "Policies and Practices in the Investigation of Missing Persons and Suspected Multiple Homicides"

Dr. Melina Buckley, "Issues Related to the Structure and Organization of Policing Arising from the Missing Women Investigations"

Dr. Melina Buckley, "From Report to Substantive Change – Healing, Reconciliation and Implementation"

3. Background Research Reports

Steve Sweeney, "Municipal Policing in the Lower Mainland District of British Columbia"

Elizabeth Welch, "Practices and Procedures in the Investigation of Missing Persons Across Canada: 1997 to Present"

Elizabeth Welch, "Comparative Approaches to Missing Persons Procedures: An Overview of British, American and Australian Policies"

Brenda Belak, "Policies and Practices in the Treatment of Vulnerable Witnesses"

Dr. Melina Buckley, "Violence Against Women: Evolving Canadian and International Legal Standards on Police Duties to Protect and Investigate"

4. Other Commission Publications

Status Report #1 - March 2011

Status Report #2 – June 2011

G. Index to Missing Women Portraits

Missing Woman	Volume	Page Number
Sereena Abotsway	Volume I	7
Yvonne Boen	Volume I	33
Andrea Borhaven	Volume I	59
Heather Bottomley	Volume I	84
Heather Chinnock	Volume I	110
Wendy Crawford	Volume I	138
Dawn Crey	Volume I	163
Sarah de Vries	Volume IIA	4
Tiffany Drew	Volume IIA	37
Cara Ellis	Volume IIA	66
Cynthia Feliks	Volume IIA	97
Marnie Frey	Volume IIA	126
Jennifer Furminger	Volume IIA	155
Inga Hall	Volume IIA	180
Helen Hallmark	Volume IIB	4
Tanya Holyk	Volume IIB	53

Sherry Irving	Volume IIB	100
Andrea Joesbury	Volume IIB	149
Patricia Johnson	Volume IIB	198
Debra Jones	Volume IIB	241
Kerri Koski	Volume IIB	285
Jacquelene McDonnell	Volume III	7
Diana Melnick	Volume III	40
Georgina Papin	Volume III	75
Dianne Rock	Volume III	106
Taressa Ann Williams	Volume III	141
Mona Wilson	Volume III	176
Brenda Wolfe	Volume III	203

H. Translation of Halq'eméylem Words on Cover of Commission Report

The Commission has included words from Halq'eméylem, the language of the Stó:lo people, in the art work for the cover of this report. I would like to express my gratitude to Chief Joe Aleck and Pat Kelly for assisting in the selection of the words used to describe the missing and murdered women.

Xéleq't - To open your eyes Eyém - Strong Slhá:li - Woman Mímele - Little Child Mestiyexw - Person; Spirit Tá:l - Mother Móylhtel - To help each other Siyá:ye - Friend Lexwst'í:lem - Always singing

I. Selected Bibliography

Contents

PICKTON INVESTIGATION AND THE MISSING WOMEN194	4
POLICING19!	5
Generally	9 1
CHARGE APPROVAL204	4
MISSING WOMEN AND VIOLENCE AGAINST ABORIGINAL WOMEN 205	•
VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND THE LAW207	7
PROSTITUTION209	9
Prostitution and the Law	0 2 3
DRUG USE, HOMELESSNESS AND THE DTES214	4
MISCELLANEOUS217	7
INTERNATIONAL MATERIALS227	7
WEBSITES230	0
CASE LAW232	4
LEGISLATION239	9

PICKTON INVESTIGATION AND THE MISSING WOMEN

Beddall, Justin. "Have You Seen These Women", Vancouver [Magazine] (October 2001).

Cameron, Stevie. On the Farm: Robert William Pickton and the Tragic Story of Vancouver's Missing Women (Toronto: Alfred A. Knopf Canada, 2010).

Cameron, Stevie. *The Pickton File* (Toronto: Alfred A. Knopf Canada, 2007).

de Vries, Maggie. *Missing Sarah: A Memoir of Loss* (Toronto: Penguin Group, 2008).

Dean, Amber Richelle. *Hauntings: Representations of Vancouver's Disappeared Women* (Doctor of Philosophy in English Thesis, University of Alberta, 2009) [unpublished].

Gayler, Emma. Continuums of Worth: A Newspaper Deconstruction of Missing Canadian Women (M.A. Thesis, Simon Fraser University, 2008) [unpublished].

Greene, Trevor. *Bad Date: the Lost Girls of Vancouver's Low Track* (Toronto: ECW Press, 2001)

Hugill, David. *Missing Women, Missing News: Covering Crisis in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside* (Halifax: Fernwood Publishing, 2010).

Jiwani, Y. & M.L. Young. "Missing and Murdered Women: Reproducing Marginality in News Discourse" (2006) 31 Canadian Journal of Communications, 895.

Lee, John. "The Pig Farm Killings" (March-April 2003) Seed Magazine.

LePard, Doug. *Missing Women Investigation Review* (Vancouver: Vancouver Police Department, 2010).

Moores, Patrick. (Re)covering the Missing Women: News Media Reporting on Vancouver's "Disappeared" (B.A. (Hons) Thesis, Laurentian University, 2003) [unpublished].

"Snaring Pickton: Catching Canada's Worst Serial Killer" (2010) 72:2 *The* [RCMP] Gazette 7.

Wood, Daniel. "Vancouver's Missing Prostitutes", (November 1999) *Elm Street*.

POLICING

Generally

Achieving Investigative Excellence: Discussion Paper (Ottawa: Canadian Police College, 2004).

Alberta. *Provincial Policing Standards Manual* (Edmonton: Alberta Solicitor General, 2006).

Armstrong, Anona & Ronald Francis. "Assessing Ethical Governance in a Policing Environment" (2008) 3:3 *Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics* 45.

BC Policing Plan: Regional Roundtables: Summary Report (August 28, 2012), online: Ministry of Justice http://www.pssg.gov.bc.ca.

British Columbia. *Provincial Policing Standards* online: Ministry of Justice http://www.pssg.gov.bc.ca.

British Columbia Civil Liberties Association. *Small Town Justice: A Report on the RCMP in Small Town and Rural British Columbia* (2011), online: BCCLA BCCLA http://www.bccla.org.

British Columbia Police Code of Ethics, online: Justice Institute of BC http://www.jibc.ca.

Canadian Association of Police Boards. *Best Practices – A Framework for Professionalism and Success in Police Board Governance* (Ottawa: Canadian Association of Police Boards, 2005).

Canadian Police College. *Major Case Management Manual*, 3rd ed (Ottawa: Canadian Police College, 1996).

Commonwealth Secretariat. *Guidelines for Police Training on Violence Against Women and Child Abuse* (London: Commonwealth Secretariat, 1999).

Delattre, E. J. *Characters and Cops: Ethics in Policing* (Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 2011).

Duxbury, Linda & Christopher Higgins. *Caring For and About Those Who Serve: Work-Life Conflict and Employee Well-Being Within Canada's Police Departments* (2012), online: Canadian Association of Police Boards http://www.capb.ca.

Eby, David et al. *Towards More Effective Police Oversight*, presented to the City of Vancouver Peace and Justice Committee (Vancouver: Pivot Legal Society, 2004).

Falconer, Julian N. & Jackie Esmonde. *Civil Liability of Police Forces to Members of the Public*, online: Canadian Association of Police Boards http://www.capb.ca.

Federal of Canadian Municipalities. *Towards Equity and Efficiency in Policing: a Report on Policing Roles, Responsibilities and Resources in Canada* (2008) online: Federation of Canadian Municipalities http://www.fcm.ca.

Goldstein, Herman. "Improving Policing: A Problem-Oriented Approach" (1979) 25(2) Crime & Delinquency 236.

Griffiths, Jeffrey. Review of the Investigation of Sexual Assaults, Toronto Police Service. (Toronto: City of Toronto, Audit Services, 1999).

Griffiths, Jeffrey. *The Auditor General's Follow-Up Review on the October* 1999 Report Entitled: "Review of the Investigation of Sexual Assaults, Toronto Police Service" (Toronto: City of Toronto, Audit Service, 2005).

Hamilton, Keith R. & Gil D. McKinnon. *Provincial Governance of Policing in British Columbia: A Research Paper*, prepared for the Policing in British Columbia Commission of Inquiry, online: http://www.llbccat.leg.bc.ca.

History of Case Management Training, online: Attorney General of Ontario http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca>.

HR Matrix Ltd. *Managing for Change: An Analysis of Leadership, Promotion, and Related Human Resource Management Practices in British Columbia Police Departments* [prepared for the Policing in British Columbia Commission of Inquiry], online: http://www.llbccat.leg.bc.ca.

International Police Standards: Guidebook on Democratic Policing: Senior Police Advisor to the OSCE Secretary General (Geneva: Geneva Center for the Democratic Control of Armed Forces, 2009).

Jamieson, J. Phil. *History of British Columbia Policing (Confidential Draft)* [prepared for the Policing in British Columbia Commission of Inquiry] online: http://www.llbccat.leg.bc.ca.

Jones, N. & R. Ruddell. *Community Perceptions of the Regina Police Service* 2011 (Regina: University of Regina, 2011).

Jubb, Nadine et al. Women's Police Stations in Latin America: an Entry Point for Stopping Violence and Gaining Access to Justice (Quito: Center for Social Studies and Planning, 2010).

Justice Institute of British Columbia, Police Academy. *Municipal Police Board Governance in British Columbia* (New Westminster: Justice Institute of British Columbia, 2003).

Lentz, Susan A. & Robert H. Chaires. "The Invention of Peel's Principles: A Study of Policing 'Textbook' History" (2007) 35(1) *Journal of Criminal Justice* 69.

Malm, Aili. A 30 Year Analysis of Police Service Delivery and Costing: "E" Division: Research Summary (Abbotsford: School of Criminology and Criminal Justice, University College of the Fraser Valley, 2005).

Matrix Consulting Group. Review of Internal Affairs, Disciplinary Process and a Cultural Assessment of the Police Department: City of Vancouver, Washington: Final Report (Palo Alto: Matrix Consulting Group, 2009).

McCormick, Amanda et al. *Challenges Associated with Interpreting and Using Police Clearance Rates,* online: University of the Fraser Valley http://www.ufv.ca.

McDonell, Laurie. *Recruitment and Training: Employment Equity Liability for Failure to Adequately Train, Confidential Final Draft* [prepared for the Policing in British Columbia Commission of Inquiry] online: http://www.llbccat.leg.bc.ca.

Miller, Andrea. Role of the Provincial Police: a Research Project for the Commission of Inquiry Policing in British Columbia, Part One: the RCMP and the British Columbia Provincial Government, online: http://www.llbccat.leg.bc.ca.

Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General, Policing and Community Safety Branch, Police Services Division. *BC Police Board Handbook: Resource Document on Roles and Responsibilities Under the Police Act* (Victoria: Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General, 2005).

Ministry of Attorney General, Public Safety and Regulatory Branch, Police Services Division. *Handbook: BC Police Board, Reference Document on Responsibilities Under the Police Act* (Victoria: Ministry of Attorney General, 1999).

Nadeau, Alain-Robert. Federal Police Law: Annotated Royal Canadian Mounted Police Act and Regulations 1988 and Other Regulatory Instruments, 2010 (Toronto: Editions Yvon Blais, 2009).

Ontario Major Case Management Manual, 2001 (Toronto: Solicitor General of Ontario, 2001).

Pivot Legal Society. *Six Recommendations for Policing Reform* (Vancouver: Pivot Legal Society, 2005).

Plecas, Darryl et al. *An Analysis of Complaints Against the RCMP in British Columbia: A 15-Year Review: 1994-2008, (2010)* online: University of Fraser Valley, Centre for Criminal Justice Research http://www.ufv.ca>.

Robertson, Judy & Jennifer Fraser. "First Registry": The Forensic Identification Registry for Sex Trade Workers, prepared by the New Westminster Police Service for the Police Executive Research Forum as a submission for the 2002 Herman Goldstein Award for Excellence in Problem-Oriented Policing (New Westminster: New Westminster Police, 2002).

Royal Canadian Mounted Police. "RCMP Responds to Content of BCCLA Report [Small Town Justice]" online: RCMP http://bc.rcmp-grc.gc.ca.

Royal Canadian Mounted Police External Review Committee. *Sanctioning Police Misconduct – General Principles; Discussion Paper 8,* online: RCMP External Review Committee http://www.erc-cee.gc.ca.

Sadeler, Christiane. Building a Policing Strategy that Contains Municipal Costs [Powerpoint presentation delivered at Federation of Canadian Municipalities, June 3, 2011] online: Federation of Canadian Municipalities http://www.fcm.ca.

Stephens, Darrel W. *Police Discipline: A Case for Change: New Perspectives on Policing* (Cambridge: National Judicial Institute/Harvard Kennedy School, June 2011).

Strang, Steven J. *Project SLEIPNIR: An Analytical Technique for Operational Priority Setting* online: Penn State University e-Education Institute http://www.e-education.psu.edu.

Taylor, W. Review of Police Disciplinary Arrangements Report (London: Home Office, 2005).

Trussler, Tanya. *Unsolved Homicide in Canada: Logistic Regression of Homicide Clearance, 1991-2005,* [Powerpoint presentation] online: University of Montreal http://www.ciqss.umontreal.ca.

United States Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division. *Investigation of the New Orleans Police Department* (Washington: Department of Justice, 2011).

United States Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, Special Litigation Section. *Conduct of Law Enforcement Agencies*, online: US Dept. of Justice http://www.justice.gov>.

United States Department of Justice, Office of Community Oriented Policing Services (COPS). *Community Policing Defined* (Washington: US Department of Justice, 2009).

Vancouver Police Department. *Draft – Sex Work Enforcement Guidelines* (2012-03-02), prepared with the assistance of WISH, PIVOT, BC Coalition of Experiential Communities, PEERS and PACE, online: Vancouver Police Department http://www.vpd.ca.

Vancouver Police Department. *Project Lockstep – A United Effort to Save Lives in the Downtown Eastside: Discussion Document, February 4, 2009* (Vancouver: Vancouver Police Department, 2009).

Vancouver Police Department. *Regulations and Procedures Manual (2009)* [selections], online: Vancouver Police Departmenthttp://www.vpd.ca.

Vancouver Police Department. *Tragedy of Missing and Murdered Aboriginal Women in Canada: We Can Do Better: a Position Paper by the SisterWatch Project of the Vancouver Police Department and the Women's Memorial March Committee* (Vancouver: Vancouver Police Department, 2011).

Walker, S. Early Intervention Systems for Law Enforcement Agencies: A Planning and Management Guide (Washington: US Department of Justice, Office of Community Oriented Policing Services, 2003).

Police Investigative Techniques

Alison, Laurence et al. "The Personality Paradox in Offender Profiling: A Theoretical Review of the Processes Involved in Deriving Background Characteristics from Crime Scene Actions" (2002) 8:1 *Psychology, Public Policy and Law* 115.

Arrigo, B.A. "The Role of Escalating Paraphilic Fantasies and Behaviours in Sexual, Sadistic, and Serial Violence: A Review of Theoretical Models" (2007) in A.J.R. Harris & C.A. Page, eds, *Sexual Homicide and Paraphilias: The Correctional Service of Canada's Experts Forum 2007*, online: Correctional Service Canada http://www.csc-scc.gc.ca.

Boyd, Neil & D. Kim Rossmo. "Milgaard v. the Queen: Understanding a Wrongful Conviction for Sexual Homicide" in D. Kim Rossmo ed, *Criminal Investigative Failures*, (Boca Raton: CRC Press, 2009).

Canter, P. "Using a Geographic Information System for Tactical Crime Analysis" in V. Goldsmith, et al, eds, *Analyzing Crime Patterns: Frontiers of Practice* (Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, 1999).

Canter, D. et al. "Predicting Serial Killers' Home Base Using a Decision Support System" (2000) 16:4 *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*.

Criminal Intelligence Service of Canada. *Organized Crime and Domestic Trafficking in Persons in Canada: Strategic Intelligence Brief,* (2008) online: Criminal Intelligence Service Canada http://www.cisc.gc.ca.

Criminal Interrogation and Confessions, Fred E. Inbau et al, (4th ed) (Gaithersburg: Aspen Publishers Inc., 2001).

Federal Bureau of Investigation. *Serial Murder: Multi-Disciplinary Perspectives for Investigators,* online: Federal Bureau of Investigation http://www.fbi.gov>.

Foy, Shaunagh. *Profiling Missing Persons Within New South Wales - a Summary of Key Points* (Ph.D Thesis, Charles Stuart University 2006) [unpublished].

Geberth, Vernon J. *Practical Homicide Investigation: Tactics, Procedures and Forensic Techniques* (4th ed) (Boca Raton: CRC Press, 2006).

Geberth, Vernon J. Sex-Related Homicide and Death Investigation: Practical and Clinical Perspectives (Boca Raton: CRC Press, 2003).

Godwin, M. "Victim Target Networks as Solvability Factors in Serial Murder" (1998) 26:1 *Social Behavior and Personality* 75.

Grover, Chris & Keith Soothill. "British Serial Killing: Towards A Structural Explanation" in *British Criminology Conference, Selected Proceedings,* 1997, Volume 2, online: British Society of Criminology http://www.britsoccrim.org.

Hanson, R. Karl & Monique T. Bussiere. "Predicting Relapse: A Meta-Analysis of Sexual Offender Recidivism Studies" (1998) 66:2 *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 348.

Hanson, R. Karl & Kelly Morton-Bourgon. *Predictors of Sexual Recidivism: An Updated Meta-Analysis 2004*, online: Public Safety Canada http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca.

Hauck, Roslin V. & Hsinchun Chen. "Coplink: A Case of Intelligent Analysis and Knowledge Management" (1999) in *Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Systems* 15.

Keppel, Robert D. & William J. Birnes. *The Psychology of Serial Killer Investigations: the Grisly Business Unit* (San Diego: Academic Press, 2003).

Mossman, Douglas. "Connecting Which Dots? Problems in Detecting Uncommon Events" (2007) in A.J.R. Harris & C.A. Page, eds, Sexual Homicide and Paraphilias: The Correctional Service of Canada's Expert Forum 2007, online: Correctional Service Canada http://www.csc-scc.gc.ca.

Murphy, G.R. et al. *Managing a Multijurisdictional Case: Identifying the Lessons Learned from the Sniper Investigation* (report prepared by the Police Executive Research Forum for the Office of Justice Programs (Washington: United States Department of Justice, 2004).

Pinto, Susan & Paul R. Wilson. *Serial Murder,* online: Australian Institute of Criminology http://www.aic.gov.au>.

Rossmo, D. Kim. *Criminal Investigative Failures* (Boca Raton: CRC Press, 2009).

Rossmo, D. Kim. *Geographic Profiling: Target Patterns of Serial Murderers* (Doctoral dissertation, Simon Fraser University, 1995) [unpublished].

Snook, Brent et al. "Serial Murderers' Spatial Decisions: Factors That Influence Crime Location Choice" (2005) 2:3 *Journal of Investigative Psychology and Offender Profiling* 147.

Soothill, Keith et al. *Murder and Serious Sexual Assault: What Criminal Histories Can Reveal About Future Serious Offending:* Police Research Series Paper 144 (London: Home Office, Policing & Reducing Crime Unit, 2002).

Summerfield, Morgan. Seven Obstacles to Serial Murder Investigations: Why Serial Killers Remain at Large, online: http://voices.yahoo.com.

Torres, A.N. et al. "Perceptions of the Validity and Utility of Criminal Profiling Among Forensic Psychologists and Psychiatrists" (2006) 37:1 *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice* 51.

United States Department of State. *Trafficking in Persons Report 2008*, online: Department of State http://www.state.gov>.

Van Patten, I.T. & P. Q. Delhauer. "Sexual Homicide: A Spatial Analysis of 25 Years of Deaths in Los Angeles" (2007) 52:5 *Journal of Forensic Science* 1129.

Missing Persons Investigations

Cohen, Irwin M. et al. A Review of the Nature and Extent of Uncleared Missing Persons Cases in British Columbia (Abbotsford: University College of the Fraser Valley, 2008).

Garda Síochána Inspectorate (Ireland). *Missing Persons Review and Recommendations* (Dublin: Garda Síochána Inspectorate, 2009).

Hedges, Charlie. *Missing You Already: A Guide to the Investigation of Missing Persons* (London: Home Office, 2002).

Henderson, M. & P. Henderson. *Missing Persons: Issues for the Australian Community* (1998) online: Australian Institute of Criminology http://www.aic.gov.au>.

International Association of Chiefs of Police. *Missing Persons Model Policy* (effective September 1994) online: http://www.theiacp.org.

James, Marianne et al. *Missing Persons in Australia*, online: Australian Institute of Criminology http://www.aic.gov.au>.

Kiernan. C. & M. Henderson. *Missing Persons: Extending the Traditional Policing Boundaries to Address a Social Issue* (Canberra City: Australian Bureau of Criminal Intelligence, 2000).

Missing Children and Adults: a Cross Government Strategy (London: Home Office, 2011).

Missing Persons: Volunteers Supporting Law Enforcement (2008?) online: Volunteers in Police Service, International Association of Chiefs of Police http://www.policevolunteers.org.

Missing Persons Investigative Best Practices Protocol, Unidentified Deceased Persons Investigative Guidelines (2007?), online: New Jersey State Police http://www.njsp.org.

National Policing Improvement Agency. *Guidance on the Management, Recording and Investigation of Missing Persons* 2010 (2nd ed) online: NPIA http://www.npia.police.uk>.

National Policing Improvement Agency. *Missing Persons: Data and Analysis, 2009-2010,* online: NPIA http://www.npia.police.uk>.

Newiss, Geoff. Missing presumed...? The Police Response to Missing Persons, Police Research Series Paper 114 (London: Home Office, Policing & Reducing Crime Unit, 1999).

Patterson, Marla Jean. Who is Missing? A Study of Missing Persons in B.C. (M.A. Thesis, Simon Fraser University, 2005) [unpublished].

Pfeifer, Jeffrey. *Missing Persons in Saskatchewan: Police Policy and Practice* (2006) online: Saskatchewan Ministry of Justice http://www.justice.gov.sk.ca.

Report on the 2011 Western Regional Forum on Supporting Families of Missing Persons, prepared by Ministry of Justice and Attorney General for Provincial Partnership Committee on Missing Persons (May 2011) online: Saskatchewan Ministry of Justice http://www.justice.gov.sk.ca.

Report on Victoria Police Missing Person Investigations (2006) online: Office of Police Integrity Victoria http://www.opi.vic.gov.au>.

Ritter, Nancy. "Missing Persons and Unidentified Remains: The Nation's Silent Mass Disaster" (2007) 256 NIJ Journal.

Saskatchewan. *Final Report of the Provincial Partnership Committee on Missing Persons*, (2007) online: Saskatchewan Ministry of Justice http://www.justice.gov.sk.ca.

Saskatchewan First Nations' Women's Commission Secretariat, Federation of Saskatchewan Indian Nations. "Missing First Nations Persons in Saskatchewan: a Preliminary Overview" (March 2007) [unpublished – submitted for review to Provincial Partnership Committee on Missing Persons].

Scoping a National Missing Person Diversity Research Agenda (Canberra: National Missing Persons Coordination Centre, 2009).

Thompson, Nikki. *Exploratory Spatial Data Analysis of Missing & Found Persons in Vancouver* (M.A. Thesis, Simon Fraser University, 2003) [unpublished].

Regionalization of Policing

Easton, Stephen & Kash Heed. *Costs of Policing Models* [Powerpoint presentation] (April 2012) [unpublished].

Fischler, Raphael & Jeanne M. Wolfe. "Regional Restructuring in Montreal: an Historical Analysis" (2000) XXIII:1 *Canadian Journal of Regional Science* 89.

Gehl, Alan Rodney. *The Dynamics of Police Cooperation in Multi-Agency Investigations: Finding Common Ground* (M.A. Thesis, Royal Roads University, 2001) [unpublished].

Gordon, Robert M. & Bob Stewart. *The Case for the Creation of a Metro Vancouver Police Service* (April 2009) [unpublished].

Gordon, Robert M. *Some Policing Models for British Columbia* [Powerpoint presentation] (April 2012) [unpublished].

Graham, Linda. *Regionalization of Policing Services in British Columbia: Quality and Equity Issues*, draft submitted to the Policing in British Columbia Commission of Inquiry, online http://www.llbccat.leg.bc.ca.

Greater Victoria Regional Police Services: A Proposed Model (1985).

Griffiths, Curt Taylor & Stephen Easton. *Options for Service Delivery in the Greater Vancouver Region: a Discussion Paper of the Issues Surrounding the Regionalization of Police Services*, prepared by the Planning, Research and Audit Section for the Vancouver Police Board and Chief Constable Jim Chu, online: Curt Griffiths http://www.curtgriffiths.com.

Helsley, Robert. *Regional Policing: An Economic Analysis,* report prepared for Policing in British Columbia Commission of Inquiry, online: http://www.llbccat.leg.bc.ca.

International Association of Chiefs of Police. *Consolidating Police Services: An IACP Planning Approach*, online: International Association of Chiefs of Police http://www.theiacp.org.

Kines, Linday, Katie DeRosa & Jack Knox. *Patchwork Policing: Four-Part Series*, September 22 – 25, 2010, online: Times Colonist http://www.infomart.ca.

Marin, Hon. Rene J. "Regionalization of Police Services: Is Bigger Better?" in *Policing in Canada: Issues for the 21st Century* (Aurora: Canada Law Book, 1997).

Ministry of Solicitor General, Police Services Branch. *Policing British Columbia in the Year 2001: Report of the Regionalization Study Team*, online http://www.llbccat.leg.bc.ca.

National Policing Improvement Agency. *Guidance on Multi-Agency Interoperability,* online: NPIA http://www.npia.police.uk>.

New Jersey State Association of Chiefs of Police. *Police Department Regionalization, Consolidation, Merger & Shared Services: Important Considerations for Policy Makers,* online: NJSACOP http://www.njsacop.org.

Plecas, Darryl et al. "Evidence-Based Solution to Information Sharing Between Law Enforcement Agencies" (2011) 34:1 *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management* 15.

Police Service Regionalization in the North Okanagan (1983).

Statistics Canada. *Police Resources in Canada, 2011,* online: Statistics Canada http://www.statcan.gc.ca.

Study Group of the Executive Insight Committee Representing the Tri-Community. *Sharing Policing Costs: Review of the SARPLE Formula and Options for Cost-Sharing the Services of the Codiac Regional RCMP*, online: City of Moncton http://www.moncton.ca.

Wood, Dominic. "To Regionalize or Not to Regionalize" (2007) 8:3 *Police Practice and Research: An International Journal* 283.

CHARGE APPROVAL

Clark, Ann R.B. "Charge Approval Considerations" in *Criminal Practice: Materials Prepared for the Continuing Legal Education Society of BC* (Vancouver: Continuing Legal Education Society of British Columbia, 2006).

McCuaig, Gary. *British Columbia Charge Assessment Review,* online: BC Justice Reform Initiative http://bcjusticereform.ca.

Ministry of the Attorney General. *Crown Counsel Policy Manual: Charge Assessment Guidelines*, effective October 2, 2009, online: Ministry of Justice http://www.ag.gov.bc.ca.

Ministry of the Attorney General. *Crown Counsel Policy Manual: Charge Assessment Decision – Police Appeal*, effective November 18, 2005, online: Ministry of Justice http://www.ag.gov.bc.ca.

MISSING WOMEN AND VIOLENCE AGAINST ABORIGINAL WOMEN

Amnesty International Canada. *No More Stolen Sisters: The Need for a Comprehensive Response to Discrimination and Violence Against Indigenous Women in Canada* (2009) online: http://www.amnesty.org>.

Amnesty International Canada. *Stolen Sisters: A Human Rights Response to Discrimination and Violence Against Indigenous Women in Canada* (2004) online: http://www.amnesty.org.

AMR Planning & Consulting. *Collaboration to End Violence: National Aboriginal Women's Forum: Report on Outcomes and Recommendations from Working Sessions* (2011) online: Ministry of Aboriginal Relations and Reconciliation http://www.gov.bc.ca.

Brennan, Shannon. *Violent Victimization of Aboriginal Women in the Canadian Provinces*, 2009 (Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 2011).

Byrne, Tracy. Stopping Violence Against Aboriginal Women - A Summary of Root Causes, Vulnerabilities and Recommendations from Key Literature (Victoria: BC Ministry of Citizens' Services, 2011).

Cooper, Jamie & Tanisha Salomons. *Addressing Violence Against Aboriginal Women: FNSP Practicum for Battered Women's Support Services* (2010) online: Battered Women's Support Services http://www.bwss.org.

Coordinating Committee of Senior Officials (Criminal) Missing Women Working Group, Report and Recommendations on Issues Related to the High Number of Missing and Murdered Women in Canada (Charlottetown: Federal-Provincial-Territorial Meeting of Ministers Responsible for Justice and Public Safety, 2012).

Coordinating Committee of Senior Officials Missing Women Working Group. Report: Issues Related to the High Number of Murdered and Missing Women in Canada, September 2010.

Erickson, Mavis A. Where are the Women? Report of the Special Representative on the Protection of First Nations Women's Rights (January 2001) [unpublished].

Erickson, Mavis A. Don't Ever Think of A Woman As Being A Woman: Replacing Assimilationist Way With Our Way (LL.M. work requirement, 1996) [unpublished].

House of Commons, Standing Committee on the Status of Women. *Interim Report, Call Into the Night: An Overview of Violence Against Aboriginal Women* (March 2011) (Chair: Hedy Fry).

Jacobs, Beverley. Submission to Standing Committee on the Status of Women, Call into the Night: An Overview of Violence Against Aboriginal Women (March 2011).

Jacobs, Beverley & Andrea J. Williams. "Legacy of Residential Schools: Missing and Murdered Aboriginal Women" in Marlene Brant Castellano, Linda Archibald & Mike DeGagné, eds, From Truth to Reconciliation: Transforming the Legacy of Residential Schools (Ottawa: Aboriginal Healing Foundation, 2008).

Lheidli T'enneh First Nation, Carrier Sekani Family Services, Carrier Sekani Tribal Council, Prince George Native Friendship Centre & Prince George Nechako Aboriginal Employment & Training Association. *Highway of Tears Symposium Recommendations Report* (2006) online: Union of British Columbia Indian Chiefs http://www.ubcic.bc.ca.

McEvoy, M. & J. Daniluk. "Wounds to the Soul: The Experiences of Aboriginal Women Survivors of Sexual Abuse" (1995) 36 Canadian Psychology 221.

Native Women's Association of Canada. *Collaboration to End Violence: National Aboriginal Women's Forum, June 15-17, 2011, Vancouver, BC: Final Report for Department of Justice* (2011) online: Native Women's Association of Canada http://www.nwac.ca.

Native Women's Association of Canada. *Small Steps on a Long Journey: Submission to the International Expert Group Meeting* (December 2011).

Native Women's Association of Canada. *Voices of Our Sisters in Spirit: A Report to Families and Communities,* 2nd ed, (2009), online: Native Women's Association of Canada http://www.nwac.ca.

Native Women's Association of Canada. *Voices of Our Sisters in Spirit: A Research and Policy Report to Families and Communities* (2008), online: Native Women's Association of Canada http://www.nwac.ca.

Native Women's Association of Canada. *What Their Stories Tell Us: Research Findings from the Sisters in Spirit Initiative* (2010), online: Native Women's Association of Canada http://www.nwac.ca>.

Pacific Association of First Nations Women, Ending Violence Association of BC & BC Women's Hospital & Health Centre. *Researched to Death: B.C. Aboriginal Women and Violence: Final Report* (2005) online: Ending Violence Association of BC http://www.endingviolence.org.

Sikka, Annette. *Trafficking of Aboriginal Girls and Women in Canada: Aboriginal Policy Research Series,* online: Institute on Governance ">http://iog.

Taillon, Joan. "Sacred Lives [National Aboriginal Consultation Project]" (2001) 18:9 Windspeaker 8.

Torn From Our Midst: Voices of Grief, Healing and Action from the Missing Indigenous Women Conference, 2008, A. Brenda Anderson, Wendee Kubik, Mary Ruckles Hampton, eds, (Regina: Canadian Plains Research Center, 2010).

VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND THE LAW

Bacik, I. et al. *The Legal Process and Victims of Rape* (Dublin: Dublin Rape Crisis Centre, 1998).

Benedet, Janine & Isabel Grant. "Hearing the Sexual Assault Complaints of Women with Mental Disabilities: Evidentiary and Procedural Issues" (2007) 52 McGill Law Journal 515.

Daylen, Judith et al. *Trauma, Trials and Transformation: Guiding Sexual Assault Victims Through the Legal System and Beyond* (Toronto: Irwin Law, 2006).

Dionne, Martin. "Voices of Women Not Heard: The Bernardo Investigation Review: Report of Mr. Justice Archie Campbell" (1997) 9 Canadian Journal of Women and the Law 394.

Doe, Jane et al. "Editorial" (2010) 28:1 Canadian Woman Studies 3.

Ellison, Louise. "Witness Preparation and the Prosecution of Rape" (2007) 27:2 *Legal Studies* 171.

Fairstein, L. Sexual Violence: Our War Against Rape (New York: Berkeley Publishing Group, 1995).

Gazurek, Eva & Anne Saris. The Protection of Women as Witnesses in the ICTR: Recommendations for Policies and Procedures for Respecting the Rights, Addressing the Needs and Effectively Involving Women in the ICTR Process (Montreal: Coalition for Women's Human Rights in Conflict Situations, 2002).

Hartley, C. "A Therapeutic Jurisprudence Approach to the Trial Process in Domestic Violence Felony Trials" (2003) 9(4) Violence Against Women 410.

Have you been sexually assaulted? Information for Survivors of Sexual Assault, prepared by Sexual Assault Service, BC Women's Hospital & Health Centre and Women Against Violence Against Women (6th ed) (Vancouver: Sexual Assault Service, 2011).

Johnson, Holly. "Limits of a Criminal Justice Response: Trends in Police and Court Processing of Sexual Assault" in Elizabeth Sheehy, ed. *Sexual Assault Law, Practice and Activism in a Post-Jane Doe Era* (Ottawa: University of Ottawa, 2010).

Kelly, L. Routes to (In)justice: A Research Review on the Reporting, Investigation and Prosecution of Rape Cases (London: Her Majesty's Crown Prosecution Service Inspectorate, 2002).

Konradi, A. "Understanding Rape Survivors' Preparations for Court" (1996) 2 *Violence Against Women* 25.

Lovett, Jo & Liz Kelly. *Different Systems, Similar Outcomes? Tracking Attrition in Reported Rape Cases Across Europe* (London: Child and Women Abuse Studies Unit, London Metropolitan University, 2009).

Randall, Melanie. "Sexual Assault Law, Credibility, and "Ideal Victims": Consent, Resistance and Victim-Blaming" (2010) 22(2) Canadian Journal of Women and the Law.

Razack, Sharene. "Gendered Racial Violence and Spatialized Justice: The Murder of Pamela George" (2000) 15(2) Canadian Journal of Law and Society 91.

Savarese, Josephine L. "'Doing No Violence to the Sentence Imposed': Racialized Sex Worker Complainants, Racialized Offenders, and the Feminization of the Homo Sacer in Two Sexual Assault Cases" (2010) 22:2 Special Issue of the Canadian Journal of Women and the Law 365.

Sheehy, Elizabeth. "Causation, Common Sense and the Common Law: Replacing Unexamined Assumptions with What We Know About Male Violence Against Women or from Jane Doe to Bonnie Mooney" (2006) 17 Canadian Journal of Women and the Law 97.

Sheehy, Elizabeth. "Legal Responses to Violence Against Women in Canada" (1999) 19:2 Canadian Woman Studies 62.

Sheehy, Elizabeth. "The Victories of Jane Doe" in *Sexual Assault Law, Practice and Activism in a Post-Jane Doe Era* (Ottawa: University of Ottawa Press, 2010).

Stern, Baroness Vivian. The Stern Review (London: Home Office, 2010).

PROSTITUTION

Prostitution and the Law

Aboriginal Women's Action Network. *Statement Opposing Legalized Prostitution & Total Decriminalization of Prostitution* (December 2007).

Anderson, Arnie. *Taking Dialogue to the Stroll: Vancouver Adopts a New Strategy to Deal with the Sex Trade* (Simon Fraser University, 2005) [unpublished].

Assistant Deputy Ministers' Committee on Prostitution and the Sexual Exploitation of Youth. *Sexual Exploitation of Youth in British Columbia* (Victoria: BC Ministry of Attorney General, Ministry for Children and Families, Ministry of Health and Ministry Responsible for Seniors, 2000).

Cool, Julie. *Prostitution in Canada: An Overview* (Ottawa: Political and Social Affairs Division, Library of Parliament, 2004), online: Government of Canada http://www.publications.gc.ca.

House of Commons, Standing Committee on Justice and Human Rights. *The Challenge of Change: A Study of Canada's Criminal Prostitution Laws: Report* (2006), online: Parliament of Canada http://www.parl.gc.ca.

Larsen, E. Nick. "The Effect of Different Police Enforcement Policies on the Control of Prostitution" (1996) 22:1 *Canadian Public Policy* 40.

LeBeuf, Marcel-Eugene. Control or Regulation of Prostitution in Canada: Implications for the Police (Ottawa: Research and Evaluation Branch, Community, Contract and Aboriginal Policing Services Directorate, Royal Canadian Mounted Police, 2006).

LeBeuf, Marcel-Eugene. *Points of View on Prostitution: What Should Canada Do About It? Interviews with Gunilla Ekberg and John Lowman* (Ottawa: Research and Evaluation Branch, Community, Contract and Aboriginal Policing Services Directorate, Royal Canadian Mounted Police, 2007).

Lowman, John. "Deadly Inertia: A History of Constitutional Challenges to Canada's Criminal Code Sections on Prostitution" (2011) 2:2 *Beijing Law Review* 33.

Lowman, John. "The Hypocrisy of Prostitution Law: A Challenge to the Politicians of Canada" *The Province* (28 September 1997), online: The Province http://www.infomart.ca.

Lowman, John. "Notions of Formal Equality Before the Law: The Experience of Street Prostitutes and Their Customers" (1993) 1:2 *Critical Criminology* 55.

Lowman, John. "Prostitution in Vancouver: Some Notes on the Genesis of a Social Problem" (1989) 28:1 Canadian Journal of Criminology 1.

Lowman, John. "Prostitution Law Reform in Canada" (1989) 23 Comparative Law Review 3.

Lowman, John. "Reconvening the Federal Committee on Prostitution Law Reform" (2004) 171:2 Canadian Medical Association Journal 147.

Lowman, John. Street Prostitution: Assessing the Impact of the Law – Vancouver (Ottawa: Department of Justice Canada, 1990).

Lowman, John. Submission to the Subcommittee on Solicitation Laws of the Standing Committee on Justice, Human Rights, Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness (February 2005).

Lowman, John. Vancouver Field Study of Prostitution Research Notes (Ottawa: Department of Justice, 1984).

Moses, M. "Understanding and Applying Research on Prostitution" (2006) *National Institute of Justice Journal* 255.

Pivot Legal Society. *Beyond Decriminalization: Sex Work, Human Rights and a New Framework for Law Reform* (2006), online: Pivot Legal Society http://www.pivotlegal.org.

Pivot Legal Society, Sex Work Subcommittee. *Voices for Dignity: A Call to End the Harms Caused by Canada's Sex Trade Laws*, online: Pivot Legal Society http://www.pivotlegal.org>.

Raymond, Janice G. "Ten Reasons for Not Legalizing Prostitution and a Legal Response to the Demand for Prostitution" (2003) 2 *Journal of Trauma Practice* 315 and in Melissa Farley, ed, *Prostitution, Trafficking and Traumatic Stress* (Binghamton: Haworth Press, 2003).

Regulating Sex: An Anthology of Commentaries on the Findings and Recommendations of the Badgley and Fraser Reports, John Lowman et al, eds, (Burnaby: Simon Fraser University, School of Criminology, 1986).

Robertson, James R. *Prostitution* (2003), online: Government of Canada http://www.publications.gc.ca.

Shannon, K. "The Hypocrisy of Canada's Prostitution Legislation" (2010) 182:12 Canadian Medical Association Journal 1388.

Violence Against STWs

Bowen & Shannon Frontline Consulting. *Human Trafficking, Sex Work Safety and the 2010 Games: Assessment and Recommendations* (Vancouver: Sex Industry Worker Safety Action Group, 2009).

Brewer, Devon D. et al. "Extent, Trends and Perpetrators of Prostitution-Related Homicide in the United States" (2006) 51:5 *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 1101.

Cler-Cunningham, Leonard & Christine Christensen. Studying Violence to Stop It: Canadian Research on Violence Against Women in Vancouver's Street Level Sex Trade (2001) Research for Sex Work 4, online: Global Network of Sex Work Projects http://www.nswp.org.

Cler-Cunningham, Leonard & Christine Christensen. *Violence Against Women in Vancouver's Street Level Sex Trade and the Police Response* (2001) online: PACE Society: Providing Alternatives Counselling & Education Society http://www.pace-society.org.

Currie, S. et al. Assessing the Violence Against Street Involved Women in the Downtown Eastside/Strathcona Community (unpublished, 1995).

Dudek, Jonathan Adam. When Silenced Voices Speak: An Exploratory Study of Prostitute Homicide (Doctoral Dissertation, MCP Hahnemann University, 2001) [unpublished].

Hunt, Sarah. *Violence in the Lives of Sexually Exploited Youth and Adult Sex Workers in BC* (2006) online: Justice Institute of BC http://www.jibc.ca.

Lowman, John & Laura Fraser. *Violence Against Persons Who Prostitute: The Experience in British Columbia* (Ottawa: Department of Justice, 1995).

Lowman, John. "Violence and the Outlaw Status of (Street) Prostitution in Canada" (2000) 6:9 *Violence Against Women* 987.

O'Doherty, Tamara. "Victimization in Off-Street Sex Industry Work" (2011) XX:X *Violence Against Women* 1.

Quinet, Kenna. "Prostitutes as Victims of Serial Homicide: Trends and Case Characteristics, 1970 – 2009" (2011) 15(1) *Homicide Studies* 74.

Rekart, Michael L. "Sex-Work Harm Reduction" (2005) 366 Lancet 2123.

Safer Sex in the City: the Experience and Management of Street Prostitution, David Canter, Maria Ioannou, Donna Youngs, eds, (Burlington: Ashgate Publishing Company, 2009).

Shannon, K. et al. "Mapping Violence and Policing as an Environmental-Structural Barrier to Health Service and Syringe Availability Among Women in Survival Sex Work" (2008) 19:2 *International Journal of Drug Policy* (Specific Issue on Women and Harm Reduction) 140.

Shannon, K. et al. "Prevalence and Structural Correlates of Gender-Based Violence Among a Cohort of Female Sex Workers" (2009) 339 *British Medical Journal* b2939.

Shannon, K. et al. "Social and Structural Violence and Power Relations in Mitigating HIV Risk of Drug-Using Women in Survival Sex Work" (2008) 66:4 Social Science and Medicine 911.

Drug Use and Health

Chettiar, J. et al. "Survival Sex Work Involvement Among Street-Involved Youth Who Use Drugs in a Canadian Setting" (2010) 32:3 *Journal of Public Health* 322.

Deering, Kathleen et al. "A Peer-Led Mobile Outreach Program and Increased Utilization of Detoxification and Residential Drug Treatment Among Female Sex Workers Who Use Drugs in a Canadian Setting" (2010) 113:1 *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 46.

Duff, P. et al. "High Lifetime Pregnancy and Low Contraceptive Usage Among Sex Workers Who Use Drugs: An Unmet Reproductive Health Need" (2011) 11:61 *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*.

Shannon, K. et al. "Community-Based HIV Prevention Research with Substance-Using Women in Survival Sex Work: The Maka Project" (2007) 4 Harm Reduction Journal 20.

Shannon, K. et al. "Crystal Methamphetamine Use Among Female Street-Based Sex Workers: Beyond Individual-Focused Interventions" (2011) 113(1) *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 76.

Shannon, K. et al. "Sexual and Drug-Related Vulnerabilities to HIV Infection Among Women Engaged in Survival Sex Work in Vancouver, Canada" (2007) 98:6 Canadian Journal of Public Health 465.

Shannon, K. et al. "Structural and Environmental Barriers to Condom Negotiation with Clients Among Female Sex Workers: Implications for HIV Prevention Strategies and Policy" (2009) 99:4 *American Journal of Public Health* 659.

Shannon, K. et al. Survival Sex Work Involvement as a Primary Risk Factor for Hepatitis C Virus Acquisition in Drug-Using Youths in a Canadian Setting (2010) 164(1) *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine* 61.

Shannon, K. & J. Csete. "Violence, Condom Negotiation and HIV/STI Risk Among Sex Workers" (2010) 304:5 *Journal of the American Medical Association* (Special Issue on Violence and Human Rights) 573.

Stoltz, J.A. et al. "Associations Between Childhood Maltreatment and Sex Work in a Cohort of Drug-Using Youth" (2007) 65:6 *Social Science and Medicine* 1214.

STW Community and Community Services

Benoit, Cecilia & Alison Millar. *Dispelling Myths and Understanding Realities: Working Conditions, Health Status, and Exiting Experiences of Sex Workers*, short report, (2001) online: Prostitutes Empowerment, Education and Resource Society (PEERS) http://www.peers.bc.ca.

Casey, Lauren & Rachel Philips. *Behind Closed Doors: Summary of Findings* (2008), online: Prostitutes Empowerment, Education and Resource Society (PEERS) http://www.peers.bc.ca>.

Lazarus, L. et al. "Occupational Stigma as a Primary Barrier to Health Service Access Among Street-Based Sex Workers in an Urban Canadian Setting" (2012) 14(2) *Culture Health and Sexuality* 139.

Living in Community. *Balancing Perspectives on Vancouver's Sex Industry, Action Plan* (2007), online: Living in Community http://www.livingincommunity.ca.

Prostitution Awareness and Action Foundation of Edmonton. *Report: Breaking Down Barriers One Step at a Time* (2005), online: Centre to End All Sexual Exploitation http://www.ceasenow.org>.

Rabinovitch, Jannit & Megan Lewis. *Impossible, Eh? The Story of Peers* (2001), online: Prostitutes Empowerment, Education and Resource Society (PERS) http://www.peers.bc.ca.

Ricketts, Trina et al. *A History of Sex Work: Vancouver: Who We Were/Who We Are* (2007), online: Simon Fraser University http://www.sfu.ca.

Miscellaneous

Duff, P. et al. "Homelessness Among a Cohort of Women in Street-Based Sex Work: The Need for Safer Environment Interventions" (2011) 11:643 BMC Public Health.

Giordano, J. Michele. *An Overview of the Current Strategies for Exiting Street Level Prostitution: What Works?* (M.A. Thesis, University of the Fraser Valley, 2010?) [unpublished].

Johnston, C. L. "Offer of Financial Incentives for Unprotected Sex in the Context of Sex Work" (2010) 29(2) *Drug and Alcohol Review* 144.

Krusi, Andrea et al. "Negotiating Safety and Sexual Risk Reduction with Clients in Unsanctioned Safer Indoor Sex Work Environments: A Qualitative Study" (2012) 102:6 *American Journal of Public Health* 1154.

Lazarus, L. et al. "Risky Health Environments: Women Sex Workers' Struggles to Find Safe, Secure and Non-Exploitative Housing in Canada's Poorest Postal Code" (2011) 73(11) Social Science and Medicine, 1600.

Louie, Christine G. *Community Attitudes to Street Prostitution: The Downtown Eastside & Strathcona* (Hons. Thesis, Criminology, Simon Fraser University, 2009) [unpublished].

Lowman, John. An Example of the Municipal Regulation of Off-Street Commercial Sex: Vancouver's Prostitution Licensing By-Laws, 2005 [unpublished].

Lowman, John & Chris Atchison. "Men Who Buy Sex: A Survey in the Greater Vancouver Regional District" (2006) 43:3 Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology 281.

Lowman, John et al. *Men Who Buy Sex, Phase 2: The Client Survey* (Victoria: Ministry of Attorney General, 1997).

Lowman, John & L. Fraser. *Prostitution in the Vancouver Metropolitan Area,* 1989-1995 (Ottawa: Department of Justice, 1995).

McIntyre, Dr. Susan. *Under the Radar: The Sexual Exploitation of Young Men – British Columbia Edition* (2006), online: Hindsight Group http://www.hindsightgroup.com>.

O'Doherty, Tamara. *Off-Street Commercial Sex: An Exploratory Study* (M.A. Thesis, Simon Fraser University, 2007) [unpublished].

DRUG USE, HOMELESSNESS AND THE DTES

Andresen, Martin A. & Neil Boyd. "A Cost-Benefit and Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Vancouver's Supervised Injection Facility" (2010) 21 *International Journal of Drug Policy* 70.

Anema, Aranka et al. "Hunger and Associated Harms Among Injection Drug Users in an Urban Canadian Setting" (2010) 5 *Substance Abuse, Treatment, Prevention, and Policy* 20.

At Home: Interim Report (2012), online: Mental Health Commission of Canada http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca>.

BC Society of Transition Houses. *Report on Violence Against Women, Mental Health and Substance Use* (Vancouver: BC Society of Transition Houses, 2011).

Boyd, Neil et al. "Drug Use and Violence: Rethinking the Connections" (1991) 3:1 *Critical Criminology* 67.

Campbell, Larry, Neil Boyd & Lori Culbert. *A Thousand Dreams: Vancouver's Downtown Eastside and the Fight for Its Future* (Vancouver: Greystone Books, 2009).

Clarkes, Lincoln. *Heroines: the Photographs of Lincoln Clarkes* (Vancouver: Anvil Press, 2002).

DeBeck, K. et al. "Income Generating Activities of People Who Inject Drugs" (2007) 91 *Drug & Alcohol Dependence* 50.

DeBeck, K. et al. "Interest in Low-Threshold Employment Among People Who Inject Illicit Drugs: Implications for Street Disorder" (2011) 22(5) *The International Journal of Drug Policy*, 376.

Fairbairn, N. et al. "Seeking Refuge from Violence in Street-Based Drug Scenes: Women's Experiences in North America's First Supervised Injection Facility" (2008) 6:5 *Social Science and Medicine* 817.

Farley, Melissa et al. "Prostitution in Vancouver: Violence and the Colonization of First Nations Women" (2005) 42 *Transcultural Psychiatry* 242.

Fast, D. et al. "Coming 'Down Here': Young People's Reflections on Becoming Entrenched in a Local Drug Scene" (2009) 69(8) *Social Science & Medicine* 1204.

Fast, D. et al. "Safety and Danger in Downtown Vancouver: Understandings of Place Among Young People Entrenched in an Urban Drug Scene" (2009) 16:1 *Health & Place* 51.

Fournier, Bonnie. *Mugged, Drugged and Shrugged: The Wrong Side of the Eastside*. (Bloomington: Trafford Publishing, 2010).

Kerr, T. et al. *Findings from the Evaluation of Vancouver's Medically Supervised Safer Injection Facility – Insite* (2009), online: British Columbia Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS http://www.cfenet.ubc.ca.

Kerr, T. et al. "Injection Drug Use Among Street-Involved Youth in a Canadian Setting" (2009) 9 *BMC Public Health* 171.

Marshall, Brandon D.L. et al. "High Prevalence of HIV Infection Among Homeless and Street-Involved Aboriginal Youth in a Canadian Setting" (2008) 5 *Harm Reduction Journal* 35.

Marshall, Brandon D.L. "Homelessness and Unstable Housing Associated with an Increased Risk of HIV and STI Transmission Among Street-Involved Youth" (2009) 15:3 *Health & Place* 753.

Marshall, Brandon D.L. "Pathways to HIV Risk and Vulnerability Among Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgendered Methamphetamine Users: a Multi-Cohort Gender-Based Analysis" (2001) 11 *BMC Public Health* 20.

Marshall, Brandon D.L. et al. "Physical Violence Among a Prospective Cohort of Injection Drug Users: A Gender-Focused Approach" (2008) 97:3 *Drug & Alcohol Dependence* 237.

Maté, Gabor. *In the Realm of Hungry Ghosts: Close Encounters with Addiction* (Mississauga: Vintage Canada, 2009).

"Me, I'm Living It": the Primary Health Care Experiences of Women Who Use Drugs in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside: Summary of Findings from the VANDU Women's Clinic Action Research for Empowerment Study (Vancouver: Women's Health Research Institute, 2009).

Ministry of Housing and Social Development. *Homelessness: Clear Focus Needed - March 2009, Detailed Ministry Action Plan for Implementing the 7 Recommendations,* online: Office of the Auditor General of British Columbia http://www.bcauditor.com>.

Office of the Auditor General of British Columbia. *Homelessness: Clear Focus Needed* (2009), online: Office of the Auditor General of British Columbia http://www.bcauditor.com>.

Pivot Legal Society. Security Before Justice: A Study of the Impacts of Private Security on Homelessness and Under-Housed Vancouver Residents (2008), online: Pivot Legal Society http://www.pivotlegal.org.

Pivot Legal Society. *To Serve and Protect: A Report on Policing in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside* (2002), online: Pivot Legal Society http://www.pivotlegal.org.

Poole, Nancy. Evaluation of the Sheway Project for High-Risk, Pregnant and Parenting Women (Vancouver: British Columbia Centre of Excellence for Women's Health, 2000).

Regional Homelessness Plan, online: Metro Vancouver http://www.metrovancouver.org.

Small, Will et al. "Impacts of Intensified Police Activity on Injection Drug Users: Evidence from an Ethnographic Investigation" (2006) 17 International Journal of Drug Policy 85.

Small, Will et al. "Social Influences Upon Injection Initiation Among Street-Involved Youth in Vancouver: a Qualitative Study" (2009) 4 Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy 8.

Surratt, Hilary et al. "Sex Work and Drug Use in a Subculture of Violence" (2004) 50:1 *Crime and Delinquency* 45.

Thompson, Scott. *Policing Vancouver's Mentally III: The Disturbing Truth: Beyond Lost in Transition*, online: Vancouver Police Department http://www.vpd.ca.

Whitzman, C. "At the Intersection of Invisibilities: Canadian Women, Homelessness and Health Outside the 'Big City'" (2006) 13:4 *Homicide Studies* 383.

Wilson-Bates, Fiona. Lost in Transition: How a Lack of Capacity in the Mental Health System is Failing Vancouver's Mentally Ill and Draining Police Resources, online: Vancouver Police Department http://www.vpd.ca.

Wood, E. et al. *Drug Situation in Vancouver,* report prepared by the Urban Health Research Initiative of the BC Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS (2009), online: BC Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDs http://www.cfenet.ubc.ca.

MISCELLANEOUS

Abella, Honourable Rosalie Silberman. "International Law and Human Rights: The Power and the Pity" (2010) 55 McGill Law Journal 871.

Aboriginal Justice Implementation Commission. *Report of the Aboriginal Justice Inquiry of Manitoba* (1999), online: AJIA http://www.ajic.mb.ca.

Anthony, Russell J. & Alastair R. Lucas. *A Handbook on the Conduct of Public Inquiries in Canada* (Toronto: Butterworths, 1985).

Australian Public Service Commission. *Tackling Wicked Problems: A Public Policy Perspective* (Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia, 2007).

Baddeley, A., M.W. Eysenck & M.C. Anderson. *Memory* (Sussex: Psychology Press, 2009).

Bala, Nicholas et al. *Testimonial Support Provisions for Children and Vulnerable Adults (Bill C-2): Case Law Review and Perceptions of the Judiciary* (Calgary: Canadian Research Institute for Law and the Family, 2009).

Beare, Margaret. *The History and the Future of Politics in Policing* (Ipperwash Inquiry Research Papers) online: Attorney General of Ontario http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca.

Beasley, Teresa Metcalf, Mary Bounds & Megan O'Bryan. Special Commission on Missing Persons and Sex Crimes Investigations: Final Report (Cleveland: Special Commission on Missing Persons and Sex Crimes, 2010).

Beaulac, Stéphane. "Recent Developments on the Role of International Law in Canadian Statutory Interpretation" (2004) 25(1) Statute Law Review.

Bernardo Investigation Review, Report of Mr. Justice Archie Campbell [Commissioner: Justice Archie Campbell] (Ontario: Ministry of the Solicitor General and Correctional Services, 1996).

"The Bernardo Investigation Review" in Allan Manson & David Mullan, eds., Commissions of Inquiry, Praise or Reappraise? (Toronto: Irwin Law Inc., 2003).

Boer, Peter. Canadian Crime Investigations: Hunting Down Serial Killers (Edmonton: Folklore Publishing, 2006).

Bohlen, Francis H. "The Moral Duty to Aid Others as a Basis of Tort Liability" (1908) 56 *University of Pennsylvania Law Review* 217.

Boyd, Neil. *Confidence in the Justice System in BC: The Problem, Consequences and Potential Remedies* (Vancouver: British Columbia Branch of the Canadian Bar Association, 2010).

Boyd, Neil. Sexuality and Violence, Imagery and Reality: Censorship and the Criminal Control of Obscenity, Working Paper #16, (Ottawa: Research & Statistics, Department of Justice, 1985).

Boyd, Neil & Margaret A. Jackson. "Reducing the Risks of Pleasure: Responding to AIDS in Canada" (1988) 14:4 Canadian Public Policy 347.

Boyd, Susan, Donal MacPherson & Bud Osborn. *Raise Shit! Social Action Saving Lives* (Halifax: Fernwood Publishing, 2009).

Branfield, Fran. A Consultation on the Crown Prosecution Service Policy on Prosecuting Criminal Cases Involving People with Mental Health Problems as Victims and Witnesses (2009) online: Crown Prosecution Service http://www.cps.gov.uk.

Brink, J. et al. A *Study of How People with Mental Illness Perceive and Interact with the Police* (2011) online: Mental Health Commission of Canada http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca.

Brzozowski, Jodi-Anne, Andrew Taylor-Butts & Sara Johnson. *Victimization and Offending Among the Aboriginal Population in Canada*, online: Statistics Canada http://www.statcan.gc.ca.

Burton, Mandy et al. *Are Special Measures for Vulnerable and Intimidated Witnesses Working? Evidence from the Criminal Justice Agencies* (Home Office Online Report 01/06), online: Home Office http://library.npia.police.uk>.

Byford, Lawrence. *The Yorkshire Ripper Case: Review of the Police Investigation of the Case.* (London: Home Office, 1981).

Cameron, Jamie. *Victim Privacy and the Open Court Principle* (Ottawa: Policy Centre for Victim Issues, Department of Justice, 2003).

Canadian Bar Association. *Touchstones for Change: Equality, Diversity and Accountability: Report of the Task Force on Gender Equality in the Legal Profession* (Ottawa: Canadian Bar Association, 1993).

Cariboo-Chilcotin Justice Inquiry. *Report on the Cariboo-Chilcotin Justice Inquiry* [Commissioner: Justice Anthony Sarich] (Victoria: Province of BC, 1993).

Castellano, Marlene Brant. Final Report of the Aboriginal Healing Foundation: Volume 1 – A Healing Journey: Reclaiming Wellness (Ottawa: Aboriginal Healing Foundation, 2006).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Sexual Violence Prevention: Beginning the Dialogue* (Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2004).

Chamberlain, Erika. "What is the Role of Misfeasance in a Public Office in Modern Canadian Tort Law?" (2009) 88 Canadian Bar Review 579.

Chartrand, Larry & Celeste McKay. *A Review of Research on Criminal Victimization and First Nations, Metis and Inuit Peoples 1990 to 2001*, (Ottawa: Policy Centre for Victim Issues, Department of Justice, 2006).

Choudhry, Sujit & Kent Roach. "Racial and Ethnic Profiling: Statutory Discretion, Democratic Accountability and Constitutional Remedies" (2002) 40 Osgoode Hall Law Journal 1.

Christie, Gordon. *Police-Government Relations in the Context of State-Aboriginal Relations*, (Ipperwash Inquiry Research Paper) online: Attorney General of Ontario http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca>.

Civil Justice Working Group. *Effective and Affordable Civil Justice*, report to the Justice Review Task Force (November 2006), online: BC Justice Task Force http://www.bcjusticereview.org.

Cohen, Irwin M., Darryl Plecas & Amanda V. McCormick. *A Comparison of Aboriginal and Non-Aboriginal Missing Persons in British Columbia Where Foul Play Has Not Been Ruled Out* (Abbotsford: University of the Fraser Valley, Centre for Public Safety and Criminal Justice Research, 2009).

Cohen, Lawrence E. & Marcus Felson. "Social Change and Crime Rate Trends: A Routine Activity Approach" (1979) 44(4) *American Sociological Review* 588.

Colter, W.E.C. Report of the Niagara Regional Police Force Inquiry [Commissioner: Honourable W.E.C. Colter, QC] (Ontario: Ministry of the Attorney General, 1993)

Commission on Proceedings Involving Guy Paul Morin. *Report* [Commissioner: Honourable Fred Kaufman C.M., QC] (Toronto: Ontario Ministry of the Attorney General, 1998).

Commission on Systemic Racism in the Ontario Criminal Justice System. Report of the Commission on Systemic Racism in the Ontario Criminal Justice System (Toronto: Queen's Printer for Ontario, 1995).

"Conference to Focus on Murders, Disappearances of Women in Mexico, Guatemala, Canada", *Stanford University News Service* (8 May 2007) online: Stanford University http://www.stanford.edu.

Conklin, J. Dialogue Mapping: Building Shared Understanding of Wicked Problems (West Sussex: John Wiley & Sons, 2008).

Cooper, Shannon Jean Christa. *The Inquiry as a Conflict Management System: Case Study – the Ipperwash Inquiry (M.A.* Thesis, Royal Roads University, 2006) [unpublished].

Cowper, D. Geoffrey. *A Criminal Justice System for the 21st Century: Final Report to the Minister of Justice and Attorney General Honourable Shirley Bond,* online: BC Justice Reform Initiatives http://bcjusticereform.ca.

Culhane, Dara. "Their Spirits Live Within Us: Aboriginal Women in DTES Vancouver Emerging into Visibility" (2003) 27(3&4) *American Indian Quarterly* 593.

Cultivating Canada: Reconciliation Through the Lens of Cultural Diversity, Ashok Mathur, Jonathan Dewar & Mike DeGagne, eds (Ottawa: Aboriginal Healing Foundation, 2011).

Currie, A. & George Kiefl. *Ethnocultural Groups and the Justice System in Canada: A Review of the Issues* (Ottawa: Department of Justice Canada, 1994).

Daly, Erin & Jeremy Sarkin. *Reconciliation in Divided Societies: Finding Common Ground* (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2007)

Davies Commission Inquiry into the Death of Frank Paul. *Alone and Cold:* the Davies Commission Inquiry into the Death of Frank Paul: Interim Report [Commissioner: William H. Davies, QC] (Victoria: Davies Commission Inquiry into the Death of Frank Paul, 2009).

de Grieff, Pablo. "Justice and Reparations" in *Reparations: Interdisciplinary Inquiries*, Jon Miller & Rahul Kumar, eds (Toronto: Oxford University Press, 2007).

Dandurand, Yvon. *Addressing Inefficiencies in the Criminal Justice Process: a Preliminary Review*, prepared for the BC Justice Efficiencies Project, Criminal Justice Reform Secretariat (2009) online: Criminal Justice Reform http://www.criminaljusticereform.gov.bc.ca>.

Durant, Robert H. et al. "The Relationship Between Watching Professional Wrestling on Television and Engaging in Date Fighting Among High School Students" (2006) 118:2 *Pediatrics* 265.

Egger, Steven A. The Killers Among Us: An Examination of Serial Murder and Its Investigation (Upper Saddle River: Prentice-Hall, 2002).

Ellison, Louise. *The Adversarial Process and the Vulnerable Witness* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001).

Ferry, Jon & Damian Inwood. *The Olson Murders: the Story of a Heartless Devil Who Dragged Screaming Children into His Own Dreadful Hell* (Langley: Cameo Books Ltd., 1982).

Fileborn, Bianca. "Addressing Sexual Assault Through Human Rights Instruments" 2010 25 ACSSA Aware, online: Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault http://www.aifs.gov.au.

Fisher, Joseph C. Killer Among Us: Public Reactions to Serial Murder (Westport: Praeger Publishers, 1997).

Fraser, Charlotte & Susan McDonald. *Identifying the Issues: Victim Services' Experiences Working with Victims with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder,* online: Department of Justice http://www.justice.gc.ca.

Fukuda-Parr, S. "What Does Feminization of Poverty Mean? It Isn't Just Lack of Income" (1999) 5:2 Feminist Economics 99.

Funk, J.B. et al. "Violence Exposure in Real-Life, Video Games, Television, Movies and the Internet: Is There Desensitization?" (2004) 27 *Journal of Adolescence* 23.

Gary Ridgway: the Green River Killer: the Story of America's Most Prolific Serial Murderer, told by the reporters who covered the case from the beginning (Seattle: King County Journal, 2003).

Guillen, Tomas. Serial Killers: Issues Explored Through the Green River Murders (Upper Saddle River: Pearson/Prentice Hall, 2007).

Hall, Margaret. "Duty, Causation and Third-Party Perpetrators: The Bonnie Mooney Case" (2005) 50 McGill Law Journal 597.

Hallgrimsdottir, Helga Kristin, Rachel Phillips & Cecilia Benoit. "Fallen Women and Rescued Girls: Social Stigma and Media Narratives of the Sex Industry in Victoria, B.C., from 1980 to 2005" (2006) 43(3) Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology 265.

Herman, Judith. *Trauma and Recovery: The Aftermath of Violence from Domestic Abuse to Political Terror* (New York: Basic Books, 1997).

Holmes, W. Leslie & Bruce L. Northorp. *Where Shadows Linger: the Untold Story of the RCMP's Olson Murders Investigation* (Surrey: Heritage House Publishing Company Ltd., 2000).

Independent Commission on Policing for Northern Ireland (UK). A New Beginning: Policing in Northern Ireland: the Report of the Independent Commission on Policing for Northern Ireland [Chair: Rt. Hon. C. Patten], online: Northern Ireland Office http://www.nio.gov.uk.

Inquiry into Pediatric Forensic Pathology in Ontario, Report [Commissioner: Honourable Stephen T. Goudge], online: Ontario Ministry of the Attorney General http://www.goudgeinquiry.ca.

The Ipperwash Inquiry [Commissioner: Honourable Sidney B. Linden] online: Attorney General of Ontario http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca.

Jenson, Jane. Backgrounder: Thinking About Marginalization: What, Who and Why? (Ottawa: Canadian Policy Research Networks Inc., 2000).

Jonas, George & Barbara Amiel. *By Persons Unknown: the Strange Death of Christine Demeter* (New York: Grove Press Inc., 1977).

Jones, John, DeAnne Aguirre & Matthew Calderone. *10 Principles of Change Management* (2004), online: Booz Allen Hamilton Inc. http://www.booz.com>.

Kishk Anaquot Health Research. Final Report of the Aboriginal Healing Foundation Volume II Measuring Progress: Program Evaluation (Ottawa: Aboriginal Healing Foundation, 2006).

Klein, Seth & Amanda Smith. *Budget Savings on the Backs of the Poor: Who Paid the Price for Welfare Benefit Cuts in BC* (Vancouver: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives BC, 2006).

Koshan, Jennifer. State Responsibility for Protection Against Domestic Violence: The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights Decision in Lenahan (Gonzales) and Its Application in Canada (Windsor: Windsor Yearbook of Access to Justice, 2012).

Kotter, John P. Leading Change (Cambridge: Harvard Business Press, 1995).

Kristjanson, Freya. "'Hot Tubs' and Concurrent Evidence: Improving Administrative Proceedings" (2012) 25:1 *Canadian Journal of Administrative Law & Practice*, 79.

Lamer Commission of Inquiry Pertaining to the Cases of: Ronald Dalton, Gregory Parsons, Randy Druken Report and Annexes [Commissioner: The Right Honourable Antonio Lamer], online: Newfoundland and Labrador Department of Justice http://www.justice.gov.nl.ca.

Law Commission of Canada. *Restoring Dignity: Responding to Child Abuse in Canadian Institutions* (Ottawa: Law Commission of Canada, 2000).

Law Society of British Columbia. *Gender Equality in the Justice System:* A Report of the Law Society of British Columbia Gender Bias Committee, Volumes One and Two (Vancouver: Law Society of British Columbia, 1992).

Le Dain, Gerald. "The Role of the Public Inquiry in Our Constitutional System" in Jacob S. Ziegel, ed. *Law and Social Change* (Toronto: Osgoode Hall Law School, York University, 1973).

Lowman, John. "Crown Expert-Witness Testimony in Bedford v. Canada: Evidence-Based Argument or Victim-Paradigm Hyperbole?" in E. Van der Meulen et al, eds, Selling Sex: Canadian Academics, Advocates, and Sex Workers in Dialogue (Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press, 2012 - forthcoming).

Mahony, Tina Hotton. *Homicide in Canada, 2010* (Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 2011).

Martin, Dianne. *Legal Sites of Executive-Police Relations: Core Principles in A Canadian Context* (Ipperwash Inquiry Research Paper) online: Attorney General of Ontario http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca>.

Ministry of Justice (United Kingdom). *Achieving Best Evidence in Criminal Proceedings: Guidance on Interviewing Victims and Witnesses, and Guidance on Using Special Measures* (2011), online: Crown Prosecution Service http://www.cps.gov.uk>.

Ministry of Justice (United Kingdom). *Vulnerable and Intimidated Witnesses: A Police Service Guide,* (2011), online: Ministry of Justice http://www.justice.gov.uk.

Ministry of the Attorney General. *Crown Counsel Policy Manual [current]*, online: Ministry of Justice http://www.ag.gov.bc.ca.

Ministry of the Attorney General, Criminal Justice Branch. *Crown Counsel Policy Manual*, loose-leaf, January 1, 1991 (Victoria: Province of British Columbia, 1991).

Ministry of the Attorney General, Criminal Justice Branch. *Crown Counsel Policy Manual*, loose-leaf, October 1, 1999 (Victoria: Province of British Columbia, 1999).

Moody, Sue. "Vulnerable Witnesses: Rights and Responsibilities" (Paper delivered at the International Society for the Reform of Criminal Law, 19th International Conference, June 2005) [unpublished].

Morrow, Marina, Olena Hankivsky & Colleen Varcoe. "Women and Violence: The Effects of Dismantling the Welfare State" (2004) 24 (3) *Critical Social Policy* 358.

Mulgrew, Ian. Final Payoff: The True Cost of Convicting Clifford Robert Olson (Toronto: Doubleday Limited Canada, 1990).

Musalo, Karen, Elisabeth Pellegrin & S. Shawn Roberts. "Crimes Without Punishment: Violence Against Women in Guatemala" (2010) 21:2 *Hastings Women's Law Journal* 161.

New South Wales Families and Friends of Missing Persons. *It's the Hope that Hurts: Best Practice in Counselling Models Relevant to Families and Friends of Missing Persons* (Sydney: New South Wales Attorney General and Minister of Justice, 2001).

Newton, Michael. Serial Killers (New York: Chelsea House, 2008).

O'Connor, Dennis. "The Role of Commission Counsel in a Public Inquiry" (2003) 22:1 *Advocates' Society Journal* 9.

O'Connor, Dennis. "Some Observations on Public Inquiries", delivered at the Canadian Institute for the Administration of Justice Annual Conference, Halifax (10 October 2007), online: Court of Appeal for Ontario http://www.ontariocourts.ca.

Oppal, Wallace T. *Closing the Gap: Policing and the Community* [Commissioner: Honourable Wallace T. Oppal, QC] (Victoria: Policing in British Columbia Commission of Inquiry, 1994).

Padilla, C. A Primer on the Inquiry Procedure under the OP CEDAW (New York: EnGendeRights Inc., 2010).

Pivot Legal Society. *Cultural Divide: A Neighbourhood Study of Immigrant Rental Housing in Vancouver* (2008), online: Pivot Legal Society http://www.pivotlegal.org.

Police and Government Relations: Who's Calling the Shots?, Margaret E. Beare & Tonita Murray, eds (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2007).

The Politics of Reconciliation in Multicultural Societies, Will Kymlicka & Bashir Bashir, eds (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008).

The Poverty and Human Rights Centre. *The Role of International Social and Economic Rights in the Interpretation of Domestic Law in Canada – Law Sheet.* (February 1, 2008) online: Poverty and Human Rights Center http://povertyandhumanrights.org.

Pratt, Geraldine. "Abandoned Women and Spaces of the Exception" (2005) 37 (5) *Antipode* 1052.

Protecting Their Rights: A Systemic Review of Human Rights in Correctional Services for Federally Sentenced Women (2003), online: Canadian Human Rights Commission http://www.chrc-ccdp.ca.

Provision of Therapy for Vulnerable or Intimidated Adult Witnesses Prior to a Criminal Trial – Practice, online: Crown Prosecution Service http://www.cps.gov.uk.

Quinet, Kenna. "The Missing Missing: Toward a Quantification of Serial Murder Victimization in the United States" (2007) 11 *Homicide Studies* 319.

Ratushny, Ed. *The Conduct of Public Inquiries: Law, Policy and Practice* (Toronto: Irwin Law Inc., 2009).

Reichert, David. Chasing the Devil: My Twenty-Year Quest to Capture the Green River Killer (New York: Little, Brown and Company, 2004).

Rittel, H.W.J., & M.M. Webber. "Dilemmas in a General Theory of Planning" (1973) 4 *Policy Sciences*.

Roach, Kent. *The Overview: Four Models of Police-Government Relationships* (Ipperwash Inquiry Research Papers) online: Attorney General of Ontario http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca>.

Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. *Bridging the Cultural Divide: a Report on Aboriginal People and Criminal Justice in Canada,* online: http://www.firstfound.org.

Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. *People to People, Nation to Nation,* online: Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada http://www.aadnc-aandc.gc.ca.

Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. *Report of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples,* online: Indian and Northern Affairs Canada (archived website) http://www.collectionscanada.gc.ca.

Ruhl, Katharine. Guatemala's Femicides and the Ongoing Struggle for Women's Human Rights: Update to CGRS's 2005 Report Getting Away With Murder (San Francisco: Hastings College of the Law, Center for Gender & Refugee Studies, 2006).

Rule, Ann. Green River, Running Red: the Real Story of the Green River Killer – America's Deadliest Serial Murderer (New York: Pocket Star Books, 2004).

Senate, Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs. *Public Protection, Privacy and the Search for Balance: a Statutory Review of the DNA Identification Act: Final Report* (2010) online: Parliament of Canada http://www.parl.gc.ca.

Simmons, William Paul. "Remedies for the Women of Ciudad Juárez through the Inter-American Court of Human Rights" 4 Northwestern University Journal of International Human Rights 492.

Sossin, Lorne. "Discretion Unbound: Reconciling Soft Law and the Charter" (2002) 45 Canadian Public Administration 465.

Sossin, Lorne. The Oversight of Executive Police Relations in Canada: The Constitution, the Court, Administrative Processes and Democratic Governance [Research Paper Commissioned by the Ipperwash Inquiry] (2007) online: Attorney General of Ontario http://www.attorneygeneral.ips.gov.on.ca.

Stanton, Kim. "Canada's Truth and Reconciliation Commission: Settling the Past?" (2011) 2(3) *The International Indigenous Policy Journal*.

Stanton, Kim. "Looking Forward, Looking Back: The Canadian Truth and Reconciliation Commission and the Mackenzie Valley Pipeline Inquiry" 27 Canadian Journal of Law and Society.

Stanton, Kim. *Truth Commissions and Public Inquiries: Addressing Historical Injustices in Established Democracies* (Toronto: University of Toronto, Faculty of Law, 2010).

Thomas, Nye. *Discussion Paper on Police/Government Relations* [prepared for Ipperwash Inquiry] (June 2006) online: Attorney General of Ontario http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca>.

Tinsley, Yvette & Elisabeth McDonald. "Use of Alternative Ways of Giving Evidence by Vulnerable Witnesses: Current Proposals, Issues and Challenges" (2011) 42 Victoria University of Wellington Law Review.

Toope, Stephen. "Inside and Out: The Stories of International Law and Domestic Law" (2001) 50 *University of New Brunswick Law Journal* 11.

United States Department of Justice. *Breaking the Cycle of Violence: Recommendations to Improve the Criminal Justice Response to Child Victims and Witnesses* (1999) online: Department of Justice http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov>.

Urquidi, Mariclaire Acosta. *The Women of Ciudad Juárez* (Berkeley: Centre for Latin American Studies, University of California, May 2005).

Urquijo, Covadonga Robles & Anne Milan. "Female Population" in *Women in Canada: a Gender-Based Statistical Report, 2010-2011* (6th ed) (Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 2011).

Vancouver/Richmond Health Board. *Healing Ways: Aboriginal Health and Service Review.* (Vancouver: Vancouver/Richmond Health Board, 1999).

Violence Against Women: New Canadian Perspectives, Katherine M.J. McKenna & June Larkin, eds, (Toronto: Inanna Publications, 2002).

A Voice for All: Engaging Canadians for Change (Report of the Conference on Citizen Engagement, Ottawa, 27–28, 1998) online: Institute on Governance http://www.iog.ca.

White Paper on Justice Reform: Part One: A Modern, Transparent Justice System (October 2012) online: Ministry of Justice http://www.justicebc.ca.

Why? The Robert Dziekanski Tragedy, Braidwood Commission on the Death of Robert Dziekanski, [Commissioner: Honourable Thomas R. Braidwood, QC] (Victoria: Braidwood Commission on the Death of Robert Dziekanski, 2010).

Wilson, J. Q. Varieties of Police Behaviour (New York: Atheneum Press, 1976).

INTERNATIONAL MATERIALS

African Union. *Protocol to the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights on the Rights of Women in Africa*, 11 July 2003, online: United Nations http://www.unhcr.org.

Amnesty International. Canada: Follow Up To the Concluding Observations of the United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (2009), online: United Nations http://www2.ohchr.org>.

B.C. CEDAW Group. *Nothing to Report: A Report on Progress in Implementing Priority Recommendations Made by the Committee in Its 2008 Concluding Observations on Canada* (January 2010), online: United Nations http://www2.ohchr.org>.

Canadian Feminist Alliance for International Action. *No Action, No Progress: Canadian Feminist Alliance for International Action Report on Canada's Progress in Implementing Priority Recommendations Made by the United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women in 2008* (February 2010), online: United Nations http://www2.ohchr.org.

Council of Europe. *Convention on Preventing and Combating Violence Against Women and Domestic Violence,* Convention CETS No. 210 (11 May 2011), online: Council of Europe <www.coe.int>.

From Rights To Action: Using International Rights and Mechanisms on Violence Against Women in the UK (London: Rights of Women, 2011).

Organization of American States. *Inter-American Convention on the Prevention, Punishment and Eradication of Violence Against Women ("Convention of Belem do Para")*, (1995), online: Organization of American States http://www.oas.org.

Poverty and Human Rights Centre. *The Role of International Social and Economic Rights in the Interpretation of Domestic Law in Canada – Law Sheet,* (1 February 2008), online: The Poverty and Human Rights Centre http://povertyandhumanrights.org.

UN Handbook on Justice for Victims (New York: United Nations Office for Drug Control and Crime Prevention, 1999).

United Nations. *Beijing Declaration and Beijing Platform of Action* (BPfA), adopted at the Fourth World Conference on Women, Beijing, China (15 September 1995) A/CONF.177/20 (1995) and A/CONF.177/20/Add.1 (1995), online: United Nations http://www.unhcr.org.

United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), CEDAW/C/CAN/CO/7. *Concluding Observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women* (7 November 2008), online: United Nations http://www2.ohchr.org.

United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW). *General Recommendation No.19: Violence Against Women*, para 6, online: United Nations http://www.ohchr.org>.

United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), CEDAW/C/CAN/CO/7/Add.1. *Information Provided in Follow-Up to the Concluding Observations of the Committee* (11 February 2010), online: United Nations http://www2.ohchr.org.>

United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), Thirty-second session, 10-28 January 2005. Report on Mexico Produced By the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women Under Article 8 of the Optional Protocol to the Convention, and Reply From the Government of Mexico, CEDAW/C/2005/OP.8/MEXICO (New York: United Nations, 2005).

United Nations Division for the Advancement of Women. *Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women: Short History of CEDAW* (New York: United Nations, 2009).

United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women. 2011-2012 Progress of the World's Women: In Pursuit of Justice (2011).

United Nations General Assembly. *Accelerating Efforts to Eliminate All Forms of Violence Against Women: Ensuring Due Diligence in Prevention, Resolution of the United Nations Human Rights Council,* 16 June 2010, A/HRC/14/L.9/Rev.1. online: United Nations http://www.ohchr.org.

United Nations General Assembly. *Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW),* 18 December 1979, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1249, p. 13, online: United Nations http://www2.ohchr.org.

United Nations General Assembly. *Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power*, A/RES/40/34, 29 November 1985.

United Nations General Assembly. *Declaration of the Rights of Indigenous Peoples*, 2 October 2007, A/RES/61/295, online: United Nations http://www.ohchr.org.

United Nations General Assembly. *Declaration on the Elimination of Violence Against Women (DVAW)*, [Preamble], A/RES/48/104, 20 December 1993, online: United Nations http://www.unhcr.org.

United Nations General Assembly. *International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights,* 16 December 1966, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 999, p. 171, online: United Nations http://www.unhcr.org.

United Nations General Assembly. *International Covenant on Social, Economic and Cultural Rights,* 16 December 1966, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 993, p. 3, online: United Nations http://www.unhcr.org.

United Nations General Assembly. Report of the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences, Yakin Ertürk: Indicators on violence against women and State response, A/HRC/7/6, 29 January 2008.

United Nations General Assembly. *Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, Adopted by the World Conference on Human Rights in Vienna on 25 June 1993*, A/RES 48/121 (1993), Part 1, para. 25, online: United Nations http://www2.ohchr.org>.

United Nations General Assembly. *Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action*, (12 July 1993) A/CONF.157/23, online: United Nations http://www.unhcr.org.

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. *Good Practices for the Protection of Witnesses in Criminal Proceedings involving Organized Crime* (New York: United Nations, 2008).

United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues (UNPFII). *Concept Note*, presented at the International Expert Group Meeting on Combating Violence Against Indigenous Women and Girls: Article 22 of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, PFII/2012/EGM, (20 January 2012), para. 8., online: United Nations http://www.social.un.org.

Updated Model Strategies and Practical Measures to Eliminate Violence Against Women in the Field of Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice, UN General Assembly, March 2011 (A/Res/65/228).

World Bank. World Development Report 2012: Gender Equality and Development (September 2011).

WEBSITES

Alberta Missing Persons and Unidentified Human Remains http://www.albertamissingpersons.ca.

America's Most Wanted http://www.amw.com. Amnesty International http://www.amnesty.ca.

Angels That Care http://www.angelsthatcare.org/home.html.

Australian Federal Police http://www.missingpersons.gov.au.

BC Stats http://www.bcstats.gov.bc.ca.

Beyond Missing http://www.beyondmissing.com>.

Boston Police Department http://www.cityofboston.gov>.

British Columbia Police Code of Ethics http://www.jibc.ca.

Cambridgeshire Constabulary http://www.cambs.police.uk>.

Canadian Human Rights Commission http://www.chrc-ccdp.ca.

Canadian Women's Foundation http://www.canadianwomen.org.

Charlotte-Mecklenburg Police Department http://www.charmeck.org.

Chicago Police Department http://www.directives.chicagopolice.org.

Child Find of America http://www.childfindofamerica.org.

Child Find Canada http://www.childfind.ca.

Child Find Saskatchewan http://www.childfind.sk.ca.

Cincinnati Police Department http://www.cincinnati-oh.gov>.

Cleveland Police http://www.cleveland.police.uk.

Council of Europe http://www.coe.int>.

Denver Police Department_http://www.denvergov.org.

The Doe Network – International Center for Unidentified and Missing Persons http://www.thedoenetwork.org.

Dorset Police http://www.dorset.police.uk>.

Ending Violence Association of BC http://www.endingviolence.org.

Essex Police http://www.essex.police.uk>.

Families and Friends of Missing Persons Unit http://www.lawlink.nsw.gov.au.

February 14th Annual Women's Memorial March http://www.womensmemorialmarch.wordpress.com>.

Federal Bureau of Investigation http://www.fbi.gov>.

Feminist Alliance for International Action http://fafia-afai.org.

First Nations in British Columbia http://www.fnbc.info>.

Footprints at the Rivers Edge http://www.footprintsattheriversedge.blogspot.com>.

Greenville Police Department http://www.greenvillenc.gov>.

Gwent Police http://www.gwent.police.uk>.

Highway of Tears http://www.highwayoftears.ca.

HOPE – Heal Our Painful Emotions http://www.hope4themissing.org.

I am Missing http://www.iammissing.ca.

Justice for Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women http://www.missingjustice.ca>.

Kansas City Police Department http://www.kcmo.org.

Kelowna Cold Cases http://www.castanet.net/KelownaColdCases.

Kent Police http://www.kent.police.uk>.

Let's Bring Them Home http://www.lbth.org.

Lindsey's Law http://www.lindseyslaw.com>.

Los Angeles Police Department http://www.lapdonline.org.

Manitoba Association of Chiefs of Police http://www.macp.mb.ca.

Maryland Missing Persons Network http://www.marylandmissing.com.

Metropolitan Police, District of Columbia http://www.go.mpdconline.com>.

Metropolitan Police Service http://www.met.police.uk>.

Ministry of Justice, BC Policing Agreements and Funding http://www.pssg.gov.bc.ca.

Missing Children Society of Canada http://www.mcsc.ca.

Missing Kids http://www.uk.missingkids.com>.

Missing People http://www.missingpeople.org.uk.

Missingpeople.net http://www.missingpeople.net.

Missing Persons of America http://www.missingpersonsblog.blogspot.com.

Missing Persons of BC http://www.wenswritings.wordpress.com.

Missing Pieces http://www.missingpieceshow.homestead.com>.

Moncton Policing Services http://www.moncton.ca.

National Centre for Missing and Exploited Children http://www.missingkids.com.

National Crime Information Center http://www.fbi.gov>.

National Criminal Justice Reference Service http://www.ncjrs.gov>.

National Missing Persons Data System http://www.findthemissing.org.

National Missing and Unidentified Persons http://www.namus.gov>.

National Policing Improvement Agency http://www.npia.police.uk>.

Native Women's Association of Canada http://www.nwac.ca.

Naval Criminal Investigative Service http://www.ncis.mil.

New South Wales Police Force http://www.police.nsw.gov.au.

North American Missing Persons Network http://www.nampn.org.

Ontario's Missing Adults http://www.missingadults.ca.

Operation Lookout – National Center for Missing Youth http://www.operationlookout.org.

One in Three Women http://www.oneinthreewomen.com>.

Ontario Provincial Police, Missing Persons and Unidentified Bodies Unit http://www.missing-u.ca.

Organization of American States http://www.oas.org.

Outpost for Hope http://www.outpostforhope.org.

PA Liv SAFE http://www.palivsafe.org.

Persons Missing http://www.personsmissing.org.

Police Victim Services of British Columbia http://www.policevictimservices.bc.ca>.

Poverty and Human Rights Centre http://povertyandhumanrights.org.

Project Jason http://www.projectjason.org>.

Project KARE http://www.kare.ca.

Queensland Police http://www.police.qld.gov.au.

Remember Our Sisters Everywhere http://www.rememberoursisterseverywhere.com>.

Royal Canadian Mounted Police in BC http://www.bc.rcmp-grc.gc.ca.

Royal Canadian Mounted Police http://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca.

San Francisco Police Department http://www.sf-police.org.

San Jose Police Department http://www.sipd.org>.

Saskatchewan Association of Chiefs of Police http://www.sacp.ca.

Saskatoon Police Service http://www.police.saskatoon.sk.ca.

Seattle Police Department http://www.seattle.gov>.

SisterWatch http://www.vpd.ca>.

South Australia Police http://www.police.sa.gov.au>.

Statistics Canada http://www.statcan.gc.ca.

Sussex Police http://www.sussex.police.uk>.

Thames Valley Police http://www.thamesvalley.police.uk>.

Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada http://www.trc.ca.

United Nations http://www.un.org.

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees http://www.unhcr.org.

United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights http://www.ohchr.org.

Unsolved Murders Missing People Canada http://www.unsolvedcanada.ca.

Unsolved Mysteries http://www.unsolved.com>.

Vancouver Coastal Health, Supervised Injection Site http://www.supervisedinjection.vch.ca.

Vancouver Police Department http://www.vpd.ca.

Vanished Voices http://www.vanishedvoices.com>.

Victoria Police http://www.police.vic.gov.au.

West Vancouver Police Department http://www.wvpd.ca.

Winnipeg Police Service http://www.winnipeg.ca.

CASE LAW

114957 Canada Ltée (Spraytech, Société d'arrosage) v Hudson (Town), 2001 2 SCR 241.

Anns v Merton London Borough Council, 1978 6 AC 728.

Attorney General of Quebec and Keable v Attorney General of Canada et al, 1979 1 SCR 218.

B.M. v British Columbia (Attorney General), 2004 BCCA 402.

Baegen v Netherlands, 1995 A/327-B.

Baker v Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration), 1999 2 SCR 817.

Bedford v Canada, 2010 ONSC 4264.

Branko Tomasic and Others v Croatia, Application 46598/06 14/4/2009, European Court of Human Rights (15 January 2009).

Canada (Attorney General) v Bedford, 2012 ONCA 186.

Canada (Attorney General) v Canada (Commission of Inquiry on the Blood System), 1997 3 SCR 440.

Canada (Attorney General) v Downtown Eastside Sex Workers United Against Violence Society, 2012 SCC 45.

Canadian Broadcasting Corp v New Brunswick (Attorney General), 1996 3 SCR 480.

Carmichele v Minister of Safety and Security and Others, 2001 AHRLR 208 (SACC 2001).

Castle Rock v Gonzales, 2005 545 US 748.

Cragg v Tone, 2006 BCSC 1020

Dagenais v Canadian Broadcasting Corporation, 1994 3 SCR 835.

Doorson v Netherlands, 1996 22 EHRR 330.

Downtown Eastside Sex Workers United Against Violence Society and Sheryl Kiselbach v Attorney General (Canada) BCCA (Factum of the Respondent the Attorney General of Canada).

Downtown Eastside Sex Workers United Against Violence Society and Sheryl Kiselbach v Attorney General (Canada), BCCA (Notice of Appeal by the Downtown Eastside Sex Workers United Against Violence Society and Sheryl Kiselbach).

F v Minister of Safety and Security and Another, (CCT 30/11) 2011 ZACC 37.

Goekce v Austria, CEDAW/C/39/D2005, 5 August 2007.

Gonzalez et al ("Cotton Field") v Mexico, Judgment of November 16, 2009

(Preliminary Objection, Merits, Reparations, and Costs Ser C No. 205), online: http://www.corteidh.or.cr.

Guerin v The Queen, 1984 2 SCR 335. Haag v Marshall, 1989 61 DLR (4th) 371.

Haynes v Harwood, 1934 All ER Rep 103 (CA).

Health Employers Association of British Columbia v British Columbia Nurses' Union, 2006 BCCA 57.

Health Services and Support – Facilities Subsector Bargaining Association v British Columbia, 2007 SCC 27.

Hill v Chief Constable of West Yorkshire, 1989 AC 53.

Hill v Hamilton Wentworth Regional Police Services Board, 2007 3 SCR 129.

Hill v Hamilton Wentworth Regional Police Services Board, 2005 76 OR (3d) 481 (CA).

HM Advocate v Nulty, 17 February 2000 2003 SCCR 378.

Jane Doe v Board of Commissioners of Police for the Municipality of Metropolitan Toronto et al, 1989 39 OR (3d) 487.

"Jessica Gonzales v USA," American Civil Liberties Union, online: http://www.aclu.org.

Jurcevic v Croatia, European Court of Human Rights, Application no 42418/10.

Karen Tayag Vertido v the Philippines, Communication No. 18/2008, 16 July 2010, CEDAW/C/46/D/18/2008.

Kemess Mines Ltd v International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 115, 2006 BCCA 58, leave to appeal to SCC refused, 2006 SCCA No 140.

M.C. v Bulgaria, Application no. 39272/98 (04/03/2004), European Court of Human Rights (3 December 2003).

Maria da Penha Maia Fernandes v Brazil, Case 12.051, Inter-Am CHR, Report No 54/01, EA/Ser L/V/II 111, doc 20, rev 16 (2000).

McIvor v The Registrar, Indian and Northern Affairs Canada, 2007 BCSC 827.

Mitchell and Another v Glasgow City Council, 2009 UKHL 11.

Mooney v Canada (AG), (3 March 2005), No 30546.

Nicholson v Haldimand-Norfolk Regional Board of Commissioners of Police, 1981 1 SCR 92.

Ochapowace First Nation (Indian Band No 71) v Canada (Attorney General), 2009 FCA 124; 2009 SCCA 262.

Odhavji Estate v Woodhouse, 2003 3 SCR 263.

Ontario Disability Support Program v Tranchemontagne, 2009 95 OR (3d) 327 (ON SCDC).

OOO v Commissioner of the Police of the Metropolis, 2011 EWHC 1246.

Opuz v Turkey, Application no. 33401/02 9/9/2009, European Court of Human Rights (9 June 2009).

Osman v Ferguson, 1993 4 All ER 344 (CA).

Osman v United Kingdom, 2000 29 EHRR 245.

Phillips v Nova Scotia (Commission of Inquiry into the Westray Mine Tragedy), 1995 2 SCR 97.

Project 360 Investments Limited (Sound Emporium Nightclub) v Toronto Police Services Board, 2009 CanLII 36380 (ONSC).

Prosecutor v Duso Tadic, International Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons Responsible for Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law Committed in the Territory of Former Yugoslavia since 1991 Case No. IT-94-1-T, 7 May 1997.

R v Ali, 2006 BCPC 462.

R v Douglas, 2007 ABCA 321.

R v Ewanchuk, 1999 1 SCR 330.

R v Forster, 2006 BCPC 237.

R v Grant, 1991 3 SCR 139.

R v Keegstra, 1990 3 SCR 697.

R v Kokesch, 1990 3 SCR 3.

R v Lefebvre, 1984, 17 CCC (3d) 277 (Que CA).

R v MACL, 2008 BCPC 272.

R v Mentuck, 2001 SCC 76.

R v Mills, 1999 3 SCR 668.

R v O'Connor, 1995 4 SCR 411.

R v Osolin, 1993 4 SCR 595.

R v Pal, 2007 BCSC 1493.

R v Pickton.

R v Resendes, 1988 20 OAC 335.

R v SBT, 2008 BCSC 711.

R v Stinchcombe, 1995 1 SCR 754.

R v Wills, 1992 CanLII 2780 (ONCA).

Rantsev v Cyprus and Russia, 2010 51 EHRR 1, Application no. 25965/04, ECHR (7 January 2010).

Reference re Public Service Employee Relations Act (Alta.), 1987 1 SCR 313.

S v Baloyi and Others (CCT29/99), 1999 ZACC 19; 2000 (2) SA 425 (CC) (3 December 1999).

Slaight Communications Inc v Davidson, 1989 1 SCR 1038.

Stovin v Wise, 1996 AC 923.

Suresh v Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration), 2002 1 SCR 3.

Thompson v Webber, 2010 BCCA 308.

Van Colle and Another v Chief Constable of Hertfordshire Police and Smith v Chief Constable of Sussex Police, 2008 UKHL 50.

Van Eeden v Minister of Safety and Security (176/01), 2002 ZASCA 132 (27 September 2002).

Velásquez Rodríguez Case, Inter-AmCtHR (Ser C) No 4 (1988), Inter-American Court of Human Rights 29 July 1988, online: http://www.unhcr.org.

LEGISLATION

Crime Victim Assistance Act, SBC 2001, c 48.

Criminal Code, RSC 1985, c C-46, s 246.1.

Maria da Penha Law on Domestic and Family Violence, Brazil's Federal Law 11340 (Lei Maria da Penha).

Missing Persons and Presumption of Death Act, SS 2009, Chapter M 20.01.

Missing Persons Act, SA 2011, Chapter M-18.5.

Model State Missing Person Statute, 2005, US National Criminal Justice Reference Service, online: http://www.ncjrs.gov>.

Police Act, RSBC 1996, c 367, P 8, s 40.1(g).

Police Act, RSBC 1996, c 367, s 2.

Police Act, RSO 1980, c 381, s 57.

Police Services Act, RSO 1990, c P 15.

Public Inquiry Act, SBC 2007, c 9.

The Vulnerable Witness Act, (Scotland) 2004.

ENDNOTES

- ¹ Inquiry into Pediatric Forensic Pathology in Ontario Report (Toronto: Ministry of the Attorney General, 2008) (Commissioner: the Honourable Stephen T. Goudge), online: Volume 4 Inquiry Process, p. 636, online: Ontario Ministry of the Attorney General http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca/inquiries/goudge/report.
 ² Canada (Attorney General) v Canada (Commission of Inquiry on the Blood System), [1997] 3 SCR 440, para
- ³ Gerald Le Dain, "The Role of the Public Inquiry in our Constitutional System" in Jacob S. Ziegel, ed. *Law and Social Change* (Toronto: Osgoode Hall Law School, York University, 1973) pp 79-95, p. 85.
- ⁴ Attached as Appendix A.

34.

- ⁵ The Lamer Commission of Inquiry Pertaining to the Cases of: Ronald Dalton, Gregory Parsons, Randy Druken, Report and Annexes, The Right Honourable Antonio Lamer, Commissioner, p. 7-8, online: Newfoundland Department of Justice http://www.justice.gov.nl.ca.
- ⁶ Public Inquiry Act, SBC 2007, c 9, s 9(1); Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings, Rule 52; see Appendix B.
- ⁷ Justice Dennis O'Connor, "The Role of Commission Counsel in a Public Inquiry" (2003) 22:1 *The Advocates'* Society Journal 9, para 11.
- ⁸ Public Inquiry Act, SBC 2007, c 9, s 11(4)(a)-(c).
- ⁹ Ms. Bryce, mother of Patricia Johnson, was granted full participant status on August 18, 2011; see Appendix G-2. ¹⁰ *Public Inquiry Act,* SBC 2007, c 9, s 22, and Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings, Rules 36-38; see Appendix B.
- ¹¹ Transcript, November 9, 2011, p. 165-166; Transcript, April 10, 2012, p. 13; Transcript, April 12, 2012, p. 109. ¹² *Public Inquiry Act*, SBC 2007, c 9, ss 15(1), 22(2), 29.
- 13 Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary
- Hearings, Rules 25-27 and 29; see Appendix B.

 14 Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary
- Hearings, Rule 44(a); see Appendix B.

 15 Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary
- Hearings, Rule 44(g); see Appendix B.

 16 Practice, and Procedure Directive for Evidentian
- ¹⁶ Practice and Procedure Directive for Evidentiary Hearings, Rule 44(b); see Appendix B.
- ¹⁷ Associate Chief Justice Dennis R. O'Connor & Freya Kristjanson, "Some Observations on Public Inquiries" (Canadian Institute for the Administration of Justice, Annual Conference, Halifax, NS, 10 October 2007), online: Court of Appeal for Ontario http://www.ontariocourts.ca [Some Observations on Public Inquiries].
- ¹⁸ Freya Kristjanson, "'Hot Tubs' and Concurrent Evidence: Improving Administrative Proceedings," *Canadian Journal of Administrative Law & Practice* (2012), Vol 25:1, p 82. [Improving Administrative Proceedings]
- ¹⁹ Some Observations on Public Inquiries.
- ²⁰ Transcript, February 28, 2012, p. 143; see also Transcript, March 8, 2012, p. 35.

- ²¹ Improving Administrative Proceedings, p 81-82.
- ²² Improving Administrative Proceedings, p. 87.
- ²³ Public Inquiry Act, SBC 2007, c 9, ss 11(1)(a) and (2), 12(3), and 15(2).

GLOSSARY

E Division	RCMP Headquarters in British Columbia					
AG	Attorney General of British Columbia					
BCCLA	British Columbia Civil Liberties Association					
ВСРМРС						
CC	British Columbia Police Missing Persons Centre					
	Chief Constable					
CEDAW	Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (UN)					
СЈВ	British Columbia Criminal Justice Branch					
Comm Centre	Vancouver Police Department Communications Centre					
СРС	Canadian Police College, Ottawa, Ontario					
CPC-RCMP	Commission for Public Complaints Against the RCMP					
CPIC	Canadian Police Information Centre					
Cpl.	Corporal					
CRAB	CRAB-Water for Life Society					
Cst.	Constable					
D2	Vancouver Police Department District 2 (includes Downtown Eastside)					
DC	Deputy Chief					
DCC	Deputy Chief Constable					
Det.	Detective					
Det. Cst.	Detective Constable					
Det. Insp.	Detective Inspector					
DEYAS	Downtown Eastside Youth Activities Society					
DTES	Downtown Eastside Neighbourhood in City of Vancouver					
E-COMM 9-1-1	Emergency Communications for SW British Columbia					
Evans Report	Report prepared for Missing Women Commission by Deputy Chief Jennifer Evans, Peel Regional Police					
FBI	Federal Bureau of Investigation (U.S.)					
FNS	First Nations Summit					
FPT MWWG	Federal-Provincial-Territorial Missing Women Working Group					
Insp.	Inspector					

JFO	Joint Forces Operation					
JIBC	Justice Institute of British Columbia, New Westminster, BC					
LePard Report	Missing Women Investigation Review, prepared by DCC Doug LePard, Vancouver Police Department					
Lower Mainland	Metropolitan Area in southwestern British Columbia					
MCM	Major Case Management					
MCS	Vancouver Police Department Major Crime Section					
MPI	Missing Persons Index					
MPU	Vancouver Police Department Missing Persons Unit					
MWRT	Vancouver Police Department Missing Women Review Team					
MWTF	Missing Women Task Force					
MWWG	Vancouver Police Department Missing Women Working Group					
NCMPUR	National Centre for Missing Persons and Unidentified Remains					
NDDB	National DNA Data Bank of Canada					
NWAC	Native Women's Association of Canada					
NWPS	New Westminster Police Service, New Westminster, BC					
OIC	Officer in Charge					
OPCC	Office of the Police Complaint Commissioner (BC)					
PACE	Prostitution Alternatives Counselling and Education					
PEEL	Peel Regional Police (Ontario)					
РОСО	Port Coquitlam, BC					
POI	Person of Interest					
PPCMP	Provincial Partnership Committee on Missing Persons (Saskatchewan)					
PRIME-BC	Police Records Information Management Environment for British Columbia					
PRP	Peel Regional Police (Ontario)					
PUHU	Provincial Unsolved Homicide Unit					
RCMP	Royal Canadian Mounted Police					
SFU	Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC					
Sgt.	Sergeant					

SIUSS	Special Investigative Unit Support System (database)				
Staff Sgt.	Staff Sergeant				
Supt.	Superintendent				
UBC	University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC				
UHU	RCMP Major Crime Section, Unsolved Homicide Unit				
UN	United Nations				
VANDU	Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users				
ViCAP	Violent Criminal Apprehension Program (U.S.)				
ViCLAS	Violent Crime Linkage Analysis System				
VPB	Vancouver Police Board				
VPD	Vancouver Police Department				
VPNLS	Vancouver Police and Native Liaison Society				
WISH	Women's Information and Safe House (WISH) Drop- In Centre				